
MEETING

PLANNING COMMITTEE

DATE AND TIME

WEDNESDAY 5TH SEPTEMBER, 2018

AT 7.00 PM

VENUE

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON NW4 4BG

TO: MEMBERS OF PLANNING COMMITTEE (Quorum 3)

Chairman: Councillor Wendy Prentice,
Vice Chairman: Councillor Melvin Cohen LLB

Councillors

Councillor Brian Gordon
Councillor Mark Shooter
Councillor Eva Greenspan

Councillor Stephen Sowerby
Councillor Shimon Ryde
Councillor Tim Roberts

Councillor Claire Farrier
Councillor Kathy Levine
Councillor Laurie Williams

Substitute Members

Cllr John Marshall 
Cllr Gabriel Rozenberg 

Cllr Alison Cornelius
Cllr Gill Sargeant 

Cllr Reema Patel 
Cllr Arjun Mittra

You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached.

Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance

Governance Services contact: Jan.Natynczyk@barnet.gov.uk 020 8359 5129

Media Relations Contact: Gareth Greene 020 8359 7039

ASSURANCE GROUP

Please consider the environment before printing. The average Print Cost for this 
Agenda is £9.57 per copy.



ORDER OF BUSINESS

Item No Title of Report Pages

1.  Minutes of the last meeting 5 - 10

2.  Absence of Members 

3.  Declarations of Members' disclosable pecuniary interests and non-
pecuniary interests 

4.  Report of the Monitoring Officer (if any) 

5.  Addendum (if applicable) 

Woodhouse 

6.  Central Reservation  High Road London N12 0AP - 18/3315/ADV 11 - 18

Mill Hill 

7.  Hendon Cemetery and Crematorium Holders Hill Road London 
NW7 1NB - 18/3958/FUL 

19 - 26

Finchley Church End 

8.  Church End Library 24 Hendon Lane London N3 1TR - 
18/3470/FUL 

27 - 34

Childs Hill 

9.  Land at 2 Geron Way, London NW2 6GJ - 17/6714/EIA 35 - 194

Totteridge 

10.  27 Woodside Avenue London N12 8AT - 18/2032/FUL 195 - 210

11.  Any item(s) that the Chairman decides are urgent 



FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone 
jan.natynczyk@barnet.gov.uk 020 8359 5129.  People with hearing difficulties who have a 
text phone, may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee 
Rooms also have induction loops.

FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions.

You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts.

Do not stop to collect personal belongings

Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions.

Do not re-enter the building until told to do so.



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Decisions of the Planning Committee

25 July 2018

Members Present:-

Councillor Wendy Prentice (Chairman)
Councillor Melvin Cohen (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Brian Gordon
Councillor Mark Shooter
Councillor Tim Roberts
Councillor John Marshall 
Councillor Gabriel Rozenberg

Councillor Claire Farrier
Councillor Kathy Levine
Councillor Laurie Williams
Councillor Alison Cornelius

Apologies for Absence

Councillor Eva Greenspan
Councillor Stephen Sowerby

Councillor Shimon Ryde

1.   MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 25 June be agreed as a correct 
record.

2.   ABSENCE OF MEMBERS 

Apologies for absence had been received from 
1. Councillor Ryde who was substituted for by Councillor Marshall.
2. Councillor Greenspan who was substituted by Councillor Cornelius.
3. Councillor Sowerby who was substituted by Councillor Rozenberg.

3.   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

None. 

4.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY) 

None. 

MOTION TO DEFER

At the start of the meeting Councillor Farrier moved a motion, that was seconded by 
Councillor Levine, to defer some items on the agenda until a site visit could be 
organised. 

The votes were recorded as follows 

For – 4 
Against – 7
Abstain – 0

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



2

The motion was therefore lost. 

5.   ADDENDUM (IF APPLICABLE) 

The Committee noted the addendum to the items on the agenda which had been 
circulated.

6.   MOUNT PARADE GARAGES LAND TO THE REAR OF MOUNT PARADE 
BARNET, EN4 9DD - 18/1969/FUL 

Officers introduced the report and addendum.

An oral representation was made for the applicant, by Matthew Freedman.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the application subject to conditions in the report 
and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 10
Against: 1
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to Approve the application subject to the 
conditions in the officer’s report and addendum.

7.   PENTAVIA RETAIL PARK, NW7 2ET - 17/8102/FUL 

Officers introduced the report and addendum, noting that the application is subject to call 
in by the Mayor of London. 

A representation in objection of the application was heard from John Gillett, Roger 
Titchborn, Andrew Dismore (GLA rep) and Councillor Val Duschinsky.

An oral representation was made for the applicant, by Ben Ford.

Following discussion Councillor Rozenberg moved a motion that was seconded by 
Councillor Marshall to include the failure to meet Barnet’s 40% affordable housing target 
in the development as an additional reason for refusal. 

Vote were recorded as follows

For – 9
Against – 2 Councillor Cohen and Councillor Shooter voting against.
Abstain – 0

This motion was therefore carried and formed part of the substantive reasons for refusal. 

Councillor Farrier moved a motion that was seconded by Councillor Levine to include the 
poor air quality that would be detrimental to future residents as an additional reason for 
refusal. 

6



3

Vote were recorded as follows

For – 4
Against – 7
Abstain – 0

This motion was therefore lost. 

Councillor Farrier moved a motion that was seconded by Councillor Roberts to include 
the lack of sufficient amenity space for older children as an additional reason for refusal. 

Vote were recorded as follows

For – 5
Against – 5
Abstain – 1

As a consequence of the vote the Chairman used her casting vote to vote against the 
motion. The motion was therefore lost. 

Councillor Levine moved a motion that was seconded by Councillor Farrier to include 
concerns lack of proper drainage and water supply as an additional reason for refusal. 

Vote were recorded as follows

For – 4
Against – 5
Abstain – 2

The motion was therefore lost. 

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman then moved to vote on the 
recommendation in the cover report, which was to refuse the application for the reasons 
set out in the report, addendum and new additional reasons.

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 11
Against: 0
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to REFUSE the application for the reason in 
the officer’s report, addendum and an additional reason as set out below. 

The proposed development would fail to provide adequate levels of affordable 
housing, contrary to Policy CS4 of the Barnet Core Strategy (2012), Policy DM10 
of the Barnet Development Management Policies Document (2012) and Policies 
3.11, 3.12 and 3.13 of the London Plan (2016).

8.   PHASE 10 MILLBROOK PARK, NW7 1PX - 18/2891/RMA 

Officers introduced the report and addendum.

7



4

A representation in objection of the application was heard from Mike Roberts and Imran 
Aslam.

An oral representation was made for the applicant, Tim Surgess.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the application subject to the conditions as per 
the officer’s report and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 11
Against: 0
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to APPROVE the application subject to the 
conditions as per the officer’s report and addendum.

9.   THE FORMER PEEL CENTRE, COLINDALE - H/04753/14 

Officers introduced the report and addendum.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the amendments subject to the conditions as per 
the officer’s report and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 11
Against: 0 
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to APPROVE the amendments subject to the 
conditions as per the officer’s report and addendum.

10.   CAMDEN SPORTS AND SOCIAL CLUB EDGWAREBURY LANE, HA8 8QP - 
18/1701/S73 

Officers introduced the report and addendum, noting that the application is subject to call 
in by the Mayor of London and the Secretary of State as it is in greenbelt land.

An oral representation was made for the applicant by Steven Gertner.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the application subject to the conditions as per 
the officer’s report and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 9
Against: 2
Abstentions: 0 

8



5

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to APPROVE the application subject to the 
conditions as per the officer’s report and addendum.

11.   SCHOOL HOUSE WHITEFIELD SCHOOL CLAREMONT ROAD LONDON NW2 
1TR - 18/1221/FUL 

Officers introduced the report and addendum.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the application subject to the conditions as per 
the officer’s report and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 11
Against: 0 
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to APPROVE the application subject to the 
conditions as per the officer’s report and addendum.

12.   MONTROSE PLAYING FIELDS, HA8 - 18/1644/FUL 

Officers introduced the report and addendum.

Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the recommendation in 
the cover report, which was to approve the application subject to the conditions as per 
the officer’s report and addendum. 

Voting was recorded as follows:

For: 11
Against: 0 
Abstentions: 0 

The Committee therefore RESOLVED to APPROVE the application subject to the 
conditions as per the officer’s report and addendum.

13.   ANY ITEM(S) THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT 

None.

The meeting finished at 9.10 pm

9



6

(a) F
I
E
L
D
_
I
T
E
M
_
N
U
M
B
E
R

(b) F
I
E
L
D
_
I
T
E
M
_
N
U
M
B
E
R

10



Location Central Reservation  High Road London N12 0AP  

Reference: 18/3315/ADV Received: 30th May 2018
Accepted: 7th June 2018

Ward: Woodhouse Expiry 2nd August 2018

Applicant: Mr Martin Stephens

Proposal:
Installation of a single sided 48 sheet digital internally illuminated LED 
advertising display

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Head of Development Management 
or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the 
recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this report and 
addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chairman 
(or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such 
alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

Application Submission (JCDecaux) (dated May 2018)

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 The period of consent shall be a period of ten years commencing with the date of this 
decision.

Reason: To comply with Regulation 14(7) of Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
(Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 3 Where an advertisement is required under the Town and Country Planning (Control 
of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 to be removed, the site shall be left 
in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair visual amenity and shall be 
carried out to the reasonable satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To comply with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 4 The maximum luminance of the signs shall not exceed the values recommended in 
the association of Public Lighting Engineer's Technical Report No. 5, Zone 3.

11

AGENDA ITEM 6



Reason: In the interest of highway safety and amenity in accordance with Policies 
DM01 and DM17 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted 
September 2012).

 5 No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to endanger persons using the 
highway, obscure or hinder the ready interpretation of any road traffic sign, or obscure 
or hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security or surveillance.

Reason: To comply with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 6 No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the site 
or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission.

Reason: To comply with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 7 Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of advertisements, 
shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the visual amenity of the site, 
to the reasonable satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To comply with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 8 Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of displaying 
advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not endanger the public.

Reason: To comply with Schedule 2 of the Town and Country Planning (Control of 
Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007.

 9 Prior to the commencement of development, details of the proposed construction, 
including plan of access and maintenance for the proposed advertisement shall be 
submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority in consultaton with 
Transport for London. 

Reason: To ensure that the adjacent bus stop is not blocked during the planned 
construction and maintenance periods.

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is 
also offered. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary 
during the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in 
accordance with the Development Plan.

12



Officer’s Assessment

1. SITE DESCRIPTION

The application site is an area of highways verge which is located on the eastern side of 
High Road (A1000) and to the south of the central reservation which connects High Road 
with the North Circular Road (A406). The slip road from the North Circular Road to High 
Road lies to the east. The proposed site is located to the north of the pedestrian path and 
southbound bus stop.

The site is not within a Conservation Area and there are no listed buildings in the vicinity.

2. PLANNING HISTORY

No previous planning history.

3. PROPOSAL

The application seeks permission for the installation of 1no. single sided internally 
illuminated 48-sheet advertising  LED display.  

The display would have a total width of 6.4m, height of 3.5m height and would be sited 2.5m 
above ground level. The actual size of the display would be 6.2m in width, 3.1m in height 
and 3m above ground level, which excludes the size of the frame. 

The display sign would be internally illuminated at a level of 300.00 cd/m and would have 
static illumination.  The images are proposed to change in sequence every ten seconds.

4. PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

4.1 Main issues for consideration

Planning Practice Guidance states that the Local Planning Authority's power to control 
advertisements under the Town and Country Planning (Control of Advertisements)(England) 
Regulations 2007 may be used only in the interests of 'amenity' and 'public safety'. This is 
reinforced by paragraph 132 of the NPPF (2018) which advocates that advertisements 
should be subject to control only in the interests of amenity and public safety.

4.2 Policy context

National Planning Policy Guidance / Statements:

The determination of applications for advertisement consent is made mindful of Central 
Government advice and the Development Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local 
Planning Authorities must determine applications in accordance with the statutory 
Development Plan, unless material considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning 
system does not exist to protect the private interests of one person against another.

The 'National Planning Policy Framework' (NPPF) was published on 24 July 2018. This is a 
key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

13



Paragraph 132 states that "the quality and character of places can suffer when 
advertisements are poorly sited and designed. Advertisements should be subject to control 
only in the interests of amenity and public safety, taking account of cumulative impacts.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS9.
Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM17.

Barnet's Design Guidance

Design Guidance Note 1 (Advertising and Signs) was approved in 1994 following public 
consultation. It states that advertisements should relate to their surrounding in terms of size, 
scale and sitting. In addition, they should be located to avoid visual clutter and not conflict 
with traffic signs or signals or be likely to cause confusion or danger to road users. In respect 
to council policy and guidance it is considered that the proposed signage is acceptable.

4.3 Assessment of proposals

Public Safety

When considering public safety, Local Planning Authorities are expected to have regard to 
the adverts effect upon the safe use and operation of any form of traffic or transport on land 
(including the safety of pedestrians), over water, or in the air. Local Planning Authorities will 
therefore consider such matters as the likely behaviour of drivers of vehicles who will see 
the advertisement; possible confusion with any traffic sign or other signal; or possible 
interference with a navigational light or an aerial beacon. Local Planning Authorities will also 
bear in mind that some advertisements can positively benefit public safety by directing 
drivers to their destination. In their assessment of the public safety implications of an 
advertisement display, Local Planning Authorities will assume that the primary purpose of 
an advertisement is to attract people's attention and will therefore not automatically presume 
that an advertisement will distract the attention of passers-by, whether they are drivers, 
cyclists or pedestrians. 

The vital consideration, in assessing an advertisement's impact, is whether the 
advertisement itself, or the exact location proposed for its display, is likely to be so 
distracting, or so confusing, that it creates a hazard to, or endangers, people in the vicinity 
who are taking reasonable care for their own and others' safety. Further advice on assessing 
the public safety implications of the display of an advertisement is given in the Government's 
Planning Practice Guidance.

The site is located on High Road which is a Strategic Road Network (SRN) and therefore 
falls under the control of Transport for London (TfL) who have a duty under the Traffic 
Management Act 2004 to ensure that any development does not have an adverse impact 
on the SRN. TfL were consulted and commented that they do identify a potential distraction 
of the proposal for users as a problem, especially considering the close proximity of a busy 
junction, however, not to such an extent which would result in a strong objection to the 
proposed advertisement. The proposal is also in close proximity to a bus stop and TfL have 
advised that further details in relation to the proposal's construction and maintenance should 
be submitted to ensure that the bus stop is not blocked. TfL have confirmed that this 
information is not required up front and are happy for the requested information to be 
satisfied through suitable conditions. Subject to the abovementioned conditions being 

14



attached and satisfied, TfL do not consider that the proposal as it stands would result in an 
unacceptable impact to the Strategic Road Network. 

As the land is maintained by TfL, the Council's Traffic and Development service have no 
comments to make on the proposal.

Considering the above and taking into account that the proposed location is sited on a 
relatively straight stretch of road with good visibility and is subject to a 30mph limit, the 
proposed advertisement is not considered to be detrimental to public safety. Therefore, the  
application is acceptable on this ground. 

Visual Amenity

When assessing an advertisement's impact on amenity, Local Planning Authorities should 
have regard to its effect on the appearance and the visual amenity of the immediate 
neighbourhood. The relevant considerations for this purpose are the local characteristics of 
the neighbourhood, including scenic, historic, architectural or cultural features, which 
contribute to the distinctive character of the locality.

Barnet's Design Guidance Note 1 (Advertising and Signs) states that advertisements should 
relate to their surrounding in terms of size, scale and sitting. In addition, they should be 
located to avoid visual clutter.

The surrounding area has a very mixed context including a traditional retail parade, a large-
scale retail park, storage warehousing and residential flats. There is also open undeveloped 
land to the east in the form of highway islands with mature landscaping and trees. 

The proposal is located on the eastern undeveloped area of open land. Considering the 
wide-ranging uses and scale of existing buildings, the proposed advertisement in this 
position is not considered to adversely affect the visual amenity of the neighbourhood of the 
site. The proposal is considered to be sufficiently distanced away from the residential 
properties. 

Overall, it is considered that the proposed sign would not be detrimental to the visual amenity 
of the area and therefore the application is therefore acceptable on this ground.

As such, the application is recommended for approval.

5. CONSULTATION

- Statutory public consultation is not required for this form of application.  
-  However, 12 objection(s) have been received.

The objections can be summarised as follows:

- Impact on amenity as proposal affects one of the few stretches of the High Road 
where the views of roads and buildings is broken by trees; this view would be marred 
by a deliberately large and obtrusive advertisement; wildlife, including bats, in the 
vicinity might also be affected;

- Drivers will be distracted from their prime task of driving safely;
- An illuminated and frequently changing display is much more distracting than fixed 

unilluminated ones;
- Unsightly and dangerous distraction of drivers at a busy junction;

15



- Proposed sign will detract from the character of the road, obscuring the trees;
- Illuminated sign would be a dangerous distraction at junction

Highways officers have been consulted and have advised that as the land is maintained by 
TfL, they have no comments to make.

TfL have stated that subject to conditions being met, the proposal as it stands would not 
result in an unacceptable impact on the Strategic Road Network. 

6. EQUALITIES AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

The proposals do not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. CONCLUSION

The proposal is considered to not adversely affect the amenity or public safety of the 
surrounding area and is therefore considered to accord with the NPPF and the Development 
Plan. The application is therefore recommended for approval.

16



17



This page is intentionally left blank



Location Hendon Cemetery and Crematorium Holders Hill Road London NW7 
1NB  

Reference: 18/3958/FUL Received: 26th June 2018
Accepted: 28th June 2018

Ward: Mill Hill Expiry 23rd August 2018

Applicant: Milne

Proposal:

Restoration of gatehouse building incorporating repairs to tiled roof, parapet, 
restoration and replacement of windows and doors to front and rear 
elevation, installation of new doors to rear elevation. Use of gatehouse as 
public reception, staff offices, cafe and function room incidental to the 
cemetery and crematorium

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director – Planning and 
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or 
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in 
this report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with 
the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request 
that such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

Site Location Plan; 
RE/HCC/18/1; 
RE/HCC/18/2; 
RE/HCC/13/3;
RE/HCC/18/4;
RE/HCC/18/5;
RE/HCC/18/6; 
RE/HCC/18/7;
RE/HCC/18/8;
RE/HCC/18/9;
RE/HCC/18/10;
RE/HCC/18/11;
Design and Access Statement
Heritage Statement
Sustainability Appraisal

19

AGENDA ITEM 7



Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so 
as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans 
as assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 The materials to be used in the external surfaces of the building(s) shall match 
those used in the existing building(s).

Reason: To safeguard the visual amenities of the building and surrounding area in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012) and Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy (adopted September 2012).

 4 a) No site works (including any temporary enabling works, site clearance and 
demolition) or development shall take place until details of temporary tree protection 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) No site works (including any temporary enabling works, site clearance and 
demolition) or development shall take place until the scheme of temporary tree 
protection as approved under this condition has been erected around existing trees 
on site. This protection shall remain in position until after the development works 
are completed and no material or soil shall be stored within these fenced areas at 
any time.

Reason: To safeguard the health of existing tree(s) which represent an important 
amenity feature in accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (adopted September 2012), Policies CS5 and CS7 of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy (adopted September 2012) and Policy 7.21 of the London Plan 2015.

 5 a) No development or site works shall take place on site until a 'Demolition and 
Construction Management and Logistics Plan' has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Demolition and Construction 
Management and Logistics Plan submitted shall include, but not be limited to, the 
following:

i.  details of the routing of construction vehicles to the site, hours of access, access 
and egress arrangements within the site and security procedures;
ii.  site preparation and construction stages of the development;
iii.  details of provisions for recycling of materials, the provision on site of a 
storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials;
iv.  details showing how all vehicles associated with the construction works are 
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage to mud and dirt onto the 
adjoining highway;
v.  the methods to be used and the measures to be undertaken to control the 
emission of dust, noise and vibration arising from construction works;

20



vi.  a suitable and efficient means of suppressing dust, including the adequate 
containment of stored or accumulated material so as to prevent it becoming 
airborne at any time and giving rise to nuisance;
vii.  noise mitigation measures for all plant and processors;
viii.  details of contractors compound and car parking arrangements;
ix.  details of interim car parking management arrangements for the duration of 
construction; 
x.  details of a community liaison contact for the duration of all works associated 
with the development.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
measures detailed within the statement.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and good air quality in accordance with 
Policies DM04 and DM17 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted 
September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 
2016) and Policies 5.3, 5.18, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London Plan (2016).

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. The LPA has negotiated with the 
applicant/agent where necessary during the application process to ensure that the 
proposed development is in accordance with the Development Plan.

 2 The cafe use proposed is considered to be ancillary to the main use of the site. Its 
use in any way other than as set out in the approved application may require a 
further application for planning permission.

21



Officer’s Assessment

1.  Site Description

The application site is located on the western side of Holders Hill Road in the Mill Hill ward.
Hendon Cemetery was founded in 1899 by the Abney Park Cemetery Company, with the 
crematorium subsequently added in 1922. The gatehouse was designed by A.A. Bonella 
and is of an Old English style, featuring a half-timbered entrance arch and roughcast walls 
with Gothic lettering in stone (Cherry & Pevsner, 1998). The crenelated parapet bears 
some damage, whilst parts of the roof of the north range are overgrown with vegetation. 
The interior of the north range and half-timbered sections was previously gutted by fire and 
in need of wholesale restoration. 
The gatehouse was Locally Listed by the London Borough of Barnet on the 30th April 
1986. The grounds of the cemetery are incorporated within the designated Metropolitan 
Green Belt.
The application site is not located within a Conservation Area.

2. Site History

Reference: 17/4115/192
Address: Hendon Cemetery And Crematorium, Holders Hill Road, London, NW7 1NB
Decision: Lawful
Decision Date:   5 July 2017
Description: Erection of 12no mausoleum blocks at Hendon Cemetery And Crematorium

Reference: H/03398/13
Address: Hendon Cemetery And Crematorium, Holders Hill Road, London, NW7 1NB
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date:   9 September 2013
Description: Installation of dry air cooler on roof of crematorium.

3. Proposal

This application seeks consent for the restoration of gatehouse building incorporating 
repairs to tiled roof, parapet, restoration and replacement of windows and doors to front 
and rear elevation, installation of new doors to rear elevation. Use of gatehouse as public 
reception, staff offices, cafe and function room incidental to the cemetery and 
crematorium.

4. Public Consultation

A site notice was erected on 5th July 2018

Consultation letters were sent to 78 neighbouring properties.
2 objections have been received

The views of objectors can be summarised as follows; 
- Impact on parking and access

5.1 Policy Context
22



National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect 
the private interests of one person against another. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated in 2018. This is a key part 
of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people'. The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This 
applies unless any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and 
demonstrably' outweigh the benefits.

One of the objectives of the NPPF in achieving sustainable development is "Promoting 
Healthy Communities". This recognises that the Local Authority can help create healthy 
and inclusive communities, through the involvement of all groups of the community and 
creation and use of shared spaces and community facilities, ensuring that there is no 
unnecessary loss of facilities and services. 

The Mayor's London Plan 2016

The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a 
fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the 
development of the capital to 2031. It forms part of the development plan for Greater 
London and is recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5, CS9, CS10, CS15, 
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02, DM03, DM04, DM13, 
DM15, DM16 and DM17.

Supplementary Planning Documents

Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2016)
- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet

5.2 Main issues for consideration
The main issues for consideration in this case are:
- Whether the redevelopment would be a visually obtrusive form of development which 
would detract from the character and appearance of the street scene 

23



- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents;

5.3 Assessment of proposals

Impact on character and appearance

This application seeks consent for a full restoration and renovation of the derelict 
Gatehouse, the provision of improved reception, office and private consultation space 
within the Gatehouse building and creation of a café facility for users of Hendon C&C and 
members of the public.

The north range and gatehouse are presently unoccupied and have been for some time. 
The proposed uses will involve the relocation of the existing cemetery staff offices and 
visitor reception into a more appropriate layout. The small café provides only a limited 
number of covers, whilst the function room will enable small wakes etc. 

The café will serve mainly snack foods (sandwiches, panini's, cakes, baked potatoes) + 
cold/hot drinks and will only have a limited number of covers. An electric oven will be used 
within the kitchen and no gas cooking or frying will occur. There are two kitchen windows 
that will provide natural cross ventilation.  Following informal consultation with the 
Council's Environmental Health department no objection is raised to this and no further 
conditions relating to the café are required. 

The works to facilitate the restoration of the exterior fabric of the building will be carried out 
using matching materials and will replicate the existing features of the north wing and 
gatehouse. The fenestration will be restored where possible and where new details are 
required the windows will be constructed using the same materials, dimensions, depth of 
reveal and detailing.

The proposal to site the new entrance at the rear of the building facing into the cemetery 
ensures no change occurs to the main streetside elevation and therefore will result in 
limited impact to the perceived significance of the host locally listed building.
All vegetation surrounding the gatehouse building has been removed, as it was damaging 
the building structure over time due to growing through the walls and roof.  It is proposed 
to include external landscaping within the completed scheme but this will be submitted 
within a separate planning application in due course.   

The proposed refurbishment of the main gatehouse building fronting Holders Hill Road is 
supported, as it will provide a more active frontage to the site and improve the visual 
appearance of the main building which will help to further enhance the significance of the 
locally listed building. The works proposed include the installation of new doors to rear 
elevation in place of existing window and repairs to the crenelated parapet. 

The proposed internal alterations do not require formal consent as they relate to a locally 
listed building. The internal fabric is not protected. The internal works will retain the overall 
layout of the building including the corridor, archway and fireplaces but require the 
demolition and erection of new internal walls. However, it should be noted that following 
fire damage and the length of time the building has stood vacant, many original features 
have been lost including doors, frames and skirtings. Nonetheless, any remaining original 
feature will be retained and where possible restored.

24



Given the works are to a locally listed building which is not afforded protection to its 
internal features, it is not considered that the internal proposals will result in any loss of 
significance to this heritage asset. 
It is considered that the revived occupation of the building would not in itself constitute a 
material change of use for the purposes of planning law and - with their limited physical 
manifestation - remain commensurate with the character and appearance of the Locally 
Listed Building

Impact on neighbouring amenity

The proposals are designed to enhance the facilities provided for families attending the 
Cemetery and Crematorium. It is considered that the proposals, in terms of the activities 
on site and the minimal external changes would not have any significant impact on the 
amenities of occupiers of neighbouring residential properties.

In conclusion, the proposed development is considered to be acceptable. It is considered 
that subject to compliance with the attached conditions, the proposed development would 
have an acceptable impact on the character and appearance of the application site, the 
street scene and the locality. The development is not considered to have an adverse 
impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers. This application is therefore 
recommended for approval.

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

The concerns raised by objectors relate to the impact of the proposals on traffic and 
parking both during construction and after. In order to address the concerns during the 
refurbishment process a construction management plan condition has been suggested in 
order for details such as the parking of vehicles for site operatives and visitors to be 
provided prior to the works commencing. It is considered that levels of traffic visiting the 
site after development is unlikely to materially increase as a result of the development 
proposals.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and support the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

Having taken all material considerations into account, the proposals would not 
detrimentally impact on the qualities of the application site and protect the character of this 
part of the East Finchley ward. The proposed alterations are such that, as conditioned, it 
preserves the amenities of the occupiers of the neighbouring properties and the character 
and appearance of the individual site, street scene and wider area.

25



26



Location Church End Library 24 Hendon Lane London N3 1TR  

Reference: 18/3470/FUL Received: 5th June 2018
Accepted: 11th June 2018

Ward: Finchley Church End Expiry 6th August 2018

Applicant: Mr Albert May

Proposal: Conversion of the former Church End Library to D1 (Health Facility) involving 
alterations to front elevation and internal alterations

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director – Planning and 
Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or 
deletions to the recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in 
this report and addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with 
the Chairman (or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request 
that such alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  Location Plan, Site Plan,  D-ELV-001 rev001,  CEL-ID-
001 rev001, Existing ground floor plan, Existing first floor plan

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so 
as to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans 
as assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 2 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this 
permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 3 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until details of the 
materials including fenestration and spandrel panels to be used for the external 
surfaces of the building and hard surfaced areas hereby approved have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

27

AGENDA ITEM 8



b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the 
materials as approved under this condition.

Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area 
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF 
and CS1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
Policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016.

 4 The premises shall be used for DI (Health Centre only)) and for no other purpose 
(including any other purpose in Class D of the Schedule to the Town and Country 
Planning (Use Classes) Order, 1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in 
any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without 
modification).

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control of the type of 
use within the category in order to safeguard the amenities of the area.

 5 The use hereby permitted shall not be open to members of the public before 09.00 
or after 17.30 on weekdays and Saturdays and not all on Sundays and Bank and 
Public Holidays.

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties.

 6 No construction work resulting from the planning permission shall be carried out on 
the premises at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays, before 8.00 am or 
after 1.00 pm on Saturdays, or before 8.00 am or after 6.00pm pm on other days.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy 
DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 7 a) No development shall take place until a scheme of hard and soft landscaping to 
the front forecourt area, including details of existing trees to be retained and size, 
species, planting heights, densities and positions of any soft landscaping, has be 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

b) All work comprised in the approved scheme of landscaping shall be carried out 
before the end of the first planting and seeding season following occupation of any 
part of the buildings or completion of the development, whichever is sooner, or 
commencement of the use.

c) Any existing tree shown to be retained or trees or shrubs to be planted as part of 
the approved landscaping scheme which are removed, die, become severely 
damaged or diseased within five years of the completion of development shall be 
replaced with trees or shrubs of appropriate size and species in the next planting 
season.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance to the development in accordance 
with Policies CS5 and CS7 of the Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (adopted 
September 2012), Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD 
(adopted April 2013) and 7.21 of the London Plan 2015.

28



 8 a) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied cycle parking spaces 
and cycle storage facilities shall be provided in accordance with a scheme to be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the details 
as approved under this condition and the spaces shall be permanently retained 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that cycle parking facilities are provided in accordance with the 
minimum standards set out in Policy 6.9 and Table 6.3 of The London Plan (2016) 
and in the interests of promoting cycling as a mode of transport in accordance with 
London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) 
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) 
September 2012.

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is 
also offered. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary 
during the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in 
accordance with the Development Plan.

29



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description
The Church End Library at 24 Hendon Lane was built in 1964. The building has design 
features characteristic of the period with rectangular lines and a steel curtain wall. It is not 
listed but lies within the Finchley Church End Conservation Area.
 
To the east of the library is a small green public space with a three storey Edwardian block 
adjacent and in mixed land use with commercial to ground floor and residential above. 
Most of these properties were built around 1860. To the west and immediately adjacent is 
St Mary at Finchley Church, originally dating from 675. The main body of the present 
church is 15th century with the north wall and the base of the tower the oldest parts. To the 
south, the library faces Pardes House Primary School, a distinctive set of listed buildings 
dating from the end of the 19thC.  

2. Site History
Reference: C11941
Address: Church End Library Hendon Lane London N3
Decision: Approved subject to conditions
Decision Date:   20.12.1994
Description:  Erection of single storey extension.

3. Proposal
Conversion of the former Church End Library to D1 (Health Facility) involving alterations to 
front elevation and internal alterations. 
The applicant is the London Borough of Barnet and while it is not a major planning 
application of any kind, the COU of libraries to other uses are considered 'significant' 
applications (politically) and therefore required to be determined at committee. 

4. Public Consultation
Consultation letters were sent to 161 neighbouring properties. Two responses have been 
received comprising two letters of comment.
The representations received can be summarised as follows:
- Finchley Society: support the proposal but would like the original coloured spandrel 
panels to be retained
- Parking for visitors and staff will be difficult.

5. Planning Considerations
5.1 Policy Context
National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance
The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect 
the private interests of one person against another. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was revised on 24 July 2018. This is a 
key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

30



The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for 
people'. The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This 
applies unless any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and 
demonstrably' outweigh the benefits.

The Mayor's London Plan 2016
The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a 
fully integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the 
development of the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater 
London and is recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

The London Plan is currently under review. Whilst capable of being a material 
consideration, at this early stage very limited weight should be attached to the Draft 
London Plan. Although this weight will increase as the Draft London Plan progresses to 
examination stage and beyond, applications should continue to be determined in 
accordance with the adopted London Plan

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)
Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.
- Relevant Core Strategy Policies: CS NPPF, CS1, CS5, CS11.
- Relevant Development Management Policies: DM01, DM02, DM06, DM13.

The Council's approach to development as set out in Policy DM01 is to minimise the 
impact on the local environment and to ensure that occupiers of new developments as well 
as neighbouring occupiers enjoy a high standard of amenity. Policy DM01 states that all 
development should represent high quality design and should be designed to allow for 
adequate daylight, sunlight, privacy and outlook for adjoining occupiers. Policy DM02 
states that where appropriate, development will be expected to demonstrate compliance to 
minimum amenity standards and make a positive contribution to the Borough. The 
development standards set out in Policy DM02 are regarded as key for Barnet to deliver 
the highest standards of urban design.

Supplementary Planning Documents
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)
- Provides detailed guidance that supplements policies in the adopted Local Plan, and sets 
out how sustainable development will be delivered in Barnet.

5.2 Main issues for consideration
The main issues for consideration in this case are:
- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents.
- Highway and parking issues

5.3 Assessment of proposals
Impact on the character of the area

31



The former public library was purpose built in 1964 and falls under Use Class D1, a non-
residential institution. The proposal is for a health clinic for people with mental health 
issues, and therefore the use remains D1. It will operate under usual business hours and 
act as an advice, guidance and referral centre. 

It is recognised that there has been a reduction in the provision of public libraries in recent 
years. Although it does not fully compensate for the loss of the Church End library, a 
smaller public library has been incorporated within the development at Arcadia Road. 
Since the planning use class remains the same and the building retains a public service 
role, the proposal is considered appropriate and acceptable.
   
The structure of the present building will be retained and there will be no alterations to the 
footprint, height, mass or form. The alterations are confined to replacement glazing and 
fenestration to the main facade and alterations to the entrance area. The upgrading will 
allow the building to conform to Part L. The Finchley Society have requested that the 
original blue spandrel panels are retained. It is recommended a condition can secure 
details of facing materials, including the colour and texture of the panels. 

The present building is in a poor state of repair, has been vacant for at least 18 months 
and the refurbishment will lead to an improvement in the immediate area including the 
setting of listed buildings, townscape and the character and appearance of the 
conservation area.             

Impact on the amenities of neighbours
The proposed use falls within the same public non-residential institutional use and the 
hours of use will ensure that it functions and operates within standard times. The property 
is located on a main road and the immediate area is in mixed use. A clinic for assisting in 
guidance and direction on mental health issues is considered acceptable in this location 
and will not lead to any adverse amenity impact to neighbours.  

Highways
The site is located on a main road with regular bus routes. It is about a ten-minute walk 
from Finchley Central Underground Station. The area to the front has a small forecourt 
which was historically used for informal parking. A condition will be attached to the 
decision to ensure a landscaped scheme is provided to the front together with cycle 
parking facilities.   

5.4 Response to Public Consultation
This is covered in the evaluation.

6. Equality and Diversity Issues
The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities. The establishment of a clinic for mental health for Network will 
provide short term support for adults that require temporary guidance and direction in 
regard to mental health issues.   

7. Conclusion
The proposal is considered to accord with the requirements of the Development Plan and 
is therefore recommended for conditional approval.

32



33



This page is intentionally left blank



1

LOCATION: Land at 2 Geron Way, London NW2 6GJ

REFERENCE: 17/6714/EIA Received: 20/10/2017

Validated: 02/11/2017

Expiry: 01/02/2018

Extension of Time 
(if applicable):

30/09/2018

WARD: Childs Hill

Final Revisions: 11/07/2018

APPLICANT: London Borough of Barnet

PROPOSAL: Demolition of the existing building and erection of a new building for 
use as a waste transfer station for reception, bulking and onward 
transportation of municipal waste, food waste, dry mixed recycling, 
bulky waste, street sweeping and street cleansing wastes. Provision 
of waste reception, storage bays, loading facilities, fencing and 
temporary acoustic fencing, CCTV, office and welfare facilities, 
weighbridges, dust and odour suppression system, exhaust stack, 
drainage, plant room, Parking for staff and visitors, temporary 
retaining wall, works to the highway to create a signalised junction at 
the A5 Edgware Road/ Geron Way junction, and other associated 
infrastructure and ancillary works’.

1. RECOMMENDATION(S)

Recommendation 1:

The application being one of strategic importance to London it must be referred 
to the Mayor of London. Any resolution by the committee will be subject to no 
direction to call in or refuse the application being received from the Mayor of 
London.

Recommendation 2:

Subject to Recommendation 1 and the LPA receiving no direction to call in or 
refuse the application from the Mayor of London, the Service Director – Planning 
and Building Control shall APPROVE planning application 17/6714/EIA under 
delegated powers subject to the recommended conditions listed in Appendix A 
of this report.

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Service Director – Planning 
and Building Control or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor 
alterations, additions or deletions to the recommended conditions as set out in 
Appendix A to this report and any addendum provided this authority shall be 
exercised after consultation with the Chairman (or in her absence the Vice-
Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such alterations, additions 
or deletions be first approved by the Committee).

35

AGENDA ITEM 9



2

2. APPLICATION SUMMARY

Brent Cross Cricklewood Regeneration

2.1 The comprehensive redevelopment of the Brent Cross Cricklewood (‘BXC’) area is a 
long-standing objective of the Council and has been embedded in planning policy at 
both the regional and local levels for over 15 years. The BXC scheme is one of the 
most important and significant regeneration opportunities in London. It will deliver 
strategic objectives and public benefits including a significant amount of new housing, 
new employment floorspace and jobs, a new train station, improved bus station, new 
town centre, additional and expanded retail facilities, enhanced parks and open 
spaces, new community facilities, replacement and expanded schools, highway 
infrastructure improvements including new bridges and pedestrian and cycle links. 

2.2 Outline planning consent was approved in 2010 and 2014 for the BXC Development.  
This latter consent (the Section 73 planning permission (Ref: F/04687/13)) is 
referenced hereon in as ‘the 2014 S73 Permission’ within this report. A core 
requirement of the long-standing planning policies that support the regeneration of 
BXC is that the development must come forward in a comprehensive and co-ordinated 
manner in order to secure the delivery of the wide range of significant public benefits. 

2.3 In order for comprehensive development of BXC to be achieved it needs to be 
supported by substantial new infrastructure. This includes the construction of a new 
train station on the Thameslink train line (Midland Mainline) that runs along the western 
boundary of the regeneration area, which will also be supported by a new transport 
interchange. The delivery of the new Thameslink train station will significantly enhance 
the accessibility and the attractiveness of the BXC scheme and wider area and enable 
the realisation of important regeneration benefits. 

2.4 The Council has secured £97m of DCLG grant along with a funding agreement with 
the GLA to the ring-fencing of business rates to fund the delivery of the new train station 
sooner than originally envisaged under the 2014 S73 Permission (Phase 2 rather than 
Phase 5). The Council is working alongside Network Rail to deliver the new station by 
2022. This will enable it to be delivered alongside the early phases of BXC, ensuring 
that it forms an integral part of the new development from the outset. Its early delivery 
will also act as a catalyst for the continued delivery of both the residential and 
commercial development within Brent Cross South. 

2.5 There are a number of associated infrastructure components that need to be delivered 
in order to enable the new Thameslink Station to be constructed. These include the 
relocation of existing rail sidings and train stabling facility, the provision of a 
replacement waste facility for the Hendon Waste Transfer Station, delivery of a Rail 
Freight Facility, and construction of a new bridge over the Midland Mainline railway. 
The re-provided Hendon Waste Transfer Station in particular, will enable the new 
station platforms and tracks to be constructed and will release land on the east side of 
the railway for the delivery of the eastern station entrance and transport interchange. 
It would then facilitate the commercial and residential development around Station 

36



3

Square to be delivered which will ensure that the new station is integrated with the 
wider BXC development. 

2.6 Together, these components make up the Thameslink phase of the BXC development 
and all of these components are required to be delivered in order to achieve the 
comprehensive redevelopment of BXC. 

Why is the Waste Transfer Station needed?

2.7 Along with replacement train stabling facilities and a replacement rail freight facility, a 
replacement waste facility is required as part of the Brent Cross Cricklewood 
regeneration in order to facilitate the delivery of the new Thameslink Station and wider 
development.

2.8 The new Waste Transfer Station will replace the Hendon Waste Transfer Station 
operated by North London Waste Authority (NLWA) on the east side of the railway and 
will make way for the new Thameslink Train Station and associated development as 
part of the BXC regeneration scheme. The Hendon Waste Transfer Station needs to 
be replaced to ensure that the NLWA can continue to carry out its statutory obligation 
to arrange for the collection and disposal of waste from the seven constituent North 
London boroughs.

2.9 Outline planning permission has already been granted for a Waste Handling Facility 
(WHF) on this site under the 2010 Outline and 2014 S73 planning permissions for the 
BXC regeneration scheme.

Who has submitted this application?

2.10 The planning application has been submitted by GL Hearn planning consultants on 
behalf of London Borough of Barnet. Barnet Council, through the Thameslink Project 
Team (a joint venture between Capita and London Borough of Barnet) will be 
responsible for procuring and delivering the facility on behalf of the London Borough of 
Barnet. The site and building will be wholly owned by London Borough of Barnet and 
leased long term to North London Waste Authority (NLWA).

2.11 NLWA are the statutory waste disposal authority for seven North London boroughs – 
Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Islington and Waltham Forest – and who 
have a strategic overview of waste management needs across these boroughs. The 
primary users of the WTS facility will be Barnet and Camden Councils, although from 
time to time other boroughs may be directed to deliver waste to this facility.

2.12 The design, form and capacity of the facility has been worked up by the applicant team 
in agreement with the NLWA to ensure that it meets their operational requirements. 

37



4

What is being proposed under this application?

2.13 The existing Selco builders merchants building will be demolished and a new waste 
transfer station building will be constructed. This facility will receive and bulk up 
municipal waste, food waste, dry mixed recycling, bulky waste, street sweeping and 
street cleansing wastes before onward transportation to other sites for processing. 

2.14 The WTS is designed for up to 195,000 tonnes per annum. The anticipated throughput 
of the proposed facility will be 144,000 tonnes per annum upon opening, rising to 
152,000 tonnes per annum over approximately 5 years.

2.15 The building will have a concrete base and concrete walls to enclose the WTS 
operations, with a translucent polycarbonate cladding to wrap around the face and 
underside of the roof structure. 

2.16 Inside the building will have waste reception, storage bays, loading facilities, 
weighbridges, dust and odour suppression systems, a plant room, and office and staff 
welfare facilities. There will be 10 parking spaces for staff and visitors and 12 cycle 
parking spaces. 

2.17 A 2.2-metre-high palisade security fencing will be installed on top of a perimeter wall 
at the eastern boundary (adjacent to the Midland Mainline railway) and at the northeast 
boundary in relation to the site access and proposed substations. A 3.6-metre-high 
acoustic fence is proposed along the southern and part of the southwest boundary of 
the site.

2.18 The application includes works to the A5 Edgware Road/ Geron Way junction which 
will comprise widening of carriageways and signalisation of the junction. 

Why is the Waste Transfer Station being located here and not elsewhere in 
Barnet?

2.19 This location is required as a strategic facility to receive a range of waste streams 
collected by the North London boroughs. The location is important to serve the 
boroughs in the west of the Authority’s area and would reduce the environmental 
impacts and cost of transporting waste. 

2.20 The site has been identified for a waste handling facility since 2005 through the 
Cricklewood Brent Cross, West Hendon Development Framework and as part of the 
planning policies for the BXC regeneration. Outline planning permission has already 
been granted for a Waste Handling Facility on this site under the 2010 Outline and 
2014 S73 planning permissions for the BXC regeneration scheme.

2.21 A comprehensive study for alternative suitable sites within Barnet and further afield 
was undertaken by the Council. 

38



5

Why has a drop- in application been submitted?

2.22 The site at the application site already has outline planning permission for a Waste 
Handling Facility as part of the Section 73 Planning Permission granted for the Brent 
Cross Cricklewood regeneration. However, because the proposed facility will be: 
provided within a smaller building on a smaller site allowing Bestway to remain; will 
bulk and transfer waste rather than process waste materials to produce refuse derived 
fuel; and will be a road-to-road facility without a rail link, the proposals are not able to 
be brought forward under reserved matters pursuant to the S73 Permission. As a result 
a stand-alone planning application known as a ‘drop-in’ application is required which 
drops the new proposal into the masterplan for Brent Cross. This is not unusual for 
large developments such as BXC. The application has to be considered on its own 
merits but also needs to ensure that it doesn’t prejudice the delivery of the wider S73 
Permission. 

How has the proposal changed from the Waste Handling Facility approved 
under the outline planning permission for Brent Cross Cricklewood?

2.23 Since the outline planning permission was granted for the BXC regeneration in 2010, 
the waste management needs of NLWA (as the statutory waste disposal authority, 
owners of the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station and future operators of the 
proposed waste facility) have changed. The NLWA launched the North London Heat 
and Power project in late 2014. The scheme will deliver an Energy Recovery Facility 
(ERF) and a Resource Recovery Facility (RRF) which would replace the existing 
energy from waste facility at Edmonton. The ERF would treat residual waste collected 
from within the seven North London boroughs which would generate electricity. The 
project is a nationally significant infrastructure project and Development Consent Order 
(DCO) was granted for the North London Heat and Power project on 24 February 2017. 

2.24 Under this new strategy, the ERF facility would be fed by satellite waste transfer 
stations where waste would be bulked up before being transported to Edmonton. The 
WTS proposed under this application will be one of these sites. The Edmonton facility 
is not rail linked, therefore the proposed WTS no longer includes a rail link and instead 
material will be transported by road. 

2.25 The changes to the NLWA requirements as outlined above and reflected in their 
strategy to consolidate operations at a new facility in Edmonton have led to a reduced 
requirement at BXC for a smaller residual waste transfer station. As a result the BXC 
waste facility no longer needs to accommodate all of the waste processing related 
activities previously planned. This means it can be accommodated on a smaller site. 
The application site therefore only encompasses the Selco builders merchants and 
does not include the Bestway Cash and Carry site.   

2.26 The proposed development site comprises only the land occupied by Selco builders 
merchants and does not include the Bestway Cash and Carry site. This equates to a 
portion of Development Plot 63 in the S73 Permission and excludes Plot 62.

39



6

2.27 The proposed facility will only bulk waste for onward transport. In the WHF envisaged 
in the 2014 S73 Permission, materials would be sorted for recycling and a residual 
waste treatment facility was included to convert waste into Refuse Derived Fuel to 
supply the proposed Combined Heat and Power energy centre. 

2.28 The capacity of the replacement WHF was anticipated to be 600,000 tonnes per 
annum. The WTS is designed for up to 195,000 tonnes per annum. 

2.29 The parameters of the approved WHF envisaged a building with a maximum floorspace 
of 24,700 sqm, and a maximum height of 30m. The proposed WTS will have a 
maximum floorspace of 5,433m2 (internal footprint) with a maximum height of 16.55 
metres.

2.30 The WTS is proposed to receive municipal waste, food waste, dry mixed recycling, 
bulky waste, street sweeping and street cleansing wastes collected by the Local 
Authority’s waste services, but not commercial waste as originally envisaged under the 
2014 S73 Permission. 

2.31 The proposed facility will be accessed off Geron Way and will upgrade the existing 
Geron Way/A5 Edgware Road junction to include signals. The S73 Permission 
approved the stopping up of the Geron Way junction and the creation of a new diverted 
Geron Way to provide access to the Waste Handling Facility via a four-arm junction on 
the A5 with Humber Road which would allow vehicles to turn right into Humber Road 
from the A5.

Why is a rail link not proposed?

2.32 Since the 2010 Outline and 2014 S73 permissions were granted, the London Plan now 
requires all of London’s waste to be managed within London rather than being 
transported by rail to landfill or processing sites outside the Capital. As described 
above, the proposed WTS will enable waste to be bulked and transferred to Edmonton 
for processing, therefore contributing to the target for London to process all of its waste. 

2.33 Refuse Collection Vehicle (RCV) lorries and street sweeper vehicles will deliver the 
waste to the site into dedicated, segregated bays where it will be bulked-up and loaded 
onto HGV lorries. The residual waste will be transferred to Edmonton Eco Park in 
Enfield which generates renewable from waste and recyclable waste will be sent to 
specialist recycling contractors. Food waste will also be sent to Edmonton for 
composting. 

Is there a fire risk associated with the proposed facility? 

2.34 Proposals have been designed to comply with the latest Environment Agency Fire 
Prevention guidance and is in accordance with BS 5839 and as an L2 system. The 
Environment Agency and also the London Fire Brigade have been consulted and 
confirm they have no objections to the proposed development. Beyond the planning 
process, operation of the proposed development would also require an Environmental 

40



7

Permit from the Environment Agency which will include a Fire Prevention Plan.

What will the operating hours be?

2.35 The hours of waste reception will be between 0700 to 1900 Monday to Friday and 0900 
to 1300 on Saturday. There will be activity within the building outside of these hours 
(for example cleaning the building and servicing plant and equipment) but these 
activities will not be visible or audible outside of the building.

What measures are proposed to mitigate odour and dust? 

2.36 Unlike the existing Hendon WTS, the new facility will be fully enclosed and will be held 
at negative air pressure within the building so that when the doors open for vehicles to 
enter and exit, air is drawn into the facility and untreated air does not escape. The 
facility will also have an odour abatement system that will filter the air from within the 
building to reduce odour concentrations before being expelled from the building via a 
flue. The building will be sealed with fast-acting roller shutter doors which will be kept 
shut as a default unless a vehicle is entering or existing the building. Dust suppression 
sprays will be used during loading and unloading of material by trained staff. Wash 
down facilities will be provided throughout the site and the site will be cleaned on a 
daily basis. All loaded trucks will be sheeted (covered) leaving and entering the site. 
Waste will typically be transferred from the site within a 12 hour period.

How has noise from the development been considered? 

2.37 The potential for noise emissions to arise from the proposed development would be 
attributed to traffic arriving at and departing from the site, the loading and unloading of 
waste, operation of the roller-shutter doors, the management of waste within the 
building, and any such emissions associated with mechanical plant equipment, 
particularly that situated externally. 

2.38 The planning application is accompanied by a Noise Impact Assessment (and 
subsequent Revised Noise Impact Assessment, July 2018) which assesses the impact 
of the proposed development in terms of noise emissions considering the nearest 
sensitive receptors. The assessment concludes that the proposed development would 
result in achieving or bettering the 5dB below background levels restriction imposed 
by the S73 Permission, which is further improved through the implementation of the 
proposed 3.6-metre-high acoustic fencing along the southern and part of the southwest 
boundary of the Site, and 2-metre-high acoustic fencing along the eastern boundary of 
the Site. 

How has air quality impact been considered? 

2.39 The planning application is supported by an Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report 
(July 2018) which has been reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer. 

41



8

2.40 The submitted assessments take into account air quality impacts arising from any 
increase in HGV and other traffic associated with the wider BXC development, as well 
as operation of the proposed waste transfer station itself. This includes consideration 
of levels of NO2 and PM10 emissions, fugitive dust during both the construction (short-
term impacts) and operational (long-term impacts) phases of the proposed 
development.

2.41 All HGVs using the new facility will be of the highest environmental efficiency rating 
complying with the Euro VI emission standard which includes stop-start engine 
technology. A condition is recommended restricting the number of HGV movements 
during the evening peak period of the day so that no more than one HGV enters or 
exits the site during 17:00-18:00 and no more than one HGV enters or exits the site 
during 18:00-19:00 on Mondays to Fridays (including the Bank Holiday days).

2.42 Policy 7.14 of the London Plan and the related Mayor of London’s Sustainable Design 
and Construction SPG require development proposals to be at least air quality neutral 
and not lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality. When compared to the 
existing conditions at the Site, which includes the use of the land by Selco Builders 
Merchants, the Applicant has demonstrated that the proposed development (both 
operating at the maximum level of 195,000tpa and theoretical capacity of 260,000tpa) 
would result in less NO2 and PM10 emissions. The comparative reduction is more than 
50% in both scenarios. Therefore, the proposed development is considered to be at 
least air quality neutral in accordance with the London Plan requirements.

How many HGV trips will be generated by the development?

2.43 Based on the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000 tonnes of waste per annum, 
the proposed development would generate up to 414 HGV movements consisting of 
340 Refuse Collection Vehicle movements (170 in, 170 out) associated with the Local 
Authority waste collection service and 74 other HGV movements (37 in, 37) to facilitate 
the onward transfer of waste to other management facilities (e.g. Edmonton EcoPark). 
The proposed development would also result in up to 202 street sweepers and caged 
vehicle movements (101 in, 101 out) accessing the site; however, this is stated as a 
worst case scenario and such figures have been captured within the abovementioned 
414 HGV movements. 

2.44 Whilst RCVs would inevitably originate from residential areas in order to collect 
residents’ waste, the onward transfer of waste from the site to other management 
facilities (principally Edmonton EcoPark) would be via the A5 (northbound) and then 
the A406 North Circular, which also gives access to Edmonton EcoPark. Therefore 
HGVs leaving the site would all turn north up the A5. To ensure that HGV movements 
associated with the export of waste from the facility only used the Strategic Road 
Network and major transport routes (and avoided smaller roads/residential areas), a 
condition is recommended to require the applicant to submit a Delivery and Servicing 
Strategy, incorporating an enforceable management strategy, to the LPA for approval.

42



9

How has the impact of traffic from the proposed development been 
considered? 

2.45 The planning application is supported by a transport assessment which provides the 
applicants’ assessment of the proposed development in regard to capacity of the site 
access junction, proposed HGV movements and traffic flows on the A5 Edgware Road. 
This has been reviewed and accepted by the Council’s Transport officers and by TfL 
and shows that the proposed WTS, including signalisation of Geron Way, would not 
give rise to significant adverse impacts on the highway network. 

2.46 The traffic model used incorporates the approvals for the BXC regeneration scheme to 
date (i.e. Phase 1A North, Phase 1B North and Phase 1B South) and takes into 
account the cumulative impact of the wider BXC development and other committed 
developments. The modelling compares the impact of 742 HGV movements (371 in, 
371 out) plus 172 staff car movements (86 in, 86 out) as envisaged in the S73 
Permission with the proposed WTS development of 414 HGV movements (207 in, 207 
out) and up to 20 staff movements (10 in, 10 out) proposed within this planning 
application. It also takes into account fact that the Bestway business is retained, the 
adequacy of the existing A5/Geron Way junction and the impact of introducing signals 
at this junction on the local highway network. 

2.47 The existing Selco Builders Merchants generates more vehicle traffic than the 
proposed WTS. As such there would be a reduction in total traffic volumes from 1,492 
vehicles (surveyed between 07:00 to 19:00 on a weekday) to 414 HGV movements 
(incorporating RCVs, caged vehicles and street sweepers) over the same 12-hour 
period plus staff movements (12 staff are proposed). The proposed development would 
also represent a reduction in HGV and other vehicle movements when compared to 
the WHF already consented by the 2014 S73 Permission. Therefore the net impact of 
the proposed development compared to the existing land use and extant committed 
development scheme would reduce traffic volumes.

2.48 When assessed at the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000tpa, the transport 
assessment concludes that in 2021 there would be no capacity issues at any of the 
modelled junctions along the A5 (i.e. no junction would be over 90% Degree of 
Saturation (‘DoS’)) and thus there would be no adverse impacts on the highway 
network as a result of the proposed development. However, in 2031 after the rest of 
the BXC development has been completed after the proposed WTS has commenced 
operation and assuming operation at the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000tpa 
on opening), with Humber Road remaining as a priority junction, the transport 
modelling indicates that the proposed A5/Geron Way junction would have DoS over 
90% during the AM peak only. By comparison, with the signalisation of Humber Road, 
the A5/Geron Way junction would operate within acceptable limits. 

2.49 To determine the point at which works to Humber Road are required to mitigate the 
impact of the wider BXC regeneration scheme, the Applicant has conducted 
supplementary modelling. The results indicate that in 2024 when the MML Bridge 
would become operational, this additional route connecting the BXC development to 
the west and, therefore, consequent change in traffic flows would result in DoS over 
90% at the proposed Geron Way junction. As such, it is reasonable to suggest that 

43



10

mitigating works to Humber Road should be linked to the delivery of the MML Bridge. 
Given this association with a development forming part of the Phase 2 (South) 
(Thameslink Station) sub-phase and as works to Humber Road are already consented 
through the 2014 S73 Permission, it would be appropriate to ensure that this identified 
mitigation is secured through an amendment to the S73 Permission and by way of an 
appropriately worded condition imposed on any planning permission granted. 

44



11

3. DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND SURROUNDINGS

Description of the Wider Brent Cross Cricklewood (BXC) Site

3.1 The Application Site (‘the Site’ or ‘Application Site’) lies entirely within the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood (‘BXC’) regeneration area. The BXC regeneration area covers a 151-
hectare site within the London Borough of Barnet which is bounded to the west by 
the Edgware Road (A5) and Midland Mainline railway line; bounded to the east by 
Hendon Way (A41); and the BXC site is bisected east to west by the North Circular 
Road (A406). The existing BXC site includes Junction 1 of the M1 (Staples Corner), 
the existing Brent Cross Shopping Centre and Bus Station to the north of the North 
Circular. To the south of the North Circular, the site contains: the Brent South 
Shopping Park, existing Tesco store and Toys ‘R’ Us store, the Whitefield housing 
estate (approximately 220 residential units), Whitefield Secondary School, 
Mapledown Special School and Claremont Primary School; Hendon Leisure Centre, 
Brent Cross London Underground Station to the east; Clarefield and Claremont Parks 
and Clitterhouse Playing Fields (Metropolitan Open Land) to the south; and the 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station, Claremont Way Industrial Estate and Cricklewood 
Railway Station to the far south of the site. 

3.2 The Tempelhof Bridge and the Hendon Way (A41) flyover provide the only direct 
north-south link across the North Circular Road. The London Borough of Brent is 
located to the immediate west of the defined regeneration area, on the opposite side 
of the A5 Edgware Road. The BXC site is dominated and constrained by the existing 
road network and rail infrastructure. It contains industrial land, former railway land, 
retail warehousing and large areas of surface car parking. Comprehensive 
redevelopment is required to enable the provision of a sustainable mixed-use town 
centre and to create an acceptable residential environment.

3.3 The BXC site includes key parts of the Transport for London Road Network at Hendon 
Way (A41) and the North Circular (A406). The site is also bounded by the A5 Edgware 
Road, part of the Strategic Road Network. The area also includes a section of the 
Midland Mainline railway between London St. Pancras and the north of England, 
including the existing Cricklewood Station. Brent Cross Underground Station is within 
the eastern boundary of the regeneration area. Brent Cross Bus Station also provides 
access to 18 bus routes (including Green Line).

Description of the Proposed Waste Transfer Station Site

3.4 The Application Site is located at the south-western extent of the BXC regeneration 
area within the defined ‘Railway Lands Development Zone’ which runs parallel to the 
western edge of the BXC regeneration area. The 2014 S73 Permission defines the 
Railway Lands Zone as: “the Zone identified and marked as the Railway Lands Zone 
on Parameter Plan 001 and the indicative layout of which zone is shown on 
Parameter Plan 025”.

3.5 The Application Site relates to land that is currently occupied by Selco Builders 
Merchants off the A5 Edgware Road (south of its junction with Geron Way) and 

45



12

coincides with Plot 62 and part of Plot 63 of the permitted BXC regeneration scheme. 
The application Site covers an area of land measuring 1.66 hectare (ha) situated 
between the A5 Edgware Road and the Midland Mainline railway and to the south of 
the Bestway Cash and Carry (which is to be retained). The extent of the proposed 
development is shown on ‘Waste Transfer Station Planning Application Site Plan’ 
(ref. BXT-CAP-0000-E-M2-A-0008 (Rev.P01)). Figure 1 below is an extract of the 
‘Site Location Plan’ (ref. BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6001 (Rev.P01)) including 
annotations highlighting the key related features to the Site. Figure 2 provides some 
context in terms of how the application Site relates to the wider BXC regenereation 
scheme.

Midland Mainline and 
Hendon Freight Lines

Bestway Cash & Carry

Fellows Square

Hendon Waste 
Transfer Station

Dollis Hill

Rail Freight Facility

Figure 1: Location of the application Site (bound in red) in relation to the surrounding area and key features 
(adapted from: Capita drawing BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6001 Rev. P01).

Figure 2: Indication of the Application Site (blue chequered area) in relation to the BXC Parameter Plan 029 
(Indicative Phasing Plan) approved by the 2014 S73 Permission.

46



13

3.6 The Application Site also forms part of the land that is subject to The London Borough 
of Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) Compulsory Purchase Order (No. 3) 20161 . The 
current occupants of the Site, Selco Builders Merchants, have a short-term lease 
enabling the land to be made available for redevelopment as part of the BXC 
regeneration scheme at relatively short notice.

3.7 To the south of the Application Site lies the recently constructed Fellows Square 
residential and mixed-use development which consist of 230 residential units (use 
class C3) and 888 square metres of commercial accommodation (use classes B1, 
D1 and D2) in buildings up to seven storeys in height, along with associated car 
Parking, amenity space and new vehicular access from Edgware Road. In between 
the Site and Fellows Square is land identified to deliver a vehicular road bridge over 
the Midland Mainline railway, connecting the A5 with the new Spine Road on the 
eastern side of the railway providing access to the rest of the BXC regeneration area. 
The area to the west of the Site, on the opposite side of the A5 Edgware Road, is 
Dollis Hill which is principally a residential area characterised by 2-storey dwellings 
but is fronted by a number of commercial and industrial units. The A5 Edgware Road 
delineates the boundary between the London Borough of Barnet and the London 
Borough of Brent.

3.8 In terms of accessibility of the Application Site, the A406 North Circular and junction 
1 of the M1 Motorway (Staples Corner) is situated approximately 0.1 miles north of 
the Site, providing access to the wider London area and the rest of the United 
Kingdom. As aforementioned, the A5 Edgware Road itself is also a key arterial route 
into and out of London and forms part of London’s Strategic Road Network. 
Cricklewood Train Station, which provides regular direct services to London St. 
Pancras Station, is located approximately 0.7 miles south of the Site.

3.9 There are no statutory or non-statutory designations within the application Site. The 
nearest of such sites within the vicinity of the application Site include:

 Brent Reservoir SSSI and Brent Reservoir/Welsh Harp Local Nature 
Reserve – approximately 900 metres to the northwest; 

 Grade II* The Old Oxgate – approximately 600 metres to the west;
 Grade II Church of St Michael – approximately 760 metres to the south;
 Grade II Milestone outside 3 & 4 Gratton Terrace – approximately 830 

metres to the southeast (along the A5); and
 Grade II Dollis Hill Synagogue and forecourt railings – approximately 915 

metres to the southwest.

1 The London Borough of Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) Compulsory Purchase Order (No. 3) 2016 was 
confirmed in full by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government on 15th May 2018 following a 
public inquiry which was held in September 2017.

47



14

4. BRENT CROSS CRICKLEWOOD REGENERATION SCHEME

4.1 The Application Site lies entirely within the BXC regeneration area and Cricklewood/ 
Brent Cross Opportunity Area as identified by the Council’s Cricklewood, Brent Cross 
and West Hendon Regeneration Area Development Framework (2005) and the 
London Plan (2016), respectively. Outline planning permission for the comprehensive 
redevelopment of BXC (as described below) was originally granted in 2010 and 
subsequently varied through a Section 73 (‘S73’) planning application in 2013. This 
S73 planning application was approved in July 2014 (‘2014 S73 Permission’). The 
description of the approved development is:

Comprehensive mixed use redevelopment of the Brent Cross Cricklewood 
Regeneration Area comprising residential uses (Use Class C2, C3 and 
student/special needs/sheltered housing), a full range of town centre uses including 
Use Classes A1 - A5, offices, industrial and other business uses within Use Classes 
B1 - B8, leisure uses, rail based freight facilities, waste handling facility and 
treatment technology, petrol filling station, hotel and conference facilities, 
community, health and education facilities, private hospital, open space and public 
realm, landscaping and recreation facilities, new rail and bus stations, vehicular and 
pedestrian bridges, underground and multi-storey parking, works to the River Brent 
and Clitterhouse Stream and associated infrastructure, demolition and alterations 
of existing building structures, CHP/CCHP, relocated electricity substation, free 
standing or building mounted wind turbines, alterations to existing railway including 
Cricklewood railway track and station and Brent Cross London Underground station, 
creation of new strategic accesses and internal road layout, at grade or 
underground conveyor from waste handling facility to CHP/CCHP, infrastructure 
and associated facilities together with any required temporary works or structures 
and associated utilities/services required by the Development (Outline Application). 

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement.’

4.2 The permitted BXC regeneration scheme is divided into a number of Development 
Zones based on the varying character and land uses within the regeneration area. 
Given the extensive railway infrastructure in the southwest quadrant of the 
regeneration area, this part of the BXC is identified as the ‘Railway Lands Development 
Zone’. As highlighted in Figure 2 above, the Application Site coincides with Plot 62 and 
part of Plot 63 within the Railway Lands Development Zone. By virtue of the 2014 S73 
Permission, these Development Plots have the benefit of outline planning consent for 
the delivery of business use(s) on Plot 62 and a Waste Handling Facility (‘WHF’) on 
Plot 63. The 2014 S73 Permission also grants full planning permission for the 
construction of a new junction off the A5 Edgware Road to enable access to the Waste 
Handling Facility. This ‘gateway junction’ includes the diversion of the existing Geron 
Way and creation of a four-arm junction with the A5 and Humber Road.

4.3 The 2014 S73 Permission originally identified Plot 62 as being within Phase 1C and 
Plot 63 as falling within Phase 1B (South) of the BXC regeneration scheme. The 
A5/Diverted Geron Way (Waste Handling Facility) ‘gateway junction’ associated with 
Plot 63 fell within Phase 1A (South). Pursuant to the mechanism provided by Condition 

48



15

4.2 of the 2014 S73 Permission, amendments were approved to the indicative phasing 
of Development Plots and items of Critical Infrastructure by the LPA in October 2017. 
As a result, the WHF (Plot 63), associated A5/Diverted Geron Way (Waste Handling 
Facility) ‘gateway junction’, and Plot 62 have been re-phased along with the New Train 
Station (Plot 3, from Phase 5), Rail Freight Facility (Plot 60, from Phase 4), New MML 
Train Stabling Facility (from Phase 4), A5 Link Bridge over Midland Mainline (Bridge 
Structure B2) (from Phase 5) and gateway junctions associated with these items of 
Critical Infrastructure into the newly created Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-
phase2.

4.4 These amendments to the phasing of the BXC Development were driven by an 
aspiration to secure the earlier delivery of the New Train Station which is considered 
to be a key catalyst for the delivery of the remainder of the BXC regeneration scheme. 
Specifically, the comprehensive regeneration of BXC is reliant upon the delivery of an 
Integrated Transport Strategy which will provide more efficient public transport, reduce 
reliance on private car use and associated parking space, improve traffic flows and 
enable the development of increased densities to deliver much needed housing in 
London. Accessibility to good transport is therefore key to the success of the 
regeneration scheme.

4.5 In order to deliver the New Train Station, it is necessary for the aforementioned 
Development Plots and items of Critical Infrastructure to also be delivered within the 
same phase as they relate to land that is either required to facilitate this part of the 
development or pertain to rail-related infrastructure that is essential to develop 
coincidental to the New Train Station. Of particular relevance to this planning 
application, the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station on the eastern side of the 
Midland Mainline railway corridor (operated by North London Waste Authority 
(‘NLWA’)3) currently occupies the land identified for delivery of the New Train Station 
(Plot 3). The 2014 S73 Permission permits the replacement of this existing waste 
management facility with a new WHF (Plot 63) on the western side of the Midland 
Mainline railway corridor to ensure that ongoing waste management needs were 
continued to be met. The 2014 S73 Permission thus contains conditions and controls 
preventing the closure of Hendon Waste Transfer Station until completion of the new 
Waste Handling Facility. Condition 41.2 reads as follows:

‘The Development shall not prevent the operation of the existing Hendon 
Waste Transfer Station until a new Waste Handling Facility has been 
completed. Development of the new Waste Handling Facility shall be carried 
out in accordance with the relevant Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) 
Details submitted and approved and all other relevant Necessary Consents.

Reason: To ensure the timely provision of the Waste Handling Facility.’ 

2 Planning application reference 17/3661/CON – submitted in June 2016 and approved in October 2017 following 
the completion of a Deed of Variation to the BXC S106 Agreement (completed 24th October 2017).
3 The NLWA is the statutory waste disposal authority for seven North London boroughs including Barnet, 
Camden, Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Islington and Waltham Forest.

49



16

4.6 In addition to Condition 41.2, the 2014 S73 Permission contains four other planning 
conditions that relate to the delivery of the WHF. These are outlined below but 
reproduced in their entirety in Appendix B for information purposes:

 Condition 41.1 regarding the detailed design and operational impact of the 
WHF;

 Condition 41.3 controls the completion of the rail sidings and gantry crane 
and details to be submitted for approval;

 Condition 41.4 relates to the need to replace the existing licensed or 
permitted operational capacity as currently licensed and permitted at 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station; and

 Condition 41.5 prevents the redevelopment of existing waste management 
sites within the BXC regeneration area unless the same licensed or 
permitted operational capacity is reprovided either at the WHF or such 
other suitable site. 

4.7 The replacement WHF as envisaged within the 2014 S73 Permission is described 
within the Revised Development Specification Framework (‘RDSF’), in Appendix 15 to 
the RDSF, and illustrated on Parameter Plans 018 (Waste and Freight Facilities) and 
025 (Indicative Zonal Layout Plan_The Railway Lands).

4.8 Paragraph 5.79 and Appendix 15 of the RDSF along with Parameter Plans 018 (Waste 
and Freight Facilities) and 025 (Indicative Zonal Layout Plan_The Railway Lands) 
submitted in support of the S73 Planning Application provides the detail on the 
approved principles and parameters for the WHF. The WHF envisaged at the time of 
the 2014 S73 Planning Application, and as granted by the outline planning consent, 
was for a combined residual waste treatment facility and materials recovery facility. 
The treatment facility would enable the treatment of non-recyclable municipal, 
commercial and industrial wastes for the purposes of converting it into a Refused 
Derived Fuel (‘RDF’) to power a Combined Heat and Power (‘CHP’) Plant. That CHP 
Plant would then provide heat and power directly to the BXC site. The materials 
recovery facility would result in the segregation and bulking-up of recyclable waste for 
onward transfer to an appropriate waste management facility by rail. 

4.9 The S73 Permission approved principles and parameters for the WHF include the 
following:

4.9.1 The construction of a building with a maximum floor space of 24,700m2.

4.9.2 Building height to be a maximum of 30 metres with maximum length of 297 
metres and width of 102 metres. 

4.9.3 The rail connection would consist of three sidings adjacent to the Midland 
Mainline under a rail-mounted gantry crane, which is connected to a 220m 
headshunt, with storage for approximately 360no. 20ft containers.

4.9.4 Core operational hours would be within 07:00 to 19:00 hour on weekdays 
and 09:00 and 13:00 hours at weekends with no waste deliveries expected 

50



17

to take place outside those hours. Certain elements of the WHF were 
envisaged to be a 24-hour operation. 

4.9.5 Vehicle access would be via a new all movement signal controlled junction 
with the A5 at Humber Road providing access to a diverted section of 
Geron Way. 

4.9.6 An at-grade or underground conveyor enclosed within a pipe or tunnel to 
transport the Refuse Derived Fuel (‘RDF’) from the WHF to the CHP plant.

4.9.7 A total of 742 HGV movements (371 in, 371 out) and 172 staff movements 
(86 in, 86 out) were assumed over the 24-hour operational period

4.9.8 The WHF would be operated on a shift pattern of 06:00-14:00, 14:00 – 
22:00 and 22:00- 06:00.

Appendix 15 of the RDSF also outlines the following operational 
assumptions:

4.9.9 All waste would be delivered in closed vehicles or containers;

4.9.10 All waste would be unloaded within the building;

4.9.11 No untreated waste would be stored external to the building;

4.9.12 Building would be fitted with fast-acting roller shutter doors (or similar) and 
fitted with ventilation and odour abatement systems;

4.9.13 Where practicable, outputs would leave the site by train;

4.9.14 Waste would only be accepted during the stated delivery times;

4.9.15 Where practicable, all wastes would be recovered as recyclable or 
converted into fuel for use in the CHP system; and

4.9.16 A comprehensive litter management plan would be implemented around 
the WHF.

4.10 The above described WHF has the benefit of outline planning consent by virtue of the 
2014 S73 Permission, which also granted full planning permission for nine ‘gateway 
junctions’ that support the wider development. The A5/Diverted Geron Way (Waste 
Handling Facility) junction, including the creation of a four-arm junction with the A5 and 
Humber Road, is identified as one of these junctions benefitting from full planning 
permission and was intended to provide access to the WHF.

4.11 The 2014 S73 Permission also incorporates other control documents, including a 
Revised Design and Access Statement (‘RDAS’) and Revised Design Guide (‘RDG’), 
that offer further guidance on the BXC Development. In respect of the WHF, the RDAS 
recognises that development within the Railway Lands Development Zone would be 

51



18

industrial in nature to fulfil utilitarian functions, which fits in with the context of major 
road and railway infrastructure within this part of the regeneration area.  

4.12 The S73 Planning Application was supported by a number of other technical 
assessments relating to, inter alia, traffic and transport, noise and vibration, air quality 
and design. The 2014 S73 Planning Application and the preceding 2010 Outline 
planning application were also accompanied by and determined on the basis of 
conclusions contained within Environmental Statements.

5. DESCRIPTION OF PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

5.1 Planning permission is sought for the following proposed development:

‘Demolition of the existing building and erection of a new building for use as a 
waste transfer station for reception, bulking and onward transportation of 
municipal waste, food waste, dry mixed recycling, bulky waste, street sweeping 
and street cleansing wastes. Provision of waste reception, storage bays, loading 
facilities, fencing and temporary acoustic fencing, CCTV, office and welfare 
facilities, weighbridges, dust and odour suppression system, exhaust stack, 
drainage, plant room, parking for staff and visitors, temporary retaining wall, works 
to the highway to create a signalised junction at the A5 Edgware Road/ Geron 
Way junction, and other associated infrastructure and ancillary works.’

5.2 The proposed development would therefore involve the construction, operation and 
use of land for the reception, temporary storage, bulking and exportation of municipal 
waste, food waste, dry mixed recycling, street sweeping and cleansing wastes and 
larger household waste items (i.e. ‘bulky wastes’ such as furniture, appliances, etc.). 
The proposed WTS would be a road-to-road facility and would therefore receive such 
wastes as collected by the Local Authority’s waste collection services, which would 
then be segregated and bulked up for onward transfer/exportation by HGV to 
appropriately licensed waste management facilities for further treatment. 

Waste Transfer Station (‘WTS’) Building 

5.3 The proposal would involve the demolition of the existing Selco Builders Merchant 
building (with a footprint of 5,705m2), including an existing smaller detached structure 
and lean-to structure abutting the eastern elevation; and the construction of a purpose 
built WTS with an internal footprint of 5,433m2.  The proposed building would stand 
at a maximum height of 16.55 metres above ground level (equivalent to 
approximately five storeys) and be composed of a single storey steel framed structure 
with a roof formed from trusses at 10 metres and 8 metres centres that would 
effectively form a lid over the facility. This would enable the provision of a column-
free internal operation area with a clearance of 9 metres to permit vehicle and 
machinery movement within the facility. 

52



19

5.4 The roof would project beyond the building, most notably at the north-eastern façade, 
to create architectural interest at this key view from Geron Way/A5 Edgware Road 
and to assist in screening necessary plant equipment sited adjacent to this elevation; 
and from both the eastern and southern elevations creating an overhanging structure 
above the external vehicle circulation route. The roof would also contain a brown roof 
to support biodiversity (including the provision of hibernacula and local wildflower 
species), roof lights and a number of photovoltaic (solar) panels. 

5.5 In terms of materials, the proposed building would be constructed using a concrete 
base to enclose the WTS operations (with reinforced concrete piled foundations), a 
translucent polycarbonate cladding to wrap around the face and underside of the roof 
structure, and floor to ceiling curtain wall glazing on part of the northern elevation to 
define the proposed entrance and offices. This glazing would be transparent at both 
the first and second floor levels allow views into and out of the facility.

5.6 The proposed development includes green screening and landscaping proposals 
along the most public facades (described below) and has incorporated the use of 
materials that provides the potential for illumination and for the installation of artwork. 
Specifically, the polycarbonate sheeting proposed for the upper facades and to be 
wrapped around and under the roof structure would allow natural light during the day; 
while at night, the applicants’ aspiration is to illuminate these facades creating a visual 
effect thereby defining the facility’s presence during the night time. This section of the 
external structure also has the potential for art installations which the applicant will 
explore during the detailed design stages post-planning.

Landscaping and Screen Planting

5.7 The proposed development includes the implementation of landscaped screening 
structures along the A5 Edgware Road and Geron Way elevations and at the 
southwest corner of the facility; tree planting along the A5 to the north and south of 
the Geron Way junction; proposed amenity grass fronting onto the A5 Edgware Road 
along with a wildflower and species rich grass mix extending along approximately 
two-thirds of the building’s western (A5) elevation and around the southwest corner 
of the facility; and shrub planting at the building’s northwest corner.

5.8 With particular reference to the landscaped screening structures, the proposed 
landscaping strategy includes a combination of green wall systems, including: pre-
planted green screen panels to achieve an instant impact in respect of visual 
screening at the Site’s northwest corner and part of the northern boundary; 
installation of a framework adjacent to the building’s elevation to enable to climber 
plants to grow and mature over time at the northwest corner and partly along the A5 
Edgeware Road (western) elevation; and installation of a suspended framework 
between the ground and building (hi-tensile steel cable system) creating a green 
canopy along the southern section of the building’s western elevation and at the 
southwest corner of the Site. All green screens would vary in their height and shape 
to add visual interest to the proposed development but all would be below the 
maximum height of the facility.

53



20

5.9 In terms of hard landscaping, the proposed development would include the 
installation of 2.2-metre-high palisade security fencing atop a perimeter wall at the 
Application Site’s eastern boundary (adjacent to the Midland Mainline railway) and at 
the northeast boundary in relation to the site access and proposed substations. As 
mitigation for potential noise impacts, the proposed development also includes the 
construction of a 3.6-metre-high acoustic fence along the southern and part of the 
southwest boundary of the site; and a 2-metre-high acoustic fence along the eastern 
boundary of the Site.

5.10 Due to the topography of the Site and the adjacent A5 Edgware Road, the proposed 
development also includes the construction of a retaining wall structure along part of 
the northern boundary, along the entirety of the western boundary (where the A5 
Edgware Road footway meets the boundary of the Site, including a steel safety 
barrier), and southwest corner of the Site. The retaining wall would vary in height in 
line with the ground level changes and would therefore be constructed to a height of 
between 1.7 – 5 metres rising from the staff car park access on the northern boundary 
at Geron Way to the southwest extent of the Site along the western (A5 Edgware 
Road) boundary. 

5.11 The application also proposes the construction of a temporary gabion basket wall 
structure at the southwest corner of the Site between the existing A5 Edgware Road 
eastern footway and proposed acoustic fence along the southern boundary of the 
Site. This is proposed to retain the temporary landscaping between the A5 Edgware 
Road and proposed WTS as a result of the topographical changes and ensure the 
future development of the A5 Link Road Over the Midland Mainline (Bridge Structure 
B2) as part of the wider BXC regeneration scheme. The proposed gabion wall would 
be a maximum of 5 metres in height (from the ground level within the Application 
Site).  

Operation of the Proposed WTS

5.12 The existing Hendon WTS is operated by the North London Waste Authority 
(‘NLWA’), who are the statutory Waste Disposal Authority for seven North London 
boroughs, including Barnet, Camden, Enfield, Hackney, Haringey, Islington and 
Waltham Forest. The Hendon WTS therefore receives municipal and commercial 
residual wastes collected by these local authorities which is then bulked up and 
transported either by rail or road to other waste processing facilities. These include: 
recyclable wastes are transferred to a Materials Recovery Facility (MRF) operated by 
Biffa in Enfield and to a lesser extent a MRF operated by Bywaters in Bow; residual 
municipal wastes are transferred to the existing Energy from Waste Facility at 
Edmonton EcoPark; and food waste is normally sent to an Anaerobic Digestion (AD) 
plant in Dagenham operated by ReFood. Some food waste has recently been 
transferred to Milton Parc AD Plant in Bedfordshire but otherwise, most waste is 
transferred for further processing or treatment to other sites within London.

54



21

5.13 The proposed WTS, as a replacement for Hendon WTS, would also be operated by 
NLWA (or appointed contractors on their behalf4) and would therefore continue to 
receive Local Authority collected wastes including municipal, segregated dry mixed 
recyclable wastes, bulky wastes, and street sweeping and street cleansing wastes. 
These wastes would be collected by local authority Roadside Collection Vehicles 
(‘RCVs’), caged vehicles and sweeper vehicles and delivered to the proposed 
development. Upon arrival, RCVs/caged/sweeper vehicles would enter the Site via 
an amended access off Geron Way and proceed to circulate around the proposed 
building in a clockwise direction, utilising the weighbridge facilities, before entering 
the WTS building through its southern elevation. Once inside the building, waste 
would be deposited within the appropriate allocated bay. There would be a total of 11 
bays within the facility – 1no. street sweeping waste bay, 1no. food waste bay, 2no. 
recycling waste bays (depending on demand), 6no. residual municipal waste bays 
(depending on demand), and 1no. bay for wastes which pose a risk of fire (in 
accordance with Environment Agency permitting and London Fire Brigade 
requirements). The proposed internal arrangement allows for adaptable wall 
configurations to respond to any variance in waste type arisings or any change in 
operational or functional requirements. However, each bay structure would be 
constructed with 6-metre-high partitions and have appropriate drainage to manage 
any liquid run-off from the stored wastes. The food waste bay would also have its 
own wash-down facility in accordance with Animal By-products Regulations.

5.14 Once sufficient waste has accumulated (the limit of which would be controlled by the 
available storage capacity and the Environment Agency5), it would then be bulked up 
and loaded onto HGVs by 360° material handlers or wheeled loading shovels within 
the building for onward transfer to other waste management facilities. The residual 
wastes would be transported to Edmonton EcoPark in Enfield to supply the existing 
Energy from Waste plant (and future Energy Recovery Facility, once constructed and 
operational) for conversion to heat and power. Recyclable wastes would be 
transferred to specialist local recycling contractors; and food waste would be 
transferred to a third party anaerobic digestion plant at Milton Parc in Bedford, which 
would treat and convert the waste to generate renewable energy. 

5.15 The proposed development is envisaged to be open to staff 24 hours a day; however, 
waste would only be received during the hours of 07:00 – 19:00 Mondays to Fridays 
including Bank Holidays, and 09:00 – 13:00 Saturdays. There would be no operations 
on Sundays. Any operations outside of these waste reception hours would be limited 
to preparation and cleansing within the building and, where the need arises, the 
exportation and transfer of bulked up wastes to other waste management facilities. 
The proposed development would continue to provide full-time employment for the 
12no. existing employees at the Hendon WTS. 

5.16 The proposed WTS seeks planning permission for an operational throughput of up to 
195,000 tonnes per annum. The facility has a design capacity for a potential 

4 The Hendon WTS is currently operated by LondonEnergy Limited, which is a company wholly owned by NLWA. 
5 Through an Environmental Permit, the Environment Agency would normally impose a three-day storage limit on 
the storage of waste within such a WTS. The applicant has applied to the Environment Agency for an 
Environmental Permit and the outcome of this application is awaited.

55



22

throughput of 260,000 tonnes per annum to enable the facility to respond to any 
increased, future demand. Notwithstanding this, the planning application before the 
LPA seeks planning permission for a maximum throughput of 195,000 tonnes per 
annum, and this is the basis upon which the proposed development has been fully 
assessed within the accompanying Supplementary Environmental Statement. The 
Applicant states that on opening of the proposed WTS, the facility would initially 
process an annual throughput of 144,000 tonnes, rising to 152,000 tonnes per annum 
in the short to medium term and then increasing in line with future demand up to the 
maximum of 195,000 tonnes per annum in the longer term6.

Highway Works and Site Access

5.17 In order to provide a safe and controlled means of access/egress to/from the 
proposed WTS on to the Strategic Highway Network, the proposed development 
would include works to the existing priority controlled A5/Geron Way junction that 
currently enables access to the Selco Builders Merchants off Geron Way and 
vehicular access to Bestway Cash and Carry. These proposed junction works would 
result in the following:

 Signalisation of the A5/Geron Way junction along with widening the junction 
mouth to achieve adequate visibility splays in both directions (2.4m X 43m); 

 Upgrade works to the A5 Edgware Road itself to allow the largest vehicles 
(HGVs) to safely enter/exit Geron Way from/to the A5 Edgware Road 
(including a dedicated right turning lane on the northbound carriageway and 
traffic islands); 

 Footway improvements and improved pedestrian crossing facilities, 
including:

o A 3-metre-wide footway along the proposed WTS western frontage;
o A 2.6 to 3 metre wide footway on the eastern side of the A5 and 

northern side of Geron Way – around the ‘Bestway’ corner;
o A 2 metre wide footway along the southern side of Geron Way;
o Single stage controlled pedestrian crossing across Geron Way; and
o Single stage signal controlled pedestrian crossing with traffic islands 

across the A5 Edgware Road to the north of the Geron Way junction.

 Relocated bus stop with new bus shelter and signage on the A5 southbound 
footway (i.e. eastern side of the A5); and

 Highway cycle waiting areas at the proposed A5 northbound and A5 
southbound signals.

The A5/Geron Way proposed junction works are set out on plan numbers BXT-CAP-
0100-F-SK-C-0007 (Rev.P06), BXT-CAP-0100-F-SK-C-0008 (Rev.P06), and BXT-
CAP-0100-C-DR-C-0046 (Rev.P05); and the planning application is accompanied by 
relevant Swept Path Analyses, Road Safety Audit (Stage 1), and Departure from 

6 As a guide, the Applicant has provided a forecast that anticipates the proposed WTS would process 180,000 
tonnes per annum by 2050.

56



23

Standards report. Such junction works will require further approval by the Local 
Highway Authority under Section 278 of the Highways Act 1980 (as amended).

5.18 The proposed WTS would be accessed off Geron Way via the existing access 
currently serving Selco Builders Merchants, however, this access would be subject 
to amendment as a result of the proposed development (including widening to 
facilitate an entrance and exit lane). The operational site access would therefore be 
located at the northeast corner of the Site and serve Geron Way in both directions, 
but predominantly traffic from the A5 Edgware Road as this would be the principal 
route to and from the site by RCVs, caged vehicles, street sweepers and HGVs. Once 
on-site, waste traffic would pass through a bi-folding gate and travel along the internal 
road layout which would comprise a one-way system circulating in a clockwise 
direction around the WTS building. Waste traffic would enter the proposed building 
on the southern elevation. Waste traffic would exit the proposed WTS building on the 
eastern elevation and proceed to the exit on Geron Way through another bi-folding 
gate.

5.19 Staff and visitors to the proposed development would access the site via an 
alternative access point located to the west of the proposed operational site access, 
which leads into the proposed car parking area adjacent to the northern elevation of 
the WTS building. Staff and visitor traffic would, however, exit the Site via the 
proposed operational site access. The planning application is accompanied by 
vehicle tracking/Swept Path Analyses to demonstrate that the largest vehicles (where 
appropriate) can access/egress and manoeuvre within the Site by the relevant 
proposed access point, including oil tankers to supply fuels and fire appliances in the 
event of an emergency.

5.20 The abovementioned car park would provide parking for 9no. cars, 1no. allocated 
disabled parking space, 3no. electric charging spaces/points, and 12no. bicycles 
(within a cycle store adjacent to the northeast corner of the proposed building with 
dimensions of 2.6 metres high, 5.5 metres long and 1.8 metres wide). 

5.21 In addition to the above, the proposed development also incorporates the installation 
of a ground beam with a steel safety barrier at the ‘Bestway Cash and Carry’ corner 
of the junction between Geron Way and the A5 Edgware Road (i.e. the northern 
extent of the junction). This is to be installed for highway safety reasons.

Ancillary Development

5.22 The planning application also proposes a number of ancillary developments within 
the Application Site to facilitate the operation of the proposed WTS. 

Odour Control Unit:

5.23 Given the nature of the proposed development and wastes that are proposed to be 
handled, the planning application proposes the installation of an Odour Control Unit 
(‘OCU’) principally situated within the northern part of the proposed building (above 
the waste storage bay structures) but also including connected plant equipment 

57



24

located externally to the west of the car parking area and within the northwest corner 
of the Site. The OCU would consist of an odour abatement system (an example of 
such system would be a carbon filter based process which seeks to neutralise 
odourous pollutants before air is dispersed to the atmosphere) consisting of two air 
filtration silos, an exhaust stack with a maximum height of 17 metres (with only 1 
metre protruding above the roof structure), dust filters and extractor fans. This OCU 
would be required to achieve the Environment Agency’s maximum odour levels both 
at the site boundary and at sensitive receptors. 

5.24 In addition to this OCU plant, odour emissions would be minimised by the carrying 
out of all waste operations within the proposed building; ensuring access into and out 
of the operational elements of the proposed building (as opposed to the ancillary 
office and pedestrian entrance) would only be via roller shutter doors with high speed 
opening and closing mechanisms; and maintaining a negative air pressure system to 
prevent odour emissions when the doors are open. As additional mitigation, with the 
exception of bulky wastes, all putrescible wastes would be delivered to, and exported 
from, the Site within enclosed vehicles or containers and would only be delivered 
within the hours specified above.

Fire Water Tank and Pump House:

5.25 Located adjacent to the abovementioned OCU in the northwest corner of the Site, 
the proposed development also includes the installation of water tank (and associated 
pump house) to store and supply water in the event of a fire. The proposed water 
tank would be cylindrical in shape and have a capacity to store 380m3 of water. The 
structure would stand at a maximum height of 7.6 metres with diameter of 8 metres 
and finished in aluminium cladding. The proposed associated pump house would be 
of a glass reinforced plastic construction (finished in dark green) and stand at a 
maximum height of 3.6 metres.

Substations:

5.26 The proposed substations (two) would be located adjacent to the northern boundary 
of the Site (Geron Way) between the proposed car parking area and operational site 
access at the northeast corner of the Site. The two substation buildings would be 
finished in dark green colour and measure approximately 3 metres by 3 metres and 
stand at a height of 2.4 metres. Each building would be separated by a 350mm 
concrete blast wall and contained by a perimeter 2.2-metre-high steel palisade fence. 
Individual access gates would be provided off Geron Way (opening inward to prevent 
obstruction along the footway) and these would tie into the proposed boundary 
treatment for the Site’s northern boundary which is proposed to be a 1.5-metre-high 
concrete wall with a 2-metre timber fence erected on top that has a planted/green 
frontage onto Geron Way.

Crew Toilet Block

5.27 Adjacent to the substations, the proposed development also includes the erection of 
an external toilet block for drivers and other crew members involved in the transfer of 
wastes to and from the site (between the proposed substations and operational site 
access). This structure would have dimensions of 2.8 metres by 2.9 metres.

58



25

Weighbridges

5.28 The proposed development includes the installation of 4no. weighbridges to monitor 
waste imported to and exported from the WTS facility by road. Each set of 
weighbridges would be able to accommodate the proposed largest vehicles (i.e. a 
44-tonne and 16.5-metre-long articulated vehicle). These weighbridges are proposed 
to be situated at the eastern extent of the site on both the inbound and outbound 
routes required to be taken by all vehicles, which would be covered by the 
overhanging roof design. They would be arranged to ensure that two weighbridges 
are sited parallel to one another so that if one becomes blocked the other remains in 
operation to ensure the ongoing operation of the proposed WTS. However, where 
necessary, sufficient space has been allowed to enable vehicles to bypass both the 
inbound and outbound weighbridges; and split-bodied vehicles are also able to 
recirculate onto the inbound weighbridge without having to exit the site. 

Re-fuelling Station

5.29 The area at the southwest most extent of the Site would contain an underground fuel 
tank, with a capacity of 10,000 litres, and associated dispensing equipment above 
ground to refuel vehicles. This part of the site would also partially benefit from the 
overhanging roof structure and, due to the topographical levels, would be sited at a 
lower level behind the proposed retaining wall structure.

Amendments to the Proposed Development (July 2018)

5.30 In July 2018, the Applicant submitted further information in respect of this Planning 
Application which included some amendments to the proposed development. In 
summary, these amendments include:

 Revised hours of operation in terms of the period within which waste would 
be received at the Site, which is now proposed as follows:

o Mondays to Fridays and Bank Holidays 07:00 – 19:00;
o Saturdays 09:00 – 13:00; and
o No operations on Sundays.

 Reduction in the extent of brown roof over the proposed WTS facility (from 
80% to 30%) to reduce ground stress from the foundations of the structure 
and to protect a strategic National Grid cable tunnel that runs beneath the 
Site. In assessing the requirement under the BXC 2014 S73 Permission, the 
Applicant states that this reduced brown roof would continue to be more than 
sufficient to meet the minimum requirement of 10% of available roof areas 
across the wider BXC regeneration area to have a brown/green roof. 

 Relocation and provision of a revised fire water tank and Odour Control Unit 
(OCU). These structures as amended are outlined above under paragraphs 
5.23-5.25.

59



26

 Amendments to the proposed A5/Geron Way junction arrangements in 
response to the Local Highway Authority review of the scheme.

 Provision of a segregated ingress/access for the staff and visitor car park 
which would now be separated from the proposed operational site access 
(albeit staff and visitors would egress/exit via the operational site access).

 Omission of the relocation of the Network Rail vehicular access gate based 
on highway safety grounds. An alternative location for this access point is the 
subject of ongoing discussion between the Council (as applicant) and 
Network Rail.

 Inclusion of an additional 2.4-metre-high acoustic fencing along the eastern 
boundary of the Site to reduce identified noise impacts on sensitive receptors 
at Brent Terrace.

60



27

6. COMPATIBILITY OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT TO THE BRENT CROSS 
CRICKLEWOOD S.73 PERMISSION

6.1 As described in Section 4 of this report, the 2014 S73 Permission for the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood (‘BXC’) regeneration scheme grants outline planning consent for the 
construction and operation of a Waste Handling Facility (‘WHF’), as a replacement for 
the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station, on the same land as that included within 
this planning application. Therefore, the principle of the developing a waste 
management facility at this Site has already been established in planning terms by 
virtue of that outline planning permission.

6.2 Ordinarily, approval for the detailed design of the BXC WHF would be sought through 
a Reserved Matters Application that builds upon the principles and parameters of the 
development established at the outline planning stage. However, as set out within the 
Council’s case for The London Borough of Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) 
Compulsory Purchase Order (No. 3) 20167 and described within the applicants’ 
Planning Statement and supporting evidence, the requirements for a WHF as a 
replacement for Hendon Waste Transfer Station has evolved since the 2014 S73 
Permission was granted. The key reasons for this change relate to (1) the feasibility 
and viability of the Refuse Derived Fuel (‘RDF’) fuelled CHP Plant, and (2) NLWA’s 
approach to strategic waste management within North London.

(1) Feasibility and Viability of the RDF Fuelled CHP Plant

6.3 In accordance with Conditions 1.24 and 35.3 of the BXC 2014 S73 Permission, 
feasibility and viability testing was carried out in relation to the Vacuum Waste 
Collection System and the Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) fuelled CHP plant. These 
studies concluded that the RDF would neither be feasible nor viable due to more 
stringent Building Regulations (published in 2013), which reduced the estimated heat 
demand which affected the scale and efficiency of the CHP, and the cost of installing 
a continuous underground conveyor between the WHF and the CHP which was found 
to be prohibitively expensive. A further feasibility study examining the possibility of 
fuelling a scheme-wide CHP using alternative renewable source(s) (such as biomass, 
liquid biofuels, gaseous biofuels or hydrogen fuel cells) was carried out pursuant to 
Condition 35.4 of the s.73 Permission which, in consultation with the GLA specialist 
Sustainable Energy Manager, concluded that an alternative renewable CHP plant for 
BXC is not viable and that viability would be further vulnerable to government changing  
or removing its renewable incentives. These studies were submitted to the LPA 
pursuant to Conditions 1.24 (planning application reference 14/07961/CON), 35.3 
(planning application reference 14/07893/CON) and 35.4 (planning reference 
14/07959/CON) of the s.73 Permission and their conclusions were approved as a 
consequence of the LPA discharging the conditions in 2015.

(2) NLWA Approach to Strategic Waste Management

6.4 As statutory waste disposal authority, this evolution has been driven by a change to 
NLWA’s waste management strategy for the constituent seven North London 

7 Following a Public Inquiry in September 2017, the London Borough of Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) 
Compulsory Purchase Order (No. 3) 2016 was confirmed in full by the Secretary of State for Housing 
Communities and Local Government on 15th May 2018.

61



28

boroughs. At the time of the original 2010 BXC outline planning application, the NLWA 
had successfully obtained Government funding to implement the strategy set out in 
their ‘North London Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy’ (published in 
January 2009). The preferred option within this strategy recommended the use of an 
Energy from Waste Facility in addition to a Mechanical Biological Treatment (MBT) 
facility and an Anaerobic Digestion facility with a combined capacity to handle 700,000 
tonnes of waste per annum. Whilst proceeding to apply for the relevant planning 
permissions for these facilities, coincidental examination into the North London Waste 
Plan in 2012 – a collaborative Development Plan for the same seven North London 
boroughs – resulted in concerns being raised by the Planning Inspector in regard to 
the required Duty to Co-operate. Consequently, in 2013, a planning application 
registered at the London Borough of Barnet for the suggested MBT facility was 
withdrawn and thereafter, the NLWA announced the end to their procurement process 
for long term waste management services and this particular waste management 
strategy.

6.5 In 2014 the NLWA then announced their formal change in direction to strategic waste 
management needs confirming that they would instead pursue the construction of a 
replacement Energy Recovery Facility at Edmonton EcoPark in Enfield. A 
Development Consent Order was thereafter duly submitted to the Planning 
Inspectorate for the proposed ‘North London Heat and Power Project’ in November 
2015 and, following examination in August 2016, the Development Consent Order (The 
North London Heat and Power Generating Station Order 2017) was granted by the 
Secretary of State for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategic coming into effect on 
18th March 2017. 

6.6 The NLWA’s approach to future strategic waste management was realigned as a direct 
consequence of this Development Consent Order. With a consolidated residual waste 
management facility now to be provided at Edmonton EcoPark, incorporating the 
construction of an Energy Recovery Facility to replace the existing Energy from Waste 
plant, there is now a reduced requirement for a secondary residual waste management 
facility (i.e. a facility that processes residual waste) to be provided as part of the BXC 
regeneration scheme. The NLWA has corroborated and confirmed their future waste 
management strategy need by letter to the LPA (dated 16th August 2018), which is 
appended to this report as Appendix C.

6.7 In response to this revised and ratified approach to strategic waste management within 
North London and the factors that have contributed to this change in direction, the 
requirement for a new waste management facility as a replacement to the existing 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station within the BXC regeneration area has also changed. 
Therefore, the proposed WTS set out within this planning application diverges from 
that permitted by the 2014 S73 Permission in order to deliver a satellite bulking station 
to support the Edmonton EcoPark Energy Recovery Facility and other appropriate 
waste recycling or processing facilities within London. These divergences can be 
broadly summarised as follows: 

62



29

6.7.1 Scale of the operation – as a waste bulking and transfer station, the 
proposed annual throughput is initially anticipated to be 144,000 tonnes 
per annum (‘tpa’), rising to 152,000tpa in the short-medium term, and up 
to 195,000tpa in the longer term. The proposed facility, however, has the 
potential to transfer a maximum of 260,000tpa. The WHF envisaged in 
the 2014 S73 Permission intended to handle up to 600,000tpa of residual, 
green, food and dry recyclable wastes in respect of the aforementioned 
materials recovery operation and waste treatment process to generate 
RDF and fuel a CHP facility8.

6.7.2 Type of waste facility – the proposed WTS is a bulking and transfer station 
for residual waste, dry mixed recycling, food waste, and street sweeping 
and street cleansing wastes. The 2014 S73 Permission WHF sought to 
undertake a materials recovery operation to segregate recyclable wastes 
and then a waste processing function to turn residual wastes into RDF.

6.7.3 Size of the development – the BXC 2014 S73 Permission envisaged the 
development of a WHF covering the entirety of Plots 62 and 63 (3.28ha) 
of the BXC Development (as illustrated on Parameter Plan 018: Waste 
and Freight Facilities) – consistent with the land currently occupied by 
existing Bestway Cash and Carry and Selco Builder’s Merchants – and 
the construction of a building with a maximum floorspace of 24,700m2; 
height of between 12-30 metres; length of between 189-297 metres; and 
width of 24-102 metres. The proposed WTS would be on a smaller scale 
to be developed only on land currently occupied by Selco Builders 
Merchants (1.66ha consistent with Plot 62 and part of Plot 63); would be 
constructed with a maximum floorspace of 5,433m2 (internal footprint); 
maximum height of 16.55 metres; the concrete wall lower elements and 
overhanging roof structure would cover an area of 87 metres east to west 
and 79 metres north to south.

6.7.4 Waste transportation methods – the BXC 2014 S73 Permission WHF 
envisaged the development of a rail-linked facility including a rail mounted 
gantry to facilitate the transfer waste from the site to other waste 
processing facilities. Given the reduction in scale and type of WTS now 
proposed, in addition to NLWA’s revised strategic waste management 
strategy (i.e. to transfer waste to Edmonton EcoPark); the proposed WTS 
as a replacement for Hendon Waste Transfer is now no longer required 
to be rail-linked. The proposed WTS would therefore be a road-road 
facility.

8 As set out in Table 2.1 (Waste Input Assumptions) of Appendix 15 to the RDSF, the WHF was envisaged to 
handle 150,000tpa of dry recyclable wastes, 50,000tpa of green and food (organic) wastes, 250,000tpa of 
residual wastes, and process 150,000tpa of the residual wastes to generate RDF for the CHP facility.

63



30

6.8 As a result of these differences, the proposed WTS does not accord with all of the 
principles and parameters established by the 2014 S73 Permission in respect of 
developing Plot 63 and Plot 62 of the BXC regeneration scheme. Therefore, detailed 
approval cannot be sought through an RMA. Instead, approval for the proposed WTS 
on this site is being sought through a ‘drop-in application’.

6.9 The use of ‘drop-in applications’ in the context of outline planning consents, particularly 
for large regeneration projects delivered over a number of years, is not an uncommon 
planning approach9. The purpose of utilising such an approach is so that alternative 
development on land that benefits from outline planning permission can be achieved. 
However, in the case of BXC, the use of ‘drop-in applications’ would only be considered 
acceptable to the Local Planning Authority providing that (1) the proposed 
development is compatible with the 2014 S73 Permission; (2) it does not undermine or 
prejudice the overall delivery of the wider masterplan (i.e. comprehensive 
redevelopment of the BXC area); and (3) would not give rise to any significant 
environmental impacts when considered against the Environmental Impact 
Assessment carried out at the outline planning stage, and as updated accordingly 
through subsequent applications. 

6.10 In the event that planning permission is granted for the proposed development, or any 
other ‘drop-in application’, two planning permissions would effectively coexist for 
development of the same land. In this instance, the Pilkington Principle would apply 
whereby implementation of any planning permission for the proposed development (if 
granted) would render the respective part of the s.73 Permission (i.e. Plot 60) un-
implementable. However, provided that the alternative proposals within the ‘drop-in 
application’ and any subsequent permission granted pursuant to them does not 
prejudice the delivery of any other part of the approved BXC regeneration scheme, the 
proposed development can be delivered in the context of the s.73 Permission. The 
Local Planning Authority is satisfied with this planning approach subject to the 
aforementioned caveats ((1) to (3) in paragraph 6.9).

9 The planning processes connected to the delivery of the Olympic Park by the London Legacy Development 
Corporation can be quoted as a preceding example for the use of ‘drop-in’ or ‘slot-in’ applications.

64



31

7. MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

7.1 The following provides an overview of the matters that constitute material 
considerations in the determination of this planning application.

Key Relevant Planning Policy

7.2 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that 
development proposals shall be determined in accordance with the development plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. In this case, the development plan 
is The London Plan (published March 2016) and the development plan documents in 
the Barnet Local Plan (namely the Core Strategy DPD and Development Management 
Policies DPD both adopted September 2012). 

7.3 Chapter 12 of Barnet’s Unitary Development Plan (2006) also remains extant and the 
policies contained within it are also material considerations given the location of the 
application site within the Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration area. Taken together, 
these statutory development plans are therefore the main policy basis for the 
consideration of this planning application. 

7.4 More detail on the policy framework relevant to the determination of this planning 
application and an appraisal of the proposed development against those relevant 
development plan policies is set out in subsequent sections of this report dealing with 
specific policy and topic areas. Table 1 below summarises The London Plan and the 
Barnet Local Plan policies relevant to the determination of this planning application.

Table 1: Summary of the development plan policies most relevant to the determination of planning 
application 17/6714/EIA

The London Plan (March 2016)
London’s Places 
Policy 2.13 Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
Policy 2.18 Green Infrastructure: The Multi-functional Network of 

Green and Open Spaces
London’s Economy
Policy 4.4 Managing Industrial Land and Premises
London’s Response to Climate Change
Policy 5.2 Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Policy 5.3 Sustainable Design and Construction
Policy 5.10 Urban Greening
Policy 5.11 Green Roofs and Development Site Environs
Policy 5.12 Flood Risk Management
Policy 5.13 Sustainable Drainage 
Policy 5.14 Water Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure
Policy 5.15 Water Use and Supplies
Policy 5.16 Waste Net Self-sufficiency
Policy 5.17 Waste Capacity
Policy 5.21 Contaminated Land

65



32

London’s Transport
Policy 6.1 Strategic Approach
Policy 6.3 Assessing Effects of Development on Transport Capacity
Policy 6.9 Cycling
Policy 6.11 Smoothing Traffic Flow and Tackling Congestion
Policy 6.12 Road Network Capacity
Policy 6.13 Parking
Policy 6.14 Freight
London’s Living Spaces and Places
Policy 7.4 Local Character
Policy 7.5 Public Realm
Policy 7.14 Improving Air Quality
Policy 7.15 Reducing and Managing Noise, Improving and Enhancing 

the Acoustic Environment and Promoting Appropriate 
Soundscapes

Policy 7.19 Biodiversity and Access to Nature
Policy 7.21 Trees and Woodlands
Implementation and Monitoring Review
Policy 8.2 Planning Obligations
Barnet Local Plan – Core Strategy DPD (September 2012)
Policy CS NPPF National Planning Policy Framework – Presumption in 

favour of sustainable development
Policy CS2 Brent Cross – Cricklewood 
Policy CS5 Protecting and enhancing Barnet’s character to create 

high quality places
Policy CS7 Enhancing and protecting Barnet’s open spaces
Policy CS8 Promoting a strong and prosperous Barnet
Policy CS9 Providing safe, effective and efficient travel
Policy CS13 Ensuring the efficient use of natural resources
Barnet Local Plan – Development Management Policies DPD (September 
2012)
Policy DM01 Protecting Barnet’s character and amenity
Policy DM04 Environmental considerations for development
Policy DM14 New and existing employment space
Policy DM16 Biodiversity
Policy DM17 Travel impact and parking standards
Unitary Development Plan (2006) – Chapter 12: Cricklewood, Brent Cross 
and West Hendon Regeneration Area
Policy GCrick Cricklewood, Brent Cross, West Hendon Regeneration 

Area
Policy C1 Comprehensive Development
Policy C2 Urban Design – High Quality
Policy C3 Urban Design – Amenity 
Policy C4 Sustainable Design
Policy C7 Transport Improvements
Policy C10 Employment

66



33

7.5 A number of other documents, including supplementary planning documents, design 
guidance and national planning practice guidance, are also material to the 
determination of the application. This includes:

 Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon Development Framework (2005);
 National Planning Policy Framework (July 2018);
 National Planning Practice Guidance;
 National Planning Policy for Waste (October 2014);
 Noise Policy Statement for England (DEFRA, 2010);
 LB Barnet Planning Obligations SPD (2013);
 LB Barnet Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2016);
 LB Barnet Green Infrastructure SPD (2017);
 The Mayor’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPG (2014);
 The Mayor’s The Control of Dust and Emissions during Construction & 

Demolition SPG (2014); and
 The Mayor’s Land for Industry and Transport SPG (2012).

7.6 The Local Planning Authority also recognise other relevant topic specific frameworks 
that may be material to the consideration of this planning application. This includes:

 Mayor’s Transport Strategy (2018)
 Mayor’s London Environment Strategy (May 2018)
 London Local Air Quality Management – Policy Guidance (2016);
 LB Barnet’s Air Quality Action Plan 2017-2022;
 UK Plan for Tackling Roadside Nitrogen Dioxide Concentrations (DEFRA, 

July 2017); 
 Draft North London Waste Plan (July 2015)

7.7 In December 2017 the Mayor published a draft new London Plan for consultation. The 
consultation period ended 2nd March 2018. A further draft with the Mayor’s minor 
suggested changes was published on 13th August 2018, along with consultation 
responses received by the Mayor on the draft new London Plan. However, this draft 
new London Plan remains subject to Examination in Public with the principal hearing 
sessions likely to be held during the first half of 2019. Any panel report considering this 
draft new London Plan are indicated as being published in Summer 201910. Given 
status of this New London Plan limited, if any, weight should be attached to the draft 
policies contained within it when considering this planning application.

Other Relevant Council Decisions

7.8 Council decisions in relation to the regeneration of BXC date back to 2004. In relation 
to the delivery of the new Thameslink Station, relevant decisions have been made by 
the Cabinet Resources Committee and more recently by the Council’s Assets, 
Regeneration and Growth Committee and Policy and Resources Committee. The 

10 The London Plan Examination in Public 2018-2019 – Panel Note 1: Preliminary Information about the 
Examination in Public (August 2018) 
(https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ex01_lp_panel_note_no.1_final.pdf). 

67

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ex01_lp_panel_note_no.1_final.pdf


34

following is a summary of relevant decisions. 

7.9 The delivery of the Thameslink Station, and associated infrastructure including land 
acquisitions, will be funded by public sector initially from the existing Council capital 
budgets as approved by the Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee on 17 March 
2016 and Policy and Resources Committees on 17 May 2016 and 28 June 2016) and 
also from DCLG grant funding and public sector borrowing. 

7.10 Cabinet Resources Committee, 16 January 2014 (Decision Item 6) – approved in 
relation to the Thameslink Station, that the Council continue the design and 
development work to develop the business case and funding strategy for delivery of 
the Thameslink Station, subject to approval of the capital funding bid by Cabinet on 25 
February 2014.

7.11 Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee 17 March 2016 (Decision Item 14) 1) in 
relation to the Thameslink Station approved the Station Single Option Design and 
noted the funding and delivery strategies for the Brent Cross Cricklewood Thameslink 
Station project; 10) Approved the commencement of the detailed design of the station 
(known as GRIP 4) and associated work packages within the station phase of the Brent 
Cross South; and delegated to the Chief Operating officer permission to agree terms 
and enter into the Design Service Agreement with Network Rail to deliver the railway 
works elements of the GRIP 4 process; 11) Approved the revised spend in respect of 
Thameslink as detailed in the report and note that Policy and Resources will be 
recommended to approve the budget. 12.) Noted progress on the land acquisition 
strategy to deliver the station phase and that a separate report is being considered by 
this Committee to resolve to make a CPO to deliver this element of the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood regeneration project.

7.12 On the 11th July 2016 and again on the 5th September 2016 the Council’s Assets, 
Regeneration and Growth Committee approved the making of the London Borough of 
Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) Compulsory Purchase Order (No. 3) 2016 (known 
as CPO3) to assemble the land required to develop the Thameslink Station and 
associated infrastructure work packages. CPO3 includes the land that is the subject of 
this planning application which is required to deliver the proposed Waste Transfer 
Station. The Order was subsequently made on 7 September 2016 and a public inquiry 
into CPO3 was conducted by an independent Planning Inspector appointed by the 
Secretary of State in September 2017. Subsequently on 15th May 2018, the Secretary 
of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government confirmed CPO3 in full.

Relevant Planning History

7.13 Planning history connected directly with the Application Site includes three applications 
relating to the existing Selco Builders’ Merchants:

68



35

Table 2: Planning history of the Application Site

C03021DG/06 Demolition of 2/3 storey office block adjacent to former 
Parcel Force Depot and external alterations to make good. 
Addition of doors to elevation facing Geron Way. New 3m 
palisade fence to enclose covered area on north east 
elevation and installation of 6m wide access gates. 
Reconfiguration of parking area.

Approved

C03021DE/06 Various signs to all elevations at Selco Trade Centre, Part 
of Former Parcel Force Depot, Geron Way, London.

Refused

C03021DR/07 Installation of non-illuminated building signs at Selco 
Trade Centre, Part of Former Parcel Force Depot, Geron 
Way, London.

Approved

7.14 The land adjacent to the Application Site has extensive planning history in connection 
with the recently constructed Fellows Square residential led mixed use development. 
These include the following applications in addition to 21no. separate submissions 
pursuant to conditions attached to the extant planning permission (ref. F/01932/11) 
which required separate approval from the LPA:

Table 3: Planning history of the adjacent Former Parcel Force/Fellows Square residential 
development.

C03021DP/07 The demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a 
residential led mixed use development comprising 474 
residential units within three blocks ranging from 6 
residential floors above ground floor level commercial 
uses on the Edgware Road to 19 residential stories above 
a podium within the courtyard. Commercial uses at ground 
floor level comprise offices (1,690m2) and restaurant cafe 
(200m2) and within the podium courtyard creche/cafe 
(200m2), concierge office (120m2) and management suite 
(70 m2) with associated below podium car parking (on 
three levels) and cycle parking facilities, vehicular and 
pedestrian access, amenity space and landscaping and 
other associated works.
Former Parcelforce Worldwide (Part) Geron Way / 
Edgware Road London NW2 6LT

Refused

C03021DQ/07 The demolition of existing buildings and the erection of a 
residential led mixed use development comprising 474 
residential units within three blocks ranging from 6 
residential floors above ground floor level commercial 
uses on the Edgware Road to 19 residential stories above 
a podium within the courtyard. Commercial uses at ground 
floor level comprise offices (1,690m2) and restaurant cafe 
(200m2) and within the podium courtyard creche/cafe 
(200m2), concierge office (120m2) and management suite 
(70 m2) with associated below podium car parking (on 

Refused

69



36

three levels) and cycle parking facilities, vehicular and 
pedestrian access, amenity space and landscaping and 
other associated works.
Former Parcelforce Worldwide (Part) Geron Way / 
Edgware Road London NW2 6LT

F/01932/11 Redevelopment of site to provide for 230 residential units 
(use class C3) and 888 square metres of commercial 
accommodation (use classes B1, D1 and D2) in buildings 
up to seven storeys in height, along with associated car 
parking, amenity space and new vehicular access from 
Edgware Road.
Former Parcel Force Depot, Geron Way, London, NW2

Approved

F/04425/14 Non-material minor amendments for planning 
permission F/01932/11 dated 29/4/13 for 
'Redevelopment of site to provide for 230 residential 
units (use class C3 and 888 square metres of 
commercial accommodation use classes (B1, D1 and 
D2) in buildings up to seven storeys in height along with 
associated car parking amenity space and new 
vehicular access from Edgware road.' Amendments 
include reduction of ground floor car park and 
associated works.
Former Parcel Force Depot, Geron Way, London, NW2

Approved

16/7402/NMA Non-material amendment to planning permission 
F/01932/11 dated 29/04/13 for `Redevelopment of site 
to provide for 230 residential units (use class C3) and 
888 square metres of commercial accommodation (use 
classes B1, D1 and D2) in buildings up to seven storeys 
in height, along with associated car parking, amenity 
space and new vehicular access from Edgware Road`. 
Amendments include relocation of Office (Use Class 
B1) from Unit 1 to Unit 4 and Gym (Use Class D2) from 
Unit 4 to Unit 1, removal of timber cladding to the rear 
of Buildings A and B, and minor elevation changes to 
Buildings A and B to incorporate ventilation louvres.
Former Parcel Force Depot, Geron Way, London, NW2

Approved

70



37

Pre-Application Public Consultation

7.15 As set out in the Consultation Statement (GL Hearn, dated August 2017), it is evident 
that the Applicant has undertaken extensive pre-application consultation with residents 
and other stakeholders in the context of the proposed development and the wider BXC 
regeneration scheme, particularly in relation to the development packages contained 
within Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase.  

7.16 This consultation has been undertaken in accordance with the spirit of the advice laid 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and additionally in response to 
guidance published by Barnet Council itself. Section 4.1.2 of the Council’s Statement 
of Pre-Application Consultation (2015) states ‘The aim of pre-application consultation 
is to encourage discussion before a formal application is made, enabling communities 
to have an influence on a planning proposal before it is finalised. The process can help 
to identify improvements and overcome objections at a later stage. Such pre-
application consultations can take the form of exhibitions, presentations, workshops or 
simply a letter or mail shot’.

7.17 The Applicant’s Consultation Statement sets out the programme of public and 
stakeholder consultation undertaken between April to August 2017. To advertise these 
events and notify residents and local businesses of the proposals which are the subject 
of this planning application, a newsletter was posted out to approximately 36,000 
addresses in March 2017. In addition to this, the events were publicised on the 
Council’s website and via social media accounts.

Stage 1:

7.18 The first round of public and stakeholder engagement included:

Stakeholder Planning forum (meeting 1):
Holiday Inn, Brent Cross

25th April 2017

Public Engagement workshop 1:
Maurice and Vivienne Wohl Campus

19th April 2017

Public Engagement workshop 2:
Crest Academy, Crest Road

20th April 2017

Public Engagement workshop 3:
Whitefield School, Claremont Road

26th April 2017

Stakeholder Planning forum (meeting 2):
Holiday Inn, Brent Cross

8th May 2017

7.19 Attendees at the above events were recorded as follows:

 A total of 131 members of the public attended the three public engagement 
workshop events; and

 25 registered stakeholder groups attended the two stakeholder planning 
forum events.

71



38

7.20 In addition to attending the above events and speaking directly with the Applicant and 
their agents or representatives, opportunities to provide written feedback were also 
afforded through an online form. The Applicant also recorded their own notes from all 
public and stakeholder events. 

Stage 2:

7.21 The second round of public and stakeholder exhibitions took place on the following 
dates. These subsequent events were advertised by: newsletter to the same 
addresses as Stage 1, including a brief overview of changes to the proposed WTS 
following the first round of consultation; newspaper advertisements in The Barnet 
Borough Times and The Barnet Press; the display of posters; and via the Council’s 
website and social media accounts.

Stakeholder Planning forum (meeting 1):
Holiday Inn, Brent Cross

28th June 2017

Public Engagement workshop 1:
Crest Academy, Crest Road

1st July 2017

Stakeholder Planning forum (meeting 2):
Holiday Inn, Brent Cross

3rd July  2017

Public Engagement workshop 2:
Whitefield School, Claremont Road

4th July 2017

Public Engagement workshop 3:
Maurice and Vivienne Wohl Campus

5th July 2017

7.22 Attendees for the above events were recorded as follows:

 A total of 88 members of the public attended the three public engagement 
workshops; and

 A total of 7 registered stakeholders attended the stakeholder planning forum 
events.

72



39

Statutory and Other Technical Consultation Responses

7.23 In accordance with the relevant Regulations (Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 (as amended) and Town and 
Country Planning (Mayor of London) Order 2008), the Local Planning Authority (‘LPA’) 
conducted a number of consultations with both statutory and non-statutory bodies 
relevant to the development proposed within this planning application. The 
consultation responses received following this initial consultation (i.e. following 
validation of the planning application) are summarised below with an Officer response 
provided where necessary for the purposes of clarification:

7.24 The Greater London Authority have provided the Mayor of London’s Stage 1 Referral 
Report which states that the principle of a waste facility at this site within the BXC 
redevelopment area is acceptable as it has been established through the extant BXC 
permission. However, in its current form, the Mayor of London has advised that the 
application does not comply with the London Plan or draft London Plan but the 
resolution of the below issues could lead to the application becoming compliant with 
the London Plan and draft London Plan:

 Waste facility – there is no processing or sorting capacity proposed on the site 
to recover recyclable waste which is encouraged on all new sites to improve 
London’s self-sustainability and to meet recycling targets. Furthermore, 
existing waste management sites to be redeveloped as part of the BXC scheme 
are required to be re-provided in accordance with the conditions attached the 
BXC permission. The applicant is proposing to re-provide some of this existing 
capacity on the proposed site; however, the proposed facility will only be 
considered to provide this capacity if, as a minimum, any existing processing 
capacity is re-provided. In addition, the applicant is required to clarify the 
following: employment benefits and social value of the proposals; the origins 
and destination of waste; and details of the acoustic fencing.

 Urban design – The architectural concept and commitment to urban greening 
and climate change adaptation is supported. However, the applicant should 
provide further information on the acoustic fencing proposed on the site’s 
southern elevation, opposite the residential development.

 Transport – TfL accept that the facility will not be rail linked on the basis that all 
non-recyclable waste would be taken to Edmonton EcoPark by road; however, 
provision must be made to enable the facility to be rail linked in the future. The 
applicant must confirm that the proposed highway works will not impact buses 
using Geron Way to access the New Thameslink train station. Further details 
are required on all vehicle movements to and from the site. Concerns are raised 
regarding the safe operation of the Geron Way/Edgware Road junction as 
presently designed, and the applicant must continue to engage with TfL to 
address those concerns. In addition, further information is requested on 
measures to accord with the Healthy Streets approach and promote reliable 
bus services along Edgware Road.

73



40

7.25 Brent Council have raised objections to the proposed development on the following 
grounds:

 The provision of a WTS in this location, on the western side of the railway with 
vehicular access from Geron Way.

 The impact on the highway network from heavy goods traffic generated by the 
proposal is such that it would have an unacceptable impact on the flow of traffic, 
with consequent harm to the road network and amenity of residents in the area 
by reason of the environment created.

 Brent Council is concerned that the proposal has not adequately demonstrated 
that there will not be an impact on environmental quality. In the event of an 
approval, to ensure protection of the environment, the following conditions 
should be imposed:

o Plans for the continual assessment of emissions and maintenance of 
the air treatment system/odour abatement system of the enclosed 
WTS;

o A scheme to protect the occupants of neighbouring residential 
accommodation from high concentrations of air pollutants. Any potential 
source of nuisance should be identified and incorporated in this scheme 
with a ‘schedule of mitigation measures’ included as to address the 
nuisance;

o A scheme to protect occupants of neighbouring premises from noise 
and vibration nuisance which may originate from the proposed facility. 
Any potential source of nuisance should be identified and incorporated 
within a ‘schedule of mitigation measures’. The schedule of mitigation 
measures shall include but not be limited to the impact upon noise, 
vibration, dust, odour and any emissions that may affect the general 
amenity of neighbouring receptors.

 Prior to the commencement of demolition/construction, details of an Odour 
Management Plan outlining an Odour Mitigation Method Statement 
incorporating any possibly mitigation measures that may be implemented to 
either maintain or improve the air quality in the vicinity of the development shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

 Prior to construction, a detailed Environmental Management Plan and 
Construction Management Plan incorporating an Air Quality (Dust) 
Management Plan (AQDMP) shall be submitted and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority for approval in writing. The potential cumulative effect 
of emissions from neighbouring development sites, if any, should be 
considered and managed between the sites. These Plans should also cover all 
phases of development namely: demolition, earthworks, construction and 
track-out and the AQDMP should show details of mitigation measures that are 
already part of any planned development and how these measures tie in with 
the mitigation for this site.

 A method statement for the reduction of emissions from construction vehicles 
shall be submitted to the local planning authority for approval in writing prior to 
the commencement of demolition /construction. All mobile vehicles associated 

74



41

with the demolition / construction should comply with the standard of the 
London Low Emission Zone. (All HDVs/HGVs should aim to be Euro VI 
compliant for PM.)

 A vehicle wheel-wash system should be in place and used during the 
construction and operational phases of the development.

7.26 Transport for London requested further clarification from the Applicant in regard to 
the following matters:

 Confirmation on how the proposed highway works would enable buses to use 
Geron Way and assurance that it would remain feasible for buses to access 
the New Train Station to be provided as part of the wider BXC regeneration 
scheme.

 Confirmation that, with the proposed traffic signal cycle time, the signal junction 
could be added to the local Urban Traffic Control group without causing delays 
elsewhere.

 Further information on how the potential HGV-cyclist collisions would be 
reduced to zero as part of the proposed junction design.

 Demonstration on how the proposed development accords with the TfL Bus 
Stop Accessibility guidance.

 Confirmation that junction lighting would be upgraded.

7.27 Network Rail were notified of the planning application in accordance with Article 16 of 
the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 
(as amended); however, no comments have been received in response to the LPA’s 
consultation.

7.28 Environment Agency raise no objection to the proposed development however 
recommend that fast action roller doors are installed on the waste transfer station 
building which are, by default, in the closed position.

7.29 Natural England raise no objection to the planning application.

7.30 National Grid raise no objection to the proposed development, although noting that 
the proposal is in close proximity to a high voltage transmission underground cable.

7.31 North London Waste Authority did not provide any comments in response to the 
LPA’s initial consultation – see also paragraph 8.10 below.

7.32 Thames Water did not provide any comments in response to the LPA’s consultation.

7.33 Affinity Water did not provide any comments in response to the LPA’s consultation.

7.34 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer requested clarification on the following 
matters:

 Odour – further scrutiny of the odour assessment due to the proximity of 
neighbouring residents; clarification regarding mitigation offered by the existing 
Fellows Square development; and further information on the operation of the 

75



42

proposed facility.

 Air Quality – further information/assessment of potential impacts from NO2 
emissions, principally clarification of the modelling assumptions; an 
assessment of the proposed scheme itself (in addition to cumulative effects) 
taking into account sensitive receptors within 500 metres of the site; further 
explanation regarding the changes in air quality; and inclusion of a sensitivity 
test.

 Noise – review of the assessment to include all potential noise sources; 
diagrams of all noise sources and receptors; improved background noise 
surveys; inclusion of predicted sound pressure levels; and rated noise levels 
for proposed shutter doors, noise outbreak, and ventilation systems.

For land contamination, the Environmental Health Officer raised no objection subject 
to the inclusion of a condition requiring the further investigation, a remediation strategy 
and verification of the remediation strategy.

7.35 The Council’s Transport Planning and Regeneration Team requested a number 
points of clarification in relation to the Transport Report provided with the planning 
application and the proposed junction layout, including:

 Clarification on the number of daily trips associated with the existing use of the 
site;

 Explanation why the Geron Way slip road could not be used;

 Clarification in relation to the network Saturday peak;

 Clarification regarding overnight staff parking, number of cycle spaces and 
cycle storage facilities;

 Further modelling of the proposed development’s impact on the A5 corridor and 
its relevant junctions;

 Demonstration of the sightlines for the proposed staff car park access (vehicle-
vehicle and vehicle-pedestrian);

 Plan overlaying proposed with the existing Geron Way junction layout;

 Clarification regarding the direction of opening of the proposed vehicle gates;

 List of departures from standards for the proposed junction and confirmation of 
the geometric features of the junction;

 Clarification in regard to whether a pedestrian flow survey and level of service 
assessment has been carried out in regard to the proposed reduction in 
footways;

 Provision of swept path plans for the largest proposed vehicles (16.5 metre 
articulated lorries);

 Illustration of forward visibility splays on a plan;

 Reasons why the inter-visibility zone for the proposed junction cannot be met; 
and

76



43

 Submission of a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit.

In addition, it is advised that a Section 278 and/or Section 38 Agreement will be 
required to be entered into with the Highway Authority.

7.36 The Lead Local Flood Authority raise no objection to the proposed development 
noting that the foul and surface water drainage proposals result in a betterment to the 
existing arrangements at the site; and the climate change allowances suggested for 
the site within the context of it being located in the Thames Region is considered 
appropriate.

7.37 The Council’s Development Travel Plans Team did not provide any comments in 
response to the LPA’s consultation.

7.38 The Council’s Ecology Adviser considers the submitted assessments to contain a 
fully comprehensive round of survey and reporting (covering the Application Site and 
beyond). However, it is noted that there appears to be a disjunction between the 
recommendations for ecology and the planting proposals in the landscape planting 
plan and no indication of a link between the two. Whilst there is no measurable net 
gain for biodiversity within the ecological proposals, it is nonetheless noted that 
compensation is included in the form of the proposed landscape planting.

7.39 All Ward Councillors for Childs Hill and Golders Green were notified of the planning 
application but no written comments in respect of the proposed development were 
provided as a result of this initial consultation exercise (see paragraph X.XX below for 
further related information).

7.40 Based on the Council’s current database, a number of other residents’ associations 
and community forums were also consulted on the planning application but have not 
provided any comments. This included: Cricklewood Community Forum, 
Cricklewood Neighbourhood Association, Cricklewood Residents Association, 
Railway Terrace Community Association, Brent Terrace Residents Association. 
However, no comments have been received from these particular organisations. 

7.41 As the planning application was accompanied by an Environmental Statement, the 
Department for Housing, Communities and Local Government’s National Planning 
Casework Unit were also notified on validation in accordance with Regulation 19 (3) of 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017 and again upon the receipt of further environmental information in July 2018.

Adjoining Authority Elected Members

7.42 Councillor Parvez Ahmed (Brent) objects to the planning application on the following 
grounds:

‘The proposed application and development would have an adverse effect on the local 
area for a number of reasons and is not suitable nor appropriate for this site. This would 
be directly next to a residential area and near local schools - the existing footfall is 

77



44

already very high, no doubt likely to increase even further with other existing 
developments in the locality. The proposed application and use a waste dump would 
be detrimental to local residents, local children and families and the existing footfall. 
The proposed dump site is opposite a petrol station (a significant fire risk), within 200 
yds of an infant school, a main-road-width away from people's homes. The dust, smell 
and dirt will be suffered by local people in this heavily residential area. 
It is anticipated that the dump will generate about 60 HGVs per hour into and out of 
the site. The freight terminal - barely 500 yards away - will generate a similar volume 
of HGV traffic. All these heavy lorries will be using the A5 - already a very polluted road 
and heavily congested road not to mention the heavy vehicles that cut through 
residential roads like Dollis Hill Lane, Crest Road, Dollis Hill Avenue and Gladstone 
Park Gardens in contravention of existing regulations. Additional vehicles will 
exacerbate the problem. I strongly object to this application as a local resident and on 
behalf of Dollis Hill residents as local Ward Councillor for Dollis Hill.’

7.43 Councillor Lia Colacicco (Brent) objects to the planning application on the following 
grounds:

‘I write both as local resident and Councillor representing Mapesbury, which will be 
heavily impacted by these proposals. In planning terms this plan represents more harm 
than benefit to the locality, specifically in terms of traffic impact and public health. The 
diesel lorries will impact very negatively on an already dangerously poor air quality, 
disturbing local residential areas and making intolerable the congestion on this stretch 
of the A5. Whilst there may be a need for such a facility, why has Barnet once more 
chosen to put the nasty elements of the BXC development next door to Brent? Please 
act as consider neighbours and place both this and the even more harmful aggregates 
transfer site further up the line. They have no place in this urban setting.
In order to make consultations meaningful you need to listen to what local people are 
saying. They are clearly saying NO WAY, and their reasons are material planning 
considerations.’

7.44 Councillor Liz Dixon (Brent) objects to the planning application on the following 
grounds:

‘As a local councillor in Dollis Hill I am writing on behalf of many residents in Dollis Hill 
who are very worried about the impact of the proposed waste transfer station in Barnet. 
The plans will impact on Dollis Hill residents as the HGV lorries will be diverted onto 
Edgware road and the increase in traffic will pose a risk of harm to residents’ health. 
This oppress plans will increase the air pollution and traffic - the road is already very 
busy. There is mounting concern about the freight plans and the housing development 
in the "cottages" and this is understandable given the impact it will have on the local 
community with the loss of a significant green area. I have received many emails from 
my residents who have asked Brent council to raise their objections to Barnet - I have 
raised these concerns on their and our behalf as local councillors. I and the other 2 
councillors in Dollis Hill are also objecting to the freight and raising concerns about the 
impact of the increase in HGV traffic which We think is a risk to health and potentially 
safety. The pollution will be significant and we are mindful of the Mayor of London 
promise to promote cleaner air which we support.’

78



45

Public Consultation Responses

7.45 Upon validation of the planning application, the LPA also notified a number of 
residential properties within the vicinity of the application site. The total number of 
public representations received in response to this planning application (by email, letter 
and the Public Access website), plus other representations received outside of the 
consultation area, was 439. Of those, 433 raised objections, 1 supported the 
proposal and 5 objections were duplications of submissions. Of those 433 objections, 
16 objectors have requested to speak at the Planning Committee. All representations 
are summarised within Appendix D to this report. The objections raised broadly relate 
to the following issues:

 Principle of the development;
 Location of the proposed development;
 Amenity impacts, including air quality, noise, smell and appropriate design 

parameters to address these impacts;
 Environmental impacts including impact on local ecology, Gladstone Park, and 

green infrastructure;
 Traffic and Network Impacts;
 Monitoring and enforcement;
 Lack of consultation; and
 Policy impactions.

Resident Associations

7.46 Dollis Hill Residents Association object to the planning application on the following 
grounds:

‘Dollis Hill Residents' Association objects to the planning application for a waste 
transfer station.

It will bring unnecessary extra lorries to the A5 to drop off waste and even larger ones 
to collect it. At this time when London-wide measures are being taken to cut pollution 
from vehicles, we do not want more vehicles brought onto the A5. The pollution they 
bring will be caused not only by the lorries themselves moving and idling inefficiently 
in traffic but by the slowing down of other traffic while these lorries drive to and from 
the site. Our Lady of Grace Infant School has its playground along the A5 very near to 
the proposed waste station; the young children there should experience less pollution 
in future, rather than an increase caused by the impact of the waste transfer station 
traffic. 

We consider that the traffic modelling does not reflect accurately the impact of the 
traffic for the waste station. Traffic on the A5 is already slow moving throughout much 
of the day and this will worsen it. Large vehicles turning right out of the transfer station 
will often block the traffic as they will not be able to join the northbound carriageway 
which will often be solidly blocked. A yellow box is essential on the southbound 
carriageway so that neither the front nor back of a long waste vehicle can stop on it. A 
waste transfer unit should not be accessed from the A5, which is already congested, 

79



46

but from a larger road such as the North Circular. 

The North London Waste Authority does not need a waste transfer station at this far 
south-western end of the London Borough of Barnet as the bulked waste is taken from 
it to its site in Edmonton. We consider that waste should be taken directly to Edmonton, 
rather than being sent first to Geron Way. A waste transfer station should not be placed 
at the far south-western end of the London Borough of Barnet, which is not a 
convenient location for Barnet or Camden waste.’

Petitions

7.47 A total of 3 petitions were received in response to the initial consultation associated 
with this planning application containing signatures of local residents who object to the 
proposed development. The petitions received are as follows:

 Petition 1 – dated 29th November 2017 – 550 signatures;
 Petition 2 – dated 30th November 2017 – 202 signatures;
 Petition 3 – dated 14th December 2017 – 78 signatures

80



47

8 SUBMISSION OF ADDITIONAL AND REVISED INFORMATION

8.1 As a consequence of the LPA’s consultation exercise following registration of the 
planning application and the consultation responses and public representations 
received (as summarised above), the applicant submitted additional and revised 
information on 11th July 2018 for the purposes of addressing the issues identified for 
the LPA’s consideration. Amendments to the proposed development were also 
submitted, as outlined in paragraph 5.30 of this report.

8.2 The new, revised and additional information submitted pursuant to this planning 
application included the following:

 Covering letter dated 10th July 2018;
 Application Form (revised);
 Planning Statement Addendum (July 2018);
 Design and Access Statement (Document ref. BXT-CAP-6000-E-RP-A-6010, 

dated July 2018) (revised);
 Waste Transfer Station – Supplementary Environmental Statement (Volume 1, 

dated July 2018) (revised);
 Supplementary Environmental Statement, Waste Transfer Station Volume 2 – 

Appendices (July 2018) (revised);
 Waste Transfer Station Revised SES – Non Technical Summary (July 2018) 

(revised);
 Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (Document ref. BXT CAP 2600 E 

RP Z 0186 Rev. 2, dated July 2018) (revised);
 Noise Impact Assessment (Document ref. BXT-CAP-2600-E-RP-Z-0188 Rev. 

1, dated 5 July 2018) (revised); 
 Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport 

Report Addendum (July 2018) (new);
 Departure from Standards - Road Restraint System (July 2018) (new);
 Departure from Standards - Geron Way Vertical Alignment (July 2018) (new);
 Departure from Standards - Highways Alignment (July 2018) (new);
 Departure from Standards - Junction Intervisibility (July 2018) (new);
 Departure from Standards - Road Widths (July 2018) (new);
 Brent Cross Thameslink – A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 

Controlled Junction: Road Safety Audit (Stage 1) – Designer Response 
(Revision P06, dated July 2018);

8.3 Plus, the following revised and new drawings:

Revised Drawings:

BXT-CAP-6000-E-M2-A-0008 Rev. P01 Proposed Site (Block) Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6001 Rev. P0 Site Location Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6003 Rev. P02 General Arrangement Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6004 Rev. P03 Accommodation Block Floor Plan

81



48

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6005 Rev. P02 Proposed Elevations

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6006 Rev. P01 Roof Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6007 Rev. P01 Building Sections

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6008 Rev. P02 Proposed Colour Elevations

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6012 Rev. P02 Proposed Colour Elevations

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6016 Rev. P02 Proposed Site Sections

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6017 Rev. P0 Proposed Site Sections

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6018 Rev. P01 Demolition Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6019 Rev. P01 Existing Elevations/Site Sections

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3003 Rev. P01 Bike Shelter Detail

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3005 Rev. P02 Landscape General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3006 Rev. P02 Landscape Planting Proposals

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3004 Rev. P02 Hibernaculum Roof Plan

BXT-CAP-1700-C-DR-S-0040 Rev. P05
A5 Edgware Road Waste Transfer Station 
Retaining Wall General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-1300-C-DR-E-0043 Rev. P04 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Proposed Street Lighting

BXT-CAP-3000-C-DR-L-0044 Rev. P03 Landscape Plan A5 Edgware Road/Geron 
Way

BXT-CAP-3000-C-DR-L-0045 Rev. P03 Tree Works & Protection Plan A5 Edgware 
Road/Geron Way

BXT-CAP-0100-C-DR-C-0046 Rev. P05 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-0100-C-DR-C-0048 Rev. P01 Geron Way Longitudinal Sections and Cross 
Sections

BXT-CAP-0500-C-DR-D-0047 Rev. P04 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Proposed Drainage

BXT-CAP-0500-E-DR-D-0501 Rev. P1 Drainage Strategy Site Layout

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0801 Rev. P04 Mechanical Equipment Site Layout

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0802 Rev. P05 Dust/Odour Control Ground Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0830 Rev. P05 
Pump House & Fire Water Tank Sections & 
Elevations

82



49

BXT-CAP-0000-E-DR-Z-0001 Rev. P05 Vehicle Tracking (Sheet 1of2)

BXT-CAP-0000-E-DR-Z-0002 Rev. P05 Vehicle Tracking (Sheet 2of2)

BXT-CAP-1300-E-DR-E-1302 Rev. P05 Lighting Exterior Site Layout

BXT-CAP-1400-E-DR-E-1406 Rev. P03 
HV Sub Stations Transformer Rooms - 
Ground Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-1400-E-DR-E-1407 Rev. P03 
HV Sub Stations Transformer Rooms - 
Sections & Elevations

New Drawings

BXT-CAP-0100-F-SK-C-0007 Rev. P06
A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Alternative Layout

BXT-CAP-0100-F-SK-C-0008 Rev.P05

A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Alternative Layout Swept 
Path Analysis

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6026 Rev. P00 Proposed Crew WC Block

8.4 Following further liaison with the Council’s Transport Planning and Regeneration Team 
and TfL, the applicant submitted further clarifying information in respect of transport 
and traffic impacts. This information was submitted on 13th August 2018 and included 
the following document:

 Covering letter dated 13th August 2018; and
 Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport 

Report Supplementary Addendum (August 2018).

Further Consultation

8.5 Upon receipt of this information, the LPA conducted two further consultation exercises 
(one on 11th July and a second on 13th August 2018) notifying all those who had 
previously made representations in response to the initial public consultation exercise 
and re-consulting all non-statutory and statutory organisations, elected Members and 
residents’ associations previously consulted. As a result of these subsequent 
consultation exercises, further responses were received from some of the 
abovementioned statutory and non-statutory consultees, elected Members, residents’ 
associations and members of the public. The following paragraphs summarise the 
responses received (where consultees are not listed, no further comments have been 
received by the LPA).

83



50

Statutory and Other Technical Consultation Responses 

8.6 Brent Council object to the proposed development on the following grounds:
 Principle: Concern as to the principle of a waste transfer station in this location. 

The scheme has significantly changed since the previous approvals and the 
removal of the rail link means that the station could be located anywhere in 
London. The siting has not been fully justified.

 Highways Impact: It is considered that the proposed layout of the signalised 
junction of Edgware Road and Geron Way would fail to facilitate safe vehicular 
access in all directions to and from Hanover House on the western side of 
Edgware Road, to the detriment of highway safety and the amenity of business 
and residents in those premises. In the absence of any commitment with regard 
to the future routeing of heavy goods vehicles to and from the site, the applicant 
has failed to demonstrate that the increased volumes of heavy goods vehicles 
travelling to and from the site would have an acceptable environmental impact 
on the local highway network in terms of traffic flow and exposure of the local 
community to noise and air pollution.

 Environmental Impact: This application would cause harm to the amenities of 
the premises and neighbouring environment in terms of noise and air pollution. 
The scheme would increase pollution in an Air Quality Management Area.

8.7 Transport for London has no objections to the planning application, subject to 
appropriate planning conditions being imposed on any planning permission, and to 
future co‐operation on the A5 corridor. 

 Waste Handling Facility: TfL accepted that the operational requirements of the 
North London Waste Authority have changed over time and they did not need 
a rail linked facility for their use. We accepted the need for this facility at this 
location, and transport benefits of consolidating loads from local refuse vehicles 
to take to Edmonton Eco Park via A406 on larger vehicles. However, we did 
request clarification about future rail use of the site.

 Road Safety: TfL was concerned by the impact of the proposal on safe 
operation of the A5 Edgware Road, which forms part of the Strategic Road 
Network (SRN). The application provides information that shows how the 
junction will operate within strategic modelling, as well as Road Safety Audit, 
which TfL accept has been properly addressed by the scheme designer in 
consultation with TfL and the local highway authorities. TfL supports the 
proposal to signalise the Geron Way junction with the A5, which will be needed 
prior to first operation of the site. TfL’s view is that for Mayor to achieve Vision 
Zero, we need to see significant mode shift away from private car use. We need 
to protect vulnerable road users by reducing road speeds and providing more 
space for pedestrians and cyclists. This development provides some of these 
elements though there is much more to do within this corridor to achieve these 
broader aims.

 Construction: TfL would expect to be consulted on the Construction Transport 
Management Plan. Specifically, TfL should be consulted on any construction 
activity that impacts on the A5 or local bus services. TfL has promoted the use 

84



51

of rail during the construction phase and expects a co‐ordinated approach to 
construction within the regeneration area.

 Urban Traffic Control: TfL will work the applicant team and local highway 
authorities to refine the signal design as part of the implementation process. 
TfL expects this junction will form part of the Urban Traffic Control (UTC) to 
ensure this junction operation is co‐ordinated with the operation of the 
remainder of the SRN. Therefore, common cycle times have been proposed by 
the applicant. TfL will make the final decision on signal timings, method of 
control and operation. The strategic modelling and network modelling will need 
to be input into Model Audit Process to support the implementation of new traffic 
signals on the SRN. The modelling assessment suggests other changes to 
SRN would be required to support the wider regeneration. TfL will review 
specific proposals as they come forward through planning and implementation 
stages against TfL objectives around bus priority, pedestrian and cycle crossing 
times.

 Buses and Healthy Streets approach: The application material includes a 
Healthy Streets assessment that the new signal junction provides an overall 
benefit against the Healthy Streets indicators. TfL expects these principals will 
be applied to the wider A5 corridor and in relation to future planning 
applications. TfL welcomes confirmation that buses should be able to safely 
turn into Geron Way using the new signal junction, it is important that for the 
future rail station that options to improve access by bus, walking and cycling 
are not compromised by the new signal junction and this developed further as 
part of wider regeneration of the area. TfL is working with Barnet Council and 
adjoining Boroughs to improve bus priority, road safety, air quality and how best 
to apply Healthy Streets approach to the A5. This won’t be solved by one 
junction or application but can be developed over the course of time, and a 
corridor approach includes enhancing parallel and alternatives routes. This 
application is one part of the emerging overall plan for the corridor that will need 
to ambitious and adaptable to development proposals.

 Delivery and Servicing Plan: TfL requests a site‐specific Delivery and Servicing 
Plan (DSP) is secured by condition. The DSP should help achieve the Mayor’s 
Vision Zero, and minimise impact on sensitive local receptors such as schools 
and existing residential areas, through specification of the vehicle fleet, driver 
training, promoting of good driver behaviour, routing of vehicles, retiming and 
booking systems. TfL would expect to be consulted upon the DSP once drafted. 
TfL would encourage the preparation of a Travel Plan for future employees of 
the Waste Handling Facility to encourage alternative to car use.

8.8 The Environment Agency raise no objection to the planning application as amended.

8.9 Natural England have no further comments and continue to raise no objections to the 
planning application.

8.10 National Grid raise no objection and have requested the inclusion of an informative in 
relation to the gas pipeline identified on the site.

85



52

8.11 The North London Waste Authority initially raised objection to the proposed 
development in relation to the provision of insufficient parking for staff. However, since 
further discussion with the Applicant, the NLWA have withdrawn this objection. The 
NLWA have also written to the LPA in regard to the planning application clarifying that 
the proposed development would be a replacement for the existing Hendon Waste 
Transfer Station and is required as a strategic facility to receive a range of waste 
streams collected by the North London boroughs. They have also stated that the 
location of the proposed facility is important to serve the boroughs in the west of the 
NLWA’s area and would reduce the environmental impacts and cost of transporting 
waste. A copy of this letter (dated 16th August 2018) is appended as Appendix C to this 
report. 

8.12 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has raised no objection to the proposed 
development and considers the following in relation to each environmental health 
related matter:

 Air Quality – the proposed assessment is considered to be largely satisfactory 
insofar as the construction site impacts assessment is thorough and the 
mitigation measures proposed acceptable. In regard to the operational phase 
impacts of the proposed development, the Officer has recommended the 
inclusion of additional mitigation measures in line with the Council’s Air Quality 
Action Plan, including the need for all HGVs to be Euro VI compliant and that 
the number of HGV movements during the most congested period (17:00-19:00 
Mondays to Fridays) should be limited.

 Odour – the assessment of odour impacts and proposed mitigation measures 
are considered to be acceptable.

 Noise – the operational noise arising from the movement of vehicles in and out 
of the proposed development as well as the proposed mitigation measures, are 
considered to be acceptable. However, no information has been provided on 
noise emissions from mechanical plant, which is expected to operate at all 
times. A condition is therefore recommended requiring the submission and 
approval of details of all mechanical plant and equipment.

 Contaminated Land – as per previous comments, a condition should be 
imposed requiring the submission and approval of a contamination risk 
assessment, remediation strategy and verification report.

 Lighting – the submitted lighting scheme is considered to be acceptable and 
should be the subject of an appropriate compliance condition. 

8.13 The Council’s Transport Planning and Regeneration Team have assessed the 
proposed development, including the modelling undertaken for the proposed Waste 
Transfer Station, against the existing consented Waste Handling Facility in the BXC 
S73 Permission and current conditions on the local highway network. This has included 
modelling of the road network (A5 Corridor) as well as the local junctions on the 
network for future years 2021 and 2031 in order to assess the impact of the changes 
to the WTS from the previous consented scheme. The traffic generation from the 
proposed development and the effects of these changes are found to be acceptable in 
highway terms. As future phases of BXC regeneration scheme come forward there will 
be further modelling requirements and junction refinements required as part of those 

86



53

phases to enable the network to continue to operate at acceptable capacity levels. It 
is therefore recommended that this proposal can be approved subject to the following 
conditions:

 A delivery and servicing management plan which must include routeing of 
HGVs removing waste to other waste facilities including Edmonton EcoPark;

 The level of waste throughput that the facility handles to be limited to 195,000 
tonnes per annum;

 Provision of detailed plans to show how egress movements from the staff and 
visitors car park will be prevented;

 A full Travel Plan for the site must be submitted within 3 months of occupation 
including but not limited to surveys of staff modes of travel, objectives, targets 
and monitoring. The Travel Plan shall be updated within 6 months and then 
annually thereafter and must demonstrate how it accords with the BXC wide 
framework travel plan;

 Limitation on the number of vehicular movements generated by the site to 414 
weekdays and 138 on Saturdays; and

 Securing the implementation of mitigating works to Humber Road prior to the 
operation of the A5 Link Bridge over the Midland Mainline.

8.14 The Brent Cross Consultative Access Forum submitted comments to the LPA 
stating that the proposed development did not raise any concerns from the perspective 
of accessibility.

8.15 The London Fire Brigade initially raised objection to the planning application but 
following clarification provided by the applicant in regard to compliance with the 
Building Regulations, the Commissioner is satisfied with the proposals.

Public Representations

8.16 In response to this second and third public consultation in July 2018 and August 2018, 
respectively, a total of 44 additional representations were received. Of these 
additional representations, all objected to the proposed development on the same 
grounds as previously highlighted in response to the first public consultation.

Elected Members

8.17 Cllr Anne Clarke (Childs Hill) has objected to the planning application on the 
following grounds:

‘The strength of community opposition is clearly evident from the 451 objections 
submitted prior to this one. The concerns of Cricklewood residents have been ignored 
by Barnet Council for decades as the council has been far more interested in 
delivering Brent Cross than protecting the existing community. Now that Hammerson 
has put the shopping centre on hold, it is time to reconsider the plans that have the 
greatest impact on Cricklewood. The recently approved aggregate superhub, just 
south of this site will add some 450 lorry movements per day to the already busy A5. 
The additional movements from waste lorry movements on top of this would add to the 

87



54

already very busy main road. Cricklewood is already burdened with Donoghue. The 
cumulative effect of 3 waste sites in one community need to be carefully considered 
and rejected.’

Adjoining Authority Elected Members

8.18 Cllr Lia Colacicco (Brent) continues to object to the proposed development, stating 
the following:

‘I write on behalf of Brent councillors bordering the A5. We are unable to respond in 
full at this time because a Transport Report Supplementary Addendum has appeared 
on Barnet's planning portal this afternoon, and we have had no opportunity to analyse 
it fully.

We wish to base our objections on material planning considerations identified by Brent 
officers, and now these are not available due to the last minute additions. We wish to 
make some general points in the meantime. Once again Brent will be enjoying all the 
disbenefits of a Barnet planning proposal:

- we object to the provision of a waste transfer station in this location, on the western 
side of the railway with vehicular access from Geron Way. The scheme has 
significantly changed since the previous approvals and the removal of the rail link 
means that the station could be located anywhere in London. The proposed siting has 
not been satisfactorily justified. The changes since the 2010 outline consent (amended 
2014) have meant that there is more flexibility around where a transfer station can be 
located to enable transfer of waste to the proposed waste to energy processing plant 
in Edmonton. As this transfer (from wherever) would be by road because the new plant 
does not have a rail link, there is no spatial planning need for the transfer station to be 
located on this part of the site (the link to the station no longer needed);

- we object to the principle of the waste transfer station here because of the impact on 
residential amenity by virtue of increased traffic activity on the road network. Impact on 
residential amenity and highways impact Brent objects to the proposal on this ground.

- The impact on the highway network from the heavy goods traffic generated by the 
proposal is such that it would have an unacceptable impact on the flow of traffic, with 
consequent harm to the road network and amenity of residents in the area by reason 
of the environment created.

8.19 Cllr Parvez Ahmed (Brent) continues to object to the proposed development.

8.20 Cllr Liz Dixon (Brent) continues to object to the proposed development, stating the 
following:

‘I write on behalf of Dollis Hill, Dudden Hill and Mapesbury Councillors. We have 
listened to and worked with our residents who object to the proposal. We agree with 
Brent council submission as follows:

'’Brent objects to the proposal on this ground. It is considered that the proposed layout 

88



55

of the signalised junction of Edgware Road and Geron Way would fail to facilitate safe 
vehicular access in all directions to and from Hanover House on the western side of 
Edgware Road, to the detriment of highway safety and the amenity of business and 
residents in those premises. In the absence of any commitment with regard to the 
future routeing of heavy goods vehicles to and from the site, the applicant has failed to 
demonstrate that the increased volumes of heavy goods vehicles travelling to and from 
the site would have an acceptable environmental impact on the local highway network 
in terms of traffic flow and exposure of the local community to noise and air pollution.'’ 

We have had verbal and written communication from hundreds of our residents 
expressing wholesale dismay and distress at the prospect of the proposal. We have 
received petitions that emphasise the strong community objections to the proposals. 
Cllr. Lia Colacicco has ably summarised these on our behalf in her submission on 13th 
August.

There is strong objection to the proposed road junctions allowing southbound A5 
vehicles to turn right onto Humber Road. The road is narrow and unsuitable for rat-run 
traffic and articulated vehicles. The A5 is really busy at the best of times and the 
pollution is palpable. The recently approved aggregate superhub, just south of this site 
will add some 450 lorry movements per day to the already busy A5. The additional 
movements from waste lorry movements will add to the already busy main road and 
pose added health and safety risks.

There is no need for the WDU to be in this area and it should be nearer Edmonton to 
reduce traffic and pollution’

Residents Associations

8.21 Dollis Hill Residents Association submitted further representations in response to 
the additional information provided, stating:

‘Dollis Hill Residents’ Association objects to the planning application for a waste 
transfer station.

We still have the same concerns we expressed previously that this waste station is not 
needed in this location and will bring unnecessary traffic congestion and pollution from 
increased lorry traffic.

We object strongly to the proposed road junctions allowing southbound A5 vehicles to 
turn right onto Humber Road and Oxgate Gardens. These roads are narrow and 
unsuitable for rat-run traffic and articulated vehicles. A way needs to be found to create 
a right turn into Oxgate Lane, by cleverly lowering the southern end of the A5 overpass. 
The ideal road for articulated vehicles, commercial vehicles and volume of traffic is 
Oxgate Lane, which is wide, and contains industrial estates and no residential 
buildings. 

There is no reason to make Oxgate Gardens a one-way street, encouraging vehicles 
to rat run through it when coming from Brent Cross across the new bridge or from the 
A5. Brent residents want to use the new bridge to access Brent Cross by driving directly 
across from Oxgate Gardens and not have to make a left turn from Dollis Hill Lane onto 
the A5 then a right turn over the bridge, causing congestion as they try to change lanes 
and delay. It is essential that all A5 junctions between Cricklewood Lane and Staples 

89



56

Corner are reconsidered and consulted on separately, not just as last minute 
amendments to the waste transfer station application. In February, Barnet Council 
officers undertook to speak to TFL about carrying out a holistic A5 corridor study. A 
public meeting on the A5 corridor is needed.

We still consider that the transport modelling does not accurately reflect the current 
traffic. The A5 already has traffic queues travelling north and south at many times of 
the day. The northbound traffic already backs up from Staples Corner to beyond the 
proposed access to the waste station. Further lorries exiting to, or entering from, the 
northbound A5 will make this even worse.

The Transport Report Supplementary Addendum with a covering latter dated 13 
August 2018, the closing date for the consultation, was produced too late for comments 
to be made. The consultation should be extended. The licence application to the 
Environment Agency is for 260,000 tpa so the modelling should use this value and not 
the reduced 195,000 tpa used in the 13 August 2018 supplementary addendum. 
Making comparisons with traffic exiting from the current waste site and Selco is 
irrelevant to the traffic on the A5, which will rise by 828 two-way movements (or 1104 
when considering the volume being applied for to the Environment Agency. The A5 is 
much more congested than the access road to the current waste site, so the 
comparisons drawn in the addendum are not valid.’

8.22 NorthWestTwo Residents Association object to the proposed development on the 
following grounds:

‘I write on behalf of NorthWestTWO Residents Association, whose members live in 
Cricklewood, the majority in Brent, many in Barnet.

We object strongly to this application. We won't repeat all the powerful objections our 
members and neighbours have already made. We would like to highlight a few.
The WTS is to serve Barnet, Camden and other members of the North London Waste 
Authority. It is absurd to place such a facility on the extreme western edge of the area. 
The previous facility had the justification of being a road/rail facility; this WTS has no 
such justification.

The characterisation of the area as "disparate mixed-use development that is often in 
dilapidated condition and that influences and detracts from areas of public open space" 
ignores or is contemptuous of the residential element, which is not dilapidated but from 
which the WTS will detract.

The application claims that the WTS will not produce more traffic than the A5 will bear, 
yet it proposes that it will eventually necessitate the conversion of the Humber Road 
junction into a four-way signalised junction. This will open up Humber Road for 
southbound A5 traffic entering it and traffic leaving it to travel southbound on the A5. It 
is not appropriate for Barnet planners to require that Brent make its streets part of a 
strategic road network feeding Brent Cross Cricklewood and not appropriate to 
frustrate efforts on both sides of the A5 to support the increasing population with public 
transport, with cycling and with other alternatives to single-occupant private motor 
vehicles. The principle that any residual spare capacity be utilised until overflowing 
without regard for the local population is absurd. Returning to specifics, Humber Road 

90



57

feeds into Coles Green Road, which is already incapable of supporting free two-way 
movement whenever the three local buses pass along it. Barnet's proposal to open it 
up would spread congestion, jeopardise health and wellbeing, and fail to improve flows 
on the A5.

The facility will be accessed from Barnet and Camden along the A5; the "Summer 
2018" Brent Cross Thameslink Project Update only says that will be open by 2030. 
HGVs must therefore pass through Staples Corner or the Cricklewood 
Broadway/Cricklewood Lane/Chichele Road junction, and some may use the 
Cricklewood Lane/Claremont Road/Lichfield Road junction too. All three junctions are 
often saturated already and were to be improved by Hameerson as part of their 
responsibility for Brent Cross London. Now that Hammerson have put Brent Cross 
London "on hold", we must expect that the 350 HGV movements a day will pass 
through those unimproved junctions for years to come even if Hammerson restart Brent 
Cross London. If not, this would continue indefinitely. It would not be safe or 
responsible for the planning committee to approve this application on the assumption 
that Hammerson will restart the project in any timely manner or at all; it must be 
considered on the basis that the junctions will remain unimproved in the short term and 
possibly indefinitely. 

The plans for the A5 and Geron Way take no account of the London Plan's aim of 
increasing cycling, and in the strangely low estimates of cycling to and from the 
Thameslink station and its environs, imply a refusal to encourage cycling there, a 
failure to cater for it and/or its deliberate suppression. The extremely narrow lanes on 
the A5, noted as deviant in the Safety Audit, preclude safe distances for passing 
cyclists per the existing Highway Code and anticipated legislation. The Advance Stop 
Lines at the Geron Way junction will be unusable tokens without feed-in lanes.

Throughout consultations, planners have emphasised that the building will be 
environmentally friendly with a 80% of the roof being, if not "green", "brown". This turns 
out to have been an empty promise based on ignoring or ignorance of the existing 
infrastructure and has been sacrificed in preference to reducing the size of the building 
or the scale of operations, but it may have served to give the planners an easier ride 
during consultations and contaminates the results of those consultations.

The waste will include putrescible waste and it will be unavoidable that a significant 
amount of this will be indiscriminately mixed with the general waste. The application 
does not appear to make it clear how long such waste will remain in the facility on 
average, let alone the maximum term or the tenth percentile. 

For these reasons and for others stated by our members and neighbours, Barnet 
Council should not proceed with this application and if they do, Barnet Council's 
planning committee should reject it.’

8.23 NorthWestTwo Residents Association also provided further comments in response 
to the ‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport 
Report Supplementary Addendum (August 2018)’, as set out in paragraph 8.4 above, 
stating the following:

91



58

a. ‘The Supplementary Addendum released late on 13/08/2018 after our previous 
comments reassesses the impact of the WTS assuming it will only operate at 75% 
of licensed capacity and will remain 25% underutilised. We do not believe that the 
assumption that such inefficiency will be allowed to continue is realistic or a proper 
basis for approval. That capacity will be available for increases demand from 
NWLA members LBBarnet and LBCamden, and for sale at marginal prices to 
LBBrent, a possibility which has already occurred to LBBarnet officers. The 
application should only be considered on the assumption that the facility will be 
fully utilised.

b. The application includes a signalised junction with an access road to a Builder 
Depot at 383 Edgware Road and other premises coming out into the northbound 
A5 immediately before the new traffic signals at Geron Way. There have been no 
counts of the traffic in and out of 383-385 Edgware Road and no consideration of 
the impact of HGVs attempting to join the A5 at the front of traffic queuing at the 
lights. We're told that this will not be a problem; drivers will be courteous and co-
operative and there will be no conflict, which begs the question of why we need 
traffic signals at all. Rather, without evaluation of the effect of the access road on 
the junction and realistic plans for its accommodation, the flow of traffic and 
particularly the northbound queues on the A5 cannot be modeled and forecast. 
The application cannot be safely approved in the knowledge that the traffic flow 
will be worse than documented in the Supplementary Addendum.

c. The application cannot be approved without also considering the effect of the WTS 
on A5 junctions from the A406 to Cricklewood, approval of the Rail Freight Facility, 
the bringing forward of the station and Hammerson's putting the remodeling of A5 
junctions "on ice" having rendered the Section 73/A5 Corridor phasing obsolete.’

8.24 Fordwych Residents’ Association have objected to the proposed development on 
the following grounds:

 ‘While we welcome efforts to improve recycling and waste transfer facilities, it 
seems this proposal will lead to a vast increase in vehicle traffic. This combined 
with the traffic from the new aggregate site nearby will increase traffic, especially 
the number of HGVs using the surrounding area. Traffic from both sites should be 
taken into consideration in any traffic projection models. 

 We have concerns that the waste transfer station will stay open until 7pm - we 
request that the opening hours are reduced.

 Barnet Council revised traffic studies in August, but did not hold a public meeting 
to discuss the findings and request feedback from residents and concerned local 
groups. 

 Such a level of vehicle movements will lead to a huge increase in air pollution - 
particularly from nitrogen dioxide and particles associated with the diesel engines 
used by the lorries/HGVs that will be entering and leaving this site.

 In an area which already suffers from excessive and dangerous levels of air 
pollution, this planning application is therefore in clear breach of planning policy, 
including the London Plan.

 The additional traffic generated by these plans will also cause congestion on 
already busy roads. The A5 is regularly congested throughout the day, seven days 
a week. This planning application will cause further congestion and pollution from 
idling engines.

92



59

 Such congestion will also spill over onto other local routes. It's already the case 
that many lorries/HGVs now use residential streets in the area in an attempt to 
avoid congestion on the A5.

 Furthermore, such a high number of additional traffic movements will endanger 
pedestrian and cyclist movement in the area - and make pedestrian crossings in 
the area more dangerous. The junctions of the A5 with Cricklewood Lane, Temple 
Road & Dollis Hill Lane are of particular concern.

 Overall, the application will result in a reduced quality of life for local residents, 
who will suffer from the increased air pollution, dust annoyance and the lack of any 
benefit to the local community from this development.

 Given that his planning application will have a considerable impact on the wider 
area, we require that Barnet Council requests comments on this application from 
both Camden Council and Brent Council - and takes any comments received into 
account before making a decision on this application.

 Having considered these points - as well as those from the hundreds of people 
who have already objected - we request that Barnet Council rejects this 
application. We also request that the applicant is urged to considered less harmful 
uses for this site.’

Petitions

8.25 A further two petitions were received in response to the planning application containing 
signatures of local residents who object to the proposed development. The additional 
petitions received are as follows:

 Petition 4 – received 13th August 2018 – 28 signatures; and
 Petition 5 – received 14th August 2018 – 146 signatures.

93



60

9 PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

The following matters are considered to be the key material planning considerations in 
the determination of this planning application. The proposed development has 
therefore been assessed against the relevant development plan policies to inform the 
Officer’s conclusions and recommendations. 

Principle of the Proposed Use

Brent Cross Cricklewood Regeneration Scheme

9.1 The Application Site falls entirely within the Brent Cross Cricklewood (‘BXC’) 
Regeneration Area as identified by the ‘Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon 
Regeneration Area Framework (2005)’ and defined on the Local Plan Proposals Map. 
This designated regeneration area forms part of the adopted development plan for the 
area and is the subject of saved policies contained within Chapter 12 of the Council’s 
UDP (2006) and the Local Plan: Core Strategy DPD (2012). Outline planning 
permission for the comprehensive redevelopment of this regeneration area was 
originally granted by the Council in 2010 and subsequently varied through the 
mechanism provided in Section 73 (S73) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended). The S73 planning permission was granted on 23rd July 2014 (planning 
reference F/04687/13) (‘2014 S73 Permission’) and is the planning permission 
currently being implemented for the comprehensive redevelopment of the BXC 
regeneration area.

9.2 As described in Sections 4 and 6 of this report, under the 2014 S73 Permission, the 
Application Site plus land to the north currently occupied by Bestway Cash and Carry 
benefits from outline planning permission for the construction and operation of a Waste 
Handling Facility (WHF) to replace the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station located 
to the east of the Midland Mainline railway. The proposed development therefore seeks 
consent to deliver a Waste Transfer Station on land designated for such purposes as 
part of the BXC regeneration scheme. Whilst the means of transporting waste to and 
from the facility and type of waste management processes differ from that envisaged 
at the outline planning stage, the proposed use of the site continues to be for the 
purposes of facilitating the bulking up and transfer of waste collected by local 
authorities. Therefore, albeit sited on a smaller parcel of land than that envisaged by 
the 2014 S73 Permission, the principle of locating a waste management use on this 
land has already been established in planning terms by virtue of the 2014 S73 
Permission. 

9.3 Furthermore, in recognition of the proposed development forming an integral part of 
the consented BXC regeneration scheme and the Cricklewood/Brent Cross 
Opportunity Area identified within the London Plan, the Mayor of London has agreed 
through his Stage 1 response that the principle of establishing a waste management 
facility at this location is acceptable. This is noted as being due to the existence of an 
extant planning permission for a WHF as part of the BXC regeneration area, its 
connection to appropriate transport links, and proximity to similar industrial non-
residential land uses. 

94



61

London Borough of Barnet’s Planning Policy Framework

9.4 Albeit only indicating land associated with the adjacent Bestway Cash and Carry, the 
Local Plan Proposals Map, which forms part of the adopted development plan for the 
area, identifies the provision of a ‘New Waste Transfer Station, Cricklewood’ as a ‘Site 
Specific Proposal’ to be delivered within the BXC regeneration area. This is further 
referenced within Chapter 19 of the Council’s Local Plan: Core Strategy DPD (2012), 
which recognises the following:

‘19.1.3 As part of the proposals for Brent Cross – Cricklewood a rail linked waste 
handling and recycling facility is proposed on a site adjoining Edgware Road 
(A5). This will be developed in partnership with the North London Waste 
Authority who will vacate the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station, the site 
of which is required for comprehensive regeneration. It is intended that this 
facility will include sorting recyclable material and will (subject to feasibility) 
treat non-recyclable waste to enable it to be converted for a fuel for the 
Combined Heat and Power facility which also forms part of the proposals for 
Brent Cross – Cricklewood.’

9.5 Saved policies of the UDP (2006) remain extant for the purposes of their relevancy to 
the BXC regeneration scheme and the determination of any planning applications 
within the regeneration area. Specific to the proposed development, saved Policies of 
C7 and C10 of Chapter 12 of the UDP (2006), refers to the requirement to provide a 
(rail-linked) waste transfer and materials recovery facility within the regeneration area, 
stating: ‘Within the area defined on the Proposals Map as rail-related employment land 
and mixed used land, the council will require the provision of… Rail-linked waste 
transfer and materials recycling facilities.’

9.6 Paragraph 12.3.25 of the UDP (2006) expresses further emphasis relating to the need 
to provide a replacement waste transfer station as part of the BXC regeneration 
scheme and that any such facility must enable the NLWA (as statutory waste disposal 
authority) to meet its statutory obligations: 

‘One of the important land uses in the area, related to rail freight, is for the existing 
waste transfer station. Any replacement must enable the North London Waste 
Authority to meet its operational needs, both in terms of statutory performance 
standards for household waste recycling and composting, and the requirements of 
the European Landfill Directive. The development could include a materials 
recovery facility that would provide a model for other sub-regional freight facilities 
elsewhere in London. Road access to the [rail freight] and waste transfer facilities 
will make use of the strategic road network, but also local roads, and any proposal 
will need to demonstrate that the environment of residential areas will not be 
affected adversely.’

9.7 NLWA’s statutory obligations and strategic waste management needs have been set 
out in Section 6 of this report which explains the change in direction of strategic waste 
management needs since the UDP was published in 2006 and since the BXC 
regeneration scheme was considered at the outline planning stage in both 2010 and 

95



62

the subsequent S73 planning application in 2014. It is therefore evident that the 
proposed development seeks to now deliver NLWA’s requirements that would enable 
them to carry out their statutory obligations in relation to waste management. The 
NLWA have written to the LPA to confirm that this is the case – extract provided below 
from NLWA’s letter dated 16th August 2018:

‘The Geron Way facility is required as a strategic facility to receive a range of waste 
streams collected by the North London boroughs. The location is important to serve 
the boroughs in the west of the Authority’s area and would reduce the environmental 
impacts and cost of transporting waste.’

9.8 In regard to the abovementioned policies referring to the provision of a rail-linked waste 
transfer facility, it is noted that the proposed WTS would not be rail-linked and this is 
as a direct consequence of the NLWA’s decision to instead consolidate waste 
management operations at Edmonton EcoPark and to provide a new Energy Recovery 
Facility. Edmonton EcoPark is not connected to any rail head or rail network and 
therefore it would not be possible to transfer any waste to this site by rail. As confirmed 
by NLWA by their letter dated 16th August 2018, the existing rail connection at Hendon 
Waste Transfer Station is utilised to transfer a proportion of residual wastes to an 
Energy from Waste Facility at Greatmoor in Buckinghamshire. The proposed 
development would instead result in all residual wastes (and other waste streams) 
being transferred to Edmonton EcoPark (or other waste management facilities in 
London) for further treatment or processing. The effect of this proposed development 
(and thus lack of need for a rail connection) would therefore result in all wastes arising 
from the NLWA constituent boroughs being managed within London, which accords 
with planning policy aspirations for the management of waste in terms of net self-
sufficiency. This is discussed further below.

9.9 The principle of the BXC regeneration scheme is also embedded within the Council’s 
other development plan documents, namely the Local Plan: Core Strategy DPD (2012) 
(‘Core Strategy’). The BXC regeneration scheme is expected to deliver a substantial 
amount of residential, employment, education, commercial, retail and green/open 
space development and Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy directs the Council’s 
expectation for this to be delivered comprehensively. This includes the provision of a 
WHF as a replacement for the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station in order to 
facilitate delivery of the New Train Station (which is now in Phase 2 (South) 
(Thameslink Station) sub-phase of the BXC Development). 

The London Plan (consolidated with alterations since 2011) (March 2016)

9.10 The London Plan (2016) contains a number of strategic policies which support 
sustainable growth and development of Outer London. The London Plan Policy 2.13 
designates the “Cricklewood/Brent Cross” as a Key Opportunity Area (Map 2.4). The 
Opportunity and Intensification Areas are controlled by Policy 2.13 Part B which 
indicates that development proposals within areas should support wider regeneration 
by providing the necessary social and other infrastructure to sustain growth. Annex 1 
of the London Plan outlines the broad principles for the Cricklewood/Brent Cross 
Opportunity Area, which includes reference to “A site for a major waste facility within 
the area will form a key role in North London Waste Strategy.” As such, it is evident 

96



63

that the relevant regional planning policy framework recognises the need to delivery 
appropriate infrastructure, and specifically a strategic facility to meet the needs of North 
London, within identified Opportunity Areas, which includes BXC.

9.11 The Mayor of London’s ‘Land for Industry and Transport SPG’ (September 2012) is 
also relevant to the proposed development and supports the need to deliver waste 
management facilities. Specifically, paragraph 6.4 of this SPG notes how Policy 4.4 of 
the London Plan emphasises the need to make strategic and local provision for waste 
management on industrial sites. The Site is not identified as Strategic Industrial Land 
(SIL) by the London Plan (2016) and the existing use of the land – Selco Builders’ 
Merchants – is of a commercial rather than industrial nature; however, the Site is 
located within the context of a very urbanised environment that contains significant 
highway and railway infrastructure, industrial warehouse type buildings and 
businesses, and the recently consented aggregate and construction waste transfer 
facility to the south of the Site. Therefore, the proposed re-provision of an existing 
waste management facility at this Site (which would be contained within a large 
warehouse-type building) would not be incongruous with the existing prevailing 
character along the A5 corridor. 

Draft London Plan (December 2017, including minor changes published August 2018)

9.12 The draft new London Plan continues to promote and support the regeneration of 
Opportunity Areas to fully realise their growth and potential. Draft Policy SD1 
(Opportunity Areas) encapsulates this support by stating that the Mayor will A(1)(c) 
support regeneration and that Boroughs should B(3) plan for and provide the 
necessary social and other infrastructure to sustain growth, working with infrastructure 
providers where necessary. The ongoing support for the regeneration of Opportunity 
Areas, including Brent Cross Cricklewood, is welcomed and as part of the consented 
BXC regeneration scheme, the proposed development seeks to deliver a key piece of 
infrastructure (necessary as part of the BXC regeneration scheme) that would support 
the local population in regard to managing their waste. The applicant has formulated 
and designed this scheme in collaboration with the relevant infrastructure provider 
(NLWA) to ensure it meets identified needs as encouraged by the emerging London 
Plan. It is therefore considered that Mayoral support for the comprehensive 
regeneration of Opportunity Areas (existing or future ones), including the delivery of 
necessary infrastructure to support such schemes, would not be fettered or diminished 
through the emerging London Plan.

Summary

9.13 In summary, notwithstanding the extant 2014 S73 Permission which permits the 
construction of a waste management facility at this Site, there is a strong policy thread 
that extends from regional to local planning policy (as contained within the relevant 
development plan documents) that supports the delivery of the wider BXC 
regeneration scheme and specifically a waste management facility that meets the 
needs of the NLWA as statutory waste management authority. Such a facility is 
identified as an integral element to ensure the comprehensive redevelopment of the 
BXC regeneration area. Therefore, whilst already established in planning terms, it is 
considered that the principle of the proposed development is acceptable.

97



64

Waste Management

National Policy

9.14 The National Planning Policy for Waste (‘NPPW’) sets out the Government’s policy for 
the sustainable management of waste and efficient approach to resource 
management. A fundamental strand to this policy is the management of waste in 
accordance with the Waste Hierarchy (see Figure 3) which essentially ranks the 
preferential way in which to deal with waste (prevention first, with disposal as a last 
resort). However, the NPPW also recognises the need for a mix of types and scale of 
facility including some continued need for waste disposal provisions (paragraph 3). 

Figure 3: The Waste Hierarchy which should guide the management of waste with 
prevention as the most desirable solution and disposal (i.e. landfill) as the least desirable 

solution (NPPW, 2014).

9.15 The proposed development would seek to deliver a facility that would support the 
recycling and other recovery of wastes, as identified by the Waste Hierarchy, by virtue 
of the collection and bulking up of Local Authority collected residual, recyclable and 
food wastes for onward transfer to appropriate (existing and future) waste 
management facilities. The recipient facilities would process or treat these waste 
streams to facilitate recycling, composting or the creation of heat and power through 
anaerobic digestion or via an Energy Recovery Facility. The proposed development 
would not result in any wastes being transferred to landfill for disposal. As such, it is 
considered that the proposed development accords with the waste management 
principles established by national planning policy. 

9.16 The NPPW also provides guidance on assessing the suitability of sites for waste 
management facilities. As set out above (paragraphs 9.1 – 9.12), the principle of siting 
a waste management facility in this location is already established in planning terms 
by virtue of the 2014 S73 Permission. Notwithstanding that, in determining planning 
applications the NPPW advises that consideration should be given to (inter alia): the 
likely impact on the local environment and amenity; ensure that waste facilities are well 
designed so that they contribute positively to the character and quality of the area in 

98



65

which they are located; and implementing the planning strategy in the Local Plan and 
not the control of processes governed by pollution control authorities. The impact of 
the proposed development on the local environment and amenity of nearby sensitive 
receptors is considered below, as is the design of the proposed facility in the context 
of the wider BXC regeneration area. In respect of the third matter identified above, it is 
evident that the development of a waste management facility at this Site is embedded 
within the Local Plan for Barnet and recognised within the adopted London Plan and 
this is key to the consideration of this planning application. 

9.17 Further locational criteria are provided in Appendix B to the NPPW. In response to 
some of those criteria, the Site is not identified as being vulnerable to flooding or in 
regard to protecting the quality of surface and groundwater sources; the Site is not 
located within any sensitive area (i.e. designated landscapes) or site of importance to 
nature conservation; there would be no impact on any designated heritage assets or 
their setting; access to the Site would be off the Strategic Highway Network; and the 
proposed development is not likely to conflict with any potential land use within the 
vicinity of the Site. In regard to other criteria listed within Appendix B, these are 
considered separately below (air emissions and odour, noise and vibration, and 
lighting).

9.18 Furthermore, the Waste Management Plan for England (2013), which fulfils the 
requirements of the Waste Framework Directive11 and sits above the aforementioned 
NPPW as a high-level strategy, establishes the principle of ‘proximity’ in regard to a 
waste management network enabling waste to be disposed of, or recovered, in one of 
the nearest appropriate installation by the most appropriate methods and technologies. 
The proposed WTS seeks to replace the existing NLWA Hendon Waste Transfer 
Station in a location that continues to serve the western part of the NWLA area. The 
proposed facility has therefore been situated in relation to the source of waste that is 
required to be collected and managed; and in relation to the nearest Energy Recovery 
Facility which will be located at Edmonton EcoPark off the A406 North Circular. The 
Waste Framework Directive also requires Member States to move towards the aim of 
net self-sufficiency in waste recovery and disposal (which is also discussed further 
below). It is considered that this aim would be satisfied by virtue of the relationship 
between the proposed development and destination of transferred waste to other 
facilities that are located within London.

London Plan Policies

9.19 The adopted London Plan also contains strategic policies pertaining to waste 
management for London and includes aspirations for London to become self-sufficient 
in regard to its waste management requirements (Policy 5.16). The aim targeted 
through the London Plan is managing the equivalent of 100% of London’s waste within 
London by 2026 and work towards zero biodegradable or recyclable waste to landfill 
by 2026 through positive environmental and economic impacts from waste processing 
(Part A). Policy 5.17 Part A is a commitment of the Mayor working with London 
boroughs and waste authorities to identify opportunities for introducing new waste 
capacity, including strategically important sites for waste management and treatment. 

11 Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC.

99



66

Policy 5.17 Part B identifies opportunities for introducing new waste capacity based on 
particular criteria (i.e. locational suitability and proximity to waste streams). 

9.20 Part F of Policy 5.17 states that Boroughs must allocate sufficient land and identify 
waste management facilities to provide capacity to manage the tonnages of waste 
apportioned in the London Plan. Part G of the policy specifies that land to manage 
borough waste apportionments should be brought forward through identifying sites in 
locally significant employment areas. Finally, Part H states that “if for any reason, an 
existing waste management site is lost to non-waste use, an additional compensatory 
site provision will be required that normally meets the maximum throughput that the 
site could have achieved”.

9.21 Paragraph 5.83, the London Plan adds: “allocations will need to balance the benefits 
of smaller, local sites against the overall demand for land for waste and for a range of 
other activities in a situation in which there are severe limitations of land supply, and 
against the benefits of co-locating a range of facilities together in a smaller number of 
larger sites. The Mayor will work with boroughs and waste authorities to identify 
opportunities for introducing new waste capacity, including strategically important sites 
for waste management and treatment, and resource recovery Parks/ consolidation 
centres, where recycling, recovery and manufacturing activities can co-locate”. 

9.22 The draft London Plan (2017) proposes to carry forward the abovementioned policy 
targets in relation to the management of waste through Draft Policy SI7 (Reducing 
waste and supporting the circular economy) (i.e. ensuring that zero biodegradable or 
recyclable wastes go to landfill) and Draft Policy SI8 (Waste capacity and net waste 
self-sufficiency). In addition to this, the draft London Plan suggests the introduction of 
the concept of a ‘circular economy’ pertaining to improving resource efficiency and 
ensuring that materials are kept at their highest use for as long as possible. Given the 
nature of the proposal and its relationship to managing Local Authority collected wastes 
(which are segregated by residents prior to collection), the proposed development is 
considered to align with this ‘circular economy’ concept insofar as all wastes passing 
through the proposed WTS would be subject to further recycling or recovery at other 
waste management facilities (rather than being disposed of). For example, all 
recyclable wastes would be taken to the MRF operated by Biffa in Edmonton. 
Therefore, it is considered that the proposed development would contribute to the 
achievement of the ‘circular economy’ by facilitating the bulking and more sustainable 
transportation of wastes that are capable of re-use, recycling and/or energy recovery.

9.23 The proposed development is considered to be strategically important in view of 
NLWA’s future waste management strategy and has been allocated for such uses 
within the respective Local Plan and draft NLWP (see below). Within the above policy 
context, the proposal would contribute to both the Mayor’s target of (1) becoming self-
sufficient in respect of waste management and (2) ensuring that no biodegradable or 
recyclable waste is disposed of via landfill. In respect of the former (1), and as alluded 
to in paragraph 9.8 above, the proposed development is being delivered in response 
to the NLWA’s strategic waste management needs to manage Local Authority 
collected wastes and would result in those waste streams (residual, dry recyclable and 
food wastes) being transferred to, and further treated or processed by, other waste 
management facilities within London. As stated in paragraph 5.14 of this report, 

100



67

residual wastes would be transported to Edmonton EcoPark in Enfield to supply the 
existing Energy from Waste plant (and future Energy Recovery Facility, once 
constructed and operational) for conversion to heat and power; recyclable wastes 
would be transferred to specialist local recycling contractors, including MRFs in Enfield 
and Bow; and food waste would be transferred to either a third party anaerobic 
digestion plant either in Dagenham or composting facility at Edmonton EcoPark, which 
would treat and convert the waste to generate renewable energy. In regard to (2) and 
the diversion of biodegradable and recyclable wastes away from landfill, it is evident 
that the proposed development would not result in any of those waste streams being 
disposed of via landfill. 

Draft North London Waste Plan (July 2015)

9.24 The Draft North London Waste Plan (‘NLWP’) is a strategy that has been formulated 
collaboratively by seven North London boroughs (Barnet, Enfield, Haringey, Waltham 
Forest, Camden, Islington and Hackney), as the Waste Planning Authorities for those 
administrative areas, to ensure that waste generated within North London is managed 
adequately through the provision of sufficient land and facilities. Once adopted, the 
NLWP would form part of the development plan for the seven North London boroughs 
which should be taken into consideration when considering relevant planning 
applications. 

9.25 A Regulation 1812 draft NLWP was published for consultation in July 2015 and, 
although preparation of the NLWP has not progressed through the Local Plan stages 
since then, it is still appropriate to have some regard to its policies (albeit attaching 
appropriate weight to them).

9.26 Draft Policy 2 relates to sites to be allocated and safeguarded for waste use over the 
plan period to ensure that London Plan apportionments can be met. This includes 
‘Geron Way/Edgware Road’ (Site Ref. S01-BA) in recognition of the extant 2014 S73 
Permission for the BXC regeneration scheme and the consented WHF. Therefore, the 
land which is the subject of this planning application is proposed to be allocated for 
waste management purposes through the forthcoming NLWP. Draft Policy 2 also 
states that ‘Applications for waste management development on sites identified in 
Schedule 2: NLWP Site Allocations will be permitted where the applicant can 
demonstrate (a) The proposal is in line with the relevant aims and policies of the North 
London Waste Plan, the London Plan, Local Plans and related guidance and; (b) The 
development results in highest practicable level of recycling and recovery of materials 
in line with the principles of the waste hierarchy.’ In respect of (a), the consistency of 
the proposed development against relevant development plan and other guidance 
documents is considered throughout this report. For (b), the above sets out how the 
proposed development accords with the principles of the waste hierarchy in terms of 
achieving the most practicable level of recycling and recovery.

9.27 Draft Policy 6 of the NLWP provides assessment criteria for the provision of waste 
management facilities and related development which should be applied when 
considering planning applications. This includes (inter alia): (a) the enclosure of the 

12 Regulation 18 of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012.

101



68

facility; (b) protection of local residents’ amenity; (c) adequate controls in respect of 
(inter alia) noise, dust, odour and other emissions; (d) consideration of any permitted, 
allocated or established land use; (e) design, scale and form; (g) sustainable 
transportation of waste; and (h) no significant adverse transport effects outside or 
inside. Some of these criteria are considered in more depth below (including amenity, 
design, groundwater and flood risk, climate change and sustainability, and transport 
impacts). Otherwise, subject the consideration of the above matters, the proposed 
development would appear to broadly satisfy the intention of this draft Policy insofar 
as the proposed WTS would be fully enclosed; would not prejudice or adversely affect 
other established or permitted land uses by virtue of the extant 2014 S73 Permission 
for the BXC regeneration scheme; and would not affect any area designated by the 
Habitats Directive or impact any other locally designated wildlife site.

9.28 It is understood that discussion amongst the NLWP Waste Planning Authorities is 
ongoing and work on revising the draft NLWP for further consultation ahead of adoption 
has recommenced. The draft NWLP (as currently published) will therefore be updated 
to take account of developments and updated data that has been made available since 
July 2015. This includes the NLWA’s revised requirements to manage Local Authority 
collected wastes and therefore their change in direction to strategic waste 
management following successful receipt of a Development Consent Order for a new 
Energy Recovery Facility at Edmonton EcoPark; and to take account of the 
development proposed within this planning application (subject to the LPA’s decision). 
The site allocation status currently set out in the Draft NLWP (and thus land the subject 
of this planning application) would therefore remain allocated for waste management 
purposes notwithstanding the outcome of this planning application due to the extant 
2014 S73 Permission for the BXC regeneration scheme.

Summary

9.29 Given the foregoing, it is considered that the proposed development accords with 
national planning policies in relation to the most sustainable means to manage waste 
(by facilitating the recycling and recovery of Local Authority collected wastes) and also 
satisfies the policy aims of the adopted London Plan, including Policies 5.16 and 5.17, 
as explained above. The Application Site is also recognised by the respective Waste 
Planning Authorities across the NWLP constituent North London boroughs as a site 
allocated for the delivery of a waste management facility. 

Brent Cross Cricklewood (BXC) Regeneration Scheme

9.30 As aforementioned, the application site falls within the boundary of the BXC 
regeneration scheme which benefits from outline the 2014 S73 Permission. Under this 
planning permission, the Application Site including the land occupied to the north of 
the Site by Bestway is identified to deliver a WHF to replace the existing Hendon Waste 
Transfer Station on the eastern side of the Midland Mainline railway. The Site is also 
included within the London Borough of Barnet (Brent Cross Cricklewood) Compulsory 
Purchase Order (No. 3) 2016 to ensure that the appropriate land can be secured and 
acquired to facilitate delivery of this development and that associated with the wider 

102



69

Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) and Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station 
Approach) sub-phases of the BXC Development.

9.31 Saved Policies and C1 of the UDP (2006) and Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy (2012) 
sets out the Council’s strategy for the comprehensive development of the BXC 
regeneration area. In particular, saved Policy C1 identifies that: ‘The Council will seek 
the comprehensive development of Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon 
Regeneration Area…’ and ‘Development proposals will be supported if they are 
consistent with the policies of the UDP and their more detailed elaboration within the 
development framework’. Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy similarly states that the 
Council ‘…will seek comprehensive redevelopment of Brent Cross – Cricklewood in 
accordance with the London Plan, the saved UDP policies (Chapter 12) and the 
adopted Development Framework.’. As aforementioned, Brent Cross Cricklewood is 
identified as an Opportunity Area within the adopted London Plan (2016) where Policy 
2.13 sets out the Mayor’s support for implementing planning frameworks to realise the 
area’s growth potential. This is replicated in the draft London Plan (2017) and, as 
aforementioned, specifically draft Policy SD1 (Opportunity Areas) where Brent Cross 
Cricklewood is identified as an ongoing Opportunity Area.

9.32 The Council acknowledges that regeneration schemes of this scale and nature are 
typically carried out over a number of years from its initial conception, through detailed 
design stages, multi-stage planning consenting process, and thereafter 
implementation of the approved development. The permitted BXC regeneration 
scheme is projected to be completed by 2031 having been initially set out in the 
Cricklewood, Brent Cross and West Hendon Development Framework in 2005. 
Therefore, it is reasonable to expect market conditions, including waste management 
needs, to evolve throughout the duration of the planning process and, consequently, it 
is likely that amendments to the scheme permitted at the outline stage may be 
required. 

9.33 On this basis, the proposed WTS set out within this planning application differs from 
the WHF envisaged within the 2014 S73 Permission and the reason for this variance 
is related to the change in the NLWA’s strategic waste management needs (discussed 
above). These altered waste management needs have been explained by the 
applicant within their submission and has subsequently been endorsed by NLWA 
within their letter to the LPA dated 16th August 2018 – confirming that the proposed 
development would deliver a strategic facility to serve the North London boroughs and 
that the location is important to serve the west of the NLWA’s area. Consequently, the 
proposed development seeks to deliver a smaller road-road waste transfer facility to 
bulk up Local Authority collected wastes for onward treatment and processing – 
principally to supply the NLWA’s existing and future Energy Recovery Facility at 
Edmonton EcoPark. There would be no processing or treatment at this Site. 
Comparatively, as set out in paragraph 4.9 above, the S73 WHF was envisaged to 
provide a rail-linked, residual waste treatment facility to create Refuse Derived Fuels 
(RDF) to feed into a CHP plant, and to operate as a MRF. Therefore, the applicant is 
seeking planning permission through this ‘drop-in planning application’ as opposed to 
an RMA that would ordinarily follow an outline planning consent. 

103



70

9.34 Whilst any drop-in application will need to be assessed on its own merits against 
relevant policies and standards, as is addressed later in this report, a key consideration 
relevant to the determination of this planning application is (1) the compatibility of the 
proposed WTS with the BXC 2014 S73 Permission and (2) whether it would impinge 
upon or prejudice delivery of the wider BXC regeneration scheme. This relates to the 
objectives contained within saved Policies CGrick and C1 of the UDP and Policy CS2 
of the Core Strategy DPD.

1) Compatibility with the BXC 2014 S73 Permission: 

9.35 Firstly, the 2014 S73 Permission for the BXC regeneration scheme establishes the use 
of this land for waste management purposes and therefore the principle of the 
development proposed within this drop-in application is considered to be acceptable. 
This is endorsed by the Mayor of London within his Stage 1 Report. Albeit seeking 
permission for less land than previously identified (i.e. the land synonymous with the 
Selco Builders Merchants and not land occupied by Bestway), the Application Site is 
located on the same land consented for delivery of a WHF (Plot 63) as part of the BXC 
regeneration scheme. Therefore, the proposed development is considered to accord 
(and be compatible) with the principle established by the 2014 S73 Permission.

9.36 The S73 Permission also establishes a number of parameters for the delivery of a WHF 
including building limitations; vehicular access off the A5 Edgware Road; enclosure of 
the building and operation under negative pressure; on-site parking for operatives; 
core operational hours of 07:00-19:00 weekdays and 09:00-13:00 weekends, with 
some operations carried out 24-hours/day; establishment of a rail gantry crane to 
facilitate the movement of waste by rail; and the treatment of residual wastes to create 
RDF and fuel a CHP plant. Taking into account the revised strategic waste 
management needs of the statutory waste disposal authority (NLWA), which inevitably 
impacts upon the type of waste management facility required as a replacement for the 
existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station, the proposed development is considered to 
remain broadly in line with the abovementioned parameters insofar as: the building 
would not exceed the maximum floorspace permitted (and would result in a net loss of 
floorspace compared to the existing Selco Builders Merchants); the proposed WTS 
would be fully enclosed and constructed to operate under negative air pressure (with 
fast-acting roller shutter doors) to mitigate against air quality and odour impacts; 
access to the site would be off the A5 Edgware Road (albeit via the existing Geron 
Way junction); the provision of parking on-site for operatives; and operation of the 
facility in line with the hours previously envisaged – albeit, there is no longer a 
requirement for the proposed WTS to operate on a 24-hour basis. 

9.37 Additionally, the proposed development does not significantly deviate from the 
operational assumptions outlined in Appendix 15 of the RDSF in relation to the 
previously envisaged WHF. The proposed WTS would continue to result in all wastes 
being unloaded within the building, waste would only be delivered to the site during the 
hours stated and in enclosed vehicles (with the exception of any bulky wastes that are 
not likely to cause odourous emissions), and mitigation would be provided in respect 
of odour abatement. The Applicant has not made express reference to any litter 
management plan but this could reasonably be required by condition if planning 
permission were forthcoming.

104



71

9.38 In relation to the parameters not addressed by the proposed development, it is noted 
that the provision of a facility to treat residual wastes for the purposes of creating RDF 
remained subject to stakeholder agreement as the BXC development progressed (as 
described in paragraph 5.79 of the RDSF) and was the subject of conditions attached 
to the 2014 S73 Permission. Given the waste management strategy now being 
pursued by the NLWA, residual wastes imported to the site would instead be 
transferred to supply the Energy Recovery Facility at Edmonton EcoPark with a view 
to generating heat and power. This alternative strategy and thus omission of a waste 
treatment facility is driven by and has been agreed by the key stakeholders, including 
LPA. This was considered and addressed through the preparation and approval of a 
Vacuum Waste Collection Feasibility Study (dated November 2014) and RDF 
Feasibility Study (dated October 2014) submitted pursuant to Condition 1.24 (planning 
reference 14/07961/CON) and 35.3 (planning refence 14/07893/CON) of the 2014 S73 
Permission. Furthermore, Condition 35.6 required the submission of a Revised Energy 
Strategy and the approved Strategy advises that the site-wide CHP would be fuelled 
by natural gas along with other measures to secure the maximum practicable reduction 
in carbon emissions and optimal use of renewable energy (planning reference 
14/08106/CON). The LPA are therefore satisfied that the ability to deliver a residual 
waste treatment facility has been appropriately assessed through the correct 
mechanisms and accept that such a facility is not viable nor feasible in this instance.  

9.39 In terms of the provision of a rail-mounted gantry (and therefore the transfer of waste 
by rail), the proposed WTS has been designed to respond to NLWA’s waste 
management needs and therefore to facilitate the transfer of the majority of bulked 
wastes to existing waste management facilities at Edmonton EcoPark (Energy 
Recovery Facility and MRF operated by Biffa). The co-located waste management 
facilities at Edmonton EcoPark are not accessible by rail. Furthermore, the connections 
provided by the Midland Mainline would most likely result in wastes being exported 
outside of London for further processing or disposal which contradicts the policy 
approach outlined in the adopted London Plan and draft London Plan. The Applicant 
has advised that there is not sufficient land within the Application Site to provide for a 
future rail connection. However, there is space within the adjacent railway land which 
is within the control of Network Rail, to accommodate a rail head. It should however 
be noted that this area is also being considered as a potential location for platforms for 
a station stop on the proposed West London Orbital train line which is currently being 
promoted by West London Alliance and is identified in Mayor of London’s Transport 
Strategy (2018). As part of the West London Alliance, Barnet will be considering 
options to provide an integrated station as part of the new Thameslink Station at Brent 
Cross Cricklewood to enable interchange between the two services. 

9.40 The 2014 S73 Permission imposes a number planning conditions relating to the 
delivery of the WHF, as set out in Conditions 41.1 – 41.5 (see Appendix B for full 
condition wording). Condition 41.1 relates to the detailed design and operational 
impact of the WHF in respect of what information would need to be submitted for the 
LPA’s consideration as part of an RMA. As the proposed development is seeking 
permission through a drop-in application, the LPA are content that, having regard to 
the relevancy of these particular requirements, appropriate information has been 
submitted as part of this planning application and/or that planning conditions can be 
attached to any planning permission requiring the submission and approval of such 

105



72

details following the issue of any planning permission (e.g. an enforceable route 
management and servicing strategy).

9.41 Condition 41.2 prevents the closure of the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station 
until the replacement WHF has been completed. To ensure continuity in NLWA’s ability 
to carry out their statutory obligations in respect of waste management, it is considered 
important to retain this control in relation to this alternative proposed WTS. This can 
be achieved either through the imposition of a similar condition on any planning 
permission granted for the proposed WTS and, subsequent to any permission granted, 
through a consequential amendment to the 2014 S73 Permission by way of an 
application pursuant to Section 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended). 

9.42 Condition 41.3 relates to the provision of rail sidings and gantry crane for the consented 
WHF. As the alternative scheme proposed within this drop-in application does not 
include the provision of a rail connection and the Applicant has advised that this is no 
longer necessary as a result of the NLWA’s strategy to consolidate operations at 
Edmonton EcoPark, this control would not be relevant nor necessary to impose for the 
proposed WTS and is not therefore necessary to consider in relation to the proposed 
development.

9.43 Conditions 41.4 and 41.5 relate to the need to, as a minimum, provide the same 
licensed or permitted operational waste capacity as currently licensed and permitted 
at the Hendon Waste Transfer Station and other waste management sites; and to 
ensure that this is provided before any waste management site is redeveloped. The 
proposed development would not in itself result in the redevelopment of any existing 
waste management site as the Application Site is currently in commercial use and 
occupied by Selco Builders Merchants. Therefore, the control imposed by Condition 
41.5 is not in fact material when applied to consideration of this planning application.

9.44 The proposed development does, however, seek to facilitate delivery of the BXC 
regeneration scheme and, specifically, the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) and 
Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station Approach) sub-phases of the BXC Development. 
These sub-phases would result in the redevelopment of three existing waste 
management sites including Hendon Waste Transfer Station, McGovern Brothers and 
Ground Waste Recycling (formerly Cripps Skips) located in the vicinity of Claremont 
Industrial Estate in order to facilitate delivery of the New Train Station, Interim 
Transport Interchange T1, and Station Square. The combined maximum licensed or 
permitted capacity of these facilities is as follows, however, it should be noted that the 
assessment of replacement or compensatory capacity is more appropriately 
considered based on the average annual throughput for the preceding four years 
(2013-2016, based on the most up-to-date and available data) as this approach better 
reflects the operational capacities of those facilities. This approach is endorsed by the 
Mayor of London and reflected in his Stage 1 Report.

106



73

Table 4: Waste data relating to existing waste management sites to be redeveloped as part of 
Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) and Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station Approach) sub-
phases of the BXC regeneration scheme (London Waste Map, 2018)

Site Name Maximum Licensed 
Capacity (tonnes per 
annum)

Average Annual 
Throughput 2013-2016 
(tonnes per annum)

McGovern Brothers, Brent 
Terrace, Hendon

150,000 37,079

Cripps Skips Brent Terrace 25,000 8,711

W R G, Hendon Rail Transfer 
Station

375,600 137,325

Totals 550,600 183,115

9.45 Notwithstanding the materiality of this matter (paragraph 9.41), the proposed 
development seeks planning permission for a WTS to process a throughput of up to 
195,000 tonnes per annum, which more than replaces the average annual throughputs 
of the three existing waste management sites that would be redeveloped as a result of 
the abovementioned sub-phases of the BXC development. Consequently, the 
requirements set out in Conditions 41.4 and 41.5 would be satisfied on the basis of the 
Mayor of London’s method of calculating replacement/compensatory waste 
management capacity. The proposed WTS would in fact be constructed with the ability 
to potentially process a maximum throughput of 260,000 tonnes per annum; however, 
this is not what planning permission is sought for and the accompanying 
Supplementary Environmental Statement does not fully test the impacts of the 
proposed WTS operating at this scale. As such, it is likely that a condition restricting 
the throughput of the proposed development would be imposed on any planning 
permission granted.

9.46 Within his Stage 1 Report, the Mayor of London has made reference to Upside Railway 
Yard (which is a construction, demolition and excavation waste transfer site operated 
by GB RailFreight Limited) as one of the existing waste management sites falling within 
the wider BXC regeneration area that would be lost as a result of the BXC 
development. However, as also noted within the Stage 1 Report, redevelopment of 
Upside Railway Yard has not been accounted for within the BXC outline planning 
consent as it did not exist at the time of the 2010 outline permission and the subsequent 
S73 planning application in 2013 did not propose to amend or vary any element of the 
scheme in relation to the replacement or compensation of any additional waste 
management site that were already established by the 2010 outline consent. However, 
it should be noted that the recently approved Rail Freight Facility on the former 
Cricklewood Railway Yard to the south of the application site, includes a construction 
waste transfer operation which is sufficient to replace the capacity of the Upside Goods 
Yard. Therefore, the 2014 S73 Permission grants permission for the redevelopment 
and replacement of four existing waste management sites at various stages of the 
scheme, including: McGovern Brothers, Cripps Skips (now Ground Waste Recycling), 
Hendon Waste (Rail) Transfer Station and PB Donoghue. 

107



74

9.47 It is noted that an objection has been received on behalf of PB Donoghue in relation to 
the re-provision of waste capacity that is currently provided by their existing waste 
management facility off Claremont Road. However, it should be noted that the land 
occupied by PB Donoghue falls within Phase 4 of the BXC regeneration scheme 
(synonymous with Plots 31, 36 and 61) and, as such, is not therefore intended to be 
redeveloped until at least June 2026 according to the currently approved BXC 
Indicative Construction Programme13. At the time that this existing waste management 
facility is intended to be redeveloped it would be for the applicant to demonstrate how 
compensatory waste management capacity would be re-provided in accordance with 
Condition 41.5 of the 2014 S73 Permission.

2) Comprehensive Redevelopment of the BXC Regeneration Area:

9.48 The proposed development is considered to be integral to achieving the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the BXC regeneration area as it forms part of the 
land assembly required to deliver the New Train Station and associated items of 
Critical Infrastructure consented by the 2014 S73 Permission. Specifically, the existing 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station is located partly on land required to deliver the New 
Train Station and, as aforementioned, there are controls imposed on the 2014 S73 
Permission that prevent the closure of the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station 
until the new/replacement WHF has been completed. The Application Site also forms 
part of the land subject to the Council’s successful CPO3 and, as explained within the 
Council’s case, the comprehensive regeneration of BXC is reliant upon delivery of an 
Integrated Transport Strategy (‘ITS’) which is crucial to achieving a modal shift from 
private to public, sustainable modes of transport and improving connectivity between, 
and beyond, parts of the regeneration area separated by the Midland Mainline railway. 
The provision of the New Train Station is therefore a key element of this ITS which will 
also catalyse delivery of the remainder of the regeneration scheme, particularly that 
south of the A406 North Circular. As such, it is essential that land to deliver the New 
Train Station is made available which can only be achieved through delivery of a 
replacement for Hendon Waste Transfer Station. This objective is proposed to be 
achieved through this drop-in planning application in order to deliver a replacement 
WTS that responds to the requirements of the NLWA’s waste management strategy.

9.49 Additionally, the Application Site and Plot 63 and 62 of the BXC regeneration scheme 
are located at the western extent of the regeneration area sandwiched between the 
Midland Mainline railway and the A5 Edgware Road within the Railway Lands 
Development Zone. It is therefore a discrete component of the regeneration scheme 
that is capable of being delivered without reliance upon the delivery of other parts of 
the regeneration scheme. Furthermore, the proposed development seeks to utilise less 
land than that envisaged in the S73 Permission and does not therefore impact on any 
other element of the BXC development or any other adjoining uses outside of the S73 
Permission. As such, it is considered that the proposed development would not 
prejudice the delivery of the wider BXC regeneration scheme and therefore not 
undermine the comprehensive redevelopment of the regeneration area in accordance 
with the abovementioned development plan policies (saved Policy C1 of the UDP and 
Policy CS2 of the Core Strategy DPD).

13 The latest ICP was approved in June 2018 following a submission pursuant to Condition 4.4 of planning 
permission F/04687/13 (planning ref. 17/3658/CON).

108



75

Reconciliation between the Proposed Development and s.73 Permission:

9.50 If Members were minded to grant planning consent for the proposed development, two 
planning permissions would effectively co-exist for a similar development on the same 
land. As explained in paragraph 6.10 above, the implementation of any drop-in 
planning permission would have the effect of rendering the respective parts of the S73 
outline permission un-implementable (the ‘Pilkington Principle’). However, provided 
the implementation of any such drop-in permission does not prejudice the delivery of 
the wider BXC development, this planning approach is considered acceptable in 
respect of the extant outline planning permission and planning policy support for the 
comprehensive redevelopment of the BXC regeneration area.

9.51 In the event of a drop-in permission being granted, it would be necessary for the 
applicant to seek approval for minor amendments to the S73 Permission to reconcile 
the two planning permissions. Specifically, there are conditions attached to the S73 
Permission relating to the delivery of the WHF that would need to be amended – 
particularly Conditions 41.1 – 41.5 – along with any necessary changes to terms 
defined within the S73 Permission Glossary. However, this can be achieved through 
the mechanism provided for by Section 96A of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 (as amended) which should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for 
approval.

Protecting Barnet’s Character and Amenity

9.52 The proposed development is for the demolition of the existing building and erection 
of a new building for the use of a waste transfer station. The facility will receive, bulk 
and provide for onward transportation residual municipal waste, food waste, dry mixed 
recycling, bulky waste, street sweeping and street cleansing wastes. The site will 
include necessary provisions for the reception of waste, storage bays, loading facilities, 
fencing, CCTV, office and welfare facilities, weighbridges, dust and odour suppression 
system, drainage, plant room, parking for staff and visitors, and a temporary retailing 
wall. As a result of the construction of a WTS building and proposed processes carried 
out in association with it, there is the potential for the proposed development to impact 
the amenity of nearby sensitive receptors, including local residents, in terms of visual 
impact and the local character of the area, noise, air quality and odour, and lighting.

Local Character, Landscape and Visual Impact, and Design:

9.53 The existing site is situated within a developed part of North London and characterised 
by the current commercial use – Selco Builders Merchants – that sits within the context 
of adjoining commercial, retail (warehouse-type), industrial and residential uses, and 
significant highway and railway infrastructure. The site is therefore urbanised in its 
nature and contains extensive hard landscaping that influences the experience of the 
area. The proposed development, which is similarly of an industrial nature (albeit not 
classified as falling within any identified Use Class – a waste management facility 
would be considered ‘Sui Generis’) would not therefore be incongruous within this 
existing urban character. The Application Site is not identified or designated as any 
area of particular landscape character or value. 

109



76

9.54 The Revised Design and Access Statement (‘DAS’) submitted in support of the BXC 
S73 planning application acknowledges that the Railway Lands Development Zone 
fulfils a largely utilitarian function that is very much the product of its context alongside 
major road and rail infrastructure. Notwithstanding this, the Revised DAS highlights the 
importance of the new buildings within this Development Zone making a significant 
improvement to the environment along Edgware Road and to create a context and 
typology of industrial development that will prompt future regeneration.

9.55 Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy DPD and Policy DM01 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD refers to the Council’s aspiration for development to 
respect local context and distinctive local character incorporating high quality design 
principles including character, continuity and enclosure, quality of public realm, ease 
of movement, legibility, accessibility, adaptability and diversity14. On a more strategic 
level, Policy 7.4 of the London Plan states that development should have regard to 
(inter alia) form, function, scale, mass and orientation of surrounding buildings; ensure 
buildings create positive relationship with street level activity; and allow buildings to 
make a positive contribution to the character of a place to influence the future character 
of the area. In addition to this, Policy 7.5 of the London Plan states that development 
should make the public realm comprehensible at a human scale using (inter alia) focal 
points and include landscape treatment of the highest quality. Opportunities for the 
integration of public art and greening should be maximised. Saved Policy C2 of the 
UDP also expresses the Council’s objective to seek to achieve the highest standard of 
urban design in the BXC regeneration area; adding that proposals will need to be 
consistent with the strategic principles set down in the Cricklewood, Brent Cross and 
West Hendon Development Framework (SPG). Chapter 6 of this SPG identifies the 
BXC freight and waste handling facilities as falling within their own character area 
within the BXC regeneration area. 

9.56 The proposed development would result in the construction of a building that would be 
situated parallel to, and in line with the existing orientation of, both the Midland Mainline 
railway and A5 Edgware Road. The form of the proposed building has been developed 
to perform a particular function as a result of operational requirements of a WTS. 
However, this form along with the scale and massing of the proposed building is not 
too dissimilar to the existing warehouse-type units located within the vicinity of the Site. 
As such, it is considered that the proposed building would complement the prevailing 
built characteristics of the location. 

9.57 In recognition of the aspirations of the wider BXC regeneration scheme, it is 
acknowledged that the proposed WTS would be sited on the edge of the regeneration 
area, on a key arterial transport route and would be part of a gateway into the BXC 
Development – particularly with anticipated footfall to and from the New Train Station. 
It is noted that the Applicant has proposed to include architectural interest to the 
otherwise simple block formation through the inclusion an extended roof canopy over 
the northern, eastern and southern elevations of the building, which is particularly 
exaggerated at the northwest corner to conceal the fire water tank and external 
elements of the odour control plant. The Applicant has also sought to provide aesthetic 
interest through the use of materials to contrast the concrete panels. This includes a 

14 Paragraph 10.5.5 of the Core Strategy DPD (2012).

110



77

polycarbonate cladding system encasing the roof structure which would ameliorate any 
dead frontage and allow the passage of light into and out of the facility. In addition to 
this, the proposed development also incorporates the installation of bespoke green 
screens, some of which would be pre-planted to provide immediate screening effects, 
located principally along the western elevation which faces onto the main adjoining 
public realm (i.e. the A5 Edgware Road) and also at the northwest corner and part of 
the northern elevation. These screens would consist of varying triangular formations 
placed alongside the proposed WTS building in addition to the provision of high-tensile 
steel cabling suspended between the roof canopy and ground levels to allow additional 
planting to develop. This would be complemented by other more typical landscape 
features including planting at ground level along the western boundary of the site and 
planting screens fixed to perimeter fencing on top of a boundary wall alongside 
boundary fronting onto Geron Way.

9.58 Overall it is considered that the proposed development would not be incongruous to 
the existing character of the area nor the character envisaged by the associated BXC 
regeneration scheme, which recognises that this part of the site is intended to deliver 
the more functional requirements of the scheme. Chapter 9 of the Supplementary 
Environmental Statement also recognises that the proposed development would result 
in a highly visible landmark building at the gateway into Brent Cross and has therefore 
been designed to offer a statement of renewal and contribute to the changing 
townscape of the area along the Edgware Road. As such, the design of the scheme 
and its relationship with the public realm, as required by the aforementioned 
development plan policies, is a key consideration. As per the description provided 
above, it is considered that the proposed development would result in the construction 
of a building that delivers architectural and aesthetic interest, particularly taking into 
account the position of the proposed WTS in relation to the wider BXC regeneration 
scheme which would result in footfall associated with the New Train Station passing 
by the proposed building. With the addition of the somewhat unique green screening 
and other proposed landscaping solutions, it is considered that the proposed 
development is in compliance with Policies 7.4 and 7.5 of the London Plan, Policy CS5 
of the Core Strategy and saved Policy C2 of the UDP; and more broadly, befitting to 
the aspirations of the BXC regeneration scheme. To ensure the successful 
establishment and ongoing effectiveness of the proposed landscaping features, it is 
considered appropriate to attach a condition to any forthcoming planning permission 
requiring the submission, approval and implementation of a landscape management 
plan. 

Air Quality:

9.59 The proposed development seeks planning permission for the construction and 
operation of a Waste Transfer Station (‘WTS’) that would receive wastes collected 
predominantly from properties within the London Borough of Barnet and neighbouring 
London Borough of Camden as part of the NLWA’s waste management strategy. The 
received wastes would be deposited and segregated within allocated storage bays and 
temporarily stored within the building before being exported by HGV for onward 
transfer to a further waste management facility. The end destination of this waste would 
principally be to the Energy Recovery Facility at Edmonton Eco-Park. As a result of 
this operation, there is the potential for the proposed development to have an impact 

111



78

on air quality, through the number and type of vehicle trips associated with it; and odour 
through the temporary storage and transportation of waste materials – odour is dealt 
with under the subsequent heading below.

9.60 The Application Site is located within an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA), as is 
the whole of the London Borough of Barnet. The Application Site also lies in close 
proximity to an AQMA within the London Borough of Brent. Policy 7.14 of the London 
Plan requires planning decisions to minimise increased exposure to existing poor air 
quality and make provision to address local problems of air quality, particularly within 
AQMAs; be at least ‘air quality neutral’ and not lead to further deterioration of existing 
poor air quality; and ensure that where provision needs to be made to reduce 
emissions from a development, this is usually provided on-site. Reference to 
minimising pollution (including air quality and odour) is also made within Policies 5.3 
(Sustainable Design and Construction) and 5.17 (Waste Capacity) of the London Plan.

9.61 Saved Policy C3 of the UDP requires that development within the BXC regeneration 
area should generally protect and, wherever possible, improve the amenities of 
existing and new residents. As relevant to the consideration of air quality, Policies 
DM01 and DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that all 
development should demonstrate high levels of environmental awareness and 
contribution to climate change mitigation; be based on an understanding of local 
characteristics; and ensure that development is not contributing to poor air quality and 
provide air quality assessments where appropriate. The provision of air quality 
assessments is also referred to in Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy.

9.62 The Applicant has therefore prepared and submitted an Air Quality and Odour 
Assessment Report in support of the planning application (original version dated 
October 2017 with a revised version submitted for consideration dated July 2018) to 
consider these impacts and what mitigation would be necessary to ensure that any 
such impacts are not significantly adverse. This technical assessment accompanies 
Chapter 13 of the Supplementary Environmental Statement (revised July 2018). The 
technical assessment has been carried out to consider the impacts of the proposed 
development on air quality (specifically Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and inhalable 
particulate matter (PM10)) during the operational phase, in particular the traffic 
associated with the proposal; odour emissions during the operational phase of the 
proposed development; and the potential for fugitive dust and PM10 emissions 
during the demolition and construction phase of the proposed development. This 
assessment has included scenarios to ascertain the impact of the proposed 
development itself and also the cumulative impact in regard to other committed 
development schemes within the vicinity (including BXC).

Dust and PM10 Emissions:

9.63 For the demolition and construction phase of the proposed development, the 
assessment considers activities that would be associated with demolition of the 
existing Selco Builders Merchants, the underlying ground conditions, construction of 
the proposed WTS, and traffic associated with this demolition and construction phase. 
This part of the assessment concludes that, with the application of suggested 
mitigation measures, the proposed development would have a medium risk of dust 

112



79

soiling and low risk to human health. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer 
considers this assessment to be thorough and the mitigation measures proposed 
acceptable to offset any adverse impacts. Furthermore, the demolition and 
construction phase would, by its very purpose, be short-term. To ensure that such 
mitigation measures are implemented during this demolition and construction phase, 
the Applicant would be required to submit, obtain approval for, and implement a 
Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP) by the inclusion of an 
appropriately worded planning condition on any planning permission granted. 

9.64 The Applicant has also considered the potential for dust generation during the 
operational phase of the proposed development; however, by virtue of the proposed 
operation – including all waste being transported within enclosed vehicles or 
containers, loading and unloading operations restricted to within the building only, the 
installation of a misting system to dampen down waste stockpiles, provision of a 
drainage system to wash away any debris or dust, and provision of a ventilation system 
– it is considered unlikely that any significant dust would be generated. However, the 
application of these measures is considered sufficient to significantly reduce the 
potential for dust emissions from the proposed building. This conclusion is considered 
to be acceptable given the nature of the proposed development (and type of materials 
to be handled within the proposed WTS) and subject to the abovementioned measures 
being implemented throughout the duration of the demolition and construction phase 
of the proposed development.

Air Quality (Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) and Particulate Matter (PM10) Emissions)

9.65 As a baseline, it is noted that relevant National Air Quality Objectives (NAQO) within 
the AQMAs in both the London Borough of Brent and London Borough of Barnet are 
currently not being achieved. The principle source of NO2 emissions as a result of the 
proposed development would be from the traffic associated with the delivery and 
exportation of waste. When assessed individually based on the maximum throughput 
of 195,000tpa (2020 Do Something scenario), the air quality modelling assessment 
predicts that the NAQO for NO2 concentrations, which is set at 40 micrograms/m3, 
would be exceeded at 8 of the identified sensitive receptors; however, this is the case 
in scenarios both with and without the proposed development (i.e. the Do Nothing 
compared to the Do Something scenario) and as such there would be no additional 
modelled exceedances as a result of the proposed development. This indicates that 
the proposed development would not contribute to any worsening of NO2 
concentrations within the vicinity of the Application Site. In the ‘with proposed WTS’ 
scenario (i.e. Do Something), the proposed development would in fact result in 
decreases in NO2 concentrations (i.e. an improvement) at 31 out of 36 of the identified 
receptors (albeit that the NAQO continues to be exceeded at 8 receptors). The 
proposed development would therefore result in 6 Moderate Beneficial and 5 Slightly 
Beneficial impacts with the remaining 25 receptors indicating a negligible impact. The 
modelled receptors utilising the 2017 baseline data as a sensitivity test indicates fewer 
beneficial impacts but continues to demonstrate that the proposed development would 
not result in any adverse impacts on NO2 concentrations.

9.66 When assessed cumulatively along with the wider BXC Development and specifically 
other committed developments to be delivered as part of the Phase 2 (South) 

113



80

(Thameslink Station) sub-phase, the air quality modelling assessment predicts that a 
number of receptors (a total of 23) could experience adverse impacts in regard to NO2 
concentrations. These adverse impacts range from slight (12), moderate (10) and 
substantial (1). These impacts are exacerbated in the 2017 sensitivity test but this 
sensitivity test does not take into account anticipated improvements in vehicle 
emission technology (and therefore reduction in NO2 concentrations) beyond 2017, 
which is included in the 2021 cumulative Do Something scenario. However, the 
assessment also explains that this modelling is very much a worst case as it does not 
substitute out the existing land uses (and traffic generated by them) that would be 
replaced/redeveloped as a result of the BXC regeneration scheme. As such, it is 
considered that the assessment overestimates the impact of the proposed 
development on air quality in the cumulative scenarios. Taking into account the 
potential for such impacts, the assessment continues to suggest a number of mitigation 
measures, incorporating measures identified within Barnet’s Air Quality Action Plan, 
designed to manage the effect of the proposed development during both the demolition 
and construction phase and the operational phase of the development. This includes 
the use of Euro VI compliant HGVs, the provision of cycle parking and electric vehicle 
charging points, and measures to encourage more sustainable means of transport to 
the proposed facility; all of which can be subject to appropriately worded conditions 
should planning permission be forthcoming.  

9.67 In regard to potential PM10 emissions, the Applicant’s Air Quality and Odour 
Assessment report concludes that PM10 concentrations at all modelled receptors 
within the vicinity of the Application Site would be well below the relevant NAQO and 
thus the impact of the proposed development would be negligible. This is identified to 
be the result when the proposed development is assessed both individually and 
cumulatively in cognisance of the wider BXC regeneration scheme.

9.68 As referred to above, Policy 7.14 of the London Plan and the related Mayor of London’s 
Sustainable Design and Construction SPG require development proposals to be at 
least air quality neutral and not lead to further deterioration of existing poor air quality. 
When compared to the existing conditions at the Site, which includes the use of the 
land by Selco Builders Merchants, the Applicant has demonstrated that the proposed 
development (both operating at the maximum level of 195,000tpa and theoretical 
capacity of 260,000tpa) would result in less NO2 and PM10 emissions. The 
comparative reduction is more than 50% in both scenarios. Therefore, the proposed 
development is considered to be at least air quality neutral.

9.69 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer is content that the air quality impacts of 
the proposed WTS alone are largely negligible and is satisfied that the proposed 
development would be air quality neutral. However, although identified as a worst-case 
scenario, it is recommended that further mitigation in line with the Council’s Air Quality 
Action Plan is secured to reduce the potential for any adverse impacts as a result of 
the cumulative impact of the proposed development with the wider BXC development. 
This includes a condition requiring all HGVs to be Euro VI compliant and the installation 
of a camera system to check vehicles entering the site. In regard to other Air Quality 
Action Plan objectives, it is noted that the 2014 S73 Permission for the wider BXC 
regeneration scheme incorporates improvements to the footway along the A5 to 
include a shared pedestrian and cycle path. Along with the implementation of the 

114



81

approved Area Wide Walking and Cycling Strategy and measures contained within this 
A5 Corridor Study, it is anticipated that more sustainable, non-car modes of transport 
would be encouraged and thus future traffic-born emissions further reduced. 

9.70 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has also identified that the proposed 
development would result in the movement of HGVs during the most congested period 
of the day (17:00-19:00 Mondays to Fridays), which is likely to cause the greatest 
potential for traffic-borne emissions. As such, it is recommended that a condition be 
imposed on any planning permission granted restricting the number of HGV 
movements during this time period so that no more than one HGV enters or exits the 
site during 17:00-18:00 and no more than one HGV enters or exits the site during 
18:00-19:00 on Mondays to Fridays (including the Bank Holiday days).

9.71 Given the foregoing and subject to the imposition of appropriate planning conditions 
should permission be forthcoming, it is considered that the proposed development 
complies with the requirements of Policy 7.14 of the London Plan, saved Policy C3 of 
the UDP and Policies DM01 and DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
in respect of air quality impacts insofar as the proposed WTS would not itself cause 
any deterioration in existing air quality within the vicinity of the Application Site and 
would be air quality neutral when compared to the existing land use.

Odour Impacts:

9.72 The proposed development has the potential to generate odour emissions as a result 
of the nature of the waste streams that would be imported to, temporarily stored at, 
and exported from the Site. The Applicant has followed industry standard guidance for 
the assessment of odour, including guidance published by the Environment Agency 
and DEFRA, and based that assessment on the proposed facility generating a mix of 
odourous gases (rather than determinants for individual odour gases) which is 
considered to be the more appropriate assessment in this instance. The exposure 
criteria accepted within the UK at present is given in terms of ‘European Odour Units’ 
as a 98th percentile of hourly averages (denoted as C98). Odour emissions are 
therefore measured in respect of odour concentrations over this timeframe – i.e. C98, 
1 hour, X ou/Em3. For moderately offensive odours (which includes those associated 
with the proposed facility and waste streams), the threshold at which odour pollution 
would become unacceptable is 3 ou/ Em3 (this is based on the Environment Agency’s 
H4 Odour Management guidance, March 2011). The Applicant has also conducted 
Odour Dispersion Modelling for predicted odour emissions. Taking into account the 
provision of an Odour Control Unit with associated flue (located at the northwest extent 
of the Application Site), the assessment concludes that all modelled concentrations at 
relevant exposure locations (i.e. sensitive receptors) are below the C98, 1 hour, 3 
ou/Em3 threshold, with the highest modelled concentration identified as C98, 1 hour, 
1.7 ou/Em3. A further sensitivity test was also carried out factoring in different built and 
meteorological factors and the results indicate that the greatest predicted odour 
concentrations would be 2.1 ou/Em3, which is consistent with no buildings and rural 
meteorological conditions. This is not representative of the Application Site; however, 
these sensitivity results remain below the abovementioned threshold. As such, the 
impact of the proposed development on nearby sensitive receptors is not considered 
to be significant.

115



82

9.73 In addition, the proposed development has been designed to account for potential 
odour impacts through the design of the building and inclusion of odour abatement 
systems. This includes the provision of fast-acting roller shutter doors (which should, 
by default, be in the closed position), operation of the building under negative pressure, 
inclusion of ventilation and odour abatement systems, delivery of all wastes within 
enclosed vehicles or containers, and the storage of all wastes within the proposed 
building. Taking into account any uncertainties within the technical odour assessment 
and to ensure that as much as possible is implemented to mitigate odour impacts, the 
Applicant has also suggested a number of other mitigation measures including (but not 
limited to) increasing humidity within the building to reduce evaporation, reduce air flow 
over the surface of odourous materials, and introducing temporary surface treatments 
to reduce the surface temperature. Given the nature of the proposed development and 
to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are implemented to minimise odour 
emissions as much as possible, it is considered that any planning permission should 
be subject to a condition requiring the Applicant to submit an Odour Management Plan 
which includes the suggested mitigation measures to maintain or improve air quality 
within the vicinity of the Site.

9.74 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the Applicant’s technical 
assessment along with Chapter 13 of the Supplementary Environmental Statement, 
particularly the revised versions submitted in July 2018, and considers the conclusions 
to be acceptable provided the proposed mitigation measures are implemented. It is 
noted, however, that the final design of the odour abatement system is yet to be 
specified. Therefore, in addition to the above recommended condition, a further 
condition should be imposed on any planning permission granted requiring the 
submission and approval of full details of the Odour Control Unit to be installed at the 
proposed WTS. It is noted that the proposed development would also be subject to 
controls relating to odour emissions (and other emissions) through an Environmental 
Permit which would be issued and monitored by the Environment Agency.

9.75 Therefore, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions should planning 
permission be forthcoming, it is considered that the proposed development complies 
with the requirements of Policy 5.17 of the London Plan, saved Policy C3 of the UDP 
and Policy DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD in respect of odour 
impacts

Noise:

9.76 Policy 7.15 of the London Plan states that development proposals should seek to 
manage noise by (inter alia) (a) avoiding significant adverse noise impacts as a result 
of new development; (b) mitigate and minimise existing and potential adverse impacts 
of noise on, from, within, as a result of, or in the vicinity of new development without 
imposing unreasonable restrictions; and (e) the application of good acoustic design 
principles. Policy 5.17 of the London Plan also makes reference to the assessment of 
waste management proposals in regard to noise impacts. Saved Policy C3 of the UDP 
and Policy DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD states that 
development within the (BXC) regeneration area should protect and, wherever 
possible, improve the amenities of existing and new residents, and that mitigation of 

116



83

noise impacts should be delivered through design, layout, and insulation where 
appropriate. Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy also makes reference to the need to 
provide a Noise Impact Assessment to improve air quality – the Applicant has satisfied 
this requirement through the provision of the Noise Impact Assessment report (revised 
5 July 2018) in tandem with Chapter 8 of the Supplementary Environmental Statement.

9.77 As described in Section 5 of this report, the proposed development would be carried 
out predominantly within the WTS building, which would be constructed with a 5.5-
metre-high concrete wall containing the operation, and include the provision of 
acoustic fencing along the eastern, southern and part of the southwest boundaries of 
the site. The potential for noise emissions to arise from the proposed development 
would be attributed to traffic arriving at and departing from the site, the loading and 
unloading of waste, operation of the roller-shutter doors, the management of waste 
within the building, and any such emissions associated with mechanical plant 
equipment, particularly that situated externally. In view of the current noise limit 
imposed by Condition 41.1 (f) of the 2014 S73 Permission for the BXC regeneration 
scheme and specifically for the consented WHF (5dB below existing background LA90 
levels) and guidance contained within BS 4142 (2014), the Applicant has carried out a 
noise assessment assuming the worst case scenarios (both with and without 
mitigation) and considering sensitive receptors within the vicinity of the Site including 
those at Fellows Square, Brent Terrace, Hanover House off Edgware Road, Topps 
Walk/Oxgate Gardens, and Our Lady of Grace Nursery and Infant School. This has 
been completed for the proposed opening year of the WTS (2020) and the BXC end 
state year (2031) which includes the A5 Link Bridge over the Midland Mainline that 
would be situated adjacent to the southern extent of the Site.

9.78 The assessment concludes that the proposed development would result in achieving 
or bettering the 5dB below background levels restriction referred to above at all 
modelled receptors, which is further improved through the implementation of the 
proposed 3.6-metre-high acoustic fencing along the southern and part of the southwest 
boundary of the Site, and 2-metre-high acoustic fencing along the eastern boundary of 
the Site. In line with national Planning Practice Guidance and Noise Policy Statement 
England (2010), the assessment therefore concludes that the proposed development 
would achieve either a No Adverse Effect Level (NAOEL) or be below a Low Adverse 
Effect Level (LAOEL), the latter of which is considered to be the level above which 
adverse effects on health and quality can be detected. As such, the proposed 
development could give rise to noticeable noise but this is not likely to be intrusive.

9.79 The Council’s Environmental Health Officer concurs with the Applicant’s assessment 
in regard to the acceptability of operational noise impacts and mitigation measures 
proposed. However, it is noted that the Applicant has stated that the precise details of 
the proposed fixed mechanical plan is not known at this stage and such plant is 
assumed to operate at all times. Therefore, similarly to that suggested in paragraph 
9.72, a condition should be imposed on any planning permission granted requiring the 
submission and approval of details of all fixed mechanical plant, including ventilation 
systems, odour control systems (as above) and air treatment unit. Otherwise, as 
suggested by the Environmental Health Officer, a condition limiting noise emissions 
from the Site should also be attached to any planning permission granted. 

117



84

9.80 Given the foregoing and subject to securing the abovementioned conditions, it is 
considered that the proposed development would not give rise to any significantly 
adverse or unacceptable noise impacts and, as such, complies with Policies 7.15 and 
5.17 of the London Plan, saved Policy C3 of the UDP and Policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD.

Lighting:

9.81 The proposed development would involve the erection of external lighting mounted on 
the northern, eastern and southern elevations of the proposed WTS building (at 6 
metres); and provision of four lighting columns proposed to be erected adjacent to the 
eastern elevation of the proposed WTS building and at the proposed operational 
access off Geron Way. The lighting units would be 11 kLm LED luminaires mounted 
with zero tilt and appropriate lighting levels to minimise light spill and glare. The 
proposed development would also involve the erection of surface lighting within the 
car park with proposed illumination of 20 Lux. Such lighting proposals are considered 
within the context of the proposed building design, and particularly the overhanging 
roof structure and topographical changes between the Site and surrounding land, that 
would go some way to preventing light spill. The proposed development would also 
involve the erection of street lighting in association with the proposed works to the 
A5/Geron Way junction. However, it is noted that such works would be subject to the 
Local Highway Authority’s final agreement under S278 of the Highways Act 1980.

9.82 As previously referred to saved Policy C3 of the UDP seeks to protect the amenity of 
new and existing residents. More appropriately, Policy DM01 (f) of the Development 
Management Policies DPD states that, for development proposals incorporating 
lighting schemes, lighting should not have a demonstrably harmful impact on 
residential amenity (or biodiversity). The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has 
reviewed the lighting proposed as part of this planning application and is content that 
there would be no adverse impact on the nearest sensitive receptors, particularly those 
at Fellows Square. As such, it is considered that the proposed development is in 
compliance with saved Policy C3 of the UDP and Policy DM01 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD.

Highways and Transport Impacts

Strategic Approach:

9.83 Chapter 6 of the London Plan provides strategic policies on transport. Policy 6.1 sets 
out the Strategic Approach to integrating transport and development by (f) facilitating 
the efficient distribution of freight whilst minimising its impact on the transport network. 
The relevance of this to the proposed development is that it would result the collection 
and bulking up of Local Authority collected wastes and consequently consolidation of 
trips associated with the onward transfer of waste to other waste processing facilities, 
thereby minimising the overall number of movements on the network. Policy 6.14 of 
the London Plan also requires development proposals that generate high numbers of 
freight movements to be located close to major transport routes. The proposed 
development satisfies this policy aim insofar as the Site would be directly accessed off 

118



85

the A5 Edgware Road (via Geron Way) which is a key arterial route into and out of 
London which in turn gives direct access to the A406 North Circular and the M1 
motorway. Whilst RCVs would inevitably originate from residential areas in order to 
collect residents’ waste, the onward transfer of waste to other management facilities 
(principally Edmonton EcoPark) would be via the A5 (northbound) and then the A406 
North Circular, which also gives access to Edmonton EcoPark. To ensure that HGV 
movements associated with the export of waste from the proposed WTS only used the 
Strategic Road Network and major transport routes (and avoided smaller 
roads/residential areas), it would be appropriate to require the applicant to submit a 
Delivery and Servicing Strategy, incorporating an enforceable management strategy, 
to the LPA for approval. This was identified as a requirement by Condition 41.1 (i) of 
the 2014 S73 Permission in relation to the previously approved WHF.

9.84 It is also noted that, whilst the Mayor of London’s recently published Transport Strategy 
(2018) focuses on the delivery and increased uptake of non-car modes of transport in 
London through the promotion of a ‘healthy streets’ approach; this Strategy also 
recognises the continued need for essential road-based freight movements. It is 
considered that such essential freight movements would include those required by the 
statutory waste disposal authority (NLWA) to facilitate the management of London’s 
waste, particularly in view of the policy aim to become self-sufficient in respect of 
managing London’s waste within London.

Highway Capacity:

9.85 The Site is accessible directly off the Strategic Road Network and is proximal to the 
motorway network (M1) and Transport for London’s Road Network (A406 North 
Circular), which would enable traffic generated by the site (the movements associated 
with the exportation of waste in particular) to travel to and from the Site using these 
strategic roads. Due to the nature of the proposed development (i.e. to facilitate the 
collection and management of Local Authority wastes), a number of RCVs would 
inevitably travel along more minor, residential roads. However, such trips on the 
network would not be new nor additional as a result of the proposed development and 
would therefore reflect the existing waste collection service provided within the NLWA 
area. Based on the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000 tonnes of waste per 
annum, the proposed development would generate up to 414 HGV movements 
consisting of 340 RCV movements (170 in, 170 out) associated with the Local Authority 
waste collection service and 74 other HGV movements (37 in, 37) to facilitate the 
onward transfer of waste to other management facilities. The proposed development 
would also result in up to 202 street sweepers and caged vehicle movements (101 in, 
101 out) accessing the site; however, this is stated as a worst case scenario and such 
figures have been captured within the abovementioned 414 HGV movements.

9.86 Policy 6.3 of the London Plan (2016) requires development proposals to be fully 
assessed at both corridor and local level to ensure development does not adversely 
affect safety on the transport network. This is similarly a requirement set out in the draft 
New London Plan (2017) – draft Policy T4. Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy DPD 
identifies the need for major proposals to incorporate transport assessments, travel 
plans and delivery and servicing plans. Policy DM17 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD contains matters to be considered when determining planning 

119



86

applications including (but not limited to) road safety, road hierarchy, location and 
accessibility, travel planning and parking management. 

9.87 Paragraphs 108 and 109 of the NPPF (2018) are also relevant to the consideration of 
this planning application. In assessing applications for development, paragraph 108 
advises that it should be ensured that (inter alia) ‘(c) any significant impacts from the 
development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on 
highway safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree.’  Paragraph 
109 also states that ‘Development should only be prevented or refused on highway 
grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe.’ 

9.88 The planning application is supported by a transport assessment – document titled 
‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Drop-in Transport Report: Waste Transfer 
Station’ (dated September 2017) – which was supplemented by an addendum report 
to respond to matters raised within both the Council’s Transport Planning and 
Regeneration Team and TfL’s consultation comments – ‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink 
Station): Waste Transfer Station Transport Report Addendum’ (dated July 2018). A 
further supplementary addendum was submitted in August 2018 offering additional 
clarification on the transport modelling previously carried out (titled: ‘Phase 2 (South) 
(Thameslink Station): Waste Transfer Station Transport Report Supplementary 
Addendum’). These reports provide the applicants’ assessment of the proposed 
development in regard to capacity of the site access junction, proposed HGV 
movements and traffic flows on the A5 Edgware Road. As the proposed development 
delivers part of the BXC regeneration scheme, the applicant has based this transport 
assessment on the ‘Thameslink Model’ which is a derivative of the BXC Design 
Development Model (‘BXC DDM’) used to assess the highway impact of the entire 
regeneration scheme focusing on the capacity of nine ‘Gateway Junctions’ which are 
to be improved to mitigate any such highway impacts from the wider regeneration 
scheme. The ‘Thameslink Model’ incorporates detailed approvals for the BXC 
regeneration scheme to date (i.e. Phase 1A North and Phase 1B North reserved 
matters approvals) and continues to include the assumptions in relation to the wider 
BXC development as set out within the s.73 Application, including the land uses 
contained within the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase.

9.89 The assumptions contained within the Thameslink Model require verification due to the 
evolution of the proposed WTS and development of the detailed design; and as a result 
of the fact that a different facility is now being proposed compared to that set out in the 
s.73 Permission (i.e. the WHF). Such a comparison in highway terms relates to (A) 
considering the impact of 742 HGV movements (371 in, 371 out) plus 172 staff car 
movements (86 in, 86 out) as envisaged in the S73 Permission compared to 414 HGV 
movements (207 in, 207 out) and up to 20 staff movements (10 in, 10 out) as proposed 
within this planning application; and (B), taking into account the land now required to 
deliver the proposed WTS, the retention of the Bestway operations, the adequacy of 
the existing A5/Geron Way junction and the impact of introducing signals at this 
junction on the local highway network. The design and safety of the proposed junction 
is considered further below. Therefore, in the context of the wider BXC regeneration 
scheme, the applicant is required to consider the impact of the proposed development 
in regard to the following two development scenarios (2021 and 2031) to ensure that 

120



87

the impacts on the local highway network do not undermine the capacity of the nine 
Gateway Junctions and road safety on the A5 Edgware Road.

9.90 Analysis of the transport impacts within the Thameslink Model is based on two design 
years: (1) 2021 which coincides with completion of the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink 
Station) sub-phase; and (2) 2031 relating to completion of the full BXC development. 
For the highway impacts associated with the proposed development, the applicant has 
utilised an additional assessment to ensure that the proposed traffic levels coincide 
with, and is reflective of, these likely scenarios within the Thameslink Model. From this, 
the applicant has ascertained whether the proposed development is likely to create 
any additional impacts on the highway network beyond those envisaged in the 
‘Thameslink Model.’ The use of this model, and method of assessment, has been 
corroborated and verified by TfL and the Council’s Transport Planning and 
Regeneration team, who find it to be acceptable.

9.91 The Applicant’s transport assessment analyses the above design years based on a 
worst case scenario of the proposed WTS processing 260,000tpa (for which it is 
physically capable of handling), and the maximum throughput for which planning 
permission is sought – 195,000tpa – to thoroughly and robustly consider the impact of 
the proposal. An assessment was also carried out based on a throughput of 
152,000tpa which would reflect the short-term operating capacity of the proposed 
WTS. This assessment considered the impact of the proposed WTS on the proposed 
signalisation of Geron Way and the wider impact on the A5 corridor and key junctions 
connected to it. Based on a theoretical throughput of 260,000tpa, the assessment 
concludes that in 2021 the network operates with spare capacity; however, by 2031, 
with the completed BXC regeneration scheme plus further background growth, there 
are evident pressures at Geron Way and Oxgate Gardens, both of which have been 
identified to operate better if the A5/Humber Road junction were signalised.

9.92 It is worth noting at this juncture, that the 2014 S73 Permission grants full planning 
permission for nine Gateway Junctions, which includes a new four-arm junction on the 
A5 with Humber Road and the diverted Geron Way to provide access to the consented 
WHF. As such, the principle of carrying out works, including traffic management 
measures, to the Humber Road junction has already been established in planning 
terms and it is not therefore for this application to consider the acceptability of 
completing such works. Condition 1.29 of the S73 Permission identifies the approved 
Gateway Junction plans, including the ‘A5/Diverted Geron Way (Waste Handling 
Facility) Junction’; and Condition 21.26 refers to the relevant trigger for such works to 
Humber Road requiring the four-arm Gateway Junction to be completed prior to 
occupation of the WHF. 

9.93 When assessed at the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000tpa, the transport 
assessment similarly concludes that in 2021 there would be no capacity issues at any 
of the modelled junctions along the A5 (i.e. no junction would be over 90% Degree of 
Saturation (‘DoS’)15) and thus there would be no adverse impacts on the highway 
network as a result of the proposed WTS. However, in 2031 (after the proposed WTS 
has commenced operation and assuming operation at the maximum proposed 

15 A threshold of 90% DoS is considered to be the point at which a junction becomes over capacity.

121



88

throughput of 195,000tpa on opening), with Humber Road remaining as a priority 
junction, the transport modelling indicates that all lanes at the proposed A5/Geron Way 
junction would have DoS over 90% during the AM peak only. By comparison, with the 
signalisation of Humber Road, the A5/Geron Way junction would operate within 
acceptable limits but Dollis Hill Lane and A5 northbound lane at the Dollis Hill Lane 
would have DoS over 90% (97.3% for Dollis Hill Lane and 90.1% and 90.3% for the 
A5). In regard to this consequential modelled issue at Dollis Hill Lane, the transport 
assessment states that the signalisation of Humber Road, which would enable it to go 
from a left in/left out only junction to an all-movement junction, would result in less ‘rat-
running’ through Dollis Hill Lane which should alleviate forecast capacity at the 
A5/Dollis Hill Lane junction.

9.94 It is evident from the analysis provided, which has been reviewed and accepted by the 
Council’s Transport Planning and Regeneration Team and TfL, that the proposed 
WTS, including signalisation of Geron Way, would not give rise to significant adverse 
impacts on the highway network. However, it is apparent that by 2031, there would be 
some adverse impacts on the local highway network as a consequence of the 
signalisation of Geron Way. Given the time lag between opening of the proposed WTS 
and when such impacts would evidently arise, it is reasonable to conclude that any 
such highway issues highlighted within the transport assessment (i.e. by 2031) are 
attributed to delivery of the wider BXC regeneration scheme (plus other background 
growth) including that to be delivered as part of the remainder of the Phase 2 (South) 
(Thameslink Station) sub-phase of the BXC regeneration scheme, rather than as a 
consequence of the proposed development. 

9.95 Further to this technical analysis, it is also noted that the proposed development would 
result in replacing the existing use of the site (Selco Builders Merchants) which 
generates more traffic than that proposed. As such there would be a reduction in total 
traffic volumes from 1,579 vehicles (surveyed between 07:00 to 19:00 on a weekday) 
to 414 HGV movements (incorporating RCVs, caged vehicles and street sweepers) 
over the same 12-hour period plus staff movements (12 staff are proposed). Plus, the 
proposed development would also represent a reduction in HGV and other vehicle 
movements when compared to the WHF already consented by the 2014 S73 
Permission (as noted in paragraph 9.89 above). Therefore, arguably, the net impact of 
the proposed development compared to the existing land use and extant committed 
development scheme would reduce traffic volumes. 

9.96 To determine the point at which works to Humber Road are required to mitigate the 
impact of the wider BXC regeneration scheme, the Applicant has conducted 
supplementary modelling. This seeks to determine the year in which the proposed 
signalised Geron Way would fail (i.e. operate with a DoS over 90%) without the 
signalisation of Humber Road and therefore when such mitigation measures should be 
carried out to ensure the continued operation of the Geron Way junction within 
satisfactory limits. The results indicate that in 2023, prior to completion of the bridge 
over the Midland Mainline (‘MML Bridge’), the proposed Geron Way can operate 
without the need for the signalisation of Humber Road. However, in 2024 when the 
MML Bridge would become operational, the analysis indicates that this additional route 
connecting the BXC development to the west and, therefore, consequent change in 
traffic flows would result in DoS over 90% at the proposed Geron Way junction. As 

122



89

such, it is reasonable to suggest that mitigating works to Humber Road should be 
linked to the delivery of the MML Bridge. Given this association with a development 
forming part of the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase and as works to 
Humber Road are already consented through the 2014 S73 Permission, it would be 
appropriate to ensure that this identified mitigation is secured through the S73 
Permission and by way of an appropriately worded condition imposed on any planning 
permission granted.

9.97 Taking the above into account and the evidence supplied by the Applicant, which has 
been reviewed and accepted by the Local Highway Authority and TfL, it is considered 
that the proposed development would not give rise to any significantly adverse impacts 
(as apparent in 2021 upon commencement of the WTS operation). When considered 
cumulatively with the wider BXC development and other committed developments, the 
proposed development is also considered to not cause significant adverse impacts on 
the local highway network provided that appropriate mitigation (i.e. works to Humber 
Road) is secured at the appropriate time. Therefore, subject to the imposition of a 
condition ensuring that such works are secured, and taking into account the 
abovementioned development plan and national planning policies, it is considered that 
the proposed development would not cause any severe impacts on the highway 
network and it has been demonstrated that appropriate mitigation can be delivered to 
offset any adverse impacts to ensure that the proposed development (and wider BXC 
regeneration scheme) operates within acceptable limits on the highway network. 

Junction Design and Highway Safety:

9.98 As described in Section 5 (paragraph 5.17) of this report, the proposed development 
involves works to the existing (southern) A5/Geron Way junction to provide signals and 
enable safe access and egress into and out of the Site based on the type and volume 
of traffic associated with the proposed development. To support this, the transport 
assessment submitted with the planning application included a capacity analysis of the 
existing southern priority controlled Geron Way junction with the A5 Edgware Road, 
which concluded that this junction would be over capacity as a result of the proposed 
development. The resultant delays and safety concerns due to the increase in larger 
vehicle movements at this existing junction are considered to be significant and, 
therefore, the existing junction layout deemed to be inadequate to accommodate the 
proposed development. This is a conclusion that has been agreed by the Local 
Highway Authority. This also accords with the Mayor’s Vision 0, to reduce fatal and 
serious road accidents on London’s roads by providing controlled crossing facilities 
and reducing vehicle speeds.  

9.99 Both Policy 6.3 of the London Plan and Policy DM17(a) of the Development 
Management Policies DPD refer to the safe operation of the highway network and 
ensuring the safety of all road users. This includes pedestrians and cyclists as well as 
vehicular traffic. The proposed junction design, as illustrated on drawing no. BXT-CAP-
0100-F-SK-C-0007 (Rev. P06), has been subject to a Stage 1 Road Safety Audit 
(‘RSA’) which is submitted in support of this planning application. It is noted that a 
number of design changes have occurred as a result of this RSA and that the final 
design proposed includes some departures from normal standards which have been 
addressed separately within five Departure from Standards Reports. The proposed 

123



90

junction, including the departures from standards, has been reviewed by the Local 
Highway Authority and, although it would be subject to further approval under S278 of 
the Highway Act 1980 whereby further safety audits will be carried out, is considered 
to be acceptable in principle. The Council’s Transport Planning and Regeneration 
Team are also content that it has been demonstrated that the proposed development 
can operate without unacceptably increasing conflicting movements on the road 
network. It is, therefore, considered that the applicant has provided sufficient evidence 
to demonstrate that the proposed junction design can operate safety in accordance 
with the requirements of Policy 6.3 of the London Plan and Policy DM17 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD.

Parking Provisions

9.100 Saved Policy C8 of the UDP relates to the provision of parking within the Cricklewood, 
Brent Cross and West Hendon regeneration area specifying standards for particular 
uses. The proposed development (Sui Generis) does not accord with any of the listed 
uses and therefore the parking standards should follow the London Plan. Policy 6.13 
of the London Plan and associated Table 6.2 in the Parking Addendum sets out the 
maximum parking standards which are to be the basis for considering planning 
applications. Policy DM17 (g) of the Development Management Policies DPD requires 
that development should provide parking in accordance with the London Plan 
standards except in the case of residential development, which is not applicable to this 
planning application. Parking provision should be considered in view of the strategic 
approach to transport in Outer London (Policy 2.8 of the London Plan), of which the 
most salient of these approaches to the proposed development is improving public 
transport access and encouraging greater use of cycling and walking in respect of how 
staff travel to and from the site. Policy 6.13 of the London Plan also requires that 1 in 
5 spaces provide electrical charging points, parking for disabled people in line with 
Table 6.2, and meet minimum cycle parking standards. 

9.101 The proposed development would result in the provision of 10no. car parking spaces, 
principally for staff and visitors, including 1no. disabled parking space and 3no. electric 
charging points. The parking area would be situated to the front of the proposed WTS 
(northern elevation) and access to the car parking area would be via access point off 
Geron Way which is separate to the main operational access at the far northeast corner 
of the Application Site. The Parking Addendum (paragraph 6A.7) does not provide 
standards for the specific use proposed within this planning application but it does 
recognise that a degree of flexibility may be required to reflect different trip generating 
characteristics for B2 and B8 uses – which is the most alike use class to the proposed 
WTS which involves the storage (temporary) and distribution of waste to other waste 
management facilities. As such, the Parking Addendum states that parking for 
commercial development should be provided at a maximum of one space per 500m2 
of gross B2 or B8 floorspace. The proposed development would result in the 
construction of 5,433m2 of floorspace and, therefore based on the B2/B8 standard, the 
provides the suggested maximum number of spaces (10no.). The proposed 
development is therefore considered to satisfy the London Plan’s vehicle parking 
requirements

124



91

9.102 The proposed development would also include the provision of parking facilities for 
12no. bicycles, which would be sheltered and allow for the locking of bicycles to the 
frame and stand provided. According to the General Arrangement Floor Plan (drawing 
number BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6003 Rev. P02), the proposed cycle parking would 
be situated adjacent to the northeast elevation of the proposed building and as such 
would not be overlooked by the office accommodation looking out from the northern 
elevation (for surveillance purposes). Therefore, in order to ensure such cycle parking 
facilities are adequate, it is noted that the Council’s Transport Planning and 
Regeneration Team have recommended the inclusion of a condition requiring the 
submission and approval of details should planning permission be forthcoming. In 
order to encourage staff to cycle to the proposed development, lockers and showering 
facilities would also be provided. For cycle parking provisions, Table 6.3 of the Parking 
Addendum to Chapter 6 of the London Plan states that sui generis development should 
reflect the most relevant other standards in regard to parking provisions. As above, the 
most comparative minimum standards would be those attributed to B2-B8 uses given 
the nature of the proposed development. The minimum standard is therefore 1 cycling 
space per 500m2 of floorspace for long-stay parking. The proposed development would 
result in the creation of 5,433m2 which translates into a requirement for 10 parking 
spaces. As the proposed development seeks to provide 12no. cycle parking spaces 
(2no. above the minimum guidance), the proposed development is considered to be in 
compliance with saved Policy C8 of the UDP, Policy DM17 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD and Policy 6.13 of the London Plan. 

Biodiversity and Green Infrastructure

9.103 In terms of biodiversity, the Application Site is of little ecological value as it is currently 
occupied by Selco Builders Merchants and its ancillary uses including car parking and 
hardstanding. The Site is also heavily influenced and dominated by railway and road 
infrastructure at its eastern and western boundaries, respectively. The nearest 
(nationally) designated nature conservation site is located approximately 900 metres 
to the northwest of the Site (Welsh Harp SSSI and Brent Reservoir LNR) with 
significant highway infrastructure situated in between. The Dudding Hill Loop between 
Cricklewood and Harlesden SINC (Site of Importance to Nature Conservation) is 
located approximately 200 metres to the south of the site. However, there are existing 
scattered trees and shrub planting located along the western boundary of the Site, 
adjacent to the A5 Edgware Road, and eastern boundary of the Site, adjacent to the 
railway corridor.

9.104 Policy CS7 of the Core Strategy DPD and Policy DM16 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD states that the Council will ensure that development 
protects existing site ecology and makes the fullest contribution to local biodiversity 
improvements; and also affords protection to existing SINCs. Equally, Policy 7.19 of 
the London Plan states that development proposals should, wherever possible, make 
a positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and management of 
biodiversity; and states that proposals should give sites of borough and local 
importance for nature conservation the level of protection commensurate with their 
importance. The proposed development would result in the removal of some of the 
abovementioned existing vegetation; however, new landscaping is proposed as part 

125



92

of the scheme including the replanting of trees along the A5 Edgware Road, ground 
planting along the entirety of the western boundary of the site and part of the northwest 
corner (including amenity grass, shrub planting and wildflower mix), and the installation 
of a brown roof covering approximately 30% of the roof space providing local wildflower 
species and hibernaculum. As described in paragraphs 5.7 – 5.8 and 9.57, the 
proposed development would also include the erection of a number of green 
screens/walls and hi-tensile wire structures (some pre-planted) providing the 
opportunity for the establishment of an array of planting. 

9.105 Chapter 10 of the Supplementary Environmental Statement (July 2018) and its 
associated appendices contains an assessment of the ecological and nature 
conservation impacts of the proposed development. It is identified that the majority of 
impacts would arise during the construction phase of the proposed development and 
that the greatest impact (Slight Adverse) would be as a result of vegetation clearance 
and disturbance to breeding birds. In regard to the abovementioned national and local 
designated sites, no significant impacts were identified. Consequently, a number of 
mitigation measures are recommended, including the avoidance of vegetation 
clearance during the bird breeding season and reptile active season; and 
implementation of a CEMP. These can be secured by appropriately worded condition 
should planning permission be forthcoming. It is also noted that there are a number of 
controls in place for the wider BXC regeneration scheme that would capture the 
proposed WTS falling within the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase, 
including the implementation of a Construction Code of Practice and site-wide 
mitigation strategy for bats. 

9.106 In regard to the proposed brown roof, there is a site-wide requirement in relation to the 
BXC regeneration permitted by the 2014 S73 Permission. Within the Revised 
Development Specification Framework, it is stated that green and brown roofs will be 
used for on a minimum of 10% of available roof areas, where this is possible, 
distributed across the site, where these will extend the range of habitats available. 
Ordinarily, this would need to be demonstrated through the Reconciliation Process 
established by the S73 Permission for Reserved Matter Applications; however, as this 
is a drop-in application the proposal is not necessarily bound by this requirement. The 
Applicant has nevertheless demonstrated that, within the context of the proposed 
development forming part of the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase, the 
requirement for 10% of available roof space providing green or brown roofs would be 
achieved as a result of this proposal. The Applicant’s ecological assessment also 
indicates that the provision of a brown roof would reduce potential impacts on foraging 
and commuting bats.

9.107 Policy 7.21 of the London Plan, Policy CS7 of the Core Strategy DPD and Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD all seek to safeguard and protect 
existing trees of value and secure the planting of additional trees to compensate for 
any losses. The proposed development would result in the removal of all existing trees 
located adjacent to the eastern extent of the site (adjacent to the railway corridor) and 
alongside the A5 Edgware Road adjacent to the western extent of the proposed WTS. 
However, the Applicant has submitted an ‘Arboricultural Appraisal and Impact 
Assessment’ (dated August 2017) which confirms that none of those trees are of any 
particular significance or value. The assessment also indicates that the trees proposed 

126



93

to be removed have been subject to a poor growth rate (particularly those along the 
A5) and the proposed development represents an opportunity to replace these trees 
and provide a better growing environment. As such, it is considered that the proposed 
development is in compliance with the abovementioned development plan policies. 

9.108 Overall, taking into account the limited opportunities offered by this heavily urbanised 
environment, it is therefore considered that the proposed development has sought to 
provide relatively extensive and innovative landscaping solutions which would have 
the effect of increasing the biodiversity and ecological value of an otherwise utilitarian 
site. Therefore, subject to appropriate conditions mentioned in paragraph 9.105, the 
proposed development is considered to be in compliance with Policy CS7 of the Core 
Strategy, Policy DM16 of the Development Management Policies DPD and Policy 7.19 
of the London Plan.

Sustainable Construction and Climate Change

9.109 London Plan Policy 5.2 states that development proposals should make the fullest 
contribution to minimising carbon dioxide emissions in accordance with the hierarchy 
be lean, be clean and be green. Policy 5.3B states that development proposals should 
demonstrate sustainable design standards in regard to its construction and operation; 
and meet minimum standards outlined the Mayor’s ‘Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPG’ (April 2014) including incorporation of renewable energy 
technologies and low or zero carbon technologies, and achieve regulated carbon 
dioxide standards. Whereas, Policies 5.10C and 5.11A relate to the provision of green 
infrastructure and sustainable design considerations, stating that major development 
proposals should contribute to urban greening and deliver as many objectives as 
possible including (but not limited to) sustainable urban drainage and enhancement of 
biodiversity. Additionally, Policy CS13 of the Core Strategy promotes the highest 
environmental standards and efficient use of natural resources; and saved Policy C4 
of the UDP states that the Council will seek to ensure that the redevelopment of the 
BXC regeneration area pursues the highest standards of environmental design.

9.110 The proposed development seeks to deliver a new, purpose-built WTS which has been 
designed to achieve BREEAM ‘Very Good’ rating and delivers low and zero carbon 
technologies, including solar photovoltaic panels, heat recovery systems, and low 
energy and automated lighting. The Applicant has submitted an ‘Energy Statement 
and Low Carbon Technology Feasibility Study’ and a ‘Thermal Comfort Report’ (both 
dated September 2017). The Energy Statement sets out the Applicant’s approach to 
the design of the proposed development which follows the energy hierarchy by first 
reducing demand for energy through the choice of materials – this includes the use of 
materials with a thermal efficiency better than the requirements of the Building 
Regulations (a 35% improvement), construction to achieve a very low air permeability 
standard, and installation of a brown roof which is highly insulating, reduces the Urban 
Heat Island effect, and reduces stormwater run-off in addition to delivering the obvious 
biodiversity benefits. Secondly, the proposed development incorporates energy 
efficient plant and equipment; and finally, implements low carbon technologies. Overall 
the assessment concludes that Part L of the Building Regulations, BREEAM and the 
Council’s requirements can be achieved. The Thermal Comfort Report also explains 

127



94

and justifies the inclusion of mechanical ventilation within the proposed building 
design, which complements measures to also ensure that the proposal does not give 
rise to any adverse odour impacts (i.e. through the provision of natural ventilation).

9.111 It is apparent that the design of the proposed WTS incorporates an appropriate range 
of measures to ensure energy efficiency and reduce the impact of the proposed 
development in regard to sustainability and climate change mitigation. The proposal 
also incorporates urban greening, as described previously in regard to the brown roof 
and landscaping proposals. As such, it is considered that the proposed development 
is in compliance with Policies 5.2, 5.3, 5.10 and 5.11 of the London Plan, Policy CS13 
of the Core Strategy DPD and saved Policy C3 of the UDP.

Flood Risk and Drainage

9.112 The application site is located in Flood Zone 1 (i.e. at the lowest probability of flooding) 
and is not located within any Groundwater Source Protection Zone. However, as the 
application site is just over 1 hectare (1.66 hectare) a Flood Risk Assessment (‘FRA’) 
was nonetheless required to consider any other sources of flooding and to address 
design issues related to the control of surface water run-off and climate change. Within 
the Supplementary Environmental Statement (July 2018), the applicant has provided 
an assessment of the likely effects of the proposed development on the water 
environment, including water quality, flood risk, geomorphology and drainage (Chapter 
11). The applicant has also submitted a ‘Addendum to ES Flood Risk Assessment’ 
(dated October 2017) – which considers the FRA carried out in respect of the BXC 
regeneration scheme – and a ‘Drainage Strategy’ (August 2017).

9.113 In respect of flood risk, Policy 5.12B of the London Plan states that development 
proposals must comply with the flood risk assessment and management requirements 
set out in the NPPF and associated technical guidance (now contained within the 
online Planning Practice Guidance) over the lifetime of the development. The Planning 
Practice Guidance provides an indication of flood risk vulnerability classifications for 
different development types (Table 2) and identifies whether that development would 
be appropriate within the relevant flood zone (Table 3). The proposed development 
would be considered to fall within the ‘less vulnerable’ category; nevertheless, the site 
is within Flood Zone 1 where development is generally considered appropriate across 
all flood zones, with a less than 0.1% annual exceedance probability of flooding. This 
does not, however, take into account climate change. The Applicant’s FRA conducts 
a review of the FRA carried out in support of the S73 planning application for the BXC 
regeneration scheme in relation to the proposed WTS. As previously concluded, the 
Site is considered to be at a low risk of flooding from fluvial, tidal, groundwater and 
artificial sources and thus the majority of the site is at a very low risk of surface water 
flooding. As per the accepted conclusions within the 2013 BXC Revised Environmental 
Statement, it is not possible to reduce run-off rates to achieve pre-developed greenfield 
rates due to various constraints. The proposed development, in the context of the wider 
BXC regeneration scheme, does achieve a 25% reduction to existing run-off rates up 
to the 1 in 100 year taking account of the 30% climate change allowance. Given the 
lack of risk and provided an appropriate drainage system is provided to ensure surface 
and foul water run-off is managed effectively, it is considered that the proposed 

128



95

development would not cause any unacceptable flood risks and therefore is in 
compliance with Policy 5.12 of the London Plan. It is also noted that the Environment 
Agency and Lead Local Flood Authority have not raised any objections to the proposed 
development.

9.114 In consideration of surface and foul water drainage proposals, Policy 5.13A of the 
London Plan requires development proposals to utilise Sustainable Urban Drainage 
Systems (SUDS) and ensure that surface water run-off is managed close to its source 
as possible in line with the following drainage hierarchy: (1) store rainwater for use, (2) 
use infiltration techniques, (3) attenuate rainwater in ponds or open water features, (4) 
attenuate rainwater by storing in tanks, (5) discharge rainwater direct to a watercourse, 
(6) discharge rainwater to a surface water sewer/drain and (7) discharge rainwater to 
a  combined sewer. This hierarchy is referred to in Policy DM04 (g) of the Development 
Management Policies DPD stating that development should demonstrate compliance 
with it. In connection with this, Policy 5.15 of the London Plan states that development 
should minimise the use of mains water. Also, in regard to wastewater, Policy 5.14 of 
the London Plan requires development proposals to ensure that adequate wastewater 
infrastructure capacity is available in tandem with development.

9.115 The proposed development would incorporate the provision of both a surface and foul 
water drainage systems connecting into the mains network. For surface water, this 
would include drainage channels, the installation of two sub-surface attenuation tanks, 
oil interceptor, the provision of a rainwater harvesting system and construction of a 
raised table at the proposed operational vehicle access to management and retain fire 
water in the event of a fire. The most probable source of foul water would be within the 
building where waste is stored. Therefore, the proposal includes a series of foul drains 
in front of all waste storage bays, a full retention separator for trade effluent, 
underground storage tank for leachate and dust suppression run-off, separate tanks 
for run-off from the food waste storage and street sweeping bays and pumping station 
located at the northwest corner of the site (external). The Council have consulted the 
Lead Local Flood Authority in respect of these proposals and they have advised that 
the proposed arrangements generally represent a betterment on the existing drainage 
arrangements (surface and foul) at the site; and that the climate change allowances 
referred to above (i.e. achieving a 25% improvement as opposed to greenfield run-off 
rates) is appropriate for the site and Thames region.

9.116 In regard to the abovementioned development plan policies, it is therefore considered 
that the proposed development incorporates an appropriate drainage systems to 
achieve acceptable run-off rates; manage surface water adequately particularly in view 
of the proposed storage of fire water; and contain and channel foul water from the 
areas of stockpiled waste to appropriate storage tanks, the contents of which would be 
emptied when required and taken off site for disposal. Taking into account the need to 
access and store mains water for the purposes of fire safety, the proposed 
development also seeks to minimise the use of mains water where feasible through 
the implementation of a rainwater harvesting system. Therefore, the proposed 
development is considered to be broadly in compliance with Policies 5.12, 5.13, 5.14 
and 5.15 of the London Plan and Policy DM04 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD.

129



96

Land Contamination

9.117 Policy DM04 (e) of the Development Management Policies DPD, states that proposals 
on land likely to be contaminated should be accompanied by an investigation to 
establish the level of contamination in the soil and/or groundwater and identify suitable 
mitigation; and London Plan Policy 5.21 states appropriate measures should be taken 
to ensure previously developed land does not activate or spread contamination. 
Development which could adversely affect the quality of groundwater will not be 
permitted. As contained within Chapter 14 of the Supplementary Environmental 
Statement (July 2018), the Applicant has carried out an assessment of potential for 
land contamination arising from the proposed development. This included a site-
specific ground investigation conducted in February 2017 which identified that the 
existing Site (and land adjacent to it) were susceptible to the presence of contaminants 
by virtue of the current and previous land uses (including railway sidings, railway 
engine repair shed, spillages and leaks from builders’ merchants or vehicles, and 
potential fuel storage above ground). 

9.118 Given the potential for contaminants to be present at the Site and need to ensure that 
such contaminants are not spread or activated, it is considered appropriate to condition 
any planning permission granted to require further investigation, completion of a 
remediation strategy and verification of such remediation to be submitted for the LPA’s 
approval prior to the commencement of the development. Taking into account the 
context of the proposed development within the wider BXC regeneration scheme, any 
such remediation strategy should consider the Remediation Zones previously 
approved for the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase pursuant to 
Condition 31.1 of the 2014 S73 Permission (planning permission ref. 17/6697/CON); 
and any Site Specific Remediation Strategy being prepared for the same sub-phase 
as per the requirements of Condition 31.2 of the 2014 S73 Permission. The Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the Applicants’ assessment in respect of 
the appropriateness of the methodology, robustness of the assessment and therefore 
acceptability of its conclusions and agreed that the remediation of contamination 
should be secured by condition if planning permission were forthcoming. Therefore, 
subject to inclusion and compliance with the recommended condition, the proposed 
development is considered to be in compliance with Policy 5.21 of the London Plan 
and Policy DM04 of the Development Management Policies DPD.

Planning Obligations

9.119 Paragraph 203 of the NPPF states that Planning Obligations should only be used 
where it is not possible to address unacceptable impacts through a planning condition. 
The Council’s ‘Planning Obligations SPD’ (April 2013). As set out within this report and 
schedule of ‘Draft Conditions’ contained in Appendix A, a number of conditions are 
recommended to ensure the impacts of the proposed development are appropriately 
mitigated. Should any of those conditions be breached or a complaint received 
regarding the authorised development, it is the Council’s duty to investigate any such 
complaint and, where it is considered expedient, enforce against a breach of the 
planning permission to regularise the development.

130



97

9.120 Paragraph 204 of the NPPF states that Planning Obligations should only be sought 
where they meet all of the following tests: (1) necessary to make the development 
acceptable in planning terms; (2) directly related to the development; and (3) fairly and 
reasonably related in scale and kind to the development. On the basis and as outlined 
above, it is considered that the use of appropriate planning conditions are adequate in 
this instance to control the development, Officers do not recommend that any Planning 
Obligations should be sought. 

9.121 Notwithstanding that, the Council are both Applicant and Local Planning Authority in 
this case which renders the use of S106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
(as amended) unimplementable. 

131



98

10 ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT

10.1 The planning application is accompanied by a Supplementary Environmental 
Statement which assesses the impact of the proposed development in accordance with 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2017. This was subsequently revised in July 2018 when the applicant provided revised 
and additional information in connection with this planning application. 

10.2 The SES covered the following topics to determine whether the proposed WTS would 
be likely to give rise to any significant environmental effects and whether any mitigation 
measures were necessary to ameliorate any such impacts:

 Land use planning;
 Traffic and Transport;
 Socio-economics;
 Noise and vibration;
 Landscape and visual;
 Ecology and nature conservation;
 Water resources and flood risk;
 Archaeology and cultural heritage;
 Air quality and dust;
 Ground contamination;
 TV, radio and mobile phone;
 Major accidents and disasters; and
 Cumulative effects.

10.3 Given the relationship with the BXC regeneration scheme and the fact that the 
proposed WTS would be delivered as part of the BXC development, the SES also had 
regard to the EIA carried out in support of the BXC outline planning application 
approved in 2010 and subsequent s.73 Application in 2014. Relevant comparisons 
between the conclusions of the BXC EIA and SES submitted with this planning 
application have been acknowledged above through the Planning Assessment section 
of this report having regard to the relevant material considerations. 

10.4 The relevant assessments and conclusions from those assessments as contained 
within the revised Supplementary Environmental Statement (July 2018) have been 
considered by the LPA in consultation with the appropriate statutory and other technical 
advisers, as set out above, and it is concluded that the proposed development would 
not give rise to any significant environmental effects that cannot be mitigated through 
the implementation of appropriate mitigation measures. Such mitigation measures can 
be secured through appropriately worded planning conditions as suggested in 
Appendix A of this report.

132



99

11 EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY ISSUES

11.1 Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, which came into force on 5th April 2011, imposes 
important duties on public authorities in the exercise of their functions, including a duty 
to have regard to the need to:

 Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under this Act;

 Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

 Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.”

11.2 For the purposes of this obligation the term “protected characteristic” includes:
 age;
 disability;
 gender reassignment;
 pregnancy and maternity;
 race;
 religion or belief;
 sex; and
 sexual orientation.

11.3 In considering this planning application and preparing this report, Officers have had 
regard to the requirements of this section and have concluded that should a decision 
to grant planning permission for this proposed development be taken, it would comply 
with the Council’s statutory duty under this important legislation.

11.4 Notwithstanding the proposed development seeks to deliver a commercial WTS 
facility, which would not ordinarily be accessible to members of the public, the site 
would be accessible by various modes of transport, including by foot, bicycle, public 
transport and private car, thus providing a range of transport choices for all users of 
the site. Also, the applicant has proposed the provision of one dedicated disabled 
parking bay and provisions for secure and sheltered cycle parking. As such, the 
proposals are considered to be in accordance with national, regional and local policy 
by establishing an inclusive design, providing an environment which is accessible to 
all.

11.5 Additionally, the proposed development would facilitate the delivery of the New 
Thameslink Train Station as part of the wider BXC regeneration scheme which would 
deliver substantial benefits in respect of accessibility, housing, employment 
opportunities and community facilities.

133



100

12 CONCLUSION

12.1 The proposed development seeks planning permission for the demolition of the 
existing Selco Builders Merchants and construction and operation of a purpose-built 
Waste Transfer Station to receive, bulk and transfer municipal waste, food waste, dry 
mixed recycling, bulky waste, street sweeping and street cleansing wastes. 

12.2 Although set out within this drop-in application, the proposed facility forms an integral 
element of the wider Brent Cross Cricklewood (BXC) regeneration scheme. The 
delivery of a new WTS to replace the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station operated 
by NLWA, is necessary to facilitate the construction of the New Thameslink Train 
Station. The New Train Station is an important component of the BXC regeneration 
scheme as it would result in the achievement of significant modal shift from private 
cars to more sustainable modes of transport and unlock the delivery of the wider 
regeneration scheme, particularly the new town centre to the south of the A406 North 
Circular and the resultant new homes and employment opportunities that would follow 
this.

12.3 The BXC regeneration scheme benefits from outline planning permission that was 
established originally in 2010 and subsequently amended in 2014. The 2014 S73 
Permission establishes the use of the Application Site for waste management 
purposes and approved parameters for a building and facility that would receive and 
process waste including the generation of refuse derived fuel. Although the type of 
waste management facility proposed is now different to that envisaged at the outline 
planning stages, the LPA is satisfied that the proposal would continue to satisfy the 
requirements for the wider comprehensive redevelopment of BXC regeneration area 
and delivers the needs of the NLWA as statutory waste disposal authority to manage 
London’s waste. The principle of the proposed development is therefore considered to 
be acceptable.

12.4 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires the Council 
to determine any application in accordance with the statutory development plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise.  All relevant policies contained within the 
development plan, as well as other relevant guidance and material considerations, 
have been carefully considered and taken into account by the LPA as set out in this 
report.  The assessment set out in the body of this report above considers the key 
material considerations relating to the principle of the proposed development, local 
character and amenity (including air quality, odour and noise), highways and transport 
impacts, biodiversity and green infrastructure (including trees), flooding and drainage, 
contaminated land, and sustainable design and climate change. In summary, the 
proposed development is considered to be generally acceptable in regard to all of 
these considerations subject to the imposition of various conditions on any planning 
permission granted in order to secure the implementation of appropriate mitigation. 

12.5 It is concluded that the proposed development accords with the relevant development 
plan policies. It is therefore considered that there are material planning considerations 
which justify the grant of planning permission. Accordingly, subject to referral to the 
Mayor of London, APPROVAL is recommended subject to conditions as set out in 
Appendix A of this report. 

134



101

SITE LOCATION PLAN – LAND AT 2 GERON WAY, LONDON NW2 6GJ

PLANNING APPLICATION 17/6714/EIA

A5 EDGW
ARE ROAD

GERON WAY

135



This page is intentionally left blank



1

APPENDIX A

DRAFT LIST OF PLANNING CONDITIONS 

DEMOLITION OF THE EXISTING BUILDING AND ERECTION OF A NEW BUILDING 
FOR USE AS A WASTE TRANSFER STATION FOR RECEPTION, BULKING AND 
ONWARD TRANSPORTATION OF MUNICIPAL WASTE, FOOD WASTE, DRY MIXED 
RECYCLING, BULKY WASTE, STREET SWEEPING AND STREET CLEANSING 
WASTES. PROVISION OF WASTE RECEPTION, STORAGE BAYS, LOADING 
FACILITIES, FENCING AND TEMPORARY ACOUSTIC FENCING, CCTV, OFFICE AND 
WELFARE FACILITIES, WEIGHBRIDGES, DUST AND ODOUR SUPPRESSION 
SYSTEM, EXHAUST STACK, DRAINAGE, PLANT ROOM, PARKING FOR STAFF AND 
VISITORS, TEMPORARY RETAINING WALL, WORKS TO THE HIGHWAY TO CREATE 
A SIGNALISED JUNCTION AT THE A5 EDGWARE ROAD/GERON WAY JUNCTION, 
AND OTHER ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE AND ANCILLARY WORKS.

LAND AT 2 GERON WAY, LONDON, NW2 6GJ

PLANNING APPLICATION REF. 17/6714/EIA

DRAFT CONDITIONS

COMMENCEMENT AND TIME LIMITS

1. The development hereby permitted must be begun within three years from the date of 
this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

APPROVED DRAWINGS

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 

BXT-CAP-6000-E-M2-A-0008 Rev. P01 Proposed Site (Block) Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6001 Rev. P01 Site Location Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6003 Rev. P02 General Arrangement Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6004 Rev. P03 Accommodation Block Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6005 Rev. P02 Proposed Elevations

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6006 Rev. P01 Roof Plan

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6007 Rev. P01 Building Sections

137



2

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6008 Rev. P02 Proposed Colour Elevations 1 of 2

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6012 Rev. P02 Proposed Colour Elevations 2 of 2

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6016 Rev. P02 Proposed Site Sections (Sheet 1)

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6017 Rev. P01 Proposed Site Sections (Sheet 2)

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6018 Rev. P01 Demolition Plan

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3003 Rev. P01 Bike Shelter Detail

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3005 Rev. P02 Landscape General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3006 Rev. P02 Landscape Planting Proposals

BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3004 Rev. P02 Hibernaculum Roof Plan

BXT-CAP-1700-C-DR-S-0039 Rev. P03
A5 Edgware Road Bestway Ground Beam 
General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-1700-C-DR-S-0040 Rev. P05
A5 Edgware Road Waste Transfer Station 
Retaining Wall General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-1300-C-DR-E-0043 Rev. P04 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Proposed Street Lighting

BXT-CAP-3000-C-DR-L-0044 Rev. P03 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Proposed 
Landscape Plan

BXT-CAP-3000-C-DR-L-0045 Rev. P03 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Tree Works & 
Protection Plan

BXT-CAP-0100-C-DR-C-0046 Rev. P05 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction General Arrangement

BXT-CAP-0500-C-DR-D-0047 Rev. P04 A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way Traffic Signal 
Controlled Junction Proposed Drainage

BXT-CAP-0100-C-DR-C-0048 Rev. P01 Geron Way Longitudinal Sections and Cross 
Sections

BXT-CAP-0500-E-DR-D-0501 Rev. P1 Drainage Strategy Site Layout

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0801 Rev. P04 Mechanical Equipment Site Layout

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0802 Rev. P05 Dust/Odour Control Ground Floor Plan

BXT-CAP-0800-E-DR-M-0830 Rev. P05 
Pump House & Fire Water Tank Sections & 
Elevations

BXT-CAP-1300-E-DR-E-1302 Rev. P05 Lighting Exterior Site Layout

BXT-CAP-1400-E-DR-E-1406 Rev. P03 
HV Sub Stations Transformer Rooms - 
Ground Floor Plan

138



3

BXT-CAP-1400-E-DR-E-1407 Rev. P03 
HV Sub Stations Transformer Rooms - 
Sections & Elevations

BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-6026 Rev. P00 Proposed Crew WC Block

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan Development Management 
Policies DPD (2012).

OPERATIONAL CONTROLS

3. No wastes other than municipal wastes, food waste, dry mixed recycling wastes, bulky 
wastes, street sweeping and street cleansing wastes shall be imported to, stored at, 
or exported from the site.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

4. The permitted maximum throughput of waste shall not exceed 195,000 tonnes per 
annum.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the 
plans as assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan 
Core Strategy DPD (2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan Development 
Management Policies DPD (2012); and to ensure the development does not give rise 
to any additional or new environmental impacts beyond those assessed within the 
Supplementary Environmental Statement (dated July 2018).

5. No wastes shall be stored external to the Waste Transfer Station building.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

6. All vehicular accesses into/out of the Waste Transfer Station building shall be fitted 
with fast-action roller shutter doors that shall be, by default, in the closed position. 
These doors shall only be opened to allow vehicles to enter and exit the Waste 
Transfer Station building.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

139



4

7. Prior to the operation of the development, a Litter Management Plan shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Litter Management 
Plan shall thereafter be implemented as approved for the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

HOURS OF OPERATION

8. The development hereby permitted shall only be carried out between the following 
hours:

a) 7:00am to 7:00pm Mondays to Fridays (including Bank Holidays with the 
exception of Christmas Day, Boxing Day and New Years Day);

b) 9:00am to 1:00pm Saturdays; and
c) No working on Sundays.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

DEMOLITION AND CONSTRUCTION

9. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted a Demolition and 
Construction Environmental Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Demolition and Construction 
Environmental Management Plan shall include (but not be limited to) the following 
details:

a) Access arrangements into/out of the site;
b) Parking provision for operatives and visitors;
c) Hours of construction including deliveries, and loading and unloading of plant 

and materials;
d) Storage of plant and materials used in the construction of the development;
e) Erection of any means of temporary enclosure or security hoarding;
f) Measures to prevent mud and debris being carried onto the public highway; 

and
g) Measures to minimise dust, noise and vibration pollution including a Dust 

Management Plan.

The Demolition and Construction Environmental Plan shall be implemented as 
approved throughout the duration of the demolition and construction of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012); and to accord 

140



5

with the Mayor’s The Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and 
Demolition SPG (2014);

HIGHWAYS AND ACCESS

10. Prior to the commencement the development hereby permitted a Construction 
Transport Management Plan (‘CTMP’) shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The CTMP shall thereafter be implemented as 
approved for the duration of the demolition and construction phase of the development. 

Reason: To minimise traffic congestion associated with the demolition and 
construction of the proposed development in accordance with Policy 6.14 of the 
London Plan (2016).

11. Prior to the operation of the development a Delivery and Servicing Strategy shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Delivery and 
Servicing Strategy shall include an enforceable route management strategy to ensure 
that Heavy Goods Vehicles required in connection with the exportation of waste shall 
only utilise the Strategic Road Network (including the A5 northbound only). The 
Delivery and Servicing Strategy shall thereafter be implemented as approved for the 
duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause danger and inconvenience 
to users of the adjoining pavement and highway in accordance with Policy DM17 of 
the Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and Policy 6.3 of the London Plan 
(2016); and to ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

12. The maximum number of Heavy Goods Vehicle (HGVs) movements (any vehicle over 
3.5 tonnes unladen weight) required in connection with the transportation of any waste 
in association with the development hereby permitted shall not exceed 414 per day 
(207 in, 207 out) Mondays to Fridays and shall not exceed 138 per day (69 in, 69 out) 
on Saturdays.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not cause danger and inconvenience 
to users of the adjoining pavement and highway in accordance with Policy DM17 of 
the Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

13. During the hours of 17:00-19:00 Mondays to Fridays there shall be no more than 2 
Heavy Good Vehicle (HGV) movements per hour (1 in, 1 out) accessing or departing 
from the site.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not inconvenience to users of the 
adjoining highway in accordance with Policy DM17 of the Development Management 

141



6

Policies DPD; and to minimise the exposure to poor air quality in accordance with 
Policy 7.14 of the London Plan (2016).

14. HGVs shall not be permitted to idle while on site and all HGV vehicles operating in 
association with the site shall be to Euro VI Standard as a minimum.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

15. Prior to the operation of the development hereby permitted a Travel Plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
Travel Plan shall thereafter be implemented for the duration of the development.

Reason: To encourage the use of sustainable forms of transport to the site in 
accordance with policy CS9 of the Core Strategy (2012) and Policy DM17 of 
Development Management Policies (2012).

16. Prior to the operation of the development the site accesses off Geron Way as illustrated 
on drawing number BXT-CAP-6000-E-M2-A-0008 Rev. P01 and highway works to the 
A5 Edgware Road/Geron Way junction as illustrated on drawing number BXT-CAP-
0100-C-DR-C-0046 Rev. P05 shall be practically completed to the satisfaction of the 
Highway Authority.

Reason: To ensure that satisfactory access is provided into the site in terms of highway 
safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy DPD (2012) and 
Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (2012).

17. No development shall commence until details of the arrangements to secure the 
delivery of mitigation measures to the A5/Humber Road junction as identified within 
the ‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Drop-in Transport Report: Waste Transfer 
Station (September 2017)’, ‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer 
Station: Transport Report Addendum (July 2018)’, and ‘Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink 
Station) Waste Transfer Station: Transport Report Supplementary Addendum (August 
2018)’ have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the delivery of mitigation measures to the highway network as 
identified within the Planning Application in accordance with Policy CS9 of the Core 
Strategy DPD (2012) and Policy 6.3 of the London Plan (2016).

18. Prior to operation of the development detailed plans demonstrating how egress 
movements from the staff and visitor car park will be prevented shall be submitted and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such works shall thereafter be 
implemented as approved and practically completed prior to the occupation of the 
development.

142



7

Reason: To ensure that satisfactory access is provided into the site in terms of highway 
safety in accordance with Local Plan Policy CS9 of the Core Strategy (2012) and Policy 
DM17 of Development Management Policies (2012).

19. Prior to occupation of the development details of the cycle storage facilities including 
enclosure and security shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The cycle storage facilities shall thereafter be implemented as 
approved and maintained throughout the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure the provision of satisfactory cycle storage facilities in accordance 
with Policy 6.13 of the London Plan (2016) and Policy DM17 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD (2012).

20. All loaded HGVs (any vehicle over 3.5 tonne unladen weight) shall be enclosed or 
covered prior to entering or exiting the site.

Reason: To prevent transported material from escaping and to ensure that the 
proposed development does not prejudice the amenities of occupiers of adjoining 
residential properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the Development 
Management Policies DPD (2012).

21. Car parking shall be laid out in accordance with drawing no. BXT-CAP-6000-E-DR-A-
6003 Rev. P02. The parking space designated for use by disabled people shall be 2.4 
metres wide by 4.8 metres long with a zone of 1.2-metre-wide provided between the 
designated space and at the rear outside the traffic zone.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development provides the parking provision in 
accordance with Policy 6.13 of the London Plan (2016) and to enable a disabled driver 
or passenger to get in or out of a vehicle and access the boot safely.

BIODIVERSITY AND LANDSCAPING

22. Within three months from the commencement of the development, a Landscape 
Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Landscape Management Plan shall include measures to ensure that the 
brown roof and planting proposals set out on drawing numbers BXT-CAP-3000-C-DR-
L-0044 Rev P03, BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3004 Rev P02, BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-
3005 Rev P02 and BXT-CAP-3000-E-DR-L-3006 Rev P02 establish successfully, 
provide details of management techniques to be implemented for the duration of the 
development and include a commitment to replace any trees, shrubs or plants which 
die or become diseased in the next appropriate planting season. The Landscape 
Management Plan shall thereafter be implemented as approved for the duration of the 
development.

Reason: To protect Barnet’s character; ensure development does not prejudice the 
amenity of nearby sensitive receptors; enhance biodiversity; and improve the public 
realm in accordance with Policies DM01 and DM04 of the Development Management 

143



8

Policies DPD (2012); Policy CS5 of the Core Strategy DPD (2012); and Policies 7.5 
and 7.8 of the London Plan (2016)

23. Vegetation clearance undertaken during the reptile active season (March to October, 
inclusive) shall be carried out exercising precautionary working principles including the 
removal of vegetation by hand and supervision by a suitably qualified ecologist.

Reason: To ensure that protected species are appropriately safeguarded during the 
demolition and construction phase of the development in accordance with Policy CS7 
of the Core Strategy DPD (2012), Policy DM16 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (2012) and Policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2016).

24. The removal of trees and shrubs shall be undertaken outside of the bird breeding 
season (March to August, inclusive) or, within the bird breeding season, no more than 
24 hours following an inspection by a suitably qualified ecologist confirming the 
absence of any breeding birds.

Reason: To ensure that protected species are appropriately safeguarded during the 
demolition and construction phase of the development in accordance with Policy CS7 
of the Core Strategy DPD (2012), Policy DM16 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (2012) and Policy 7.19 of the London Plan (2016).

NOISE

25. The level of noise emitted from the development, whether from fixed plant, vehicles, 
equipment or noise generated with the buildings or externally on site shall not exceed 
45dB LAeq 15mins or 40dB LAeq, 8hr during the night at the closest residential 
building (measured as free field) and at all times noise emissions at the nearest noise 
sensitive premises shall not exceed 5db below existing background LA90 noise levels. 
If the noise emitted has a distinguishable, discrete continuous note (whine, hiss, 
screech, hum) and/or distinct impulse (bangs, clicks, clatters, thumps), then it shall be 
at least 10dB(A) below the background level, as measured from any point 1 metre 
outside the window of any room of a neighbouring residential property. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (September 2012) and Policy 7.15 of the 
London Plan (2016).

26. The development shall not be occupied or brought into use until details of all acoustic 
fencing and other acoustic barriers to be erected on the site have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The details approved by this 
condition shall thereafter be implemented in their entirety prior to the commencement 
of the operation or first occupation of the development and retained as such thereafter.

 

144



9

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and Policy 7.15 of the London Plan 
(2016).

AIR QUALITY

27. Prior to the operation of the development an Odour Management Plan, including 
details of an Odour Monitoring and Mitigation Method Statement, identification of 
monitoring locations around the perimeter of the site and details of monitoring 
equipment to be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Odour Management Plan shall outline the mitigation measures 
that will be implemented to either maintain or improve the air quality in the vicinity of 
the development. The Odour Management Plan shall thereafter be implemented as 
approved throughout the duration of the development.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining properties in accordance with policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012).

28. No development other than demolition works shall take place until full details of the 
proposed air treatment unit/odour suppression system/odour control unit/ventilation 
systems to be installed as part of the development have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This shall include the following:

a) Details on the specification and location of all extract fans, filters and exhaust 
stack, including a detailed schematic diagram of the ventilation and odour 
abatement system, its location inside and outside the building, and an odour 
assessment of the systems; 

b) A maintenance and cleaning schedule of the proposed air treatment unit/odour 
suppression system/odour control unit/ventilation systems, written in accordance 
with the manufacturers' instructions and recommendations; and

c) Confirmation that the equipment shall be installed using anti‐vibration mounts. 
All calculations and baseline data shall be submitted so that the Local Planning 
Authority can fully audit the report and critically analyse the content and 
recommendations.

The development shall be implemented in accordance with details approved under this 
condition before first occupation or the use is commenced and retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and satisfactory 
accessibility; and to protect the amenities of the area in accordance with Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and Policy CS14 of the Local 
Plan Core Strategy (2012). 

145



10

29. All Non-Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) of net power of 37kW and up to and including 
560kW used during the course of the development shall comply with the emission 
standards set out in Chapter 7 of the GLA’s Supplementary Planning Guidance (‘SPG’) 
‘Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition’ (dated July 2014) 
or subsequent guidance as applicable at that time. Unless it complies with the 
standards set out in this SPG (or other subsequent guidance), no NRMM shall be on 
site at any time, whether in use or not, without the prior written consent of the Local 
Planning Authority. The developer shall keep an up to date list of all NRMM using 
during the development on the online register at https://nrmm.london/. 

Reason: In the interests of good air quality in accordance with Policy DM04 of the 
Development Management Policies DPD (2012), the Council’s Sustainable Design 
and Construction SPD (2013); Policies 5.3 and 7.14 of the London Plan (2016); and 
the Mayor’s Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition SPG 
(2014).

CONTAMINATION

30. Prior to the commencement of the development other than for investigative work:

PART 1

a. A site investigation shall be designed for the site using information obtained from 
the Chapter 14 of the Brent Cross Thameslink Supplementary Environmental 
Statement Rail Freight Facility Volume 1 (December 2017) including Appendices 
14.1 and 14.2; Cricklewood Aggregates Terminal Surface and Foul Water 
Drainage Technical Note (November 2017); Cricklewood Downside Yard, London 
Ground Investigation Report (January 2018) and the Conceptual Model. This shall 
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to 
that investigation being carried out on site. The investigation must be 
comprehensive enough to enable:

i. A risk assessment to be undertaken,
ii. Refinement of the Conceptual Model, and
iii. The development of a Method Statement detailing the 

remediation requirements.
The risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model shall be submitted, along with 
the site investigation report, to the Local Planning Authority.

b. If the risk assessment and refined Conceptual Model indicate any risk of harm, a 
Method Statement detailing the remediation requirements, using the information 
obtained from the site investigation, and also detailing any post remedial 
monitoring shall be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority prior to that remediation being carried out on site.

PART 2:

c. Where remediation of contamination on the site is required completion of the 
remediation detailed in the method statement shall be carried out and a report that 
provides verification that the required works have been carried out, shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
development is occupied.

146

https://nrmm.london/


11

Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with adequate 
regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy CS NPPF of the 
Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (2012), DM04 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2013) and 5.21 
of the London Plan 2016.

31. Prior to the installation of any fuel tanks, details relating to the design and capacity of 
the fuel tanks to be located within the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Fuel tanks to be installed at the site shall thereafter 
accord with the approved details. All fuels and oils shall be secured within a bunded 
area and the secondary containment system must provide storage for at least 110% of 
the tank’s maximum capacity.

Reason: To ensure the development can be implemented and occupied with adequate 
regard for environmental and public safety in accordance with Policy CS NPPF of the 
Local Plan Core Strategy DPD (2012), DM04 of the Development Management 
Policies DPD (2012), the Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (2013) and 5.21 
of the London Plan (2016).

147



12

DRAFT INFORMATIVES

A. In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the Local 
Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning policies and written 
guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. These are all available on 
the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is also offered and the Applicant 
engaged with this prior to the submissions of this application. The LPA has negotiated 
with the applicant/agent where necessary during the application process to ensure that 
the proposed development is in accordance with the Development Plan.

B. The applicant is advised that the works to both site accesses off Geron Way and works 
to the A5/Geron Way junction require Agreement under Section 278 of the Highways 
Act 1980. This Agreement must be obtained from the Highway Authority before any 
works are carried out on any footway, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of 
the highway. Please contact London Borough of Barnet, Development and Regulatory 
Services, Barnet House, 1255 High Road, Whetstone N20 0EJ.  020 8359 3555.

C. The applicant is advised that a Section 38 Agreement under the Highways Act 1980 
will be required in relation to any carriageway or footway that is required to be adopted 
by the Highway Authority and maintained thereafter as public highway.

D. The applicant is advised that a Stopping Up Order is required for any public highway 
that is required to enable the implementation of this permission. Such Stopping Up 
Order will be progressed under Section 247 of the Town and Country planning Act 
1990 (as amended) and all council costs pertaining to the Order will be paid for by the 
applicant. 

E. The submitted Construction Environmental Management Plan shall include, as a 
minimum, details of: 

 Site hoarding 
 Wheel washing  
 Dust suppression methods and kit to be used 
 Site plan identifying location of site entrance, exit, wheel washing, hoarding, 

dust suppression, location of water supplies and location of nearest 
neighbouring receptors. Explain reasoning if not applicable. 

 Confirmation that all Non Road Mobile Machinery (NRMM) comply with the 
Non Road Mobile Machinery (Emission of Gaseous and Particulate 
Pollutants) Regulations 1999. Proof within the contractor’s specification that 
all NRMM will be registered on the local government website 

 Confirmation whether a mobile crusher will be used on site and if so, a copy 
of the permit and indented dates of operation.

 Provide a copy of an asbestos survey for smaller developments confirmation 
that a survey has been carried out.

 Confirmation of the following: log book on site for complaints, work in 
accordance with British Standards BS 5228-1:2009+A1:2014 and best 
practicable means are employed; clear contact details on hoarding.  Standard 

148



13

construction site hours are 8am-6pm Monday – Friday, 8am-1pm Saturday 
and not at all on Sundays and Bank Holidays. Bonfires are not permitted on 
site. 

F. The applicant is advised to engage a qualified acoustic consultant to advise on the 
scheme, including the specifications of any materials, construction, fittings and 
equipment necessary to achieve satisfactory internal noise levels in this location. In 
addition to the noise control measures and details, the scheme needs to clearly set out 
the target noise levels for the affected habitable rooms, including for bedrooms at night, 
and the levels that the sound insulation scheme would achieve. The details of acoustic 
consultants can be obtained from the following contacts: a) Institute of Acoustics and 
b) Association of Noise Consultants. Please note that in addition to the above, 
consultants should refer to the most relevant and up to date guidance and codes of 
practice if not already listed in the above list.

G. In complying with the contaminated land condition parts 1 and 2, reference should be 
made at all stages to appropriate current guidance and codes of practice. This would 
include:
1) The Environment Agency CLR & SR Guidance documents (including CLR11 

‘Model Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination’);
2) National Planning Policy Framework (2018) / National Planning Practice 

Guidance;
3) BS10175:2011 -  Investigation of potentially contaminated sites - Code of Practice;
4) Guidance for the safe development of housing on land affected by contamination, 

(2008) by NHBC, the EA and CIEH;
5) CIRIA report C665 - Assessing risks posed by hazardous ground gases to 

buildings;
6) CIRIA report C733 - Asbestos in soil and made ground: a guide to understanding 

and managing risks.

Please note that in addition to the above, consultants should refer to the most relevant 
and up to date guidance and codes of practice if not already listed in the above list.

National Grid Informative

H. Cadent have identified operational gas apparatus within the application site boundary. 
This may include a legal interest (easements or wayleaves) in the land which restricts 
activity in proximity to Cadent assets in private land. The Applicant must ensure that 
proposed works do not infringe on Cadent’s legal rights and any details of such 
restrictions should be obtained from the landowner in the first instance. 
 
If buildings or structures are proposed directly above the gas apparatus then 
development should only take place following a diversion of this apparatus. The 
Applicant should contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team at the earliest opportunity to 
discuss proposed diversions of apparatus to avoid any unnecessary delays.
 
If any construction traffic is likely to cross a Cadent pipeline then the Applicant must 
contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team to see if any protection measures are required.

149



14

 
All developers are required to contact Cadent’s Plant Protection Team for approval 
before carrying out any works on site and ensuring requirements are adhered to. 
 
Email: plantprotection@cadentgas.com Tel: 0800 688 588

150

mailto:plantprotection@cadentgas.com


APPENDIX B

THE BRENT CROSS CRICKLEWOOD 2014 SECTION 73 PLANNING PERMISSION: 
WASTE HANDLING FACILITY RELATED CONDITIONS

Condition 41.1

Before the Development begins within Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station), a Reserved 
Matters Application which includes the following details in relation to the Waste Handling 
Facility, shall be submitted to the LPA in accordance with Conditions 1.3 and 14.2:

a) siting, layout, design and external appearance of the Waste Handling facility together 
with the conveyor system to convey Refuse Derived Fuel to the CHP unless and to the 
extent that the RDF Feasibility Study demonstrates that such technology and system is 
not reasonably practicable for inclusion in the Development;

b) details of highway access, external manoeuvring areas and parking;

c) details of proposed external lighting;

d) details of landscaping and means of enclosure,

e) (subject to its being found to be reasonably practicable in the VWCS Feasibility Study 
as approved under Condition Error! Reference source not found.) details of the 
relevant parts of the Vacuum Waste Collection System;

f) a report confirming that the design of the buildings, yard facilities and operational 
practice will ensure that at all times noise emissions measured at the nearest noise 
sensitive premises do not exceed 5db below existing background LA90 noise levels, in 
accordance with BS4142; and

g) a statement in accordance with Condition 2.1 to demonstrate conformity with the 
parameters and principles described in the DSF (particularly paragraph 5.75) and 
Design & Access Statement.

h) Details of air pollution and dust mitigation measures in accordance with Condition Error! 
Reference source not found..

i) An enforceable route management and servicing strategy in consultation with 
neighbouring authorities.

Reason: To ensure high standards of urban design, landscaping and environmental mitigation.

151



Condition 41.2

The Development shall not prevent the operation of the existing  Hendon Waste Transfer 
Station until a new Waste Handling Facility has been completed.   Development of the new 
Waste Handling Facility shall be carried out in accordance with the relevant Phase 2 (South) 
(Thameslink Station) Details submitted and approved and all other relevant Necessary 
Consents.

Reason: To ensure the timely provision of the Waste Handling Facility.

Condition 41.3

The Waste Handling Facility shall not be opened prior to the practical completion of the Waste 
Handling Facility Rail Sidings with Gantry Crane, . The construction of the Waste Handling 
Facility Rail Sidings with Gantry Crane shall not be begun until details of the design, layout 
and materials to be used have been submitted to and approved by the LPA in accordance 
with Conditions 13.1 14.2 and 41.1 and development of the Waste Handling Facility Rail 
Sidings with Gantry Crane shall be carried out in accordance with the details submitted and 
approved.

Reason: To ensure the successful operation of the facility.

Condition 41.4

The new Waste Handling Facility shall in accordance with the Necessary Consents provide 
as a minimum the same licensed or permitted operational capacity as shall be currently 
licensed and permitted at the Hendon Waste Transfer Station.  

Reason: To comply with London Plan Policy 5.17.

Condition 41.5

Not to redevelop any Waste Management Site unless the same licensed or permitted 
operational capacity as shall be currently licensed and permitted on that waste management 
site or part thereof shall have been provided either within the Waste Handling Facility or at 
such other suitable site as shall have been approved by the LPA in writing (in consultation 
with the North London Waste Authority).

Reason: To comply with London Plan Policy 5.17.

152



 

APPENDIX C 
 
 
 
 
 
 
London Borough of Barnet 
Brent Cross Cricklewood Team 
Development Management and Building Control Service 
Barnet House 
1255 High Road 
London 
N20 0EJ 
 
For the attention of Chloe Thomson, Principal Planner 
 
 
Dear Chloe,          16 August 2018 
 
TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 
 
SITE: 2 Geron Way, Cricklewood, London, NW2 6GJ 
 
PROPOSAL: Demolition of the existing building and erection of a new building for use as a waste 
transfer station. 
 
Thank you for your email received on 15 July 2018 relating to this proposal. I am happy to clarify 
the following details. 
 
It is intended that the Geron Way Waste Transfer Station will be a replacement for the existing 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station located on Brent Terrace NW2. As now, the facility would be 
operated by the Authority’s principal contractor LondonEnergy Ltd. 
 
The North London Joint Waste Strategy was produced to set out how local authority collected waste 
would be managed between 2004 and 2020. The new Energy Recovery Facility that is planned for 
the Edmonton EcoPark is intended to commence operations in 2025.  
 
The Geron Way facility is required as a strategic facility to receive a range of waste streams collected 
by the North London boroughs. The location is important to serve the boroughs in the west of the 
Authority’s area and would reduce the environmental impacts and cost of transporting waste. The 
primary users of the facility will be Barnet and Camden Councils, although from time to time other 
boroughs may be directed to deliver waste to this facility.  
 
Currently dry mixed recyclable waste collected at the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station is 
transported to the Biffa Materials Recycling Facility in Edmonton; food and garden waste is taken to 
the Edmonton EcoPark to be composted; and residual waste is delivered to either the Energy from 
Waste facility operated by FCC at Greatmoor in Buckinghamshire or the LondonEnergy Ltd facility 
at the Edmonton EcoPark. The future arrangements for waste received at the Geron Way facility 
are intended to be as now except that all residual waste would be transferred to the Edmonton 
EcoPark.  
 

 

153



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
During planned maintenance periods and in exceptional circumstances such as due to mechanical 
failure, an accident or a fire at one of the waste management facilities it may be necessary to divert 
waste to an alternative location.  Such occurrences are expected to be infrequent. 
 
I hope this answers your questions but please contact me again if you require any further 
information. 
 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jon Clark 
Principal Technical Solutions Officer 
 

154



APPENDIX D: SUMMARY OF PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS

Table 1: Summary of Public Representations – Consultation 1 (3 November to 1 December 2018)

Please note, this table provides a summary of the comments received throughout the different public consultations carried out by the LPA on this application, 
and is not intended to be a full transcript of those comments. A short officer response is provided, however these are not intended to be a comprehensive 
assessment of the issues and should be read in conjunction with the rest of the committee report where the full appraisal of the material planning 
considerations and policy assessment is set out. 

Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT

Principle of Development – General Comments
1. The value of the surrounding properties will be decreased due to the 

WTF and cause further detriment to those who have just recently 
purchased homes. 

The effect of development on property values is not a matter material to the LPA’s consideration of 
this planning application. The construction of a Waste Handling Facility (WHF) which would be 
larger than the Waste Transfer Station proposed under this application, has already been approved 
as part of the outline planning permission for Brent Cross Cricklewood (BXC). Overall the 
regeneration scheme will deliver a new town centre, expanded shopping centre, replacement bus 
station and new train station, amongst numerous other infrastructure provisions, improvements 
and new community facilities. The benefits of this regeneration scheme will extend beyond the 
area of the development and beyond Barnet Council’s administrative boundary. All of these 
benefits are considered to positively increase the liveability of the area. 

2. Further information is requested as to why the proposed development 
does not use rail to transport the waste like the Hendon Waste Transfer 
Station that it is replacing, instead of HGVs.

Since the S73 Permission was granted for the BXC regeneration, waste management needs of the 
North London Waste Authority (as the statutory waste disposal authority, owners of the existing 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station and future operators of the proposed WTS) have changed. As set 
out within the planning application, the applicant has explained the reasons for this change and 
thus the alternative requirements for a replacement waste facility. In summary, this has come 
about following the decision by the NLWA to consolidate operations at Edmonton Eco-Park, 
including the provision of a new energy recovery facility, resulting in a significant reduction in the 
scale, nature and capacity of any replacement WTS. Furthermore, the London Plan now requires all 
of London’s waste to be managed within London rather than being transported by rail to landfill or 

155



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

processing sites outside of London. A rail-linked facility is therefore no longer required.

Principle of Development – Location 
3. The location for the proposed WTS is not appropriate in a built up 

residential area.

The proposed developed is within close proximity to an infant school and 
nursery and therefore an unsuitable land use for that site. Residents 
highlighted concern with children playing in nearby school grounds and 
playgrounds in relation to noise and air pollution.

The site should not be located directly next to a new residential 
development (Fellow Residential Development).

The proposed development is located too close to the Railway cottages / 
Terraces where young families live.

The proposed development should be located further away from Brent 
Cross Regeneration Area and associated residential area in an 
appropriate industrial land use location.

Further information is needed on how this will be mitigated.  

The application site (and adjacent land occupied by Bestway Cash & Carry) already benefits from 
outline planning consent to construct a waste handling facility as part of the Section 73 Planning 
Permission granted for the Brent Cross Cricklewood regeneration scheme in July 2014. The 
principle of development has therefore been established and is considered as being acceptable in 
planning terms. 

Whilst there are residential neighbourhoods to the west of the A5 (Edgware Road), the site is 
occupied by an existing builders merchants, is adjacent to a cash and carry warehouse with a retail 
park to the north and there are other builders depots and light industrial uses to the west. 

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement which is the outcome of the 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) process which includes an assessment of the impacts of 
the development on sensitive receptors, such as nearby housing, and sets out the required 
mitigation measures. Taking into account the design of the proposed development and mitigation 
measures to be implemented (including an odour abatement system and fast-acting roller shutter 
doors), the conclusions of the EIA and the advice of technical advisors, the proposed development 
is considered to be acceptable. 

The proposed waste transfer station would also be subject to other consenting regimes relating to 
environmental impacts. Specifically, the applicant will be required to apply for and obtain an 
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency.

4. The location of the WTF next to the infant school will increase the risk of 
children being hit and injured on their way to and from school.

The proposed development includes the signalization of the existing junction between Geron Way 
and the A5 Edgware Road. As well as vehicular access and safety, this will improve the junction for 
pedestrians and cyclists and make crossing the A5 in this location easier and safer. The proposed 
development will result in fewer vehicle trips compared to the exiting Selco builders merchants and 
compared to the S73 Permission for the WHF. All HGV movements associated with the WTS will be 
directed along the A5 Edgware Road other than any refuse collection vehicles collecting waste from 
residential streets. The proposal is not considered to increase the risk of accident to children or 
pedestrians.

156



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

5. The following alternative locations were proposed in replacement of the 
current site: 

- Staples’ Corner
- The site on Tilling Road
- Allotment adjacent to Hendon Way

Please see Officer Response in Row 3 and subsequent rows regarding the established principle of 
developing a waste management facility at this location.  

Assessment of the suitability of this site, and any alternatives, was considered as part of the original 
outline planning application which was approved in 2010.

Staples Corner Retail Park is outside the application boundary for the S73 Permission. 

Sites along Tilling Road are within the S73 Permission but are identified as the location for the new 
town centre, housing and office development as part of the approved masterplan for BXC. 

The allotments adjacent to Hendon Way are not within the boundary of the S73 Permission and 
planning policies seek their protection. 

Principle of Development - Land Use
6. The site is too small for the proposed development. As set out in the Officer’s Response in Row 3, the waste transfer station proposed within this ‘drop-

in’ application seeks to respond to a change in strategic waste management needs since the 
original 2010 outline and subsequent 2014 S73 planning permissions were granted. As a result, less 
land is required compared to that identified within the outline planning applications (i.e. only the 
land occupied by the Selco builders merchant is needed) to deliver a waste transfer station that 
would bulk up residual wastes for onward transfer to treatment facilities (i.e. the energy from 
waste facility at Edmonton Eco-park). The proposed facility has been designed in conjunction with 
and to meet the requirements of the North London Waste Authority. These requirements can be 
adequately accommodated on the site. 

7. There is concern that there are already too many Waste Transfer stations 
in the area and there is not a need for another one.

The principal of replacing the existing waste management capacity at Hendon WTS was established 
at the outline planning stage. The planning permission for the BXC development approves the 
provision of a new waste facility to replace the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station (HWTS) on 
the eastern side of the Midland mainline. This will allow the existing HWTS site to be redeveloped to 
facilitate delivery of the new train station and associated BXC development. The NLWA are the 
statutory waste disposal authority for seven North London boroughs – Barnet, Camden, Enfield, 
Hackney, Haringey, Islington and Waltham Forest – who have a strategic overview of waste 
management needs across these boroughs. The NLWA have confirmed in their consultation response 
that The Geron Way facility is required as a strategic facility to receive a range of waste streams 

157



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

collected by the North London boroughs. The location is important to serve the boroughs in the west 
of the Authority’s area and would reduce the environmental impacts and cost of transporting waste. 
The primary users of the facility will be Barnet and Camden Councils, although from time to time 
other boroughs may be directed to deliver waste to this facility. 

8. The development will result in a high fire risk especially with petrol 
stations in close proximity. Further information is requested on how this 
has been appropriately mitigated. 

The proposed development has been designed based on the latest Fire Prevention guidance 
compiled by the Environment Agency. The LPA have consulted the Environment Agency and also 
the London Fire Brigade to establish their views on the proposed development and whether they 
consider it to be appropriate in terms of fire prevention and management. As set out in Section 7 of 
the Committee Report, both organisations have no objections to the application. Beyond the 
planning process, operation of the proposed development would also require an Environmental 
Permit from the Environment Agency, an integral part of which will be a Fire Prevention Plan. 

Principle of Development - Community
9. The liveability of the area will decrease as a result of this development 

proposal due to increased traffic and increased dust and noise emissions. 
The proposed development forms an integral part of the wider, permitted BXC regeneration 
scheme and is necessary to replace the existing Hendon WTS to facilitate delivery of the new 
Thameslink Train Station. The BXC regeneration scheme will provide key connections between over 
the Midland mainline railway and A5 Edgware Road connecting the existing communities to the 
west to the wider regeneration area and the benefits that would derive from this. The BXC 
regeneration scheme as a whole will include an extended shopping centre, a new town centre, 
market square - including 841,615 sq ft of retail space, 7,500 homes, 27,000 jobs, three re-built 
schools, new parks and community facilities, riverside park as well as new public transport routes 
The proposed Waste Transfer Station is therefore a key piece of infrastructure necessary to 
facilitate delivery of the BXC masterplan.

See Officer Response in Row 16 in relation to air quality.
10. The area will economically suffer due to the proposed development 

deterring people from visiting and shopping in the area as a result from 
more traffic and pollution. 

Local businesses will be determinately impacted as a result of this 
development. This will be as a result of increased HGVs and the 
noise/smell of the WTS discouraging people from coming to the area.

The proposed development for a replacement Waste Transfer Station forms part of the wider BXC 
regeneration scheme. As set out in the Officers Response in Rows 1 and 9, the regeneration 
scheme as a whole will deliver an extended shopping centre, new town centre, up to 27,000 jobs, 
7,500 homes along with new public open and green spaces, schools, and transport infrastructure 
improvements including access to public transport. The wider BXC regeneration scheme will 
therefore improve the wider area and access to retail opportunities, community facilities and new 
jobs whilst improving the local highway network and access to non-car modes of transport. 
In terms of odour and transport impacts of the proposed WTS, the application is supported by an 

158



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

Environmental Statement  and a number of technical assessments including an Air Quality and 
Odour Assessment Report (dated July 2017) and Transport Report (September 2017 along with 
Transport Report Addendum July 2018 and Transport Report Supplementary Addendum August 
2018), both of which assess the impact of the proposed development and identify, where 
necessary, appropriate mitigation measures. Furthermore, matters such as odour control will also 
be subject to further consenting processes and controls through the Environmental Permitting 
process from the Environment Agency before being allowed to operate.

11. Residents raised overall general concern for the health and safety of the 
young children who live and attend local schools` in the area. Comments 
were made to children walking, scooting, cycling in the area being in 
increased danger if the proposal is approved. 

See Officer Response in Row 4.

12. The appeal of the area will significantly decline with an increase in 
rubbish, dirt and dust as a result of the operation of the WTS.

See Officer Response in Rows 3 and 10. The application is accompanied by an Environmental 
Statement that addresses the impact and mitigation of the of the proposed development which is 
considered to be acceptable. Further detail on the technical operation within the facility is provided 
at section 5 of the report. The nature of the material being handled does not result in excessive 
dust or dirt and the facility is fully enclosed. Notwithstanding this, conditions are recommended to 
secure a site management plan for the facility.

13. There has been effort to improve the living standards of the 
neighbourhoods. This proposal would go against this. 

See Officer Response in Rows 1 and 9 relating to the proposed development forming part of the 
wider BXC regeneration scheme, which has outline planning consent, and the benefits that would 
be derived from this redevelopment in terms of regenerating the wider area. 

Principle of Development - Overall Regeneration Scheme
14. The development proposal is not a positive regeneration option. The 

proposed development is in direct contradiction with the regeneration of 
the area.

See Officer Response in Rows 1 and 9 relating to the proposed development forming part of the 
wider BXC regeneration scheme, which has outline planning consent, and the benefits that would 
be derived from this redevelopment in terms of regenerating the wider area. The proposed 
development is necessary to deliver a replacement waste transfer station to unlock land to the east 
of the Midland mainline railway for delivery of the new Thameslink train station and associated BXC 
development. 

15. The proposed development will have detrimental impact on the overall 
regeneration of the area and the Fellow Square residential development.  

See Officer Response in Rows 1, 9 and 14. 

In terms of the impact of the proposed development on residents of the adjacent Fellows Square 
development (and other sensitive receptors in the vicinity of the application site), the planning 
application is supported by an Environmental Statement and relevant technical reports which 

159



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

consider matters relating to noise, air quality and odour. These assessments have been considered 
by the LPA and their appropriate technical advisers and the proposed design of the development 
and the mitigation measures included, are not considered to be acceptable. 

AMENITY IMPACTS

Amenity Impacts: Air Quality – General Comments
16. Residents are concerned about the potential increase of air and noise 

pollution as a result of the extra traffic the development proposal will 
cause.

There is concern that the development will result in reducing the air 
quality within the surrounding area.

The proposed development will add extra pollutants to the area and 
reverse the years of reducing impacts.

On some occasions it has exceeded certain limits on PM2.5/NO2/PM10.

The planning application is supported by an Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (July 2018). 
As part of the LPA’s consideration of the planning application, these technical assessments and 
other supporting documentation are reviewed by relevant technical advisers – in the case of air 
quality and odour this information is reviewed by the Council’s Scientific Services/Environmental 
Health Officer. 

The submitted assessments take into account air quality impacts arising from any increase in HGV 
and other traffic associated with the wider BXC development, as well as operation of the proposed 
waste transfer station itself. This includes consideration of levels of NO2 and PM10 emissions, 
fugitive dust during both the construction (short-term impacts) and operational (long-term 
impacts) phases of the proposed development, and odour emissions having regard to human 
health, amenity and potential for dust soiling effects. All HGVs using the new facility will be of the 
highest environmental efficiency rating complying with the Euro VI emission standard.

For noise impacts, please see Officer Response in Row 33 and 34.
17. The Our Lady of Grace Infant and Nursery School was recently 

highlighted by The Guardian as being in an area with air pollution levels 
that threaten child health and almost exceed EU legal limits of nitrogen 
dioxide (See Feb 2017 article Revealed: Thousands of children at London 
schools breathe toxic air).

The Our Lady of Grace Infant and Nursery School was identified as a specific sensitive receptor and 
assessed in a revised/updated air quality and odour assessment provided by the applicant. The 
impact of the proposed development on the school was therefore included within the Air Quality 
and Odour Assessment Report (July 2018). The submitted information has been reviewed by the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer who is content that the air quality impacts of the proposed 
WTS alone are largely negligible and is satisfied that the proposed development would be air 
quality neutral. Conditions are recommended to ensure that HGVs using the site are EuroVI 
compliant and also limit the number of HGV movements during the evening peak period.

Also see Officer Response in Row 16.
18. Air pollution should be measured within the surrounding areas 

incorporating the pollution from the North Circular, M1 and the 
The submitted Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (July 2018) seeks to establish an 
appropriate baseline upon which to formulate the assessment and therefore derive the impacts of 

160



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

proposed increase of local traffic. This documentation should be made 
public.

the proposed development. As set out within Section 4 of the report, the baseline conditions are 
established using existing air quality data from automatic monitoring equipment located at Tally Ho 
Corner and Chalgrave School; and 15 diffuse tube monitoring locations in proximity to the 
application site – the closest three being at Hendon Way, Tilling Road and Cricklewood Lane. This 
data is supplemented by the data held by DEFRA and the applicant’s own on-site monitoring, which 
included locations at Geron Way, Edgware Road (near the MS Office), Needham Terrace, Brent 
Terrace, Oxgate Gardens and Millennium Park. As documents submitted in support of a planning 
application, these reports are available for the public to view on the Council’s Public Access 
website. A link to this website was provided in the LPA’s neighbour notification letters, site notice 
and newspaper advertisement.

19. The Air Quality report for this development says: "the area is considered 
to be of High sensitivity to dust soiling effects" with a medium "dust 
emission magnitude" for the short term construction. Yet they base their 
long term impact upon air quality on a receptor at West Hendon 
Broadway. This is too far away from the proposed location in NW2 to 
form a valid or reliable estimate of predicted NO2 Concentrations. 
Therefore section 6.2 of the report is not a valid indicator of the risk to 
the health of the residents. The conclusions are therefore invalid.

As aforementioned, the Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (September 2017) submitted in 
support of the planning application in September 2017 sought to assess the impact of the proposed 
development and identify any necessary mitigation measures. The Council’s Environmental Health 
Officer’s review of that assessment similarly concluded that the applicant’s identified receptors 
were not entirely adequate to assess the impact of the proposed development. In response to the 
Environmental Health Officer’s consultation response, the applicant has provided a further, revised 
assessment taking into account the nearest sensitive receptors as advised by the Environmental 
Health Officer. This revised assessment is contained within the supplemental Air Quality and Odour 
Assessment Report (July 2018).

20. The proposed development is not in keeping with Chapter 5.2 of the 
London Plan on Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions states (please 
review it). Given the increased pollution & threats to health - to approve 
this site would be incompatible with the human rights duties that are 
placed upon the council as a public authority under The Human Rights 
Act.

See Officer Response in Rows 16-19 in respect of how impacts of pollution and human health have 
been assessed by the applicant.

In addition, the planning application is also accompanied by an ‘Energy Statement and Low Zero 
Carbon Technology Feasibility Report’ (dated September 2017), which addresses both energy 
consumption and carbon emissions from the proposed waste transfer station building. This 
concludes that the proposed building design achieves a 35% reduction on current Building 
Regulations carbon emission standards. HGVs using the site will also be Euro VI engine standard 
which is currently the lowest emission rating. The proposed development has been assessed 
against relevant development plan policies, including Policy 5.2 of the London Plan (2016), as part 
of the LPA’s consideration of the planning application.

21. The development application does not align with the Mayor of London’s 
warning on London’s soaring levels of air pollution.  Further information 
is requested on how the proposed development is in alignment with the 

See Officer Responses in Rows 16-20. Also refer to Section 9 of the committee report.

161



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

London Mayors focus on reducing air pollution.
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/pollution-and-air-
quality

22. The proposed development contradicts Barnet council's commitments to 
improve air quality.
"reduce the impact from transport and improve air quality" as set out in 
the London Borough of Barnet Air Quality Action Plan 2017-2022

As referred to above, the planning application is accompanied by an Air Quality and Odour 
Assessment Report (original version dated October 2017 with a revised version submitted for 
consideration dated July 2018) to consider these impacts and what mitigation would be necessary 
to ensure that any such impacts are not significantly adverse. The submitted information has been 
reviewed by the Council’s Environmental Health Officer who is content that the air quality impacts 
of the proposed WTS alone are largely negligible and is satisfied that the proposed development 
would be air quality neutral. However, although identified as a worst-case scenario, it is 
recommended that further mitigation in line with the Council’s Air Quality Action Plan is secured to 
reduce the potential for any adverse impacts as a result of the cumulative impact of the proposed 
development with the wider BXC development. This includes a condition requiring all HGVs to be 
Euro VI compliant and the installation of a camera system to check vehicles entering the site. The 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer has also identified that the proposed development would 
result in the movement of HGVs during the most congested period of the day (17:00-19:00 
Mondays to Fridays), which is likely to cause the greatest potential for traffic-borne emissions. A 
condition is recommended to restrict the number of HGV movements during this time period so 
that no more than one HGV enters or exits the site during 17:00-18:00 and no more than one HGV 
enters or exits the site during 18:00-19:00 on Mondays to Fridays (including the Bank Holiday days).

Amenity Impacts: Air Quality - Health Risks

23. Resulting air pollution will put residents and the children of our Lady of 
Grace Infant School’s health at risk.  

Dollis Hill and Cricklewood Lane were frequently mentioned by 
submitters.

Please see Officer Responses in Rows 16-19, 22 and 30 and, in particular, Row 17.

24. Further information is requested on what health related consultation has 
gone into the polluting effects of the proposed waste transfer station. 

The planning application is supported by an Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (July 2018) as 
part of the Environmental Impact Assessment carried out for the development. As part of the LPA’s 
consideration of the planning application, these technical assessments and other supporting 
documentation are reviewed by relevant technical advisers – in the case of air quality and odour 
this information is reviewed by the Council’s Scientific Services/Environmental Health Officer. The 
information has been available to members of the public through the statutory consultation on the 

162

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/pollution-and-air-quality
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/environment/pollution-and-air-quality


Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

application in October/November 2017 and subsequent consultation on additional information in 
July/August 2018. 

Amenity Impacts: Air Quality – Odour 

25. The odour smell generated from the site will be unbearable for the 
residents in the area. 

Please see Officer Responses in Rows 16-18 above. An Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report 
has been submitted with the planning application. This includes an assessment of the impact of the 
proposed development in respect of odour emissions on the nearest sensitive receptors, which 
includes residential properties. It also identifies the mitigation measures incorporated within the 
proposed development in addition to operational measures and the effects this has in terms of 
controlling such emissions. This includes, but is not limited to: the provision of an Odour Control 
Unit that will filter the air from within the building to reduce odour concentrations before being 
expelled from the building; and fast acting roller shutter doors that minimise the amount of time 
they are open to purely allow vehicles to enter and exit the building. In terms of operation, waste is 
expected to be received in the building and transferred onwards within 12 hours. The Environment 
Agency do not allow waste to be held on site longer than 3 days as an exceptional circumstance.

26. The smell from the WTF during increased heat during summer months 
would reach the surrounding residential areas creating an unpleasant 
living situation as well as affecting public spaces such as Gladstone Park. 

See Officer Response in Row 25.

27. Further information is requested on how the smell and toxins from a 
Waste transfer Station are proposed to be mitigated to ensure that the 
surrounding residents receive no adverse negative impacts. 

See Officer Response in Row 25.

Amenity Impacts: Air Quality - Dust

28. There is concern to the impact of the HGVs will cause by leaving dust and 
dirt on the residential homes as they pass.  

See Officer Responses in Rows 29 and 16-19. 

29. #Residents are concerned with the increased dust pollution caused by the 
proposed development.

Concerns have been raised surrounding HGvs impact on Brent including 
noise, dust and dirt (within Dollis Hill Area especially)

The planning application is accompanied by an Air Quality and Odour Assessment (July 2018) which 
includes a risk assessment regarding the potential impact of fugitive dust and PM10 emissions on 
local receptors during the demolition and construction of the proposed development. It is stated 
that the on-site activities during the operation of the proposed facility are not expected to generate 
significant dust or PM10 emissions and thus the impact is concluded as negligible. Impacts arising 
from road-based emissions (including PM10s) are considered separately within the 
abovementioned assessment. As aforementioned, this assessment has been reviewed by the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer who has not raised concern with the applicant’s approach 

163



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

to assessing the impacts of dust during the demolition and construction phase only. Section 9 of 
the committee report considers the effect of potential dust emissions in relation to relevant 
development plan policies including the necessity of any appropriate planning conditions relating 
to whether any impacts can reasonably be mitigated against through operational controls. Some of 
these mitigation measures have been put forward by the applicant in the abovementioned report 
and will be considered by the LPA.

See also Officer Responses in Rows 16-19.
30. Dust generated from the facility during its construction and ongoing 

operation will impact the liveability of the area.
See Officer Response in Rows 39 and 16-19.

31. Concerns raised regarding the mitigation and management of odour and 
dust generated by the facility during construction and operation.

See Officer Response in Rows 39 and 16-19.

32. Dust monitoring and management plans are to be made available to the 
public. 

The planning application is accompanied by an Air Quality and Odour Assessment Report (July 
2018) which recommends mitigation measures either embedded within the proposed development 
or to be implemented during the construction and/or operational phases of the development. The 
appropriateness of these mitigation measures, plus consideration of any additional measures, have 
been considered by the LPA in consultation with the Council’s Environmental Health Officer. As a 
result of that consideration, and as set out within the Officer’s Report, a number of conditions are 
recommended including measures to ensure the adequate control and mitigation of dust emissions 
from the development.

Amenity Impacts: Noise
33. The noise impact of the operation of the site has been raised as a major 

concern for local residents. This also includes the trucks on the 
associated roads who will be accessing the site during operational hours.

The area is already impacted from industrial noise and any further 
industrial noise will impact on the liveability of the area.

The proposed development would be carried out predominantly within the WTS building, which 
would be constructed with a 5.5-metre-high concrete wall containing the operation, and include 
the provision of acoustic fencing along the eastern, southern and part of the southwest boundaries 
of the site. The planning application is accompanied by a Noise Impact Assessment (and 
subsequent Revised Noise Impact Assessment, July 2018) which assesses the impact of the 
proposed development in terms of noise emissions considering the nearest sensitive receptors. 
The assessment concludes that the proposed development would result in achieving or bettering the 
5dB below background levels restriction at all modelled receptors, which is further improved through 
the implementation of the proposed 3.6-metre-high acoustic fencing along the southern and part of 
the southwest boundary of the Site, and 2-metre-high acoustic fencing along the eastern boundary 
of the Site. In line with national Planning Practice Guidance and Noise Policy Statement England 

164



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

(2010), the assessment therefore concludes that the proposed development would achieve either a 
No Adverse Effect Level (NAOEL) or be below a Low Adverse Effect Level (LAOEL), the latter of which 
is considered to be the level above which adverse effects on health and quality can be detected. As 
such, the proposed development could give rise to noticeable noise but this is not likely to be 
intrusive.

PARKS AND OPEN SPACES
34. The development proposal will have a determinately negative affect on 

the aesthetics and oasis of Gladstone Park. 
The is located over 900m from Gladstone Parkand is not within line of sight of the park. HGVs 
transporting waste from the site will not be using any residential streets for the transportation of 
the waste and will use the A5(Edgware Road) to connect to the A406 and wider strategic road 
network. This will be controlled by planning condition. Responses above have explained how odour 
and noise will be controlled. It is considered that the development will not impact on the aesthetics 
or usability and attractiveness otherwise of Gladstone Park. 

35. The development proposal doesn’t appear to have any plans to add 
green space. 

The proposed facility will comprise a waste transfer station where recycling, food and household 
waste will be collected, bulked-up and transferred to other processing centres. The wider BXC 
regeneration will deliver improvements to existing parks and green spaces including Claremont 
Park and Clitterhouse Playing Fields, as well as delivering new parks and public open spaces such as 
the Brent Terrace Linear Park, Eastern Park, Market Square and Station Square. The construction of 
the WTS will enable the delivery of the wider regeneration plan as envisioned under the S73 
Permission.  

PUBLIC ENGAGEMENT
36. Concerns that not all residents have been appropriately consulted 

throughout the process and that some residents did not receive the 
latest correspondence regarding the WTF.

The applicant has submitted a Consultation Statement with the application prepared by GL Hearn 
(Dated August 2017) which sets out the programme of public consultation and engagement that 
has been carried out in support of the proposals for the Brent Cross Thameslink project at the pre-
application stage. Statutory consultation on the planning application has been carried out by the 
LPA in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order 2010 in both October-November 2017 and July-August 2018. This is detailed in Section 7 of 
this committee report.

37. There is concern that resident’s voices are not being listened to. All comments raised during the consultation events were captured in the Consultation Statement 
provided above. All comments provided to the LPA through the statutory consultation periods have 
been captured in this part of the Committee report and appropriately responded to all submissions.

ENVIRONMENT

165



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

38. The development proposal will cause significant environmental harm to 
the area. 

General concern regarding the environmental and ecosystem impacts 
were raised. Especially around how the development proposal will add 
distress to the environment and wildlife (especially through increase of 
traffic on the roads).

The development should incorporate green infrastructure such as ‘green 
walls’ or trees to help reduce the air pollution from the proposed 
development.

See Officer Response in Rows 39 and 16-19. 

The proposed development has been subject of an Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) which 
includes an assessment of the impacts of the development on sensitive receptors. The 
Environmental Statement submitted with the application has been reviewed by the Council’s 
technical specialists including Environmental Health officers. 

The application site comprises an existing warehouse, hardstanding car park area and service bay 
with limited trees of low quality along the verge of the A5(Edgware Road). The site is not located 
within any sensitive area (i.e. designated landscapes) or site of importance to nature conservation. 

The proposed building will include an area of brown roof which will support biodiversity (including 
the provision of hibernacula and local wildflower species). The proposed landscape strategy for the 
site includes a combination of green wall systems, including: pre-planted green screen panels to 
achieve an instant impact in respect of visual screening at the Site’s northwest corner and part of 
the northern boundary; installation of a framework adjacent to the building’s elevation to enable to 
climber plants to grow and mature over time at the northwest corner and partly along the A5 
Edgeware Road (western) elevation; and installation of a suspended framework between the 
ground and building (hi-tensile steel cable system) creating a green canopy along the southern 
section of the building’s western elevation and at the southwest corner of the Site. 

The proposed waste transfer station would also be subject to other consenting regimes relating to 
environmental impacts. Specifically, the applicant will be required to apply for and obtain an 
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency.

39. The ecological report states that clearance of this site would result in the 
loss of Open Mosaic Habitat of a value equivalent to Borough 
Importance. It also states that protected reptiles, notably Slow Worm 
and Common Lizard, are widespread in the outer London Boroughs and 
one or both are likely to occur on the site. There is some habitat, in the 
buildings, trees and scrub, for common breeding birds, potentially 
including Section 41 species such as Song Thrush, Starling & Dunnock.

The Application site is of little ecological value as it is currently occupied by Selco Builders 
Merchants and its ancillary uses including car parking and hardstanding. The Site is also heavily 
influenced and dominated by railway and road infrastructure at its eastern and western 
boundaries, respectively. The nearest (nationally) designated nature conservation site is located 
approximately 900 metres to the northwest of the Site (Welsh Harp SSSI and Brent Reservoir LNR) 
with significant highway infrastructure situated in between. The Dudding Hill Loop between 
Cricklewood and Harlesden SINC (Site of Importance to Nature Conservation) is located 
approximately 200 metres to the south of the site. However, there are existing scattered trees and 
shrub planting located along the western boundary of the Site, adjacent to the A5 Edgware Road, 

166



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

and eastern boundary of the Site, adjacent to the railway corridor. The proposed development 
would result in the removal of some of the existing vegetation; however, new landscaping is 
proposed as part of the scheme including the replanting of trees along the A5 Edgware Road, 
ground planting along the entirety of the western boundary of the site and part of the northwest 
corner (including amenity grass, shrub planting and wildflower mix), and the installation of a brown 
roof covering approximately 30% of the roof space providing local wildflower species and 
hibernaculum. The proposed development would also include the erection of a number of green 
screens/walls and hi-tensile wire structures (some pre-planted) providing the opportunity for the 
establishment of an array of planting. Chapter 10 of the Supplementary Environmental Statement 
(July 2018) and its associated appendices contains an assessment of the ecological and nature 
conservation impacts of the proposed development. In regard to the abovementioned national and 
local designated sites, no significant impacts were identified. No vegetation clearance will take 
place during the bird breeding season and reptile active season.

40. The Invertebrate Survey by Russell Miller (Arboriculture & Ecology) that 
was completed for a site right next door to this application included in 
the developers documents for 17/5761/EIA details 131 species residing 
in this area: over 30% local, scarce or rare. This includes a number of 
pollinators and rare bees. The UK is legally committed to protecting 
biodiversity & pollinators, at EU & global levels. Agreeing to this policy 
would go against The National Pollinator Strategy: for bees and other 
pollinators in England released November 2014 and authored by Rt Hon 
Elizabeth Truss MP. The developers in their plans have not addressed 
needs of pollinators on brownfield sites (as detailed in the strategy). The 
author of the report also states that this area is of greatest importance to 
invertebrates. This is a UK BAP Priority Habitat, i.e. Open Mosaic and is of 
regional importance for invertebrates.

See Officer Response to Row 39.

41. That this is a site of regional importance is also recognised in The Ecology 
Report contained in this application by Paul Robinson. This report says 
protected reptiles, namely Slow Work & Common Lizard are at risk from 
this development as are Section 31 species such as Song Thrush, Starling 
and the Dunnock due to the loss of habitat. A full ecological impact 
assessment has not been carried out (as reported by Paul Robinson) and 
mitigation not considered. So this proposal contravenes the London Plan 

See Officer Response to Row 39.

167



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

policy 7.19 as it does not "make a positive contribution to the protection, 
enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity" & will have a 
significant adverse effect on the population or conservation status of a 
protected species, priority species & habitat.

42. The development application will bring increased infested rats, mice and 
foxes. 

The proposed development would be carried within the fully enclosed WTS building, which would 
be constructed with a 5.5-metre-high concrete wall containing the operation.  The proposed facility 
would also controlled through the Environmental Permitting procedure of the Environment Agency

TRANSPORT

Transport – General Comments

43. Traffic Impact report to be made public for consideration and comment. The application and all supporting documents and plans are available on the Barnet planning 
portal. Hard copies are also available to view at the Planning Reception. The traffic impact is 
contained within the following reports:
Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport Report (2017);
Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport Report Addendum (July 
2018) (new); and
Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) Waste Transfer Station – Transport Report Supplementary 
Addendum (August 2018).

44. There is concern that the surrounding roads are not built to withstand 
the extra weight of the HGVs and the quality of the roads in the area are 
already rapidly deteriorating. The impact of extra HGV on these roads will 
increase the situation. 

The HGV vehicles accessing the site will be using the strategic road network including the 
A5(Edgware Road), which are built to the relevant adoptable standards. 

Transport – HGVs 

45. Concerned by the increased movements of lorries that the development 
proposal will entail, both for construction and operation. Congestion on 
the A5 will be made worse.

The planning application is supported by a transport assessment which provides the applicants’ 
assessment of the proposed development in regard to capacity of the site access junction, proposed 
HGV movements and traffic flows on the A5 Edgware Road. This has been reviewed and accepted by 
the Council’s Transport officers and by TfL and shows that the proposed WTS, including signalisation 
of Geron Way, would not give rise to significant adverse impacts on the highway network. 

The traffic model used incorporates the approvals for the BXC regeneration scheme to date (i.e. 
Phase 1A North, Phase 1B North and Phase 1B South) and takes into account the cumulative impact 
of the wider BXC development and other committed developments. The modelling compares the 

168



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

impact of 742 HGV movements (371 in, 371 out) plus 172 staff car movements (86 in, 86 out) as 
envisaged in the S73 Permission with the proposed WTS development of 414 HGV movements (207 
in, 207 out) and up to 20 staff movements (10 in, 10 out) proposed within this planning application. 
It also takes into account fact that the Bestway business is retained, the adequacy of the existing 
A5/Geron Way junction and the impact of introducing signals at this junction on the local highway 
network. 

The existing Selco Builders Merchants generates more vehicle traffic than the proposed WTS. As such 
there would be a reduction in total traffic volumes from 1,492 vehicles (surveyed between 07:00 to 
19:00 on a weekday) to 414 HGV movements (incorporating RCVs, caged vehicles and street 
sweepers) over the same 12-hour period plus staff movements (12 staff are proposed). The proposed 
development would also represent a reduction in HGV and other vehicle movements when 
compared to the WHF already consented by the 2014 S73 Permission. Therefore the net impact of 
the proposed development compared to the existing land use and extant committed development 
scheme would reduce traffic volumes.

46. The structural design of the surrounding houses will be impacted by the 
vibrations of the additional HGVs.

HGV movements will be confined to the A5 (Edgware Road) apart from when refuse collection 
vehicles collect waste from residential streets. The submitted ES includes an assessment of noise 
and vibration from the proposed development and there is no evidence to show that vehicles 
associated with the WTS will result in structural impacts on existing houses.

Transport – Safety 
47. The streets are too narrow to accommodate the additional volume of 

traffic that would be generated by the proposed development and would 
also endanger residents.

Residents have overall concerns regarding safety as a result of the 
development proposal. Additional comments were made relating to the 
increase of safety issues as a result of increased traffic from the WTF. 

The increase of lorries on the surrounding streets will increase the risk of 
accidents for cyclists and make walking and cycling environment 
extremely unpleasant.

The principle of a WHF on this site is consented as part of BXC development. The traffic impact of 
the wider BXC development, including the WHF was considered as part of the 2010 Outline and 
2014 Section 73 applications through detailed traffic modelling which was found to be acceptable 
by the LPA, TfL and GLA. The proposed development will result in fewer vehicle trips compared to 
the exiting Selco builders merchants and compared to the trips associated with the waste facility 
approved under the S73 Permission. The proposed development includes the signalization of the 
existing junction between Geron Way and the A5 Edgware Road. As well as vehicular access and 
safety, this will improve the junction for pedestrians and cyclists and make crossing the A5 in this 
location easier and safer. The proposed development will result in fewer vehicle trips compared to 
the exiting Selco builders merchants and compared to the S73 Permission for the WHF. All HGV 
movements associated with the WTS will be directed along the A5 Edgware Road other than any 
refuse collection vehicles collecting waste from residential streets. 

169



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

48. Trucks accessing the waste transfer station will be using Dollis Hill and 
Cricklewood which will pose a road safety risk to the primary and 
secondary school students making their way to and from the many 
schools in the area.

Other than any refuse collection vehicles collecting waste from households in those areas, all HGV 
movements associated with the WTS will be directed along the A5 Edgware Road. 

49. Residents raised concern around the safety of the site with flammable 
products being stored on a daily basis. Further information is requested 
around what mitigation methods have been proposed to ensure the WTS 
does not catch alight.  

The proposed development has been designed based on the latest Fire Prevention guidance 
compiled by the Environment Agency. The LPA have consulted the Environment Agency and also 
the London Fire Brigade who have both confirmed that they are content with the application. 
Beyond the planning process, operation of the proposed development would also require an 
Environmental Permit from the Environment Agency, an integral part of which will be a Fire 
Prevention Plan.

Transport – Traffic Increase and Congestion
50. The scheme needs to illustrate how it has collaborated with the 

Department of Transport to address the impacts of the increase of traffic 
and noise on local residents in the area.

See Officer Response in Row 48. 

The A5 (Edgware Road) is part of the Strategic Road Network which Transport for London have 
oversight responsibility. Any proposals for signals on this network requires TfL’s consent. TfL have 
been consulted on the application and have reviewed the traffic modelling undertaken to assess 
the impact of the development. The proposed development will result in fewer vehicle trips 
compared to the exiting Selco builders merchants and compared to the trips associated with the 
waste facility approved under the S73 Permission.

51. Concerns regarding degrading of the roads as a result of extra heavy 
vehicles in the area.

See Officer Response in Row 47.

52. The local side roads are currently used by commuters to bypass traffic on 
the A5. Any additional traffic, especially HGVs, onto the A5 will increase 
the traffic pressures on the local side roads (Dollis Hill was mentioned by 
submitters).

The existing rat-running on local roads is not a result of the proposed development. The proposed 
development will result in fewer vehicle trips compared to the exiting Selco builders merchants and 
will also generate fewer trips compared with the waste facility approved under the S73 Permission. 
Therefore the proposed development will result in less vehicles on the A5 as a whole. 

53. The plans for Brent Cross Regeneration will hugely increase residential 
and shopping related traffic. Further information is requested on how 
this has been considered in the current proposed development.

This development proposal with the residential apartments (Fellows 
Square Development) to be built nearby will increase the traffic on 
Edgware road significantly and exacerbate the current traffic issues on 

The principle of a WHF on this site is consented as part of BXC development. The traffic impact of 
the wider BXC development, including the WHF was considered as part of the 2010 Outline and 
2014 Section 73 applications through detailed traffic modelling which was found to be acceptable 
by the LPA, TfL and GLA. 

The planning application is supported by a transport assessment which provides the applicants’ 
assessment of the proposed development in regard to capacity of the site access junction, proposed 

170



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

that road. 

The traffic assessment should also take into account the traffic increase 
from the Brent Cross Shopping Centre Development when conducting 
the impact on the A5 and surrounding roads. 

The development will cause more traffic that then will impact on the 
commuting options in the area.

HGV movements and traffic flows on the A5 Edgware Road. This has been reviewed and accepted by 
the Council’s Transport officers and by TfL and shows that the proposed WTS, including signalisation 
of Geron Way, would not give rise to significant adverse impacts on the highway network. 

The traffic model used incorporates the approvals for the BXC regeneration scheme to date (i.e. 
Phase 1A North, Phase 1B North and Phase 1B South) and takes into account the cumulative impact 
of the wider BXC development and other committed developments. 

The existing Selco Builders Merchants generates more vehicle traffic than the proposed WTS. As such 
there would be a reduction in total traffic volumes from 1,492 vehicles (surveyed between 07:00 to 
19:00 on a weekday) to 414 HGV movements (incorporating RCVs, caged vehicles and street 
sweepers) over the same 12-hour period plus staff movements (12 staff are proposed). The proposed 
development would also represent a reduction in HGV and other vehicle movements when 
compared to the WHF already consented by the 2014 S73 Permission. Therefore the net impact of 
the proposed development compared to the existing land use and extant committed development 
scheme would reduce traffic volumes.

When assessed at the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000tpa, the transport assessment 
concludes that in 2021 there would be no capacity issues at any of the modelled junctions along the 
A5 (i.e. no junction would be over 90% Degree of Saturation (‘DoS’)) and thus there would be no 
adverse impacts on the highway network as a result of the proposed development. However, in 2031 
after the rest of the BXC development has been completed after the proposed WTS has commenced 
operation and assuming operation at the maximum proposed throughput of 195,000tpa on opening), 
with Humber Road remaining as a priority junction, the transport modelling indicates that the 
proposed A5/Geron Way junction would have DoS over 90% during the AM peak only. By 
comparison, with the signalisation of Humber Road, the A5/Geron Way junction would operate 
within acceptable limits. 

To determine the point at which works to Humber Road are required to mitigate the impact of the 
wider BXC regeneration scheme, the Applicant has conducted supplementary modelling. The results 
indicate that in 2024 when the MML Bridge would become operational, this additional route 
connecting the BXC development to the west and, therefore, consequent change in traffic flows 
would result in DoS over 90% at the proposed Geron Way junction. As such, it is reasonable to suggest 

171



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

that mitigating works to Humber Road should be linked to the delivery of the MML Bridge. Given this 
association with a development forming part of the Phase 2 (South) (Thameslink Station) sub-phase 
and as works to Humber Road are already consented through the 2014 S73 Permission, it would be 
appropriate to ensure that this identified mitigation is secured through an amendment to the S73 
Permission and by way of an appropriately worded condition imposed on any planning permission 
granted. 

54. Further information is requested on how the proposed development is in 
alignment with the London Mayors focus on reducing traffic across 
London. 

The Mayor of London’s recently published Transport Strategy (2018) focuses on the delivery and 
increased uptake of non-car modes of transport in London through the promotion of a ‘healthy 
streets’ approach. This Strategy also recognises the continued need for essential road-based freight 
movements. It is considered that such essential freight movements would include those required 
by the statutory waste disposal authority (NLWA) to facilitate the management of London’s waste, 
particularly in view of the policy aim to become self-sufficient in respect of managing London’s 
waste within London.

Transport – Public Transport

55. The development proposal will cause severe delays on local public 
transport (buses). 

These HGVs will have to cross bus lanes in both directions.  The routes 
which currently use the A5 passing the access to the site or close to it 
are: 32, 332, 245, 182, 232, 266 and a school bus service, the 632. Then 
there is the 16 and 316 which terminate at Cricklewood Garage further 
south.  There are a number of other buses which are not in service on 
the A5 but use the Cricklewood Garage when not in service.   All the 
additional HGVs will contribute to severe disruption to these bus services 
every weekday.

TfL have been consulted on the application and are satisfied with the modelling undertaken in 
consideration of the impact on bus journey times. The signalisation of the Geron Way / A5 junction 
will allow the potential for existing bus routes to access the western entrance of the new 
Thameslink train station.

There are no existing bus lanes outside the site. 

56. There are few plans in place for required increase in public transport 
which would help reduce pollution and congestion. 

The planning application although considered within its own merits is a planned development 
within the overall Brent Cross Regeneration scheme which has planning approval. The wider BXC 
scheme will deliver a new Thameslink Train Station, a replacement bus station at the Brent Cross 
Shopping Centre, improved pedestrian connections across the Midland Mainline Railway as well as 
across the A406 North Circular and A41 Hendon Way. This will significantly improve access to public 
transport services in the area and improve the overall Public Transport Accessibility Level allowing a 
significant modal shift. The delivery of the WTS will allow the new Thameslink Train Station to be 

172



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

constructed by allowing the existing Hendon WTS to be redeveloped. 

57. A new Thameslink station will not meet the demand as it is already 
impossible to get on the Thameslink if you want to commute from 
Cricklewood due to maximum commuters. 

This comment is noted. The Capacity of the new Thameslink Station and existing and future train 
services on the Thameslink line is not a material consideration in this application. This will be 
considered when the application for the station comes forward. 

Transport – Cycling 

58. Cyclists will be impacted through ability to navigate and visibility on the 
roads therefore discouraging cycling as a form of transport in the area. 
The A5 should be looked at to include cycle lanes to encourage safe 
cycling in the area. 

The A5 Corridor is an area of strategic consideration by TfL and the relevant adjoining boroughs. 
Barnet and Tfl have committed to work to look at how differing transport priorities and functions 
can be addressed along the A5. This will consider how best to accommodate provision for cycling 
and how to encourage cycling. .

MONITORING AND ENFORCEMENT
59. There is concern that Barnet Council has lacked appropriate monitoring 

and management of the Donoghue’s Waste Transfer site and including 
an additional waste site across the tracks without appropriate 
management will bring unacceptable noise, dust and traffic to this site.

The application has prepared a draft management plan that sets out the management processes 
and best practice in operations and the control of dust and air-quality matters. The final plan will be 
secured through condition to ensure it is implemented and adhered to by the applicant. The site 
will be leased by North London Waste Authority and operated by London Energy Ltd. Further 
controls will be in place through the environmental permitting process required by the 
Environment Agency. Responses to the assessment of noise, dust and traffic are provided above 
under the relevant headings. 

60. During the operation of the site how will the management ensure that 
lorries don’t use surrounding local network roads and therefore cause 
long-term effects on the residential houses?

All HGV movements associated with the WTS will be directed along the A5 Edgware Road other 
than any refuse collection vehicles collecting waste from residential streets. Residual waste and 
food and garden waste will be taken to the Edmonton EcoPark via the A406 North Circular. These 
vehicle movements will be controlled through appropriate planning condition.

61. Further information is requested on what mitigation measures around 
controlling rubbish have been put into place to ensure that the 
surrounding neighbouring streets like Dollis Hill lane do not end up with 
waste in the residential area.

The facility will be subject to a site management plan that sets out the management processes and 
best practice in relation to operation of the site, including control of waste material to prevent 
transfer outside of the facility. 

ADDITIONAL COMMENTS

Additional Comments – General Comments

173



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

62. I object based on the proximity to place of worship. The site of the proposed WTS is within 1km distance to the following two registered places of 
worship: Jesus House of All the Nations and Claremont Free Church. These two places of worship 
are on the other side of the railway tracks and therefore it is not considered that the proposed 
development will detrimentally impact these facilities.  
It is noted there are additional places of worship within Cricklewood however again these areas are 
not foreseen to be negatively impacted by the development.

63. An additional train station is not necessary for this area. The Train Station application is not included in this application. The station has an outline planning 
approval under the s73 Permission for the regeneration of BXC. 

64. There is already a recycling facility in Barnet away from a built up area 
and there is therefore no reason to have another one so close by.
Questions were raised regarding why an additional waste station is 
needed when there is one located on the other side of the railway.

Further information is needed as to the need to move the current waste 
transfer station.

The new Waste transfer Station will replace the existing Hendon Waste Handling Facility on the 
east side of the railway which will make way for the new Thameslink Train Station and associated 
development as part of the regeneration.

65. The Council should look instead at regenerating the site to include 
premises for local businesses, grocery shops, recreational areas, cafes 
and bars, good cinemas, bookshops, gyms, etc.

The site is currently occupied by a Selco builders merchants. Overall the BXC regeneration scheme 
will deliver a new town centre, expanded shopping centre, new office quarter, replacement bus 
station and new train station, infrastructure provisions, improvements and new community 
facilities including schools. The benefits of this regeneration scheme will extend beyond the area of 
the development and beyond Barnet Council’s administrative boundary. All of these overall 
benefits are considered to positively increase the liveability of the area.

66. Although the development application is within Barnet more needs to be 
done to address Brent resident issues, taking into account Brent related 
activities (infant and nursery school, redevelopment of the Parade, Dollis 
Hill area). 
The Regeneration of Barnet should not be at the cost of Brent residents. 

See Officer Response at Row 67. 

Any proposals to redevelop sites within Brent should be directed to London Borough of Brent. 

67. Concerns around Brent Council’s involvement in supporting Brent 
Residents and their involvement in the process of this Planning 
Application. Justification sought on how Brent Council has been involved 
in the process and supporting Brent Residents issues.

The London Borough of Brent have been consulted through the application process in accordance 
with the statutory requirements.  Brent Council’s involvement and support of residents residing in 
Brent is the responsibility of the Brent Council. 

174



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

68. Further studies need to be done on the impact this development 
application will have on the Dollis Hill Ward due to the current metal and 
waste recycling yard within Neasden Lane. The surrounding houses and 
roads are covered in thick grey dust and debris blown from the site onto 
the streets are also covered in thick dust. Further introduction of a waste 
facility within the area will negatively increase the emissions in the 
homes, schools, eateries and recreational spaces in the area.  

Concerns about the impacts of existing waste recycling facilities in Neasden Lane should be 
directed to Brent Council. 

The proposed WTS will handle a different type of waste. See Officer Responses at Rows 16-34 for 
information on how the impacts of the development have been assessed through the EIA process.  

69. Consideration needs to be taken into account on how the Council will 
financially compensate the local residence for the disadvantages they are 
dealing with as a result of the proposed development application.

The proposed development has been assessed through the EIA and planning process and subject to 
the mitigation secured and conditions to be imposed, the proposed facility is not considered to 
result in detrimental impacts on surrounding area. The development is part of the wider BXC 
regeneration which will deliver significant benefits and improvements to the area. 

70. I am in support of the application. Noted.

71. I object on the basis of unknown hazards of new technology the WTS will 
bring.

The proposed development has been assessed through the EIA and planning process and subject to 
the mitigation secured and conditions to be imposed, the proposed facility is not considered to 
result in detrimental impacts on surrounding area.

72. Further information is requested on how the Regeneration of Brent Cross 
area is going to overall benefit Brent residents. 

Overall the BXC regeneration scheme will deliver a new town centre, expanded shopping centre, 
new office quarter, replacement bus station and new train station, infrastructure provisions, 
improvements and new community facilities including schools. The benefits of this regeneration 
scheme will extend beyond the area of the development and beyond Barnet Council’s 
administrative boundary. All of these overall benefits are considered to positively increase the 
liveability of the area.

73. The London Waste Authority originally opposed this site on the grounds 
of proximity of schools and houses also including the proposal not being 
practical, feasible and indeed big enough to sustain the amount of waste 
needed. Further information is requested on how this has been 
addressed.

The proposed facility has been designed in conjunction with and to meet the requirements of the 
North London Waste Authority. These requirements can be adequately accommodated on the site.

74. Further information is needed on how the proposal has been considered 
in light of the RFF development in context of increased HGV, noise and 
air quality. The proposed freight hub a short distance away will be 
bringing additional HGV’s per day on top of this development proposal.

This technical assessments that accompany the Supplementary Environmental Statement and the 
transport modelling for the development have been carried out to consider the impacts of the 
proposed development and also the cumulative impact in regard to other committed development 
schemes within the vicinity, including the RFF development. See Section 9 of the committee report. 

75. The proposed transfer station inappropriately provides a comparison to 
Vienna site. Vienna site is on a larger plot of land so Rubbish trucks can 

Access into the facility is from Geron Way. The development has been designed with sufficient 
space for RCVs to be accommodated in the one-way access arrangements within the site. The 

175



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

queue to unload off road and within the complex which is also shielded 
from general public view by lines of trees this site does not have such 
space. The result will obviously be lines of rubbish trucks blocking the A5 
(Edgware Road) a main arterial route waiting to enter and exit the site. 

submitted plans also demonstrate space for HGVs to be accommodated within the site whilst 
waiting to be loaded. The development will not result in RCVs or HGVs queuing back onto the 
public highway. TfL and the Council’s Highways officers have been consulted on the application and 
are content with the proposed arrangements. 

76. - Residents here have also organised a petition. 
- Brent residents have not been appropriately considered 

throughout previous planning applications within Barnet. 
- The objections raised by Brent residents in the past regarding 

the road layouts and the massive increase in traffic: both cars 
and lorries on the roads have not been considered. 

- The regeneration plans will not bring any benefits to the Brent 
residents. 

- Consultation to date has been inadequate
- The current WTS should remain as it is in a non-residential area 

and the waste is moved to landfill by train.
- Although the proposed development is smaller than the original 

permission it will still cause environmental harm to the 
community.

- The smell of the facility will be a disruption to the lives of the 
surrounding residents.

- The proposed development is also directly next door to the 
Fellows Place development and across from an infant’s school.

- The processing and compaction will cause disrupting noise for 
the residents.

- Nano particulate pollution has been proven to cause the most 
damage to small children.

- The Edgware Road is already at the highest pollution levels in 
London. The refuse trucks and lorries will add to this.

- Given the waste facility goes to landfill and recycling plants well 
outside London, why does it need to be located where it is?

- There is major fire risks as a result of the development proposal 
the Chief Fire Officers Association quoted the following:  “Waste 
fires are a consistent issue for the waste and recycling industry, 

The applicant has submitted a Consultation Statement with the application prepared by GL Hearn 
(Dated August 2017) which sets out the programme of public consultation and engagement that 
has been carried out in support of the proposals for the Brent Cross Thameslink project at the pre-
application stage. Statutory consultation on the planning application has been carried out by the 
LPA in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management Procedure) 
Order 2010 in both October-November 2017 and July-August 2018. This is detailed in Section 7 of 
this committee report. Previous planning applications associated with the BXC regeneration have 
also followed the relevant statutory processes for public consultation.  

Overall the regeneration scheme will deliver 7,500 new homes including affordable housing, a new 
town centre, expanded shopping centre, a new office quarter and generate over 20,000 jobs, 
provide a replacement bus station and new train station, amongst numerous other infrastructure 
improvements and new community facilities. The benefits of this regeneration scheme will extend 
beyond the area of the development and beyond Barnet Council’s administrative boundary. All of 
these overall benefits are considered to positively impact the area.

The site benefits from outline planning permission for a waste handling facility. The WTS will 
replace the existing Hendon WTS in order to make way for the delivery of the new Thameslink 
Station and associated development as part of the wider BXC scheme. The London Plan now 
requires all of London’s waste to be managed within London rather than being transported by rail 
to landfill or processing sites outside. The new WTS will allow material to be transferred to the 
Edmonton Eco Park for processing in accordance with the strategic objectives of the London Plan.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic modelling.

The proposed development has been designed based on the latest Fire Prevention guidance 
compiled by the Environment Agency. The LPA have consulted the Environment Agency and also 

176



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

with the Chief Fire Officers Association (CFOA) estimating that 
there have been around 250 incidents of waste fires per year for 
the last decade, with an estimated cost to fire and rescue 
services of around £16 million a year.”  The proposed dump is 
directly opposite two petrol stations.

- The North London Waste Authority was originally opposed to 
the site on the grounds of proximity of schools and houses. As 
the residing objections have not changed (schools and house 
within proximity), further information is needed on why they 
withdrew their objection.

the London Fire Brigade who have no objections to the proposed development. Beyond the 
planning process, operation of the proposed development would also require an Environmental 
Permit from the Environment Agency which will include a Fire Prevention Plan.

ELECTED MEMBERS & RESIDENT GROUPS

LB Brent Elected Members 
77. LB Brent Cllr Parvez Ahmed for Dollis Hill ward objects to the 

development as a local resident and Councillor and raised following 
concerns:

- The proposed application and development would have an 
adverse effect on the local area for a number of reasons and is 
not suitable nor appropriate for this site. 

- This would be directly next to a residential area and near local 
schools - the existing footfall is already very high, no doubt likely 
to increase even further with other existing developments in the 
locality. 

- The proposed application and use a waste dump would be 
detrimental to local residents, local children and families and 
the existing footfall. 

- The proposed dump site is opposite a petrol station (a 
significant fire risk), within 200 yds of an infant school, a main-
road-width away from people's homes. 

- The dust, smell and dirt will be suffered by local people in this 
heavily residential area. 

- It is anticipated that the dump will generate about 60 HGVs per 
hour into and out of the site. The freight terminal - barely 500 

These comments are noted. All points are addressed in responses above and in the body of the 
report. 

177



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

yards away - will generate a similar volume of HGV traffic. All 
these heavy lorries will be using the A5 - already a very polluted 
road and heavily congested road not to mention the heavy 
vehicles that cut through residential roads like Dollis Hill Lane, 
Crest Road, Dollis Hill Avenue and Gladstone Park Gardens in 
contravention of existing regulations. Additional vehicles will 
exacerbate the problem. 

78. LB Brent Cllr Lia Colacicco for Mapesbury ward objects to the 
development as a local resident and Councillor and raised following 
concerns:

- In planning terms this plan represents more harm than benefit 
to the locality, specifically in terms of traffic impact and public 
health. 

- The diesel lorries will impact very negatively on an already 
dangerously poor air quality, disturbing local residential areas 
and making intolerable the congestion on this stretch of the A5.
Whilst there may be a need for such a facility, why has Barnet 
once more chosen to put the nasty elements of the BXC 
development next door to Brent? Please act as consider 
neighbours and place both this and the even more harmful 
aggregates transfer site further up the line. They have no place 
in this urban setting.

- In order to make consultations meaningful you need to listen to 
what local people are saying. They are clearly saying NO WAY, 
and their reasons are material planning considerations.

These comments are noted. All points are addressed in responses above and in the body of the 
report.

79. LB Brent Cllr Liz Dixon for Dollis Hill ward objects to the development as a 
local resident and Councillor and raised following concerns:

- The plans will impact on Dollis Hill residents as the HGV lorries 
will be diverted onto Edgware road and the increase in traffic 
will pose a risk of harm to residents health. Thie oppress plans 
will increase the air pollution and traffic - the road is already 
very busy. 

- There is mounting concern about the freight plans and the 

Noted, comments have been answered below. 

178



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

housing development in the "cottages" and this is 
understandable given the impact it will have on the local 
community with the loss of a significant green area. 

- Also objecting to the freight and raising concerns about the 
impact of the increase in HGV traffic which we think is a risk to 
health and potentially safety. 

- The pollution will be significant and we are mindful of the Mayor 
of London promise to promote cleaner air which we support.

LB Brent Groups
80. Dollis Hill Residents’ Association raised the following objections:

- London-wide measures are being taken to cut pollution from 
vehicles. The application will be in conflict of this. The pollution 
the extra lorries bring by moving and idling inefficiently in 
traffic.

- Our Lady of Grace Infant School has its playground along the A5 
very near to the proposed waste station; the young children will 
be detrimentally affected by any additional pollution caused by 
the lorries.

- The traffic modelling does not reflect accurately the impact of 
the traffic for the waste station. Traffic on the A5 is already slow 
moving throughout much of the day and this will worsen it.

- Large vehicles turning right out of the transfer station will often 
block the traffic as they will not be able to join the northbound 
carriageway which will often be solidly blocked. A yellow box is 
essential on the southbound carriageway so that neither the 
front nor back of a long waste vehicle can stop on it. 

- A waste transfer unit should not be accessed from the A5, which 
is already congested, but from a larger road such as the North 
Circular.

- The North London Waste Authority does not need a waste 
transfer station at this far south-western end of the London 
Borough of Barnet.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic modelling.

The signalization of the Geron Way / A5 junction will ensure that vehicles can enter and exit Geron 
Way safely. A yellow box is not required where there are signal controls.

The NLWA have confirmed in their consultation response that the Geron Way facility is required as 
a strategic facility to receive a range of waste streams collected by the North London boroughs. The 
location is important to serve the boroughs in the west of the Authority’s area and would reduce 
the environmental impacts and cost of transporting waste. The primary users of the facility will be 
Barnet and Camden Councils, although from time to time other boroughs may be directed to 
deliver waste to this facility.

179



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

- The waste should be taken directly to Edmonton, rather than 
being sent first to Geron Way. 

- A waste transfer station should not be placed at the far south-
western end of the London Borough of Barnet, which is not a 
convenient location for Barnet or Camden waste.

81. Our Lady of Grace Infant School raised the following concerns regarding 
the proposed development:

- The proximity of the development to the school
- Impact of air quality that the children will be exposed to.
- Impact on the local infrastructure, traffic and adjacent land 

uses.
- The development’s adverse effects on the health and wellbeing 

of the children.
- Pollution levels exceeding the European guidelines
- Disproportionate burden upon low-income and minority 

communities who live in this local area and attend our school
- The overburden on this community will have a negative impact 

on this community creating health, environmental and quality of 
living concerns

- The school has not been consulted in any way and therefore not 
keeping with consultation regulations.

- Further information is requested on the weighing of 
consequences of placing the WTS next to the infant school.

In light of the views expressed the following is requested: 
1. Confirmation of the steps that have been taken to ensure that 

the correct planning application/procedure has been followed;
2. Details of the impact assessments that have been carried out 

to take on board the health, safety and welfare of the children 
in our school;

3. Details of objections that have already been made and any 
steps taken to address these concerns;

4. Details of the public consultation that should have taken place; 

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment and Section 9 
of the committee report.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic modelling and 
Section 9 of the committee report. 

See Officer Response at Row 34 in relation to consultation and Section 7 of the committee report.

180



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

and
5. A full response to the concerns outlined above.

181



Table 2: Summary of Public Representations – Consultation 2 (13 July to 18 August 2018)
Is

su
e 

N
o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT

Principle of the Development – General Comments
82. Planning consultants acting for PB Donoghue have raised the following 

objections:

We would raise objection against the lack of communication from the Council 
with regard to the re-submission/amendment of the application, and this 
subsequent consultation period. We consider that this renders the 
consultation period improper and fails to satisfy statutory requirements. Given 
the expectations of the Masterplan, our Client has a significant material 
interest in the site, given that it was intended that the PB Donoghue facility 
would be re-provided on the application site. 

We object that the application is being progressed as a ‘Drop-In Application’, 
rather than a Reserved Matters Application in line with the BXC Masterplan, 
and specifically Condition 41.1. The outline permission, and subsequent 
Section 73, both earmark 2 Geron Way (Plots 62/63 of the BXC Masterplan) for 
a Waste Handling Facility. The proposed facility is for a waste transfer facility 
only, with no waste processing (handling) capacity. On this basis, it is not in 
line with the aims of the Masterplan, nor the London Plan, so should be 
refused or amended to include sufficient processing to also accommodate PB
Donoghue.

We object that the application is dependent on a third party being able to 
accommodate the PB Donoghue Site, in addition to being dependant on a 
different Local Planning Authority granting consent, rather than being 
provided on the specifically allocated site for waste ‘handling’ within the BXC 
Masterplan area.
We also object to the application reducing the facility at the allocated waste 

Statutory consultation on the planning application has been carried out by the LPA in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 
Procedure) Order 2010 and the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017 in both October-November 2017 and July-August 
2018. 

See Officer Response in Row 2 above and Section 6 of the committee report which 
explains the compatibility and acceptability of a drop-in application in relation to the 
S73 Permission for the BXC development. 

The provision of the new waste transfer facility is as a replacement for the existing 
Hendon Waste Transfer Station, as required by the Cricklewood Brent Cross West 
Hendon Development Framework and the saved UDP policies relating to the 
regeneration of Brent Cross Cricklewood. At the time of the Outline application, it was 
accepted that the new WHF would also provide sufficient overall waste capacity by 
tonnage, not by type of waste processed, so as to allow the redevelopment of three 
other commercial waste sites within the BXC area. This was embodied in condition 41.5 
of the BXC planning permission. Importantly this condition allows for compensatory 
capacity to also be provided through other sites, not just the WHF. The land occupied 
by PB Donoghue falls within Phase 4 of the BXC regeneration scheme (synonymous 
with Plots 31, 36 and 61) and, as such, is not therefore intended to be redeveloped 
until at least June 2026 according to the currently approved BXC Indicative 
Construction Programme. At the time that this existing waste management facility is 
intended to be redeveloped it would be for the applicant to demonstrate how 
compensatory waste management capacity has been re-provided in accordance with 
Condition 41.5 of the 2014 S73 Permission.

182



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

site which was specifically earmarked to compensate for the loss of the four 
existing waste sites within the BXC regeneration area. Plots 62/63 are no 
longer going to be utilised to their full development potential. This is especially 
important, given that the PB Donoghue Site has been specifically removed as 
being a site to be replaced (as noted above), and that the identified 
replacement site, within this application, now include a new site (Upside 
Railway Yard).

83. The two volumes of Design and Access Statement spend much of their pages 
showing hopelessly idealised pictures of this building. Roads are devoid of 
vehicles, cyclists and happy young families are walking past the shed, 
butterflies flutter amongst unlikely looking planting CGI mockups, and there 
isn't a lorry in sight! No mention of the smell, traffic congestion, pollution 
generated by an Industrial Scale Waste Transfer Station. Fake News? I would 
suggest that the site be used for much needed affordable housing, flats similar 
to Fellows Court, just to the South along The A5.

See responses above in relation to the environmental assessment of the 
development and traffic assessment. 

The site is identified in the Cricklewood Brent Cross West Hendon Development 
Framework for a waste handling facility and outline planning permission has already 
been granted for this use. 

84. A waste transfer station (WTS) is not in line with regeneration of the local 
area. As existing residents we want to be proud of our "town" - a WTS will only 
detract from regeneration efforts.

See Officer Response in Row 1,2 and 3 above. 

Principle of the Development – Location
85. This should be done instead in an industrial business park, out of the way of 

public residents and properties.
See Officer Response in Row 1,2 and 3 above.

The site is identified in the Cricklewood Brent Cross West Hendon Development 
Framework for a waste handling facility and outline planning permission has already 
been granted for this use.

86. This type of waste disposal plant should be located away from large main 
roads and built up areas, where there is room for it and the associated traffic 
and noise issues.

This area needs housing and this spot would be ideal for affordable housing 
and residential apartments, thus easing the current housing crises and putting 
much needed investment back into local area.

See Officer Response in Row 1,2 and 3 above.

The site is identified in the Cricklewood Brent Cross West Hendon Development 
Framework for a waste handling facility and outline planning permission has already 
been granted for this use.

87. The waste site currently exists on the other side of the rail tracks and is being See Officer Response in Row 1,2 and 3 above.

183



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

moved to the furthest point in Barnet that is still inside of Barnet, but the 
majority of the area effected by the new site will be in Brent. The site is identified in the Cricklewood Brent Cross West Hendon Development 

Framework for a waste handling facility and outline planning permission has already 
been granted for this use.

AMENITY IMPACTS

Amenity – General Comments
88. This proposal of a local waste dump will add to this problem rather than 

easing the situation that is already very bad. Heavy goods vehicles and with 
this type of waste, adding to the local problems of traffic congestion and air 
and noise pollution are the last thing we need! It goes against the health and 
wellbeing of local people.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

89. Questions have been raised in regard to the proper assessment of the 
proposal on the environment – traffic, air quality, etc. 

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

90. The change in operating hours of this proposed site (longer opening hours) is 
unacceptable for neighbours in this area.

The proposed development is envisaged to be open to staff 24 hours a day; however, 
waste would only be received during the hours of 07:00 – 19:00 Mondays to Fridays 
including Bank Holidays, and 09:00 – 13:00 Saturdays. There would be no operations 
on Sundays. Any operations outside of these waste reception hours would be limited 
to preparation and cleansing within the building and, where the need arises, the 
exportation and transfer of bulked up wastes to other waste management facilities.

Amenity: Air Quality
91. London as a whole is suffering with already toxic air. This proposal will 

continue to endanger people's lives filling the local air with more pollution. 
These effects will be felt by local children when they reach adulthood.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

92. Concern is raised about the pollution effect on the school children opposite 
and the proposal completely opposes the effect of new ultra-low emissions 
zone that is planned. 

See Officer Response at Rows 1-3 in relation to location of the proposed facility and 
Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

Amenity: Noise

184



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

93. The noise caused by this proposal and the traffic it will create will ruin the 
local community's peaceful enjoyment of the area. The hundreds of new 
residents of Fellows Square will no doubt be appalled at this suggestion of a 
waste plant being located so close to their new luxury flats.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

Amenity: Odour
94. The waste station on the other side of the railway in Claremont Road already 

causes a big problem for us as we cannot open our windows in hot weather 
due to the smell of waste. The thought of another waste station just opposite 
our building is something that cannot be tolerated. 

Extremely worried about the air quality from the increased traffic and the 
smell/stink from the dump its self. 

The proposed WTS will replace the existing Hendon Waste Transfer Station. Unlike 
the existing Hendon WTS, the new facility will be fully enclosed and will be held at 
negative air pressure within the building to prevent smells escaping. The facility will 
also have an odour abatement system and fast-acting roller shutter doors. These 
controls will ensure that the facility does not detrimentally impact on existing 
residents.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.
TRANSPORT

Transport – Traffic Increase
95. I don't see anything that you have added to the application which addresses 

the increase in traffic and congestion on the A5 and surrounding areas as 
people attempt to avoid the A5 via the roads through Dollis Hill, or the added 
pollution and subsequent impact on standard of living, schools in near the 
location.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

96. Our road Heber/Ashworth Road is already used as a cut through with large 
vehicles travelling at high speeds up and down. It is a family community with a 
primary school at one end of the road - this proposal will no doubt exacerbate 
the problem and increase the danger to pedestrians in particular, young 
children.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling and Row 4 in relation to pedestrian safety. 

97. The area cannot cope with the quantity of traffic and the A5 is nearly always 
back to back traffic jams in this area.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

98. The extra traffic generated by the new Thameslink station and the waste 
Transfer Station is unlikely to be mitigated by the loss of traffic to Selco. The 
presentation of traffic model data for the A5/Geron Way controlled junction is 
obviously not meant to be read by a non-expert. It is difficult to determine 

The transport modelling demonstrates that junction improvement works to Humber 
Road are required at a later stage in the BXC development, and not in relation to the 
operation of the WTS. All results indicate that there would be no adverse impacts on 
the highway network upon commencement of the operation of the proposed WTS 

185



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

delays on traffic from Geron Way turning on to the A5 at any stage in the WTS 
development time line. From what we can glean from the model data, the 
conversion of the Humber Road to a controlled junction should be done at the 
same time as the Geron Way development.

(i.e. in the 2021 modelled year in all scenarios) but by 2031, there would be capacity 
issues as a result of signalising Geron Way in later years by virtue of the cumulative 
impacts of the wider BXC Development and other background growth. Traffic 
modelling for the proposed WTS has shown that signalisation of Humber Rd prior to 
the opening of the New Link Road/Bridge over the railway joining the A5 to the new 
BX South development in 2023 enables Geron Way junction to operate within 
capacity but does affect Dollis Hill Lane where 90% capacity is exceeded. However, 
the actual number of vehicles travelling on Dollis Hill Lane is reduced from 520 in the 
weekday evening peak without Humber Road signalisation to 420 with the 
signalisation. 

99. The proposed aggregate site being developed on a nearby plot of land will 
have over 400 trucks a day, combine that with the traffic created from access 
to this new waste transfer site and Brent and Camden will have a traffic 
nightmare.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

100. Making comparisons with traffic exiting from the current waste site and Selco 
is irrelevant to the traffic on the A5, which will rise by 828 two-way 
movements (or 1104 when considering the volume being applied for to the 
Environment Agency. The A5 is much more congested than the access road to 
the current waste site, so the comparisons drawn in the addendum are not 
valid.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

101. The transport modelling does not accurately reflect the current traffic. The A5 
already has traffic queues travelling north and south almost all day. The 
northbound traffic already backs up from Staples Corner to beyond the 
proposed access to the waste station. Further lorries exiting to, or entering 
from, the northbound A5 will make this even worse.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

102. It describes the A5 operating at saturation in the mornings with long queues 
morning and evening, and Dollis Hill Lane operating at 97.5% capacity, with a 
rat-running problem relieved only by opening up Humber Road to southbound 
traffic on the A5 and adding traffic lights to it.

It does not describe, let alone model or forecast, the effect of all that extra 
traffic coming up Humber Road and out onto Coles Green Road, a road which 
is already incapable of supporting free two-way movement whenever the 

The S73 Permission approved the creation of a new signalized four-arm junction on 
the A5 with Humber Road to provide access to the WHF. Traffic modelling for the 
proposed WTS has shown that signalisation of Humber Rd prior to the opening of the 
New Link Road/Bridge over the railway joining the A5 to the new BX South 
development in 2023 enables Geron Way junction to operate within capacity but 
does affect Dollis Hill Lane where 90% capacity is exceeded. However, the actual 
number of vehicles travelling on Dollis Hill Lane is reduced from 520 in the weekday 
evening peak without Humber Road signalisation to 420 with the signalisation. This 

186



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

three local buses go along it. suggests less rat running on Dollis Hill Lane. At the same time there are 150 vehicles 
less in the am and pm peaks on Humber Road on all days. Traffic is either 
redistributed on the network or more likely drivers are changing their mode of travel 
to the new trains and buses that have become more widely available and accessible 
with the regeneration project being completed.

Transport – Infrastructure 
103. The revised application serves to confirm what we already know: increased air 

pollution, traffic, and congestion on the A5 and surrounds. The drawing BXT-
CAP-0100-I-SK-C-0008 confirms all the above, a road infrastructure that 
cannot cope with the additional traffic of 452 + HGV's.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

104. The large residential development along Edgware Road (opposite Dollis Hill 
Lane) is already causing a problem and the already approved extension of 
Brent Cross shopping centre will add to road congestion leaving no margin for 
additional lorries and vans accessing the proposed development.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

105. We sometimes cannot access our own entrance due to HGV's from Bestway 
attempting to turn the sharp corner by the Selco entrance being blocked by 
vehicles turning into Selco.

The application includes the signalization of the Geron Way / A5 junction and will 
significantly improve the safety and operation of this junction. 

106. Another set of traffic signals on an already severely congested road, will only 
increase the level of stationary traffic. Oxgate Gardens (My Street) is used as a 
cut through for impatient drivers who do not want to wait at the traffic signals 
at the A5 and Dollis Hill Lane.

The signalization of the Geron Way / A5 junction and will significantly improve the 
safety and operation of this junction. 
See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

107. I strongly object to the proposed road junctions allowing southbound A5 
vehicles to turn right onto Humber Road and Oxgate Gardens. These roads are 
narrow and unsuitable for rat-run traffic and articulated vehicles.

The S73 Permission approved the creation of a new signalized four-arm junction on 
the A5 with Humber Road to provide access to the WHF. Traffic modelling for the 
proposed WTS has shown that signalisation of Humber Rd prior to the opening of the 
New Link Road/Bridge over the railway joining the A5 to the new BX South 
development in 2023 enables Geron Way junction to operate within capacity but 
does affect Dollis Hill Lane where 90% capacity is exceeded. However, the actual 
number of vehicles travelling on Dollis Hill Lane is reduced from 520 in the weekday 
evening peak without Humber Road signalisation to 420 with the signalisation. This 
suggests less rat running on Dollis Hill Lane. At the same time there are 150 vehicles 
less in the am and pm peaks on Humber Road on all days. Traffic is either 
redistributed on the network or more likely drivers are changing their mode of travel 

187



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

to the new trains and buses that have become more widely available and accessible 
with the regeneration project being completed.

CONSULTATION
108. In noting potential cross-boundary effects, residents have asked whether 

proper consultation has been carried out with Brent and Camden councils.
The applicant has submitted a Consultation Statement with the application prepared 
by GL Hearn (Dated August 2017) which sets out the programme of public 
consultation and engagement that has been carried out in support of the proposals 
for the Brent Cross Thameslink project at the pre-application stage. This includes 
consultation events held in Brent. Statutory consultation on the planning application 
has been carried out by the LPA in accordance with the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 in both October-November 2017 
and July-August 2018. This is detailed in Section 7 of this committee report. This 
includes consultation with LB Brent. 

109. Residents have raised concern that their objections to the proposed 
development, and the reasons for raising them (i.e. air quality and traffic 
impacts) are being ignored. 

All objections have been taken into consideration in the assessment of the 
application. The application has been the subject of an EIA process which has been 
reviewed by the Council’s technical advisors. Taking into account the design of the 
proposed development and mitigation measures to be implemented, the conclusions 
of the EIA and the advice of technical advisors, the proposed development is 
considered to be acceptable. 

110. The consultation should be extended. The Transport Report Supplementary 
Addendum with a covering letter dated 13 August 2018, the closing date for 
the consultation, was produced too late for comments to be made.

Statutory and public consultation on the planning application has been carried out by 
the LPA in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2010. The Transport Report Addendum and other 
additional information was consulted on for 30 days in July-August 2018 in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. The LPA provided a further period of consultation on the Transport 
Report Supplementary Addendum for 14 days in August 2018.

OTHER COMMENTS
111. The recent decision by Hammerson not to go ahead with the re-generation of 

Brent Cross should mean that also is reviewed and we can only hope that 
common sense prevails sooner rather than later.

Whilst identifying a delay to the programme of works, the recent announcement 
made by Hammerson included a long-term commitment to the Brent Cross Shopping 
Centre and its redevelopment. This is one element of the approved Brent Cross 
Cricklewood regeneration scheme and, as far as the Local Planning Authority are 
aware, the scheme will continue to progress including the construction of the new 
WTS to facilitate the delivery of the new Thameslink train station. 

188



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

112. Why were the block of flats on the Barnet A5 allowed to be built when they 
will directly compromised by the waste transfer centre noise and 
smell/pollution? This is bad planning.

Planning permission for the redevelopment of the former Parcelforce Depot site was 
approved in 2012 under Barnet planning reference F/01932/11. This application was 
assessed against the consented outline planning permission for BXC which was 
approved in 2010 and which approved the construction of the waste handling facility 
on the Geron Way and Bestway Cash and Carry site. The design, mitigation and 
assessment of the current WTS application has been made on the basis of the 
residential development at Fellows Square. 

189



Table 3: Summary of Public Representations – Consultation 3 (13 August to 27 August 2018)
Is

su
e 

N
o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

PRINCIPLE OF THE DEVELOPMENT

Principle of the Development – General Comments
113. Barnet is the largest London Borough by population with around 385,000 

inhabitants so the waste will be proportional, and residents close to the A5 
will have to endure the nuisance caused because of the transportation of all 
kinds of waste as well as recycling and storage of waste and onward 
transportation of waste from the proposed site in Geron Way.

The site is identified in the Cricklewood Brent Cross West Hendon Development 
Framework for a waste handling facility and outline planning permission has already 
been granted for this use.

See Officer Response in Row 1,2 and 3 above.

See Officer Response at Rows 16-34 in relation to Environmental Impact Assessment.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling.

Principle of the Development – Location
114. As local residents of Brent living near the A5, we are extremely concerned 

about Barnet council wanting to have its waste disposal right on our doorstep, 
on what is the very limit of Barnet’s border with Brent council. It couldn’t be 
further away from Barnet proper so as not to inconvenience its own residents.

As residents we are furious that Barnet is choosing this particular location for 
the waste disposal site as it is literally dumping its rubbish on someone else’s 
doorstep.  

The application site (and adjacent land occupied by Bestway Cash & Carry) already 
benefits from outline planning consent to construct a waste handling facility as part 
of the Section 73 Planning Permission granted for the Brent Cross Cricklewood 
regeneration scheme in July 2014. The principle of development has therefore been 
established and is considered as being acceptable in planning terms. The NLWA have 
confirmed in their consultation response that the Geron Way facility is required as a 
strategic facility to receive a range of waste streams collected by the North London 
boroughs. The location is important to serve the boroughs in the west of the 
Authority’s area and would reduce the environmental impacts and cost of 
transporting waste. The primary users of the facility will be Barnet and Camden 
Councils, although from time to time other boroughs may be directed to deliver 
waste to this facility.

190



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

TRANSPORT

Transport – Traffic Increase
115. We use the A5 on a daily basis and can vouch for the poor road conditions, 

the heavy traffic, fumes and noise. Having the waste disposal site here will 
only make things much worse and aggravate the already difficult driving 
conditions on a major artery leading to central London from a much used 
Brent Cross which is busy at all times.  Its proximity to the North Circular will 
also contribute to traffic jams and more mayhem.

See Officer Response at Rows 44-60 in relation to Transport Assessment and traffic 
modelling and Row 4 in relation to pedestrian safety. 

OTHER COMMENTS
116. Geron Way is in the Ward of Childs Hill which is the most populated (rank 1) of 

Barnet council with 19,460 inhabitants and the 5th most densely populated 
ward.  More and more flats are being built in the area and more specifically on 
the A5 close to the proposed site causing more traffic, fumes, and worse living 
conditions.  Population density is 64.9 per hectare as opposed to only 17.3 per 
hectare in the least populated ward of Totteridge for example, or 18.4 per 
hectare in the second lowest ward of High Barnet.  Surely there would be less 
inconvenience if the site were to be in a less densely populated area such as 
the afore-mentioned Barnet wards.

The application does not propose residential development. The wider BXC 
development will deliver new housing, employment space, retail space, community 
facilities and infrastructure, for which outline planning permission was granted in 
2010 and 2014. 

ELECTED MEMBERS & RESIDENT GROUPS

LB Brent Elected Members 
117. LB Brent Cllr Liz Dixon for Dollis Hill ward submitted further comments on 

behalf of Dollis Hill, Dudden Hill and Mapesbury Councillors quoting 
comments that LB Brent Council has made in its formal response. The 
comments relate to: 

- layout of the signalised junction of Edgware Road and Geron Way in 
relation to Hanover House on the western side of Edgware Road. 

- the increased volumes of heavy goods vehicles travelling to and from 
the site in relation to acceptable environmental impact on the local 
highway network in terms of traffic flow and exposure of the local 
community to noise and air pollution. 

- Highlighted concerns and objections of local residents including 

The submission does not introduce any new comments. All points are addressed in 
responses above and in the body of the committee report.

191



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

submission of petitions. 
- There is strong objection to the proposed road junctions allowing 

southbound A5 vehicles to turn right onto Humber Road. 
- The recently approved aggregate superhub, just south of this site will 

add some 450 lorry movements per day to the already busy A5. The 
additional movements from waste lorry movements will add to the 
already busy main road and pose added health and safety risks .

- There is no need for the WDU to be in this area and it should be 
nearer Edmonton to reduce traffic and pollution.

Resident Groups 
118. Fordwych Residents Association (FRA) have submitted the following 

comments in objection:
- While we welcome efforts to improve recycling and waste transfer 

facilities, it seems this proposal will lead to a vast increase in vehicle 
traffic. This combined with the traffic from the new aggregate site 
nearby will increase traffic, especially the number of HGVs using the 
surrounding area. Traffic from both sites should be taken into 
consideration in any traffic projection models. 

- Concern that the waste transfer station will stay open until 7pm.
- Barnet Council revised traffic studies in August, but did not hold a 

public meeting to discuss the findings and request feedback from 
residents and concerned local groups. 

- Huge increase in air pollution - particularly from nitrogen dioxide and 
particles associated with the diesel engines used by the lorries/HGVs 
that will be entering and leaving this site.

- The additional traffic will cause congestion on already busy roads. 
- Congestion will spill over onto other local routes. Many lorries/HGVs 

now use residential streets in the area in an attempt to avoid 
congestion on the A5.

- Pedestrian and cyclist movement in the area will be endangered by 
increased vehicle movements - and make pedestrian crossings in the 
area more dangerous.

Comments relating to traffic movement and air quality impact have been addressed 
above and in the body of the committee report. This includes the accumulative 
impact of the development with committed schemes in the vicinity.

The impact assessments for the proposed development are based on the operational 
hours proposed. A planning condition is recommended to limit the number of HGV 
movements to no more than 2 per hour between 17:00-19:00 Monday to Friday. 

Statutory and public consultation on the planning application has been carried out by 
the LPA in accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Development 
Management Procedure) Order 2010. The Transport Report Addendum and other 
additional information was consulted on for 30 days in July-August 2018 in 
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2017. The LPA provided a further period of consultation on the Transport 
Report Supplementary Addendum for 14 days in August 2018.

The application includes signalization of the Geron Way/A5 Edgware Road junction. 
See Row 4 in relation to pedestrian safety.

See Row 3 for principle of development. 

192



Is
su

e 
N

o. Summary of Issue/Representations Received Officer Response

- Reduced quality of life for local residents, who will suffer from the 
increased air pollution, dust annoyance and the lack of any benefit to 
the local community from this development.

- Comments on this application should be requested from both 
Camden Council and Brent Council.

- Request that Barnet Council rejects this application. 
- Request less harmful uses are considered for the site

193



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Location 27 Woodside Avenue London N12 8AT   

Reference: 18/2032/FUL Received: 30th March 2018
Accepted: 6th April 2018

Ward: Totteridge Expiry 1st June 2018

Applicant: Mr Abdul Akbari

Proposal:

Change of use from hostel (sui generis) to residential children's home 
(C2 use), including roof extension to create a side dormer and 
alterations to existing fenestrations. Demolition of existing single storey 
outbuilding to side elevation and erection of a single storey side 
extension with new access steps and railing to rear elevation. 
Extension and excavation of existing basement to create lower level 
basement area. Erection of a single storey building to the rear for use 
as an ancillary intervention centre; creation of  two separate access 
with gates and new boundary fences. Associated hard and soft 
landscaping

Recommendation: Approve subject to conditions

AND the Committee grants delegated authority to the Head of Development Management 
or Head of Strategic Planning to make any minor alterations, additions or deletions to the 
recommended conditions/obligations or reasons for refusal as set out in this report and 
addendum provided this authority shall be exercised after consultation with the Chairman 
(or in his absence the Vice- Chairman) of the Committee (who may request that such 
alterations, additions or deletions be first approved by the Committee)

 1 This development must be begun within three years from the date of this permission.

Reason: To comply with Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004.

 2 The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:

WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060107-P00
WSA-CAP-00-00-DR-A-910001 - P03
WSA-CAP-00-00-DR-A-910000 - P01
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060101-P01
WSA-CAP-00-ZZ-DR-A-060002 - P03
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060103-P02
WSA-CAP-02-ZZ-DR-A-060201 - P03

195

AGENDA ITEM 10



WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060104-P03
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060102-P07
WSA-CAP-ZZ-ZZ-MR-A-060108-P00

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning and so as 
to ensure that the development is carried out fully in accordance with the plans as 
assessed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF and CS1 of the Local Plan Core 
Strategy DPD (adopted September 2012) and Policy DM01 of the Local Plan 
Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012).

 3 The C2 premises hereby approved shall be used as achildrens care home for a 
maximum of 6 residents and for no other purpose (including any other purpose in 
Class C2 of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order, 
1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification).

Reason: To enable the Local Planning Authority to exercise control of the type of use 
within the category in order to safeguard the amenities of the area.

 4 No site works or works on this development including demolition or construction work 
shall commence until a Demolition and Construction Management and Logistics Plan 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall thereafter be implemented in full accordance with the details 
approved under this plan. The Demolition and Construction Management and 
Logistics Plan submitted shall include, but not be limited to, the following information: 

i.              details of the routing of construction vehicles to the site, hours of access, 
access and egress arrangements within the site and security procedures;
ii.             site preparation and construction stages of the development;
iii.            details of provisions for recycling of materials, the provision on site of a 
storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials;
iv.           details showing how all vehicles associated with the construction works are 
properly washed and cleaned to prevent the passage to mud and dirt onto the 
adjoining highway;
v.            the methods to be used and the measures to be undertaken to control the 
emission of dust, noise and vibration arising from construction works;
vi.           a suitable and efficient means of suppressing dust, including the adequate 
containment of stored or accumulated material so as to prevent it becoming airborne 
at any time and giving rise to nuisance;
vii.          noise mitigation measures for all plant and processors;
viii.         Staff travel arrangement;
ix.           details of contractors compound and car parking arrangements;
x.            Details of interim car parking management arrangements for the duration of 
construction; 
xi.           Provision of a banksman;
xii.          Details of a community liaison contact for the duration of all works associated 
with the development;
xiii Ensure the passage along Green Bank is kept clear for pedestrians and existing 
residents vehicles. 

196



Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the amenities 
of occupiers of adjoining residential properties and in the interests of highway and 
pedestrian safety in accordance with policies CS9, CS13 , CS14, DM01, DM04 and 
DM17 of the Barnet Local Plan and polices 5.3, 5.18, 7.14 and 7.15 of the London 
Plan.

 5 a) No development other than demolition works shall take place until details of the 
materials to be used for the external surfaces of the building(s) and hard surfaced 
areas hereby approved have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

b) The development shall thereafter be implemented in accordance with the materials 
as approved under this condition.

Reason: To safeguard the character and visual amenities of the site and wider area 
and to ensure that the building is constructed in accordance with Policies CS NPPF 
and CS1 of the Local Plan Core Strategy (adopted September 2012), Policy DM01 
of the Development Management Policies DPD (adopted September 2012) and 
Policies 1.1, 7.4, 7.5 and 7.6 of the London Plan 2016.

 6 The use of the outbuilding hereby permitted (Intervention centre) shall at all times be 
ancillary to and occupied and used by the occupants of the main building and its C2 
use and shall not at any time be occupied as a separate unit or form a separate use.

Reason: To ensure that the development does not prejudice the character of the 
locality and the amenities of occupiers of adjoining residential properties in 
accordance with Policy DM01 of the Development Management Policies DPD 
(adopted September 2012).

 7 a) Before the development hereby permitted is first occupied, details of enclosures 
and screened facilities for the storage of recycling containers and wheeled refuse 
bins or other refuse storage containers where applicable, together with a satisfactory 
point of collection shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

b) The development shall be implemented in full accordance with the details as 
approved under this condition prior to the first occupation and retained as such 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory appearance for the development and satisfactory 
accessibility; and to protect the amenities of the area in accordance with policies 
DM01 of the Adopted Barnet Development Management Policies DPD (2012) and 
CS14 of the Adopted Barnet Core Strategy DPD (2012).

 8 Prior to the first occupation of the new dwellinghouse(s) (Use Class C3) hereby 
approved they shall all have been constructed to have 100% of the water supplied to 
them by the mains water infrastructure provided through a water meter or water 
meters and each new dwelling shall be constructed to include water saving and 
efficiency measures  that comply with Regulation 36(2)(b) of Part G 2 of the Building 
Regulations to ensure that a maximum of 105 litres of water is consumed per person 
per day with a fittings based approach should be used to determine the water 

197



consumption of the proposed development. The development shall be maintained as 
such in perpetuity thereafter.

Reason: To encourage the efficient use of water in accordance with policy CS13 of 
the Barnet Core Strategy (2012) and Policy 5.15 of the March 2016 Minor Alterations 
to the London Plan and the 2016 Mayors Housing SPG.

 9 Prior to commencement of the development details of the vehicular sight line to the 
either side of the proposed site access with the Public highway shall be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the Local planning Authority.  The access is thereafter is 
to be constructed in accordance with the approved details and be maintained free of 
all obstructions over a height of 0.6 metre above the level of the adjoining highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with London 
Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 
2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 
2012.

10 Prior to occupation of the development the vehicular access shall allow for 2.4 metre 
by 2.4 metre pedestrian visibility splays to the left and to the right of the access from 
2m setback from the back of footway and shall thereafter be maintained free of any 
visibility obstructions including Fencing of planting of shrubs to provide clear visibility 
between heights of 0.6 metre and 1 metre above the level of the adjoining highway.

Reason: In the interests of highway and pedestrian safety in accordance with London 
Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) September 
2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) September 
2012.

11 The use of the land for vehicle parking shall not be commenced until the area has 
been laid out, surfaced and drained in accordance with details submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and shall be permanently 
maintained thereafter to the Authority's satisfaction.

Reason: To ensure that adequate and satisfactory provision is made for the parking 
of vehicles in the interests of pedestrian and highway safety and the free flow of traffic 
in accordance with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core 
Strategy (Adopted) September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management 
Policies (Adopted) September 2012.

12 No works on public highway as a result of the proposed development shall be carried 
out until detailed design drawings have been submitted and approved by the Highway 
Authority and works shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved plans.  

The applicant will be expected to enter into with the Highways Authority under Section 
278 Agreement of the Highways Act, for works affecting public highway including 
creation of new accesses and reinstatement of the existing accesses and 
consequential damage to public highway as a result of the proposed development. 

198



Reason:   To ensure that the works on public highway are carried out to the 
satisfaction of the highway authority in the interest of highway safety in accordance 
with London Borough of Barnet's Local Plan Policy CS9 of Core Strategy (Adopted) 
September 2012 and Policy DM17 of Development Management Policies (Adopted) 
September 2012.

13 A Condition Survey of the existing public highway will need to be carried out and 
agreed with the Highway Authority prior to any works commencing on site, and any 
damage to the highway occurring as a result of this development is to be remedied 
by the developer to the satisfaction of the Highway Authority once all works have 
been completed on site.

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the existing road corridor.

Informative(s):

 1 In accordance with paragraphs 186-187, 188-195 and 196-198 of the NPPF, the 
Local Planning Authority (LPA) takes a positive and proactive approach to 
development proposals, focused on solutions. The LPA has produced planning 
policies and written guidance to assist applicants when submitting applications. 
These are all available on the Council's website. A pre-application advice service is 
also offered and the Applicant engaged with this prior to the submissions of this 
application. The LPA has negotiated with the applicant/agent where necessary during 
the application process to ensure that the proposed development is in accordance 
with the Development Plan.

 2 The plans accompanying this application are:

WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060107-P00
WSA-CAP-00-00-DR-A-910001 - P03
WSA-CAP-00-00-DR-A-910000 - P01
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060101-P01
WSA-CAP-00-ZZ-DR-A-060002 - P03
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060103-P02
WSA-CAP-02-ZZ-DR-A-060201 - P03
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060104-P03
WSA-CAP-01-ZZ-DR-A-060102-P07
WSA-CAP-ZZ-ZZ-MR-A-060108-P00

Planning Statement
Design and Access Statement
Preliminary Ecological Assessment
Ecological Impact Assessment
Sustainability appraisal
Tree Survey 
Transport Assessment 

199



Construction Traffic Impact Assessment

 3 If the development is carried out it will be necessary to provide a habitual crossover 
access to facilitate construction access to the development site including any 
associated works to the public highway.  Following completion of the development, 
the footway including any associated works on public highway, will be reinstated by 
the Highway Authority at the applicant's expense. An estimate for this cost of works 
and the Application Forms can be obtained from the Crossover Team, Development 
and Regulatory Services, Barnet House, 1255 High Road, Whetstone N20 0EJ.

 4  The applicant is advised that any alterations to on-street waiting and or loading 
restrictions will be subject to a statutory consultation period and amendment to Traffic 
Management Order (TMO).  The Council cannot prejudge the outcome of the 
consultation process. 

The applicant is advised that a separate application would need to be made to the 
Council's Highway Authority.  The amendments if approved will be carried out at the 
applicant's expense.  Advice on amendments to waiting restrictions if required and 
the estimated cost for the works can be obtained from Development and Regulatory 
Services, Barnet House, 1255 High Road, Whetstone N20 0EJ.  

 5 The applicant is advised that any works on public highway required to facilitate the 
development will need to be included in the Council's agreed works programme would 
be subject to priorities and the available resources therefore the time scales cannot 
be guaranteed.

 6 The applicant is advised that any works required on public highway to facilitate the 
development will be at the applicant's expense and will require a separate agreement 
with the Highways Authority under S184 or S278 of the Highways Act 1980.

 7 Any details submitted in respect of the Demolition Construction and Traffic 
Management Plan (DCMP) above shall control the hours, routes taken by delivery 
and construction vehicles, delivery arrangements (ensure that deliveries do not 
coincide  and vehicles are not kept waiting and parked up on public highway causing 
obstruction), means of access and security procedures including provision of 
Banksman where required for managing construction traffic to and from the site and 
for the provision of on-site wheel cleaning facilities during demolition, excavation, site 
preparation and construction stages of the development, recycling of materials, the 
provision of on-site car parking facilities for contractors during all stages of 
development (Excavation, site preparation and construction) and the provision on site 
of a storage/delivery area for all plant, site huts, site facilities and materials and a 
community liaison contact and precautions to minimise damage to trees on or 
adjacent to the site where necessary on or adjacent to the site.  The applicant is also 
advised that account needs to be taken of roads the traffic sensitive nature of any 
roads in the vicinity of the site and the number of schools in the vicinity of the site and 
needs to arrange deliveries outside the school pickup and drop off times if applicable.  

  
 The DCMP will take into account locations of any schools in the proximity of the 
proposed development that may be affected by the proposed development and the 
applicant shall ensure that construction related traffic and or deliveries shall be 
avoided during the school drop off and pickup times. The applicant may need to liaise 

200



with the affected school to ensure that measures are in place to ensure pedestrian 
safety.  

 8  The applicant is advised that any alteration to the public highway (including 
pavement) will require prior consent of the local highways authority.  You may obtain 
an estimate for this work from Development and Regulatory Services, Barnet House, 
1255 High Road, Whetstone N20 0EJ.

201



Officer’s Assessment

1. Site Description

The application site relates to the property known as 27 Woodside Avenue, which is located 
in the Totteridge ward. The site consists of a large detached dwelling house, finished in red 
brick, with a large garden area to the rear. Access is from Woodside Avenue.  The last 
known use is believed to have been as a hostel; however there is no planning history to 
confirm when it was converted to such a use. The site is located at the corner of Woodside 
Avenue and Green Bank. Green Bank is characterised by two storey terraced residential 
buildings. The site backs onto lock up garages serving Green Bank. Woodside Avenue 
consists largely of detached dwellings, although there is a mix of styles in the immediate 
area, including on cul-de-sac roads off the avenue. The adjoining site is occupied by a block 
of flats (Teynham Court). The site is not located within a conservation area and is not a listed 
building.

The site, and indeed immediate area, is has a verdant setting, and some of the on-site trees 
are statutorily protected. There is relatively good access to surrounding services and 
facilities, including local public transport links. 

2. Site History

No known planning history. 

3. Proposal

The proposed development involves a number of different elements listed as follows; 

- The change of use of the property to a children's care home within use class C2
to provide 6 residential bedrooms, with 1 non-residential bedroom that will be occupied by 
the facilities support staff for overnight care. These will be provided at first floor level. The 
renovation of the existing house will further provide occupational space for a number of 
ancillary uses associated with the children's home function, including staff offices, meeting 
rooms and educational spaces, largely provided at the ground and second floor levels. 

- To the rear of the existing building, an intervention centre would be constructed along the 
rear boundary of the site, adjacent to the existing garages.  The intervention centre will 
deliver additional meeting and education spaces to support the children's home residents 
and staff, and visitors to the site. This building will be finished in cedar cladding and would 
have a floor area of approximately 33.0m in length x 16.5m in width. The building would 
have a pitched roof to a height of 3.5m.  

- The existing building would be extended to include roof additions and extensions to the 
northern side. The existing basement would be further excavated to provide acess to an 
internal lift. 

Roof additions - The "blind" dormer would be located adjacent to an existing chimney on the 
flank elevation on the northern side, adjacent to the block of flats. 
Extension - The extension would be clad in cedar with a floor area of approximately 7.0m x 
2.5m and would provide kitchen facilities. The extension would be provided on the flank 
elevation on the northern side, adjacent to the block of flats.

4. Public Consultation
202



Consultation letters were sent to 177 neighbouring properties, 7 replies were received. The 
comments received can be summarised as follows; 

Objection

- Concern PD rights could be used to convert to C3 and the layout would provide poor 
standards of accommodation for residents. 
- Concern about noise and disturbance during construction. 
- We would like to see like for like replacement of the trees removed. 
- Residents also need detailed information on how emergency vehicles are to gain access 
when materials are being delivered.
- Parking will be an issue and transport links are not good.
- We do not understand why it is essential to remove healthy trees which do not appear to 
impede the plans. 
- Concern about potential anti-social behaviour. 
- The construction of a separate intervention centre in the grounds of the property is likely 
to lead to a significant demand for parking spaces,

Support

- Subject to the replacement of trees and good construction management on site, we support 
the reuse of a handsome local building for a community purpose as opposed to its demolition 
and replacement by a new build block of flats.
- The proposed renovation of this dilapidated building is welcome and the location is suitable 
for use as a residential home though there is a need for visitor parking.

5.1 Policy Context

National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Practice Guidance

The determination of planning applications is made mindful of Central Government advice 
and the Local Plan for the area. It is recognised that Local Planning Authorities must 
determine applications in accordance with the statutory Development Plan, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise, and that the planning system does not exist to protect the 
private interests of one person against another. 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 27 March 2012. This is 
a key part of the Governments reforms to make the planning system less complex and more 
accessible, and to promote sustainable growth.

The NPPF states that 'good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible 
from good planning, and should contribute positively to making places better for people'. 
The NPPF retains a presumption in favour of sustainable development. This applies unless 
any adverse impacts of a development would 'significantly and demonstrably' outweigh the 
benefits.

The Mayor's London Plan 2016

The London Development Plan is the overall strategic plan for London, and it sets out a fully 
integrated economic, environmental, transport and social framework for the development of 
the capital to 2050. It forms part of the development plan for Greater London and is 
recognised in the NPPF as part of the development plan. 

203



The London Plan provides a unified framework for strategies that are designed to ensure 
that all Londoners benefit from sustainable improvements to their quality of life.

Draft London Plan 

Whilst capable of being a material consideration, at this early stage very limited weight 
should be attached to the Draft London Plan. Although this weight will increase as the Draft 
London Plan progresses to examination stage and beyond, applications should continue to 
be determined in accordance with the 2016 London Plan.

Barnet's Local Plan (2012)

Barnet's Local Plan is made up of a suite of documents including the Core Strategy and 
Development Management Policies Development Plan Documents. Both were adopted in 
September 2012.

- Local Plan Core Strategy (Adopted September 2012): Policies NPPF CS, CS1, CS4, CS5, 
CS10, CS11
- Local Plan Development Management Policies Development Plan Document (Adopted 
September 2012): Policies. DM01, DM03, DM04, DM07, DM09, DM13, DM17

Supplementary Planning Documents

Affordable Housing SPD (Adopted 2007)
Residential Design Guidance SPD (adopted October 2016)
Sustainable Design and Construction SPD (adopted October 2016)

5.2 Main issues for consideration

The main issues for consideration in this case are:

- Principle of redevelopment;
- Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality;
- Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents;
- Provision of adequate accommodation for future occupiers;
- Highways issues;
- Trees and Landscaping considerations
- Any other material considerations, third party representations. 

Principle of redevelopment

The site appears to have been last in use as an adult hostel falling within the sui generis use 
class. However the building had also been previously converted to flats and was occupied 
within the C3 use class. The proposed development is for a children's care home which 
includes an element of education/training ancillary to the care home element. The proposed 
use falls most comfortably within use class C2 as a residential care home.

National guidance within the NPPF at para 162 outlines a desire for local authorities to work 
with other providers to assess the quality and capacity of infrastructure for, inter alia, social 
care, and its ability to meet forecast demand.

204



Policy 3.17 outlines that the Mayor of London will support the delivery of high quality health 
and social care facilities in areas of under provision or where there is an identified particular 
need. 

Policy CS4 of the Core Strategy aims to create successful communities by "seeking a variety 
of housing related support options that maximise the independence of vulnerable residents 
including young people, people with disabilities, older people, homeless people and other 
vulnerable adults". This includes promoting independence but recognising the need for 
accommodation to provide support services. 

Policy CS11 also aims to, where local need exists, to help ensure choice in the housing 
market for vulnerable groups. The planning system should where possible support the aims 
of the relevant social services bodies.

Therefore national, regional and local guidance pays attention to the desire to meet demand 
for, and provide choice, in local housing need for all sections of society. 

The proposed aim of Children's Services is to transfer an existing use from the site at 68A 
Meadow Close, Totteridge, EN5 2UF to the application site. Whilst physically upgrading the 
existing facility has been considered, it is deemed that the new centre will offer a more 
realistic opportunity of achieving the council's strategic objective of providing an 
'outstanding' standard of care quality across all of its children service facilities. 

In terms of demand, this already exists in that existing facilities meeting a need would 
transfer to this site. Woodside Avenue is a residential road, which contains a mix of 
residential uses, including multi-unit properties. The existing dwelling is a large detached 
house, suitable to provide for the incumbent ancillary facilities and the site benefits from 
being a corner plot and having a heavy vegetative screen. There are no residential 
neighbours on the Green Bank flank or rear boundary and a detached block of flats on the 
northern boundary. Good access exists to the range of facilities available on the High Road, 
including access to public transport links. 

The proposed development has the potential to provide a quality facility for a vulnerable 
group. The re-use of an existing building to meet a local need addresses a core planning 
principle of the NPPF of making the best and most versatile use of a brownfield or previously 
developed site. The proposed use would be no more intensive than previous uses and is 
located in area which includes flatted developments on plots of similar sizes. It is accepted 
that a large ancillary building is also proposed, but subject to amenity and design 
considerations this could be an appropriate use. Indeed subject to other material planning 
considerations and the proposals general compliance with these, the principle can be 
accepted as a positive reuse of an existing large detached property on a residential road.  

Whether harm would be caused to the character and appearance of the existing building, 
the street scene and the wider locality

The existing building is a relatively commanding structure set on a generous site which 
retains some original features and is worthy of retention, and its reuse as opposed to loss is 
a sustainable form of development.  The additions to the building are relatively modest and 
would not detract from the character of the existing building or the wider streetscene. Both 
the dormer and side extension on a building of this scale would be relatively insignificant. 

The intervention centre would be a large structure, but its setting benefits from an expansive 
curtilage and heavy screen, including a walled boundary. Large ancillary structures such as 

205



swimming pool buildings or ancillary accommodation/amenity structures are not uncommon 
at larger properties, and again there would be no real adverse impact on the general 
character of the area. The use of material and detailing are not an uncommon finish to 
ancillary structures and the overall design of the building raises no issues. 

Whether harm would be caused to the living conditions of neighbouring residents

Some third party representations have raised concern about potential noise and disturbance 
in relation to the use. However there is no substantive evidence to suggest that the facility 
would be anything other than a well-managed facility, including the provision of an on-site 
supervisory presence, and the area as detailed includes multi-occupancy properties already. 
The proposed extensions would have no material impact.

There will be movement to and from the intervention centre, however given the limited 
numbers involved and general layout of the site, adjacent to lock up garages and the entry 
to Green Bank, it is not considered that the impact would be excessive. The building would 
also retain a gap to all property boundaries. 

Provision of adequate accommodation for future occupiers

Commentary around this proposal from professionals in the care field points to a facility for 
a vulnerable group of local people that has the potential to provide high quality 
accommodation. Officers have no reason to form a contrary view and the plans indicate a 
spacious and well serviced modern care facility would result.

Highways issues 

The proposal has been supported by a Transport Statement and the Highways Authority 
has provided comments. This states that the proposed development's future use is currently 
operational in Meadow Close (Dollis Valley Estate) the size of operation or staff numbers 
will not alter between the two sites. 

The PTAL is 2 (poor) with bus and tube the only public transport mode available within the 
PTAL area. The development is located in a controlled parking zone (CPZ) which is 
operational for one hour during the day 

Trip generation data has been taken from an existing survey of the 14 staff working at the 
Meadow Close care home. The survey shows that there is presently 70% car usage by staff. 
The existing site has a marginally lower PTAL than the proposed development (PTAL-1a) 
so this level of trip generation is perceived as a worst case scenario. This level of car use 
will generate 10 vehicles. It should be noted that Wednesday is the only day that all of the 
staff are in at the same time. Travel planning information can assist to reduce the level of 
car use associated with the developments staff movements. It should be noted that the 
existing facility is not located within a CPZ, the operation of the CPZ around the development 
will further deter car usage by staff. 

Two off street parking spaces have been provided in association with the proposed use. 
There are no specific parking standards for children's care homes, therefore the applicants 
have used a parking provision which would be associated with a 4+ bedroom house. The 
applicants have found a number of spaces on street to create further parking bays. This will 
mitigate the impact of over spill parking by the development and provide visitors suitable 
options for parking, whilst not impacting on existing residents parking amenity. 

206



There are a number of residential objections which relate to the construction process. To 
fully mitigate this a construction management plan will be conditioned albeit it should be 
noted that the proposal is not for significant redevelopment works so potential impact should 
not be substantial. This document should focus on reducing the impact during the 
construction phase on surrounding residents and ensure accesses and the public highway 
are kept clear. 

The proposals will not generate a significant negative impact on the performance and safety 
of the surrounding highway network or its users, as such a recommendation for approval is 
supported;

o             Over spill parking by visitors will be mitigated by providing further bays on street. 

o             A construction management plan has been conditioned to mitigate the impact of 
the construction phase. 

Trees and Landscaping considerations

A number of TPO trees are present on site and contribute positively to the verdant setting 
of Woodside Avenue. The application has been supported by a Tree Survey which indicates 
the removal of some trees on site. As set out above, the Trees and Landscaping section of 
the council has provided comment which raises concern with the proposed development. 
This largely relates to a concern that the proposal would result in loss / damage to trees of 
public amenity value, to the detriment of both the trees themselves and the wider 
streetscape.

Whilst acknowledging this point, the proposed development is seen as vitally important in 
providing high quality social care for vulnerable young adults within the Borough. As 
discussed above the relocation of the facility at 68A Meadow Close, Totteridge to the site 
meets the tests of policy, and the provision of the intervention centre along the rear boundary 
is a critical element in providing a high quality facility. 

Officers' accept that for the development to proceed there will be a loss of established trees 
that will impact on the character of the area and that an on-site replacement planting strategy 
would be difficult to accommodate. However, it is also considered that that a public interest 
element exists in terms of the importance of this type of accommodation being provided in 
the Borough. As a result, it is considered that although the loss of trees is regrettable it can, 
on balance, be justified when making a complete assessment as to the appropriateness of 
the proposed development.  

5.4 Response to Public Consultation

It is considered the majority of issues raised have been addressed in main report. 

In relation to the concern relating to access to Green Bank, including for emergency 
vehicles, during the construction phase of any development, the council will condition a 
Construction Management Statement on any approved scheme, however the proposed 
development is not substantial and long periods of severe disturbance are not envisaged. 

A third party representation has raised the issue of the site reverting back to a C3 use and 
that this may raise issues. The proposed use for the site is within use class C2 which 
includes a range of other uses which this site could move to without the need for planning 
permission, including a state funded school or nursery. It is considered necessary that the 

207



use of the site is controlled and that the D1 element is tied to the overarching C2 use. A 
separate D1 use would need specific justification at this location and the reuse for other C2 
uses would require further assessment in officers' view. It is therefore deemed necessary to 
grant consent for the specific use with any further proposals in the future falling under the 
control of the Local Planning Authority. 

6. Equality and Diversity Issues

The proposal does not conflict with either Barnet Council's Equalities Policy or the 
commitments set in the Equality Scheme and supports the Council in meeting its statutory 
equality responsibilities.

7. Conclusion

In light of the above appraisal it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable 
in policy terms and has many positive attributes including providing a potentially high class 
facility for a local disadvantaged group, and finding a positive reuse for a currently 
redundant, but potential valuable, local resource building. It is therefore recommended that 
consent is granted subject to conditions. 

   

208



 

209



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the last meeting
	6 Central Reservation  High Road London N12 0AP - 18/3315/ADV
	7 Hendon Cemetery and Crematorium Holders Hill Road London NW7 1NB - 18/3958/FUL
	8 Church End Library 24 Hendon Lane London N3 1TR - 18/3470/FUL
	9 Land at 2 Geron Way, London NW2 6GJ - 17/6714/EIA
	17-6714-EIA - Committee Report - Appendix A - Draft Conditions
	17-6714-EIA - Committee Report - Appendix B - S73 WHF Conditions
	17-6714-EIA - Committee Report - Appendix C - North London Waste Authority Letter
	17-6714-EIA - Committee Report - Appendix D - Summary of Public Representations

	10 27 Woodside Avenue London N12 8AT - 18/2032/FUL

